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 EXPLANATORY NOTE

Owl Rock Capital Corporation is filing this registration statement on Form 10 (the “Registration Statement”) with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”), on a voluntary basis in order to permit it to file an election to be regulated as a business development
company (“BDC”) under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”), and to provide current public information to the investment community and to
comply with applicable requirements in the event of the future quotation or listing of its securities on a national securities exchange (an “Exchange Listing”) or the future
quotation or listing of its securities on any other public trading market.

In this Registration Statement, except where the context suggests otherwise:
 

 •  the terms “we,” “us,” “our,” and “Company,” refer to Owl Rock Capital Corporation; and
 

 •  the terms “Adviser,” “Investment Adviser,” and “Administrator” refer to Owl Rock Capital Advisors LLC, our investment adviser and administrator.

The Company is an emerging growth company as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) and the Company will take advantage of
the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”).

This Registration Statement registers the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share under the 1934 Act; however:
 

 •  the Company’s shares may not be sold without the written consent of the Adviser;
 

 •  the shares are not currently listed on an exchange, and it is uncertain whether they will be listed or whether a secondary market will develop;
 

 •  repurchases of shares by the Company, if any, are expected to be limited; and
 

 •  an investment in the Company may not be suitable for investors who may need the money they invest in a specified time frame.

Once this Registration Statement has been deemed effective, we will be subject to the requirements of Section 13(a) of the 1934 Act, including the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder, which will require us, among other things, to file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K, and
we will be required to comply with all other obligations of the 1934 Act applicable to issuers filing registration statements pursuant to Section 12(g) of the 1934 Act.

We have elected to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act and we are subject to the 1940 Act requirements applicable to BDCs.

 FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Registration Statement contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Such statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors and undue reliance should not be placed thereon. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but rather are based on current
expectations, estimates and projections about the Company, our current and prospective portfolio investments, our industry, our beliefs and opinions, and our assumptions.
Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “will,” “may,” “continue,” “believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “targets,” “projects,”
“outlook,” “potential,” “predicts” and variations of these words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees
of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control and difficult to predict and could cause actual results to
differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements, including without limitation:
 

 •  an economic downturn could impair our portfolio companies’ ability to continue to operate, which could lead to the loss of some or all of our investments
in such portfolio companies;

 

 •  such an economic downturn could disproportionately impact the companies which we intend to target for investment, potentially causing us to experience
a decrease in investment opportunities and diminished demand for capital from these companies;

 

 •  such an economic downtown could also impact availability and pricing of our financing;
 

 •  a contraction of available credit and/or an inability to access the equity markets could impair our lending and investment activities;
 

 •  interest rate volatility could adversely affect our results, particularly if we elect to use leverage as part of our investment strategy;
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 •  currency fluctuations could adversely affect the results of our investments in foreign companies, particularly to the extent that we receive payments
denominated in foreign currency rather than U.S. dollars;

 

 •  our future operating results;
 

 •  our business prospects and the prospects of our portfolio companies;
 

 •  our contractual arrangements and relationships with third parties;
 

 •  the ability of our portfolio companies to achieve their objectives;
 

 •  competition with other entities and our affiliates for investment opportunities;
 

 •  the speculative and illiquid nature of our investments;
 

 •  the use of borrowed money to finance a portion of our investments as well as any estimates regarding potential use of leverage;
 

 •  the adequacy of our financing sources and working capital;
 

 •  the loss of key personnel;
 

 •  the timing of cash flows, if any, from the operations of our portfolio companies;
 

 •  the ability of the Adviser to locate suitable investments for us and to monitor and administer our investments;
 

 •  the ability of the Adviser to attract and retain highly talented professionals;
 

 •  our ability to qualify and maintain our qualification as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”), and as a BDC;

 

 •  the effect of legal, tax and regulatory changes; and
 

 •  other risks, uncertainties and other factors we identify under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Registration Statement.

Although we believe that the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of those assumptions could prove to be inaccurate,
and as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also could be inaccurate. In light of these and other uncertainties, the inclusion of a projection or
forward-looking statement in this Registration Statement should not be regarded as a representation by us that our plans and objectives will be achieved. These risks and
uncertainties include those described or identified in the section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Registration Statement. These forward-looking
statements apply only as of the date of this Registration Statement. Moreover, we assume no duty and do not undertake to update the forward-looking statements. Because we
are an investment company, the forward-looking statements and projections contained in this Registration Statement are excluded from the safe harbor protection provided by
Section 21E of the 1934 Act.
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 ITEM 1. BUSINESS

(a) General Development of Business

We were formed on October 15, 2015 as a corporation under the laws of the State of Maryland. We were organized primarily to make loans to, and make debt and equity
investments in, U.S. middle market companies. We will invest in senior secured or unsecured loans, subordinated loans or mezzanine loans and, to a lesser extent, equity-related
securities including warrants, preferred stock and similar forms of senior equity, which may or may not be convertible into a portfolio company’s common equity. Our
investment objective is to generate current income, and to a lesser extent, capital appreciation by targeting investment opportunities with favorable risk-adjusted returns.

We expect to conduct private offerings (the “Private Offering”) of our common shares to investors in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the
1933 Act. At the closing of any Private Offering, each investor will make a capital commitment (a “Capital Commitment”) to purchase shares of our common stock pursuant to
a subscription agreement entered into with us. The initial closing (the “Initial Closing”) of the Private Offering occurred on March 3, 2016. Investors will be required to fund
drawdowns to purchase shares of our common stock up to the amount of their respective capital commitments on an as-needed basis each time we deliver a notice to the
investors. We anticipate commencing our loan origination and investment activities as soon as practicable following the initial drawdown from investors in the Private Offering
(the “Initial Drawdown”) which occurred on March 30, 2016. Prior to an Exchange Listing, the Adviser may, in its sole discretion, permit one or more additional closings
(“Subsequent Closings”) as additional Capital Commitments are obtained (the conclusion of all Subsequent Closings, if any, the “Final Closing” and the Initial Closing, each
Subsequent Closing and the Final Closing, each a “Closing”). See “Item 1(c). Description of Business — The Private Offering.”

We have elected to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. We intend to elect to be treated, and intend to qualify annually thereafter, as a regulated investment
company (a “RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Code for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a BDC and a RIC, we are required to comply with certain regulatory
requirements. See “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Regulation as a Business Development Company” and “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Certain U.S. Federal
Income Tax Considerations.”

(b) Financial Information about Industry Segments

Our operations comprise only a single reportable segment.

(c) Description of Business

The Company — Owl Rock Capital Corporation

Owl Rock Capital Corporation is a newly formed Maryland corporation organized primarily to make loans to, and make debt and equity investments in, U.S. middle
market companies. We will invest in senior secured or unsecured loans, subordinated loans or mezzanine loans and, to a lesser extent, equity-related securities including
warrants, preferred stock and similar forms of senior equity, which may or may not be convertible into a portfolio company’s common equity. We expect that the companies in
our investment portfolio will typically be highly leveraged, and, we expect that in many cases, our investments in these companies will not be rated by any rating agency. We
expect that if these investments were rated, they would likely receive a rating of below investment grade which is often referred to as “junk”. Our investment objective is to
generate current income, and to a lesser extent, capital appreciation by targeting investment opportunities with favorable risk-adjusted returns.

We expect that capital will be used to support organic growth, acquisitions, market or product expansion, refinancings and/or recapitalizations. We define “middle market
companies” to generally mean companies with earnings before interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, or “EBITDA,” between $10 million and
$250 million annually and/or annual revenue of $50 million to $2.5 billion at the time of investment. We may on occasion invest in smaller or larger companies if an attractive
opportunity presents itself, especially when there are dislocations in the capital markets, including the high yield and large syndicated loan markets. Our target credit
investments will typically have maturities between three and ten years and generally range in size between $20 and $250 million. The investment size will vary with the size of
our capital base.
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We may invest a portion of our portfolio in opportunistic investments, which will not be our primary focus, but will be intended to enhance our returns to holders of our
common stock. These investments may include, but are not limited to, large U.S. companies, foreign companies, stressed or distressed debt, structured products or private
equity. We will not invest more than 20% of our total assets in companies whose principal place of business is outside the United States.

We generally intend to distribute, out of assets legally available for distribution, substantially all of our available earnings, on a quarterly basis, as determined by our
board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) in its discretion.

To achieve our investment objective, we will leverage our Adviser’s investment team’s extensive network of relationships with other sophisticated institutions to source,
evaluate and, as appropriate, partner with on transactions. There are no assurances that we will achieve our investment objective.

From time to time, we may be exposed to significant market risk. See “Item 1.A.Risk Factors —Risks Related to our Business and Structure —Risks Related to Changes
in Interest Rates.” Our investment portfolio may be concentrated. We are subject to certain investment restrictions with respect to leverage and type of investments. We or our
affiliates may engage in certain origination activities and receive attendant structuring or similar fees.

As a BDC, at least 70% of our assets must be assets of the type listed in Section 55(a) of the 1940 Act, as described herein.

The Adviser — Owl Rock Capital Advisors LLC

Owl Rock Capital Advisors serves as our investment adviser pursuant to an investment advisory agreement (the “Investment Advisory Agreement”) between us and the
Adviser. The Adviser has no operating history. Subject to the overall supervision of the Board of Directors, the Adviser is responsible for managing our business and activities,
including sourcing investment opportunities, conducting research, performing diligence on potential investments, structuring our investments, and monitoring our portfolio
companies on an ongoing basis through a team of investment professionals. The Adviser is an indirect subsidiary of Owl Rock Capital Partners. Owl Rock Capital Partners is
led by Douglas I. Ostrover, its Chief Executive Officer and Marc S. Lipschultz, its President. The Adviser’s investment team (the “Investment Team”) is also led by Douglas I.
Ostrover and Marc S. Lipschultz and is supported by certain members of the Adviser’s senior executive team and the investment committee. All investment decisions require
the unanimous approval of the investment committee, which is currently comprised of Douglas I. Ostrover, Marc S. Lipschultz and Alexis Maged (the “Investment
Committee”). The Adviser intends to appoint one additional senior investment professional to the Investment Committee.

The Board of Directors

Overall responsibility for the Company’s oversight rests with the Board of Directors. We have entered into the Investment Advisory Agreement with the Adviser,
pursuant to which the Adviser will manage the Company on a day-to-day basis. The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Adviser and other service providers in
our operations in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act, applicable provisions of state and other laws and our amended and restated charter, which we refer to as our
charter. The Board of Directors is currently composed of five members, three of whom are directors who are not “interested persons” of the Company or the Adviser as defined
in the 1940 Act. Pursuant to our charter, the directors are divided into three classes. Directors of each class will hold office for terms ending at the third annual meeting of our
shareholders after their election and when their respective successors are elected and qualify. However, the initial members of the three classes of directors have initial terms
ending at the first, second and third annual meeting of our shareholders after the Initial Closing, respectively.

Investment Advisory Agreement

The description below of the Investment Advisory Agreement is only a summary and is not necessarily complete. The description set forth below is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the Investment Advisory Agreement attached as an exhibit to this Registration Statement.
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The Adviser provides management services to us pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement. Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Adviser
is responsible for the following:
 

 •  managing our assets in accordance with our investment objective, policies and restrictions;
 

 •  determining the composition of our portfolio, the nature and timing of the changes to our portfolio and the manner of implementing such changes;
 

 •  making investment decisions for us, including negotiating the terms of investments in, and dispositions of, portfolio securities and other instruments on our behalf;
 

 •  monitoring our investments;
 

 •  performing due diligence on prospective portfolio companies;
 

 •  exercising voting rights in respect of portfolio securities and other investments for us;
 

 •  serving on, and exercising observer rights for, boards of directors and similar committees of our portfolio companies; and
 

 •  providing us with such other investment advisory and related services as we may, from time to time, reasonably require for the investment of capital.

The Adviser’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive, and it is free to furnish similar services to other entities so long as its services to us
are not impaired.

Term

The Investment Advisory Agreement has been approved by the Board of Directors. Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Investment Advisory Agreement
will remain in effect for a period of two years from the date it first becomes effective and will remain in effect from year-to-year thereafter if approved annually by a majority of
the Board of Directors or by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities and, in each case, a majority of the independent directors.

The Investment Advisory Agreement will automatically terminate within the meaning of the 1940 Act and related SEC guidance and interpretations in the event of its
assignment. In accordance with the 1940 Act, without payment of any penalty, we may terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement with the Adviser upon 60 days’ written
notice. The decision to terminate the agreement may be made by a majority of the Board of Directors or the shareholders holding a majority (as defined under the 1940 Act) of
the outstanding shares of our common stock. See “–Removal of Adviser.” In addition, without payment of any penalty, the Adviser may generally terminate the Investment
Advisory Agreement upon 60 days’ written notice and, in certain circumstances, the Adviser may only be able to terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement upon 120 days’
written notice.

Removal of Adviser

The Adviser may be removed by the Board of Directors or by the affirmative vote of a Majority of the Outstanding Shares. “Majority of the Outstanding Shares” means
the lesser of (1) 67% or more of the outstanding shares of our common stock present at a meeting, if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of our common
stock are present or represented by proxy or (2) a majority of outstanding shares of our common stock.

Compensation of Adviser

We will pay the Adviser a fee for its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement consisting of two components: a management fee and an incentive fee. The cost
of both the management fee and the incentive fee will ultimately be borne by the shareholders.

The management fee is payable quarterly in arrears. Prior to an Exchange Listing, the management fee is payable at an annual rate of 0.75% of our (i) average gross
assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents but
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including assets purchased with borrowed amounts, at the end of our two most recently completed calendar quarters plus (ii) the average of any shareholder’s remaining
unfunded Capital Commitments to the Company at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters. Following an Exchange Listing, the management fee is
payable at an annual rate of 1.75% of our gross assets excluding cash and cash equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed amounts, at the end of the two most
recently completed calendar quarters payable quarterly in arrears. The management fee for any partial month or quarter, as the case may be, will be appropriately prorated and
adjusted for any share issuances or repurchases during the relevant calendar months or quarters, as the case may be. For purposes of the Investment Advisory Agreement, gross
assets means our total assets determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, excluding cash and cash
equivalents, but including assets purchased with borrowed amounts.

Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Adviser will not be entitled to an incentive fee prior to an Exchange Listing. Following an Exchange Listing, the
incentive fee will consist of two components that are independent of each other, with the result that one component may be payable even if the other is not. A portion of the
incentive fee is based on our income and a portion is based on our capital gains, each as described below. The portion of the incentive fee based on income is determined and
paid quarterly in arrears commencing with the first calendar quarter following an Exchange Listing, and equals 100% of the pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of
a 1.5% quarterly “hurdle rate,” until the Adviser has received 20% of the total pre-incentive fee net investment income for that calendar quarter and, for pre-incentive fee net
investment income in excess of 1.875% quarterly, 20% of all remaining pre-incentive fee net investment income for that calendar quarter. The 100% “catch-up” provision for
pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of the 1.5% “hurdle rate” is intended to provide the Adviser with an incentive fee of 20% on all pre-incentive fee net
investment income when that amount equals 1.875% in a calendar quarter (7.50% annualized), which is the rate at which catch-up is achieved. Once the “hurdle rate” is reached
and catch-up is achieved, 20% of any pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of 1.875% in any quarter is payable to the Adviser.

Pre-incentive fee net investment income means dividends (including reinvested dividends), interest and fee income accrued by us during the calendar quarter, minus
operating expenses for the quarter (including the management fee, expenses payable under the administration agreement (the “Administration Agreement”) entered into between
us and the Adviser, and any interest expense and dividends paid on any issued and outstanding preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee). Pre-incentive fee net
investment income includes, in the case of investments with a deferred interest feature (such as original issue discount, debt instruments with pay-in-kind (“PIK”) interest and
zero coupon securities), accrued income that we may not have received in cash and the Adviser is not obligated to return to us the incentive fee it receives on payment-in-kind
interest that is later determined to be uncollectible in cash. Pre-incentive fee net investment income does not include any realized capital gains, realized capital losses or
unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation.

To determine whether pre-incentive fee net investment income exceeds the hurdle rate, pre-incentive fee net investment income is expressed as a rate of return on the
value of our net assets at the end of the immediately preceding calendar quarter commencing with the first calendar quarter following an Exchange Listing. Because of the
structure of the incentive fee, it is possible that we may pay an incentive fee in a calendar quarter in which we incur a loss. For example, if we receive pre-incentive fee net
investment income in excess of the quarterly hurdle rate, we will pay the applicable incentive fee even if we have incurred a loss in that calendar quarter due to realized and
unrealized capital losses. In addition, because the quarterly hurdle rate is calculated based on our net assets, decreases in our net assets due to realized or unrealized capital
losses in any given calendar quarter may increase the likelihood that the hurdle rate is reached and therefore the likelihood of us paying an incentive fee for that calendar
quarter. Our net investment income used to calculate this component of the incentive fee is also included in the amount of our gross assets used to calculate the management fee
because gross assets are total assets (including cash received) before deducting liabilities (such as declared dividend payments).

The following is a graphical representation of the calculation of the income-related portion of the incentive fee:

Quarterly Subordinated Incentive Fee on
Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income

(expressed as a percentage of the value of net assets)
 
0%  1.5%  1.875%

    

 0%   100%   20% 
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Percentage of Pre-Incentive Fee Net Investment Income
Allocated to Quarterly Incentive Fee

The second component of the incentive fee, the capital gains incentive fee, payable at the end of each calendar year in arrears, equals 20% of cumulative realized capital
gains from the date on which the Exchange Listing becomes effective (the “Listing Date”) to the end of each calendar year, less cumulative realized capital losses and unrealized
capital depreciation from the Listing Date to the end of each calendar year. Each year, the fee paid for the capital gains incentive fee is net of the aggregate amount of any
previously paid capital gains incentive fee for prior periods. We will accrue, but will not pay, a capital gains incentive fee with respect to unrealized appreciation because a
capital gains incentive fee would be owed to the Adviser if we were to sell the relevant investment and realize a capital gain. For the sole purpose of calculating the capital gains
incentive fee, the cost basis as of the Listing Date for all of our investments made prior to the Listing Date will be equal to the fair market value of such investments as of the last
day of the quarter in which the Listing Date occurs; provided, however, that in no event will the capital gains incentive fee payable pursuant to the Investment Advisory
Agreement be in excess of the amount permitted by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 including Section 205 thereof.

The fees that are payable under the Investment Advisory Agreement for any partial period will be appropriately prorated.

Limitations of Liability and Indemnification

The Adviser and its affiliates (each, an “Indemnitee”) will not be liable to us for (i) mistakes of judgment or for action or inaction that such person reasonably believed to
be in our best interests absent such Indemnitee’s gross negligence, knowing and willful misconduct, or fraud or (ii) losses or expenses due to mistakes of judgment, action or
inaction, or the negligence, dishonesty or bad faith of any broker or other agent of the Company who is not an affiliate of such Indemnitee, provided that such person was
selected, engaged or retained without gross negligence, willful misconduct, or fraud.

We will indemnify each Indemnitee against any liabilities relating to our offering of our common stock or our business, operation, administration or termination, if the
Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner it believed to be in, or not opposed to, our interest and except to the extent arising out of the Indemnitee’s gross negligence,
fraud or knowing and willful misconduct. We may pay the expenses incurred by the Indemnitee in defending an actual or threatened civil or criminal action in advance of the
final disposition of such action, provided the Indemnitee agrees to repay those expenses if found by adjudication not to be entitled to indemnification.

Board Approval of the Investment Advisory Agreement

The Board of Directors held an in-person meeting to consider and approve the Investment Advisory Agreement and related matters. The Board of Directors was
provided the information it required to consider the Investment Advisory Agreement, including: (a) the nature, quality and extent of the advisory and other services to be
provided to us by the Adviser; (b) comparative data with respect to advisory fees or similar expenses paid by other BDCs with similar investment objectives; (c) our projected
operating expenses and expense ratio compared to BDCs with similar investment objectives; (d) any existing and potential sources of indirect income to the Adviser from its
relationship with us and the profitability of that relationship; (e) information about the services to be performed and the personnel performing such services under the Investment
Advisory Agreement; (f) the organizational capability and financial condition of the Adviser and its affiliates; (g) the Adviser’s practices regarding the selection and
compensation of brokers that may execute our portfolio transactions and the brokers’ provision of brokerage and research services to the Adviser; and (h) the possibility of
obtaining similar services from other third-party service providers or through an internally managed structure.
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The Board of Directors, including a majority of independent directors, oversees and monitors the investment performance and, beginning with the second anniversary of
the effective date of the Investment Advisory Agreement, will annually review the compensation we pay to the Adviser to determine that the provisions of the Investment
Advisory Agreement are carried out.

Administration Agreement

The description below of the Administration Agreement is only a summary and is not necessarily complete. The description set forth below is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the Administration Agreement attached as an exhibit to this Registration Statement.

Under the terms of the Administration Agreement, the Adviser will perform, or oversee the performance of, required administrative services, which includes providing
office space, equipment and office services, maintaining financial records, preparing reports to shareholders and reports filed with the SEC, and managing the payment of
expenses and the performance of administrative and professional services rendered by others. We will reimburse the Adviser for services performed for us pursuant to the terms
of the Administration Agreement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Administration Agreement, the Adviser may delegate its obligations under the Administration
Agreement to an affiliate or to a third party and we will reimburse the Adviser for any services performed for us by such affiliate or third party.

The Administration Agreement has been approved by the Board of Directors. Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Administration Agreement will remain in
effect for a period of two years from the date it first becomes effective and will remain in effect from year-to-year thereafter if approved annually by a majority of the Board of
Directors or by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities and, in each case, a majority of the independent directors.

We may terminate the Administration Agreement, without payment of any penalty, upon 60 days’ written notice. The decision to terminate the agreement may be made
by a majority of the Board of Directors or the shareholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock. In addition, the Adviser may terminate the
Administration Agreement, without payment of any penalty, upon 60 days’ written notice.

Payment of Our Expenses under the Investment Advisory and Administration Agreements

Except as specifically provided below, we anticipate that all investment professionals and staff of the Adviser, when and to the extent engaged in providing investment
advisory and management services to us, and the base compensation, bonus and benefits, and the routine overhead expenses, of such personnel allocable to such services, will
be provided and paid for by the Adviser. We will bear our allocable portion of the compensation paid by the Adviser (or its affiliates) to our chief compliance officer and chief
financial officer and their respective staffs (based on a percentage of time such individuals devote, on an estimated basis, to our business affairs). We will also bear all other
costs and expenses of our operations, administration and transactions, including, but not limited to (i) investment advisory fees, including management fees and incentive fees,
to the Adviser, pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement; (ii) our allocable portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by the Adviser in performing its
administrative obligations under the Investment Advisory Agreement, and (iii) all other expenses of our operations and transactions including, without limitation, those relating
to:
 

 •  the cost of our organization and this offering;
 

 •  the cost of calculating our net asset value, including the cost of any third-party valuation services;
 

 •  the cost of effecting any sales and repurchases of our common stock and other securities;
 

 •  fees and expenses payable under any dealer manager agreements, if any;
 

 •  debt service and other costs of borrowings or other financing arrangements;
 

 •  costs of hedging;
 

 •  expenses, including travel expense, incurred by the Adviser, or members of the Investment Team, or payable to third parties, performing due diligence on
prospective portfolio companies and, if necessary, enforcing our rights;

 

 •  transfer agent and custodial fees;
 

 •  fees and expenses associated with marketing efforts;
 

 •  federal and state registration fees, any stock exchange listing fees and fees payable to rating agencies;
 

 •  federal, state and local taxes;
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 •  independent directors’ fees and expenses including certain travel expenses;
 

 •  costs of preparing financial statements and maintaining books and records and filing reports or other documents with the SEC (or other regulatory bodies) and other
reporting and compliance costs, including registration and listing fees, and the compensation of professionals responsible for the preparation of the foregoing;

 

 •  the costs of any reports, proxy statements or other notices to shareholders (including printing and mailing costs), the costs of any shareholder or director meetings
and the compensation of investor relations personnel responsible for the preparation of the foregoing and related matters;

 

 •  commissions and other compensation payable to brokers or dealers;
 

 •  research and market data;
 

 •  fidelity bond, directors and officers errors and omissions liability insurance and other insurance premiums;
 

 •  direct costs and expenses of administration, including printing, mailing, long distance telephone and staff;
 

 •  fees and expenses associated with independent audits, outside legal and consulting costs;
 

 •  costs of winding up;
 

 •  costs incurred in connection with the formation or maintenance of entities or vehicles to hold our assets for tax or other purposes;
 

 •  extraordinary expenses (such as litigation or indemnification); and
 

 •  costs associated with reporting and compliance obligations under the 1940 Act and applicable federal and state securities laws.

Fees and Expenses

The table below provides information about the Company’s estimated annual operating expenses during the following twelve months, expressed as a percentage of
average net assets attributable to common stock. The percentages indicated in the table below are estimates and may vary.
 

Base Management Fee (1)    1.875% 
Incentive Fee (2)    —    
Interest Payments on Borrowed Funds (3)    1.250% 
Other Expenses (4)    1.600% 
Total Annual Expenses    4.725% 

 
(1) Amount assumes that we have average net assets of $500 million during the following twelve months and that we borrow funds equal to 50% of our average net assets

during such period.
 
(2) For purpose of this chart, we have assumed that we will not conduct an Exchange Listing in the next twelve months and that no incentive fee will be paid.
 
(3) We intend to borrow funds to make investments. To the extent that we determine it is appropriate to borrow funds to make investments, the costs associated with such

borrowing will be indirectly borne by our investors. The figure in the table assumes we borrow for investment purposes an amount equal to 50% of our average net assets
(including such borrowed funds) during the following twelve months and that the annual interest rate on the amount borrowed is 2.5%. We may borrow additional funds
from time to time to make investments to the extent we determine that the economic situation is conducive to doing so.

 
(4) Other expenses include, but are not limited to, accounting, legal and auditing fees, as well as the reimbursement of the compensation of administrative personnel and fees

payable to our directors who do not also serve in an executive officer capacity for us or the Adviser. The amount presented in the table reflects estimated amounts we
expect to pay during the following twelve months.



License Agreement

We have also entered into a license agreement (the “License Agreement”) with Owl Rock Capital Partners, pursuant to which Owl Rock Capital Partners has granted us a
non-exclusive license to use the name “Owl Rock.” Under the License Agreement, we have a right to use the Owl Rock name for so long as the Adviser or one of its affiliates
remains our investment adviser. Other than with respect to this limited license, we have no legal right to the “Owl Rock” name or logo.

Market Opportunity

We believe the middle-market lending environment provides opportunities for us to meet our goal of making investments that generate attractive risk-adjusted returns as
a result of a combination of the following factors:

Limited Availability of Capital for Middle-Market Companies. We believe that regulatory and structural changes in the market have reduced the amount of capital
available to middle-market companies. Specifically, the Basel III accord, the adoption of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank
Act”) and recent leveraged lending guidelines and regulations implemented by the Federal Reserve, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation are expected to significantly increase capital and liquidity requirements for banks, decreasing their capacity and appetite to originate and/or hold non-
investment grade loans on their balance sheets. In addition, the number of lenders serving the middle-market has declined as traditional participants, such as commercial banks
and specialty finance companies, have consolidated and are pursuing larger opportunities and as many non-traditional lenders, often referred to as the “shadow banking sector”
(e.g., hedge funds, private equity funds, mezzanine funds and structured vehicles) have struggled with illiquidity, been unable to satisfy investor expectations, or otherwise
exited the market. Finally, while the institutional leveraged loan and high-yield bond markets have enjoyed significant investor interest in the past several years, middle-market
companies are unable to access those markets as they fail to meet the size and liquidity requirements imposed by the institutional investor community.
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Robust Demand for Debt Capital. We believe nearly 200,000 middle-market companies will continue to require access to debt capital to refinance existing debt, support
growth and finance acquisitions. In addition, we believe the large amount of uninvested capital held by private equity funds will continue to drive deal activity. We expect that
private equity firms will continue to pursue acquisitions and to seek to leverage their equity investments with debt provided by companies such as us.

Compelling Investment Dynamics. We believe that the imbalance between the supply of, and demand for, middle-market debt capital creates transaction dynamics that
offer opportunities to make investments with attractive risk-adjusted rates of return. In addition to commanding higher pricing, principally due to illiquidity, the directly
negotiated nature of middle-market financings generally provides for more favorable terms to the lender, including more conservative leverage, stronger covenants and
reporting packages, better call protection, and more restrictive change-of-control provisions. In addition, middle-market companies often have simpler capital structures than
those of larger borrowers, which we believe facilitates a streamlined underwriting process and improves returns to lenders during a restructuring process.

Disparate Financing Needs. Middle-market borrowers’ needs vary considerably based on company- or industry-specific circumstances. We believe that the number of
capital providers with the capabilities and flexibility of mandate to deliver tailored “one-stop” solutions addressing the idiosyncratic needs of the market remains limited. We
believe that the Investment Team’s experience in designing and investing in custom solutions across the capital structure, positions us as a desirable lending partner to middle-
market companies and their sponsors.

Distinctive Lender Capabilities. Lending to middle-market companies requires specialized due diligence and underwriting capabilities, as well as extensive ongoing
monitoring. Middle-market lending also is generally more labor-intensive than lending to larger companies due to smaller investment sizes and the lack of publicly available
information on these companies. We believe the Adviser’s experience positions us more strongly to lend to middle-market companies than many other capital providers.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that the Adviser’s disciplined approach to origination, fundamental credit analysis, portfolio construction and risk management should allow us to achieve
attractive risk-adjusted returns while preserving our capital. We believe that it represents an attractive investment opportunity for the following reasons:

Experienced Investment Team. The members of the Investment Committee each have an average of 25 years of experience in private lending, high yield securities,
leveraged loans, high yield credit derivatives and distressed securities, as well as experience in operations, corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions. The Investment
Team has diverse backgrounds with investing experience through multiple business and credit cycles and certain members of the Investment Team have significant operating
and investing experience at BDCs. We believe this experience provides the Adviser with an in-depth understanding of the strategic, financial and operational challenges and
opportunities of middle-market companies. Further, we believe this positions the Adviser to effectively identify, assess and select quality investments while also enabling it to
monitor and provide managerial assistance to our portfolio companies.

Distinctive Origination Platform. We anticipate that a substantial majority of our investments will not be intermediated and will be originated without the assistance of
investment banks or other traditional Wall Street sources. The Investment Team is responsible for originating, underwriting, executing and managing the assets of our direct
lending transactions and for sourcing and executing opportunities directly. The Investment Team has significant experience as transaction originators and executing direct
calling campaigns on companies based on the Adviser’s sector and macroeconomic views.

The Investment Team also maintains direct contact with financial sponsors, banks, corporate advisory firms, industry consultants, attorneys, investment banks, “club”
investors and other potential sources of lending opportunities. By sourcing through multiple channels, we believe we are able to generate investment opportunities that have
more attractive risk-adjusted return characteristics than by relying solely on origination flow from investment banks or other intermediaries.
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Disciplined, Income-Orientated Investment Philosophy. The Adviser will employ a defensive investment approach focused on long-term credit performance and
principal protection. This investment approach will involve a multi-stage selection process for each investment opportunity as well as ongoing monitoring of each investment
made, with particular emphasis on early detection of credit deterioration. This strategy is designed to achieve optimized risk adjusted returns.

Active Portfolio Monitoring. The Adviser will closely monitor the investments in the portfolio and take a proactive approach to identifying and addressing sector- or
company-specific risks. The Adviser will receive and review detailed financial information from portfolio companies no less than quarterly in addition to maintaining regular
dialogue with company management teams regarding current and forecasted performance. We anticipate that a significant amount of our investments will have financial
covenants that provide an early warning of potential problems facing borrowers, allowing lenders, including us, to identify and carefully manage risk.

Expertise Across All Levels of the Corporate Capital Structure. We believe that the Adviser’s broad expertise and experience at all levels of a company’s capital
structure will afford it numerous tools to manage risk while preserving the opportunity for attractive returns on our investments. The Adviser will attempt to capitalize on this
expertise in an effort to produce and maintain an investment portfolio that will perform in a broad range of economic conditions.

Investment Selection

The Adviser has identified the following investment criteria and guidelines that it believes are important in evaluating prospective portfolio companies. However, not all
of these criteria and guidelines, either individually or collectively, will be met in connection with each of our investments.

Established Companies with Positive Cash Flow. We seek to invest in companies with sound historical financial performance which we believe tend to be well-
positioned to maintain consistent cash flow to service and repay their obligations and maintain growth in their businesses or market share. The Adviser will typically focus on
companies with a history of profitability on an operating cash flow basis. The Adviser does not intend to invest in start-up companies that have not achieved sustainable
profitability and cash flow generation or companies with speculative business plans.

Strong Competitive Position in Industry. The Adviser will analyze the strengths and weaknesses of target companies relative to their competitors. The factors the
Adviser will consider include relative product pricing, product quality, customer loyalty, substitution risk, switching costs, patent protection, brand positioning and
capitalization. We seek to invest in companies that have developed leading positions within their respective markets, are well positioned to capitalize on growth opportunities
and operate businesses, exhibit the potential to maintain sufficient cash flows and profitability to service their obligations in a range of economic environments or are in
industries with significant barriers to entry. We seek companies that demonstrate advantages in scale, scope, customer loyalty, product pricing, or product quality versus their
competitors that when compared to their competitors, may help to protect their market position and profitability.

Experienced Management Team. We seek to invest in companies that have experienced management teams. We also seek to invest in companies that have proper
incentives in place, including having significant equity interests, to motivate management to act in concert with its interests as investors.

Diversified Customer and Supplier Base. We generally seek to invest in companies that have a diversified customer and supplier base. Companies with a diversified
customer and supplier base are generally better able to endure economic downturns, industry consolidation, changing business preferences and other factors that may negatively
impact their customers, suppliers and competitors.
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Exit Strategy. While certain debt investments may be repaid through operating cash flows of the borrower, we expect that the primary means by which we exit our debt
investments will be through methods such as strategic acquisitions by other industry participants, an initial public offering of common stock, a recapitalization, a refinancing or
another transaction in the capital markets. In addition, in connection with our investing activities, we may make commitments with respect to an investment in a potential
portfolio company substantially in excess of our final investment. In such situations, while we may initially agree to fund up to a certain dollar amount of an investment, we
may syndicate a portion of such amount such that we are left with a smaller investment than what was reflected in our original commitment.

Private Equity Sponsorship. Often, we will seek to participate in transactions sponsored by what we believe to be high-quality private equity firms. We believe that a
private equity sponsor’s willingness to invest significant sums of equity capital into a company is an explicit endorsement of the quality of their investment. Further, private
equity sponsors of portfolio companies with significant investments at risk have the ability and a strong incentive to contribute additional capital in difficult economic times
should operational issues arise.

Investments in Different Portfolio Companies and Industries. We will seek to invest broadly among portfolio companies and industries, thereby potentially reducing the
risk of any one company or industry having a disproportionate impact on the value of our portfolio, however there can be no assurances in this regard.

Investment Process Overview

Origination and Sourcing. The Investment Team has an extensive network from which to source deal flow and referrals. Specifically, the Adviser sources portfolio
investments from a variety of different investment sources, including among others, management teams, financial intermediaries and advisers, investment bankers, private
equity sponsors, family offices, accounting firms and law firms. The Adviser believes that its experience across different industries and transaction types makes the Adviser
particularly and uniquely qualified to source, analyze and execute investment opportunities.

Due Diligence Process. The process through which an investment decision is made involves extensive research into the company, its industry, its growth prospects and
its ability to withstand adverse conditions. If one or more of the members of the Investment Team responsible for the transaction determine that an investment opportunity
should be pursued, the Adviser will engage in an intensive due diligence process. Though each transaction may involve a somewhat different approach, the Adviser’s diligence
of each opportunity could include:
 

 •  understanding the purpose of the loan, the key personnel and variables, as well as the sources and uses of the proceeds;
 

 •  meeting the company’s management, including top and middle-level executives, to get an insider’s view of the business, and to probe for potential
weaknesses in business prospects;

 

 •  checking management’s backgrounds and references;
 

 •  performing a detailed review of historical financial performance, including performance through various economic cycles, and the quality of earnings;
 

 •  contacting customers and vendors to assess both business prospects and standard practices;
 

 •  conducting a competitive analysis, and comparing the company to its main competitors on an operating, financial, market share and valuation basis;
 

 •  researching the industry for historic growth trends and future prospects as well as to identify future exit alternatives;
 

 •  assessing asset value and the ability of physical infrastructure and information systems to handle anticipated growth;
 

 •  leveraging the Adviser’s internal resources and network with institutional knowledge of the company’s business; and
 

 •  investigating legal and regulatory risks and financial and accounting systems and practices.
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Selective Investment Process. After an investment has been identified and preliminary diligence has been completed, a credit research and analysis report is prepared.
This report is reviewed by the members of the Investment Team in charge of the potential investment. If these members of the Investment Team are in favor of the potential
investment, then a more extensive due diligence process may be employed. Additional due diligence with respect to any investment may be conducted on our behalf by
attorneys, independent accountants, and other third-party consultants and research firms prior to the closing of the investment, as appropriate on a case-by-case basis.

Structuring and Execution. Approval of an investment requires the unanimous approval of the Investment Committee. Once the Investment Committee has determined
that a prospective portfolio company is suitable for investment, the Adviser works with the management team or sponsor of that company and its other capital providers,
including senior, junior and equity capital providers, if any, to finalize the structure and terms of the investment.

Portfolio Monitoring. The Adviser monitors our portfolio companies on an ongoing basis. The Adviser monitors the financial trends of each portfolio company to
determine if it is meeting its business plans and to assess the appropriate course of action with respect to each portfolio company. The Adviser has a number of methods of
evaluating and monitoring the performance and fair value of our investments, which may include the following:
 

 •  assessment of success of the portfolio company in adhering to its business plan and compliance with covenants;
 

 •  periodic and regular contact with portfolio company management and, if appropriate, the financial or strategic sponsor, to discuss financial position,
requirements and accomplishments;

 

 •  comparisons to other companies in the portfolio company’s industry;
 

 •  attendance at, and participation in, board meetings; and
 

 •  review of monthly and quarterly financial statements and financial projections for portfolio companies.

Structure of Investments

Our investment objective is to generate current income, and to a lesser extent, capital appreciation.

Debt Investments. The terms of our debt investments are tailored to the facts and circumstances of each transaction. The Adviser will negotiate the structure of each
investment to protect our rights and manage our risk. We intend to invest in the following types of debt:
 

 
•  First-lien debt. First-lien debt is typically senior on a lien basis to other liabilities in the issuer’s capital structure and has the benefit of a first-priority security

interest in assets of the issuer. The security interest ranks above the security interest of any second-lien lenders in those assets. Our first-lien debt may include stand-
alone first-lien loans, “last out” first-lien loans, “unitranche” loans and secured corporate bonds with similar features to these categories of first-lien loans.

 

 ¡  Stand-alone first-lien loans. Stand-alone first-lien loans are traditional first-lien loans. All lenders in the facility have equal rights to the collateral that is
subject to the first-priority security interest.

 

 

¡  “Last out” first-lien loans. “Last out” first-lien loans have a secondary priority behind super-senior “first out” first-lien loans in the collateral securing
the loans in certain circumstances. The arrangements for a “last out” first-lien loan are set forth in an “agreement among lenders,” which provides lenders
with “first out” and “last out” payment streams based on a single lien on the collateral. Since the “first out” lenders generally have priority over the “last
out” lenders for receiving payment under certain specified events of default, or upon the occurrence of other triggering events under intercreditor
agreements or agreements among lenders, the “last out” lenders bear a greater risk and, in exchange, receive a higher effective interest rate, through
arrangements among the lenders, than the “first out” lenders or lenders in stand-alone first-lien
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loans. Agreements among lenders also typically provide greater voting rights to the “last out” lenders than the intercreditor agreements to which second-
lien lenders often are subject. Among the types of first-lien debt in which we may invest, “last out” first lien loans generally have higher effective interest
rates than other types of first-lien loans, since “last out” first lien loans rank below standalone first lien loans.

 

 
¡  “Unitranche” loans. Unitranche loans combine features of first-lien, second-lien and mezzanine debt, generally in a first-lien position. In many cases, we

may provide the issuer most, if not all, of the capital structure above the equity. The primary advantages to the issuer are the ability to negotiate the entire
debt financing with one lender and the elimination of intercreditor issues.

 

 

•  Second-lien debt. Our second-lien debt may include secured loans, and, to a lesser extent, secured corporate bonds, with a secondary priority behind first-lien debt.
Second-lien debt typically is senior on a lien basis to other liabilities in the issuer’s capital structure and has the benefit of a security interest over assets of the
issuer, though ranking junior to first-lien debt secured by those assets. First-lien lenders and second-lien lenders typically have separate liens on the collateral, and
an intercreditor agreement provides the first-lien lenders with priority over the second-lien lenders’ liens on the collateral.

 

 

•  Mezzanine debt. Structurally, mezzanine debt usually ranks subordinate in priority of payment to first-lien and second-lien debt, is often unsecured, and may not
have the benefit of financial covenants common in first-lien and second-lien debt. However, mezzanine debt ranks senior to common and preferred equity in an
issuer’s capital structure. Mezzanine debt investments generally offer lenders fixed returns in the form of interest payments and will often provide lenders an
opportunity to participate in the capital appreciation, if any, of an issuer through an equity interest. This equity interest typically takes the form of an equity co-
investment or warrants. Due to its higher risk profile and often less restrictive covenants compared to senior secured loans, mezzanine debt generally bears a higher
stated interest rate than first-lien and second-lien debt.

Our debt investments will typically be structured with the maximum seniority and collateral that we can reasonably obtain while seeking to achieve our total return
target. The Adviser seeks to limit the downside potential of our investments by:
 

 •  requiring a total return on our investments (including both interest and potential equity appreciation) that compensates us for credit risk;
 

 
•  negotiating covenants in connection with our investments consistent with preservation of our capital. Such restrictions may include affirmative covenants (including

reporting requirements), negative covenants (including financial covenants), lien protection, change of control provisions and board rights, including either
observation or rights to a seat on the board under some circumstances; and

 

 •  including debt amortization requirements, where appropriate, to require the timely repayment of principal of the loan, as well as appropriate maturity dates.

Within our portfolio, the Adviser aims to maintain the appropriate proportion among the various types of first-lien loans, as well as second-lien debt and mezzanine debt,
to allow us to achieve our target returns while maintaining our targeted amount of credit risk.

Equity Investments. Our investment in a portfolio company may include equity-related securities such as warrants, preferred stock and similar forms of senior equity,
which may or may not be converted into a portfolio company’s common equity. In certain instances, we will also make direct equity investments, although those situations are
generally limited to those cases where we are making an investment in a more senior part of the capital structure of the issuer.
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Competition

Our primary competitors in providing financing to middle-market companies include public and private funds, other BDCs, commercial and investment banks,
commercial finance companies and, to the extent they provide an alternative form of financing, private equity and hedge funds. Many of our competitors are substantially larger
and have considerably greater financial, technical, and marketing resources than we do. Some competitors may have access to funding sources that are not available to us. In
addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish
more relationships than us. Further, many of our competitors are not subject to the regulatory restrictions that the 1940 Act imposes on us as a business development company,
or to the distribution and other requirements we must satisfy to maintain our RIC status. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors — Risk Relating to Our Business and Structure —
Competition for Investments.”

Term

Prior to an Exchange Listing, if the Board of Directors determines that there has been a significant adverse change in the regulatory or tax treatment of the Company or
our shareholders that in its judgment makes it inadvisable for the Company to continue in its present form, then the Board of Directors will endeavor to restructure or change the
form of the Company to preserve (insofar as possible) the overall benefits previously enjoyed by our shareholders as a whole or, if the Board of Directors determines it
appropriate (and subject to any necessary shareholder approvals and applicable requirements of the 1940 Act), (i) cause the Company to change its form and/or jurisdiction of
organization or (ii) wind down and/or liquidate and dissolve the Company.

If we have not consummated an Exchange Listing by the five year anniversary of the Initial Closing, subject to extension for two additional one-year periods, in the sole
discretion of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors (subject to any necessary shareholder approvals and applicable requirements of the 1940 Act) will use its
commercially reasonable efforts to wind down and/or liquidate and dissolve the Company in an orderly manner.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, each share of common stock would be entitled to share ratably in all of our assets that are legally available for
distribution after we paid or otherwise provide for all debts and other liabilities and subject to any preferential rights of holders of our preferred stock, if any preferred stock is
outstanding at such time. For the purposes of this paragraph, a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any other corporation or other entity, or a sale or
conveyance of all or any part of our property or assets will not be deemed to be a dissolution, liquidation or winding up, voluntary or involuntary.

Emerging Growth Company

We are an emerging growth company as defined in the JOBS Act and we are eligible to take advantage of certain specified reduced disclosure and other requirements
that are otherwise generally applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the
auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”). Although we have not made a determination whether to take
advantage of any or all of these exemptions, we expect to remain an emerging growth company for up to five years following the completion of our initial public offering or
until the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues exceed $1.0 billion, (ii) December 31 of the fiscal year that we become a “large
accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the 1934 Act which would occur if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0 million
as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter and we have been publicly reporting for at least 12 months or (iii) the date on which we have
issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the preceding three-year period. In addition, we will take advantage of the extended transition period
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the 1933 Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

We have adopted a dividend reinvestment plan, pursuant to which we will reinvest all cash dividends declared by the Board of Directors on behalf of our shareholders
who do not elect to receive their dividends in cash as provided below. As a result, if the Board of Directors authorizes, and we declare, a cash dividend or other distribution, then
our shareholders who have not opted out of our dividend reinvestment plan will have their cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock
as described below, rather than receiving the cash dividend or other distribution. Any fractional share otherwise issuable to a participant in the dividend reinvestment plan will
instead be paid in cash.
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The number of shares to be issued to a shareholder under the dividend reinvestment plan will be determined by dividing the total dollar amount of the distribution
payable to such shareholder by the net asset value per share of our common stock, as of the last day of our calendar quarter immediately preceding the date such distribution was
declared. We intend to use newly issued shares to implement the plan.

No action is required on the part of a registered shareholder to have his, her or its cash dividend or other distribution reinvested in shares of our common stock. A
registered shareholder is able to elect to receive an entire cash dividend or other distribution in cash by notifying the Adviser in writing so that such notice is received by the
Adviser no later than ten days prior to the record date for distributions to the shareholders.

There are no brokerage charges or other charges to shareholders who participate in the plan.

The plan is terminable by us upon notice in writing mailed to each shareholder of record at least 30 days prior to any record date for the payment of any distribution by
us.

Repurchase Offers

Beginning with the quarter after we accept subscriptions for $1 billion of cumulative total Capital Commitments, until an Exchange Listing, we intend to conduct
repurchase offers to allow shareholders to tender their shares of our common stock on a quarterly basis at a price per share expected to reflect a recent NAV per share. Any such
share repurchase offer will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to applicable law. We will conduct any repurchase offers in accordance with Section 23(c)
of the 1940 Act and Rule 13e-4 under the 1934 Act. We intend to limit the number of shares repurchased pursuant to any such repurchase offers to 15% of the total Capital
Commitments raised in excess of $1 billion, with the exact amount to be set by the Board of Directors.

For example, if in the quarter after we accept subscriptions for $1 billion of cumulative total Capital Commitments we have an aggregate of $2 billion of cumulative total
Capital Commitments and 100,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding, we may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to applicable law, conduct a
repurchase offer for up to $150,000,000, or 15% of the $1 billion raised in excess of the $1 billion cumulative total Capital Commitments threshold. If at the time of such
repurchase offer our net asset value per share is $15 per share, a repurchase offer could be for up to 10,000,000 shares, or 10% of our outstanding common stock.

Employees

We do not currently have any employees and do not expect to have any employees. Services necessary for our business are provided by individuals who are employees
of the Adviser or its affiliates, pursuant to the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement. Each of our executive officers described under
“Item 5. Directors and Executive Officers” is employed by the Adviser or its affiliates. Our day-to-day investment operations are managed by the Adviser. The services
necessary for the origination and administration of our investment portfolio will be provided by investment professionals employed by the Adviser or its affiliates. The
Investment Team will focus on origination and transaction development and the ongoing monitoring of our investments. In addition, we will reimburse the Adviser for the
allocable portion of the compensation paid by the Adviser (or its affiliates) to the Company’s chief compliance officer and chief financial officer and their respective staffs
(based on the percentage of time such individuals devote, on an estimated basis, to the business and affairs of the Company). See “Item 1(c). Description of Business —
Investment Advisory Agreement”and “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Administration Agreement”

The Private Offering

We have entered into separate subscription agreements with a number of investors providing for the private placement of shares of our common stock pursuant to the
Private Offering and may enter into additional subscription agreements from time to time. Each investor will make a Capital Commitment to purchase shares of our common
stock pursuant to a subscription agreement. Investors will be required to make capital contributions to purchase shares of our common stock each time we deliver a drawdown
notice, which will be issued based on our anticipated investment activities and capital needs, in an aggregate amount not to exceed each investor’s respective capital
commitment. We will deliver drawdown requests at least ten business days prior to the required funding date. All purchases of our common stock will generally be made pro
rata in accordance with remaining capital commitments of all investors, at a per-share price equal to the net asset value per share of our common stock subject to any
adjustments. Any adjustments would take into account a determination of changes to net asset value within 48 hours of the sale to assure compliance with Section 23(b) of the
1940 Act. At the earlier of (i) an Exchange Listing and (ii) the end of the Commitment Period, shareholders will be released from any further obligation to fund drawdowns and
purchase additional shares of our
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common stock, subject to certain conditions described in the subscription agreement. The “Commitment Period” will continue until the five year anniversary of the Initial
Closing; provided, however, that the Commitment Period for any shareholder that makes its initial Capital Commitment after the two year anniversary of the Initial Closing will
extend until the three year anniversary of such shareholder’s initial capital commitment. Prior to an Exchange Listing, no investor who participated in the Private Offering will
be permitted to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of its shares or capital commitment unless the Adviser provides its prior written consent and the transfer is otherwise
made in accordance with applicable law.

If, during the Commitment Period and prior to the date on which the Company has accepted subscriptions for $2.5 billion of cumulative total Capital Commitments,
Douglas I. Ostrover, (i) provides notice of resignation, resigns, is terminated or is provided with notice of termination from the position of chief investment officer of the
Company’s investment adviser, (ii) dies or is disabled or (iii) ceases to be actively involved as a member of the Investment Committee for any consecutive period exceeding 60
days , a “Key Person Event” will have occurred. We will send written notice of a Key Person Event to shareholders within ten business days of such occurrence, the
Commitment Period shall automatically be suspended for 90 days and shareholders will not be obligated to fund drawdowns subject to certain conditions described in the
subscription agreement. During the 90 day period in which the Commitment Period is suspended, we will convene a special meeting of shareholders for the purpose of
determining whether the Commitment Period should be reinstated. If the shareholders entitled to cast 75% of all votes vote in favor of the proposal, and all of the independent
members of the Board of Directors vote in favor the proposal, the Commitment Period will be reinstated and shareholders will be obligated to fund drawdowns as if a Key
Person Event had not occurred. If the shareholders entitled to cast 75% of all votes and all of the independent members of the Board of Directors do not vote in favor of the
proposal, the Commitment Period shall be deemed to have terminated upon the occurrence of the Key Person Event.

While we expect each subscription agreement to reflect the terms and conditions summarized in the preceding paragraph, we reserve the right to enter into subscription
agreements that contain terms and conditions not found in the subscription agreements entered into with other investors, subject to applicable law.

Regulation as a Business Development Company

The following discussion is a general summary of the material prohibitions and descriptions governing BDCs generally. It does not purport to be a complete description
of all of the laws and regulations affecting BDCs.

Qualifying Assets. Under the 1940 Act, a BDC may not acquire any asset other than assets of the type listed in Section 55(a) of the 1940 Act, which are referred to as
qualifying assets, unless, at the time the acquisition is made, qualifying assets represent at least 70% of the company’s total assets. The principal categories of qualifying assets
relevant to our business are any of the following:

(1) Securities purchased in transactions not involving any public offering from the issuer of such securities, which issuer (subject to certain limited exceptions) is an
eligible portfolio company, or from any person who is, or has been during the preceding 13 months, an affiliated person of an eligible portfolio company, or from any
other person, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the SEC. An eligible portfolio company is defined in the 1940 Act as any issuer which:

(a) is organized under the laws of, and has its principal place of business in, the United States;

(b) is not an investment company (other than a small business investment company wholly owned by the business development company) or a company that
would be an investment company but for certain exclusions under the 1940 Act; and

(c) satisfies any of the following:

(i) does not have any class of securities that is traded on a national securities exchange;
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(ii) has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange, but has an aggregate market value of outstanding voting and non-voting
common equity of less than $250 million;

(iii) is controlled by a business development company or a group of companies including a business development company and the business
development company has an affiliated person who is a director of the eligible portfolio company; or

(iv) is a small and solvent company having total assets of not more than $4 million and capital and surplus of not less than $2 million.

(2) Securities of any eligible portfolio company controlled by the Company.

(3) Securities purchased in a private transaction from a U.S. issuer that is not an investment company or from an affiliated person of the issuer, or in transactions
incident thereto, if the issuer is in bankruptcy and subject to reorganization or if the issuer, immediately prior to the purchase of its securities was unable to meet its
obligations as they came due without material assistance other than conventional lending or financing arrangements.

(4) Securities of an eligible portfolio company purchased from any person in a private transaction if there is no ready market for such securities and the Company
already owns 60% of the outstanding equity of the eligible portfolio company.

(5) Securities received in exchange for or distributed on or with respect to securities described in (1) through (4) above, or pursuant to the exercise of warrants or
rights relating to such securities.

(6) Cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of investment.

In addition, a BDC must be operated for the purpose of making investments in the types of securities described in (1), (2) or (3) above.

Significant Managerial Assistance. A BDC must have been organized and have its principal place of business in the United States and must be operated for the purpose
of making investments in the types of securities described above. However, in order to count portfolio securities as qualifying assets for the purpose of the 70% test, the BDC
must either control the issuer of the securities or must offer to make available to the issuer of the securities (other than small and solvent companies described above) significant
managerial assistance; except that, where the BDC purchases such securities in conjunction with one or more other persons acting together, one of the other persons in the group
may make available such managerial assistance. Making available significant managerial assistance means, among other things, any arrangement whereby the BDC, through its
directors, officers or employees, offers to provide and, if accepted, does so provide, significant guidance and counsel concerning the management, operations or business
objectives and policies of a portfolio company through monitoring of portfolio company operations, selective participation in board and management meetings, consulting with
and advising a portfolio company’s officers or other organizational or financial guidance.

Temporary Investments. Pending investment in other types of qualifying assets, as described above, our investments can consist of cash, cash equivalents, U.S.
government securities or high quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of investment, which are referred to herein, collectively, as temporary
investments, so that 70% of our assets would be qualifying assets.

Warrants. Under the 1940 Act, a BDC is subject to restrictions on the issuance, terms and amount of warrants, options or rights to purchase shares of capital stock that it
may have outstanding at any time. In particular, the amount of capital stock that would result from the conversion or exercise of all outstanding warrants, options or rights to
purchase capital stock cannot exceed 25% of the BDC’s total outstanding shares of capital stock.
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Senior Securities; Coverage Ratio. We are permitted, under specified conditions, to issue multiple classes of indebtedness and one class of stock senior to our common
stock if our asset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, would at least equal to 200% immediately after each such issuance. In addition, while any senior securities remain
outstanding, we will be required to make provisions to prohibit any dividend distribution to our shareholders or the repurchase of such securities or shares unless we meet the
applicable asset coverage ratios at the time of the dividend distribution or repurchase. We will also be permitted to borrow amounts up to 5% of the value of our total assets for
temporary or emergency purposes, which borrowings would not be considered senior securities.

We intend to establish one or more credit facilities and/or subscription facilities or enter into other financing arrangements to facilitate investments and the timely
payment of our expenses. It is anticipated that any such credit facilities will bear interest at floating rates at to be determined spreads over LIBOR. We cannot assure
shareholders that we will be able to enter into a credit facility. Shareholders will indirectly bear the costs associated with any borrowings under a credit facility or otherwise,
including increased management fees payable to the Adviser as a result of such borrowings. In connection with a credit facility or other borrowings, lenders may require us to
pledge assets, commitments and/or drawdowns (and the ability to enforce the payment thereof) and may ask to comply with positive or negative covenants that could have an
effect on our operations. In addition, from time to time, our losses on leveraged investments may result in the liquidation of other investments held by us and may result in
additional drawdowns to repay such amounts. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors —Provisions in a Credit Facility May Limit Discretion.”

Code of Ethics. We and the Adviser have each adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act and Rule 204A-1 under the Investment Advisers Act
of 1940, respectively, that establishes procedures for personal investments and restricts certain personal securities transactions. Personnel subject to the code are permitted to
invest in securities for their personal investment accounts, including securities that may be purchased or held by us, so long as such investments are made in accordance with the
code’s requirements. You may read and copy this code of ethics at the SEC’s Public Reference Room in Washington, D.C. You may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (202) 551-8090. You may also obtain copies of the codes of ethics, after paying a duplicating fee, by electronic request at the
following email address: publicinfo@sec.gov, or by writing the SEC’s Public Reference Section, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549.

Affiliated Transactions. We may be prohibited under the 1940 Act from conducting certain transactions with our affiliates without the prior approval of our directors
who are not interested persons and, in some cases, the prior approval of the SEC. We have applied for an exemptive order from the SEC that would permit us, among other
things, to co-invest with certain other persons, including the Adviser, certain of its affiliates and certain funds managed and controlled by the Adviser. Any such order would be
subject to certain terms and conditions and there can be no assurance that such order will be granted by the SEC.

Other. We will be periodically examined by the SEC for compliance with the 1940 Act, and be subject to the periodic reporting and related requirements of the 1934 Act.

We are also required to provide and maintain a bond issued by a reputable fidelity insurance company to protect against larceny and embezzlement. Furthermore, as a
BDC, we are prohibited from protecting any director or officer against any liability to our shareholders arising from willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless
disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of such person’s office.

We are also required to designate a chief compliance officer and to adopt and implement written policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent violation of the
federal securities laws and to review these policies and procedures annually for their adequacy and the effectiveness of their implementation.

We are not permitted to change the nature of our business so as to cease to be, or to withdraw our election as, a BDC unless approved by a majority of our outstanding
voting securities. A majority of the outstanding voting securities of a company is defined under the 1940 Act as the lesser of: (i) 67% or more of such company’s shares present
at a meeting if more than 50% of the outstanding shares of such company are present or represented by proxy, or (ii) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of such company.
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Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures

We have delegated our proxy voting responsibility to the Adviser. The Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures of the Adviser are set forth below. The guidelines will be
reviewed periodically by the Adviser and our non-interested directors, and, accordingly, are subject to change.

As an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, the Adviser has a fiduciary duty to act solely in the best interests of its clients. As part of
this duty, the Adviser recognizes that it must vote client securities in a timely manner free of conflicts of interest and in the best interests of its clients. These policies and
procedures for voting proxies for the Adviser’s investment advisory clients are intended to comply with Section 206 of, and Rule 206(4)-6 under, the Investment Advisers Act of
1940.

Proxy Policies

The Adviser will vote all proxies relating to our portfolio securities in the best interest of our shareholders. The Adviser reviews on a case-by-case basis each proposal
submitted to a shareholder vote to determine its impact on the portfolio securities held by the Company. Although the Adviser will generally vote against proposals that may
have a negative impact on our clients’ portfolio securities, the Adviser may vote for such a proposal if there exists compelling long-term reasons to do so. The Adviser will
abstain from voting only in unusual circumstances and where there is a compelling reason to do so.

The Adviser’s proxy voting decisions are made by members of the Investment Committee who are responsible for monitoring each of our investments. To ensure that the
Adviser’s vote is not the product of a conflict of interest, the Adviser requires that: (i) anyone involved in the decision making process disclose to the Adviser’s Chief
Compliance Officer any potential conflict that he or she is aware of and any contact that he or she has had with any interested party regarding a proxy vote; and (ii) employees
involved in the decision-making process or vote administration are prohibited from revealing how the Adviser intends to vote on a proposal in order to reduce any attempted
influence from interested parties.

Proxy Voting Records

You may obtain information about how the Adviser voted proxies by making a written request for proxy voting information to: Owl Rock Capital Corporation,
Attention: Chief Compliance Officer, 245 Park Avenue, 41st floor, New York, NY 10167.

Privacy Policy

We are committed to maintaining the confidentiality, integrity and security of non-public personal information relating to investors. The following information is
provided to help you understand what personal information we collect, how we protect that information and why, in certain cases, we may share information with select other
parties.

Generally, we do not collect any non-public personal information relating to our investors, other than name, address, and number of shares held by the investor. This
information is used only so that we can service your account, send you annual reports, proxy statements, and other information required by law. With regard to this information,
we maintain physical, electronic and procedural safeguards designed to protect the non-public personal information of our investors.

We may share information that we collect regarding an investor with certain of our service providers for legitimate business purposes, for example, in order to process
trades or mail information to investors. In addition, we may disclose information that we collect regarding an investor as required by law or in connection with regulatory or law
enforcement inquiries.
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Reporting Obligations

We will furnish our shareholders with annual reports containing audited financial statements, quarterly reports, and such other periodic reports as we determine to be
appropriate or as may be required by law. We are filing this Registration Statement with the SEC voluntarily with the intention of establishing the Company as a reporting
company under the 1934 Act. Upon the effectiveness of this Registration Statement, we will be required to comply with all periodic reporting, proxy solicitation and other
applicable requirements under the 1934 Act.

We intend to make available on our website (www.owlrock.com) our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and our current reports on Form 8-K.
Shareholders and the public may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. You
may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (202) 551-8090. The SEC also maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that contains
such information. The reference to our website is an inactive textual reference only and the information contained on our website is not a part of this registration statement.

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion is a general summary of the material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to us and to an investment in our common stock. This
discussion does not purport to be a complete description of the income tax considerations applicable to such an investment. For example, this discussion does not describe tax
consequences that we have assumed to be generally known by investors or certain considerations that may be relevant to certain types of holders subject to special treatment
under U.S. federal income tax laws, including persons who hold our common stock as part of a straddle or a hedging, integrated or constructive sale transaction, persons subject
to the alternative minimum tax, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, brokers or dealers in securities, pension plans and trusts, persons whose functional currency is
not the U.S. dollar, U.S. expatriates, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, personal holding companies, persons who acquire an interest in the Company
in connection with the performance of services, and financial institutions. Such persons should consult with their own tax advisers as to the U.S. federal income tax
consequences of an investment in our common stock, which may differ substantially from those described herein. This discussion assumes that shareholders hold our common
stock as capital assets (within the meaning of the Code).

The discussion is based upon the Code, Treasury regulations, and administrative and judicial interpretations, each as of the date of this Registration Statement and all of
which are subject to change, possibly retroactively, which could affect the continuing validity of this discussion. We have not sought and will not seek any ruling from the
Internal Revenue Service regarding any matter discussed herein. Prospective investors should be aware that, although we intend to adopt positions we believe are in accord with
current interpretations of the U.S. federal income tax laws, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) may not agree with the tax positions taken by us and that, if challenged by the
IRS, our tax positions might not be sustained by the courts. This summary does not discuss any aspects of U.S. estate, alternative minimum, or gift tax or foreign, state or local
tax. It also does not discuss the special treatment under U.S. federal income tax laws that could result if we invested in tax-exempt securities or certain other investment assets.

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Shareholder” generally is a beneficial owner of our common stock that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:
 

 •  a citizen or individual resident of the United States;
 

 •  a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) organized in or under the laws of the U.S. or of any political subdivision
thereof;

 

 •  a trust that is subject to the supervision of a court within the U.S. and the control of one or more U.S. persons or that has a valid election in effect under applicable
U.S. Treasury Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person; or

 

 •  an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

A “Non-U.S. Shareholder” is a beneficial owner of our common stock that is not a U.S. Shareholder or a partnership for U.S. tax purposes.
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If a partnership (including an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds our common stock, the tax treatment of a partner in the
partnership will generally depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Any partner of a partnership holding our common stock should consult its
tax advisers with respect to the purchase, ownership and disposition of such shares.

Tax matters are very complicated and the tax consequences to an investor of an investment in our common stock will depend on the facts of his, her or its particular
situation.

Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company

As soon as practicable after our election to be a BDC, we intend to elect to be treated and to qualify each year thereafter as a RIC. As a RIC, we generally will not have
to pay corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that we distribute to our shareholders as dividends. To qualify as a RIC, we must,
among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification requirements (as described below). In addition, in order to obtain RIC tax benefits, we must
distribute to our shareholders, for each taxable year, at least 90% of our “investment company taxable income,” which is generally our ordinary income plus the excess of
realized net short-term capital gains over realized net long-term capital losses (the “Annual Distribution Requirement”).

If we:
 

 •  qualify as a RIC; and
 

 •  satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement,

then we will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the portion of our income we distribute (or is deemed to distribute) to our shareholders. We will be subject to U.S.
federal income tax at the regular corporate rates on any income or capital gains not distributed (or deemed distributed) to our shareholders.

We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible U.S. federal excise tax on certain undistributed income unless we distribute in a timely manner an amount at least equal to the
sum of (i) 98% of our net ordinary income for each calendar year, (ii) 98.2% of the amount by which our capital gains exceed our capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary
losses) for the one-year period ending October 31 in that calendar year and (iii) certain undistributed amounts from previous years on which we paid no U.S. federal income tax
(the “Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement”). While we intend to distribute any income and capital gains in order to avoid imposition of this 4% U.S. federal excise tax, we may
not be successful in avoiding entirely the imposition of this tax. In that case, we will be liable for the tax only on the amount by which we do not meet the foregoing distribution
requirement.

In order to qualify as a RIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must, among other things:
 

 •  continue to qualify as a BDC under the 1940 Act at all times during each taxable year;
 

 
•  derive in each taxable year at least 90% of our gross income from dividends, interest, payments with respect to loans of certain securities, gains from the

sale of stock or other securities or foreign currencies, net income from certain “qualified publicly traded partnerships,” or other income derived with
respect to our business of investing in such stock or securities (the “90% Income Test”); and

 

 •  diversify our holdings so that at the end of each quarter of the taxable year:
 

 
¡  at least 50% of the value of our assets consists of cash, cash equivalents, U.S. Government securities, securities of other RICs, and other

securities if such other securities of any one issuer do not represent more than 5% of the value of our assets or more than 10% of the outstanding
voting securities of the issuer; and

 

 

¡  no more than 25% of the value of our assets is invested in the (i) securities, other than U.S. government securities or securities of other RICs, of
one issuer, (ii) securities of two or more issuers that are controlled, as determined under applicable Code rules, by us and that are engaged in the
same or similar or related trades or businesses or (iii) securities of one or more “qualified publicly traded partnerships” (the “Diversification
Tests”).
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We may be required to recognize taxable income in circumstances in which we do not receive cash. For example, if we hold debt obligations that are treated under
applicable tax rules as having original issue discount (such as debt instruments with PIK interest or, in certain cases, increasing interest rates or issued with warrants), we must
include in income each year a portion of the original issue discount that accrues over the life of the obligation, regardless of whether cash representing such income is received
by us in the same taxable year. We may also have to include in income other amounts that we have not yet received in cash, such as PIK interest and deferred loan origination
fees that are paid after origination of the loan. Because any original issue discount or other amounts accrued will be included in our investment company taxable income for the
year of accrual, we may be required to make a distribution to our shareholders in order to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement, even though we will not have received
the corresponding cash amount.

Although we do not presently expect to do so, we are authorized to borrow funds, to sell assets and to make taxable distributions of our stock and debt securities in order
to satisfy distribution requirements. Our ability to dispose of assets to meet our distribution requirements may be limited by (i) the illiquid nature of our portfolio and/or
(ii) other requirements relating to our status as a RIC, including the Diversification Tests. If we dispose of assets in order to meet the Annual Distribution Requirement or the
Excise Tax Avoidance Requirement, we may make such dispositions at times that, from an investment standpoint, are not advantageous. If we are unable to obtain cash from
other sources to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement, we may fail to qualify as a RIC and become subject to tax as an ordinary corporation.

Under the 1940 Act, we are not permitted to make distributions to our shareholders while our debt obligations and other senior securities are outstanding unless certain
“asset coverage” tests are met. If we are prohibited from making distributions, we may fail to qualify as a RIC and become subject to tax as an ordinary corporation.

Certain of our investment practices may be subject to special and complex U.S. federal income tax provisions that may, among other things: (i) disallow, suspend or
otherwise limit the allowance of certain losses or deductions; (ii) convert lower taxed long-term capital gain into higher taxed short-term capital gain or ordinary income;
(iii) convert an ordinary loss or a deduction into a capital loss (the deductibility of which is more limited); (iv) cause us to recognize income or gain without a corresponding
receipt of cash; (v) adversely affect the time as to when a purchase or sale of securities is deemed to occur; (vi) adversely alter the characterization of certain complex financial
transactions; and (vii) produce income that will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 90% Income Test described above. We will monitor our transactions and may
make certain tax decisions in order to mitigate the potential adverse effect of these provisions.

A RIC is limited in its ability to deduct expenses in excess of its “investment company taxable income” (which is, generally, ordinary income plus the excess of net
short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses). If our expenses in a given year exceed investment company taxable income, we would experience a net operating loss
for that year. However, a RIC is not permitted to carry forward net operating losses to subsequent years. In addition, expenses can be used only to offset investment company
taxable income, not net capital gain. Due to these limits on the deductibility of expenses, we may, for tax purposes, have aggregate taxable income for several years that we are
required to distribute and that is taxable to our shareholders even if such income is greater than the aggregate net income we actually earned during those years. Such required
distributions may be made from our cash assets or by liquidation of investments, if necessary. We may realize gains or losses from such liquidations. In the event we realize net
capital gains from such transactions, a shareholder may receive a larger capital gain distribution than it would have received in the absence of such transactions.

Failure to Qualify as a RIC

While we intend to elect to be treated as a RIC as soon as practicable following our election to be a BDC, we anticipate that we will have difficulty satisfying the
Diversification Tests as we ramp up our portfolio. To the extent that we have net taxable income prior to our qualification as RIC, we will be subject to U.S. federal income
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tax on such income. We would not be able to deduct distributions to our shareholders, nor would they be required to be made. Distributions, including distributions of net long-
term capital gain, would generally be taxable to our shareholders as ordinary dividend income to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. Subject to
certain limitations under the Code, our corporate shareholders would be eligible to claim a dividend received deduction with respect to such dividend; our non-corporate
shareholders would generally be able to treat such dividends as “qualified dividend income,” which is subject to reduced rates of U.S. federal income tax. Distributions in
excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits would be treated first as a return of capital to the extent of the shareholder’s tax basis, and any remaining
distributions would be treated as a capital gain. In order to qualify as a RIC, in addition to the other requirements discussed above, we would be required to distribute all of our
previously undistributed earnings and profits attributable to any period prior to us becoming a RIC by the end of the first year that we intend to qualify as a RIC. To the extent
that we have any net built-in gains in our assets (i.e., the excess of the aggregate gains, including items of income, over aggregate losses that would have been realized with
respect to such assets if we had been liquidated) as of the beginning of the first year that we qualify as a RIC, we would be subject to a corporate-level U.S. federal income tax
on such built-in gains if and when recognized over the next ten years (or shorter applicable period). Alternatively, we may choose to recognize such built-in gains immediately
prior to our qualification as a RIC.

If we have previously qualified as RIC, but are subsequently unable to qualify for treatment as a RIC, and certain amelioration provisions are not applicable, we would be
subject to tax on all of our taxable income (including our net capital gains) at regular corporate rates. We would not be able to deduct distributions to our shareholders, nor
would they be required to be made. Distributions, including distributions of net long-term capital gain, would generally be taxable to our shareholders as ordinary dividend
income to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. Subject to certain limitations under the Code, our corporate shareholders would be eligible to claim a
dividend received deduction with respect to such dividend; our non-corporate shareholders would generally be able to treat such dividends as “qualified dividend income,”
which is subject to reduced rates of U.S. federal income tax. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits would be treated first as a return of
capital to the extent of the shareholder’s tax basis, and any remaining distributions would be treated as a capital gain. In order to requalify as a RIC, in addition to the other
requirements discussed above, we would be required to distribute all of our previously undistributed earnings attributable to the period we failed to qualify as a RIC by the end
of the first year that we intend to requalify as a RIC. If we fail to requalify as a RIC for a period greater than two taxable years, we may be subject to regular corporate tax on
any net built-in gains with respect to certain of our assets (i.e., the excess of the aggregate gains, including items of income, over aggregate losses that would have been realized
with respect to such assets if we had been liquidated) that we elect to recognize on requalification or when recognized over the next ten years (or shorter applicable period).

The remainder of this discussion assumes that we qualify as a RIC for each taxable year.

Taxation of U.S. Shareholders

Distributions by us generally are taxable to U.S. Shareholders as ordinary income or capital gains. Distributions of our “investment company taxable income” (which is,
generally, our net ordinary income plus realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized net long-term capital losses) will be taxable as ordinary income to U.S.
Shareholders to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional shares of our common stock. To the extent such
distributions paid by us to our shareholders taxed at individual rates are attributable to dividends from U.S. corporations and certain qualified foreign corporations, such
distributions (“Qualifying Dividends”) may be eligible for a current maximum tax rate of 20%. In this regard, it is anticipated that distributions paid by us will generally not be
attributable to dividends and, therefore, generally will not qualify for the 20% maximum rate applicable to Qualifying Dividends. Distributions of our net capital gains (which
are generally our realized net long-term capital gains in excess of realized net short-term capital losses) properly reported by us as “capital gain dividends” will be taxable to a
U.S. Shareholder as long-term capital gains that are currently taxable at a maximum rate of 20% in the case of our shareholders taxed at individual rates, regardless of the U.S.
Shareholder’s holding period for his, her or its shares of our common stock and regardless of whether paid in cash or reinvested in additional common stock. Distributions in
excess of our earnings and profits first will reduce a U.S. Shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in such shareholder’s shares of our common stock and, after the adjusted basis is
reduced to zero, will constitute capital gains to such U.S. Shareholder.
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We may retain some or all of our realized net long-term capital gains in excess of realized net short-term capital losses, but designate the retained net capital gain as a
“deemed distribution.” In that case, among other consequences, we will pay tax on the retained amount, each U.S. Shareholder will be required to include his, her or its share of
the deemed distribution in income as if it had been actually distributed to the U.S. Shareholder, and the U.S. Shareholder will be entitled to claim a credit equal to his, her or its
allocable share of the tax paid thereon by us. Because we expect to pay tax on any retained capital gains at our regular corporate tax rate, and because that rate is in excess of the
maximum rate currently payable by U.S. Shareholders taxed at individual rates on long-term capital gains, the amount of tax that individual U.S. Shareholders will be treated as
having paid will exceed the tax they owe on the capital gain distribution and such excess generally may be refunded or claimed as a credit against the U.S. Shareholder’s other
U.S. federal income tax obligations. The amount of the deemed distribution net of such tax will be added to the U.S. Shareholder’s cost basis for his, her or its shares of our
common stock. In order to utilize the deemed distribution approach, we must provide written notice to our shareholders prior to the expiration of 60 days after the close of the
relevant taxable year.

For purposes of determining (i) whether the Annual Distribution Requirement is satisfied for any year and (ii) the amount of capital gain dividends paid for that year, we
may, under certain circumstances, elect to treat a dividend that is paid during the following taxable year as if it had been paid during the taxable year in question. If we make
such an election, the U.S. Shareholder will still be treated as receiving the dividend in the taxable year in which the distribution is made. However, any dividend declared by us
in October, November or December of any calendar year, payable to our shareholders of record on a specified date in such a month and actually paid during January of the
following year, will be treated as if it had been received by our U.S. Shareholders on December 31 of the year in which the dividend was declared.

As a RIC, we are subject to alternative minimum tax, also referred to as “AMT,” but any items that are treated differently for AMT purposes must be apportioned
between us and our U.S. Shareholders and this may affect the U.S. Shareholders’ AMT liabilities. Although regulations explaining the precise method of apportionment have
not yet been issued, it would be reasonable to apportion such items in the same proportion that dividends paid to each U.S. Shareholder bear to our taxable income (determined
without regard to the dividends paid deduction). We intend to use this apportionment method unless the IRS issues further guidance or a different method for a particular item is
warranted under the circumstances.

With respect to the reinvestment of dividends, if a U.S. Shareholder owns shares of our common stock registered in its own name, the U.S. Shareholder will have all cash
distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock unless the U.S. Shareholder opts out of the reinvestment of dividends by delivering a written
notice to our dividend paying agent prior to the record date of the next dividend or distribution. Any distributions reinvested will nevertheless remain taxable to the U.S.
Shareholder. The U.S. Shareholder will have an adjusted basis in the additional shares of our common stock purchased through the reinvestment equal to the amount of the
reinvested distribution. The additional shares will have a new holding period commencing on the day following the day on which the shares are credited to the U.S.
Shareholder’s account.

If an investor purchases shares of our common stock shortly before the record date of a distribution, the price of the shares will include the value of the distribution.
However, the shareholder will be taxed on the distribution as described above, despite the fact that, economically, it may represent a return of his, her or its investment.

A U.S. Shareholder generally will recognize taxable gain or loss if the U.S. Shareholder sells or otherwise disposes of his, her or its shares of our common stock. The
amount of gain or loss will be measured by the difference between such U.S. Shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in our common stock sold and the amount of the proceeds
received in exchange. Any gain arising from such sale or disposition generally will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. Shareholder has held his, her or its
shares for more than one year. Otherwise, it will be classified as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any capital loss arising from the sale or disposition of shares of our
common stock held for six months or less will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent of the amount of capital gain dividends received, or undistributed capital gain
deemed received, with respect to such shares. In addition, all or a portion of any loss recognized upon a disposition of shares of our common stock may be disallowed if other
shares of our common stock are purchased (whether through reinvestment of distributions or otherwise) within 30 days before or after the disposition.
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In general, U.S. Shareholders taxed at individual rates currently are subject to a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 20% on their recognized net capital gain (i.e.,
the excess of recognized net long-term capital gains over recognized net short-term capital losses, subject to certain adjustments), including any long-term capital gain derived
from an investment in our shares. Such rate is lower than the maximum rate on ordinary income currently payable by such U.S. Shareholders. In addition, individuals with
modified adjusted gross income in excess of $200,000 ($250,000 in the case of married individuals filing jointly) and certain estates and trusts are subject to an additional 3.8%
tax on their “net investment income,” which generally includes gross income from interest, dividends, annuities, royalties, and rents, and net capital gains (other than certain
amounts earned from trades or businesses), reduced by certain deductions allocable to such income. Corporate U.S. Shareholders currently are subject to U.S. federal income tax
on net capital gain at the maximum 35% rate also applied to ordinary income. Non-corporate U.S. Shareholders with net capital losses for a year (i.e., capital losses in excess of
capital gains) generally may deduct up to $3,000 of such losses against their ordinary income each year. Any net capital losses of a non-corporate U.S. Shareholder in excess of
$3,000 generally may be carried forward and used in subsequent years as provided in the Code. Corporate U.S. Shareholders generally may not deduct any net capital losses for
a year, but may carry back such losses for three years or carry forward such losses for five years.

Under applicable Treasury regulations, if a U.S. Shareholder recognizes a loss with respect to shares of $2 million or more for a non-corporate U.S. Shareholder or $10
million or more for a corporate U.S. Shareholder in any single taxable year (or a greater loss over a combination of years), the U.S. Shareholder must file with the IRS a
disclosure statement on Form 8886. Direct U.S. Shareholders of portfolio securities are in many cases excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance,
U.S. Shareholders of a RIC are not excepted. Future guidance may extend the current exception from this reporting requirement to U.S. Shareholders of most or all RICs. The
fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer’s treatment of the loss is proper. U.S. Shareholders should
consult their own tax advisers to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

We (or the applicable withholding agent) will send to each of our U.S. Shareholders, as promptly as possible after the end of each calendar year, a notice reporting the
amounts includible in such U.S. Shareholder’s taxable income for such year as ordinary income and as long-term capital gain. In addition, the federal tax status of each year’s
distributions generally will be reported to the IRS (including the amount of dividends, if any, eligible for the 20% maximum rate). Dividends paid by us generally will not be
eligible for the dividends-received deduction or the preferential tax rate applicable to Qualifying Dividends because our income generally will not consist of dividends.
Distributions may also be subject to additional state, local and foreign taxes depending on a U.S. Shareholder’s particular situation.

We may be required to withhold U.S. federal income tax (“backup withholding”) from all distributions to certain U.S. Shareholders (i) who fail to furnish us with a
correct taxpayer identification number or a certificate that such shareholder is exempt from backup withholding or (ii) with respect to whom the IRS notifies us that such
shareholder furnished an incorrect taxpayer identification number or failed to properly report certain interest and dividend income to the IRS and to respond to notices to that
effect. An individual’s taxpayer identification number is his or her social security number. Any amount withheld under backup withholding is allowed as a credit against the
U.S. Shareholder’s federal income tax liability, provided that proper information is provided to the IRS.

For any period that we do not qualify as a “publicly offered regulated investment company,” as defined in the Code, our shareholders will be taxed as though they
received a distribution of some of our expenses. A “publicly offered regulated investment company” is a RIC whose shares are either (i) continuously offered pursuant to a
public offering, (ii) regularly traded on an established securities market or (iii) held by at least 500 persons at all times during the taxable year. We anticipate that we will not
qualify as a publicly offered RIC immediately after the Private Offering; we may qualify as a publicly offered RIC for future taxable years. If we are not a publicly offered RIC
for any period, a non-corporate shareholder’s allocable portion of our affected expenses, including its management fees, will be treated as an additional distribution to the
shareholder and will be deductible by such shareholder only to the extent permitted under the limitations described below. For our non-corporate shareholders, including
individuals, trusts, and estates, significant limitations generally apply to the deductibility of certain expenses of a non-publicly offered RIC, including advisory fees. In
particular, these expenses, which are miscellaneous itemized deductions, are deductible to an individual only to the extent they exceed 2% of such a shareholder’s adjusted gross
income, and are not deductible for alternative minimum tax purposes.
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A U.S. Shareholder that is a tax-exempt organization for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore generally exempt from U.S. federal income taxation may
nevertheless be subject to taxation to the extent that it is considered to derive unrelated business taxable income (“UBTI”). The direct conduct by a tax-exempt U.S. Shareholder
of the activities we propose to conduct could give rise to UBTI. However, a BDC is a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and its business activities generally will
not be attributed to its shareholders for purposes of determining their treatment under current law. Therefore, a tax-exempt U.S. Shareholder generally should not be subject to
U.S. taxation solely as a result of the shareholder’s ownership of our common stock and receipt of dividends with respect to such common stock. Moreover, under current law,
if we incur indebtedness, such indebtedness will not be attributed to a tax-exempt U.S. Shareholder. Therefore, a tax-exempt U.S. Shareholder should not be treated as earning
income from “debt-financed property” and dividends we pay should not be treated as “unrelated debt-financed income” solely as a result of indebtedness that we incur.
Legislation has been introduced in Congress in the past, and may be introduced again in the future, which would change the treatment of “blocker” investment vehicles
interposed between tax-exempt investors and non-qualifying investments if enacted. In the event that any such proposals were to be adopted and applied to BDCs, the treatment
of dividends payable to tax-exempt investors could be adversely affected. In addition, special rules would apply if we were to invest in certain real estate mortgage investment
conduits, which we do not currently plan to do, that could result in a tax-exempt U.S. Shareholder recognizing income that would be treated as UBTI.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Shareholders

The following discussion only applies to certain Non-U.S. Shareholders. Whether an investment in the shares is appropriate for a Non-U.S. Shareholder will depend upon
that person’s particular circumstances. An investment in the shares by a Non-U.S. Shareholder may have adverse tax consequences. Non-U.S. Shareholders should consult their
tax advisers before investing in our common stock.

Distributions of our “investment company taxable income” to Non-U.S. Shareholders (including interest income and realized net short-term capital gains in excess of
realized long-term capital losses, which generally would be free of withholding if paid to Non-U.S. Shareholders directly) will be subject to withholding of federal tax at a 30%
rate (or lower rate provided by an applicable treaty) to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits unless an applicable exception applies. No withholding is
required with respect to certain distributions if (i) the distributions are properly reported as “interest-related dividends” or “short-term capital gain dividends,” (ii) the
distributions are derived from sources specified in the Code for such dividends and (iii) certain other requirements are satisfied. No assurance can be provided as to whether any
of our distributions will be reported as eligible for this exemption. If the distributions are effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the Non-U.S. Shareholder, we
will not be required to withhold federal tax if the Non-U.S. Shareholder complies with applicable certification and disclosure requirements, although the distributions will be
subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rates applicable to U.S. persons. (Special certification requirements apply to a Non-U.S. Shareholder that is a foreign partnership or a
foreign trust, and such entities are urged to consult their own tax advisers.)

Actual or deemed distributions of our net capital gains to a Non-U.S. Shareholder, and gains realized by a Non-U.S. Shareholder upon the sale of our common stock, will
generally not be subject to federal withholding tax and generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless the distributions or gains, as the case may be, are
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the Non-U.S. Shareholder.

Under our reinvestment of dividends policy, if a Non-U.S. Shareholder owns shares of our common stock registered in its own name, the Non-U.S. Shareholder will
have all cash distributions automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock unless it opts out of the reinvestment of dividends by delivering a written notice to
our dividend paying agent prior to the record date of the next dividend or distribution. See “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Dividend Reinvestment Plan.” If the
distribution is a distribution of our investment company taxable income, is not designated by us as a short-term capital gains dividend or interest-related dividend and it is not
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the Non-U.S. Shareholder (or, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is not attributable to a U.S. permanent
establishment of the Non-U.S. Shareholder), the amount distributed (to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits) will be subject to withholding
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of U.S. federal income tax at a 30% rate (or lower rate provided by an applicable treaty) and only the net after-tax amount will be reinvested in our common stock. The Non-
U.S. Shareholder will have an adjusted basis in the additional common shares purchased through the reinvestment equal to the amount reinvested. The additional shares will
have a new holding period commencing on the day following the day on which the shares are credited to the Non-U.S. Shareholder’s account.

The tax consequences to Non-U.S. Shareholders entitled to claim the benefits of an applicable tax treaty or that are individuals that are present in the U.S. for 183 days or
more during a taxable year may be different from those described herein. Non-U.S. Shareholders are urged to consult their tax advisers with respect to the procedure for
claiming the benefit of a lower treaty rate and the applicability of foreign taxes.

If we distribute our net capital gains in the form of deemed rather than actual distributions, a Non-U.S. Shareholder will be entitled to a U.S. federal income tax credit or
tax refund equal to the shareholder’s allocable share of the tax we pay on the capital gains deemed to have been distributed. In order to obtain the refund, the Non-U.S.
Shareholder must obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification number and file a refund claim even if the Non-U.S. Shareholder would not otherwise be required to obtain a U.S.
taxpayer identification number or file a U.S. federal income tax return. For a corporate Non-U.S. Shareholder, distributions (both actual and deemed), and gains realized upon
the sale of our common stock that are effectively connected to a U.S. trade or business may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional “branch profits tax” at a
30% rate (or at a lower rate if provided for by an applicable treaty). Accordingly, investment in the shares may not be advisable for a Non-U.S. Shareholder.

We must generally report to our Non-U.S. Shareholders and the IRS the amount of dividends paid during each calendar year and the amount of any tax withheld.
Information reporting requirements may apply even if no withholding was required because the distributions were effectively connected with the Non-U.S. Shareholder’s
conduct of a United States trade or business or withholding was reduced or eliminated by an applicable income tax treaty. This information also may be made available under a
specific treaty or agreement with the tax authorities in the country in which the Non-U.S. Shareholder resides or is established. Under U.S. federal income tax law, interest,
dividends and other reportable payments may, under certain circumstances, be subject to “backup withholding” at the then applicable rate (currently 28%). Backup
withholding, however, generally will not apply to distributions to a Non-U.S. Shareholder of our common stock, provided the Non-U.S. Shareholder furnishes to us the required
certification as to its non-U.S. status, such as by providing a valid IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E, or IRS Form W-8ECI, or certain other requirements are met.
Backup withholding is not an additional tax but can be credited against a Non-U.S. Shareholder’s federal income tax, and may be refunded to the extent it results in an
overpayment of tax and the appropriate information is timely supplied to the IRS.

Legislation commonly referred to as the “Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act,” or “FATCA,” generally imposes a 30% withholding tax on payments of certain types
of income to foreign financial institutions that fail to enter into an agreement with the U.S. Treasury to report certain required information with respect to accounts held by U.S.
persons (or held by foreign entities that have U.S. persons as substantial owners) or that reside in a jurisdiction that has entered into an agreement with the United States to
collect and share such information. The types of income subject to the tax include U.S. source interest and dividends, and after December 31, 2018, the gross proceeds from the
sale of any property that could produce U.S.-source fixed or determinable annual or periodic income. The information required to be reported includes the identity and taxpayer
identification number of each account holder that is a U.S. person and certain transaction activity within the holder’s account. In addition, subject to certain exceptions, this
legislation also imposes a 30% withholding on payments to foreign entities that are not financial institutions unless the foreign entity certifies that it does not have a greater than
10% U.S. owner or provides the withholding agent with identifying information on each greater than 10% U.S. owner. Depending on the status of a Non-U.S. Shareholder and
the status of the intermediaries through which they hold their shares, Non-U.S. Shareholders could be subject to this 30% withholding tax with respect to distributions on their
shares and proceeds from the sale of their shares. Under certain circumstances, a Non-U.S. Shareholder might be eligible for refunds or credits of such taxes.

Non-U.S. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisers with respect to the U.S. federal income tax and withholding tax, and state, local and foreign tax
consequences of an investment in the shares.
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ITE M 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investments in the Company involve a high degree of risk. There can be no assurance that our investment objectives will be achieved, or that a shareholder will receive a
return of its capital. In addition, there will be occasions when the Adviser and its affiliates may encounter potential conflicts of interest in connection with the Company. The
following considerations should be carefully evaluated before making an investment in our common stock. If any of those risks actually occurs, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Structure

Lack of Operating History. We and the Adviser are new entities with no operating history and we have no financial information on which a prospective investor can
evaluate an investment in our common stock or our prior performance. As a result, we are subject to the business risks and uncertainties associated with recently formed
businesses, including the risk that we will not achieve our investment objective and the value of a shareholder’s investment could decline substantially or become worthless.
While we believe that the past professional experiences, including investment and financial experience of the Investment Team will increase the likelihood that the Adviser will
be able to manage the Company successfully, there can be no assurance that this will be the case.

Risks Related to Changes in Interest Rates. Because we intend borrow money to make investments, our net investment income will depend, in part, upon the difference
between the rate at which we borrow funds and the rate at which we invest those funds. As a result, we can offer no assurance that a significant change in interest rates would
not have a material adverse effect on our net investment income in the event we use debt to finance our investments. In periods of rising interest rates, our cost of funds would
increase, which could reduce our net investment income.

In addition, a substantial amount of our debt investments are likely to be based on floating rates, such as LIBOR, EURIBOR, the Federal Funds Rate or the Prime Rate.
General interest rate fluctuations may have a substantial negative impact our investments, the value of our shares and our rate of return on invested capital. A reduction in the
interest rates on new investments relative to interest rates on current investments could also have an adverse impact on our investment income. An increase in interest rates
could decrease the value of any investments we hold which earn fixed interest rates, including subordinated loans, senior and junior secured and unsecured debt securities and
loans and high yield bonds, and also could increase our interest expense, thereby decreasing our net investment income. Also, an increase in interest rates available to investors
could make investment in our common stock less attractive if we are not able to increase our distributions, which could reduce the value of our shares. Also, an increase in
interest rates may result in an increase of the amount of our pre-incentive fee net investment income and, as a result, an increase in incentive fees payable to the Adviser.

We may seek to hedge against interest rate and currency exchange rate fluctuations and credit risk by using structured financial instruments such as futures, options,
swaps and forward contracts, subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act. Use of structured financial instruments for hedging purposes may present significant risks, including
the risk of loss of the amounts invested. Defaults by the other party to a hedging transaction can result in losses in the hedging transaction. Hedging activities also involve the
risk of an imperfect correlation between the hedging instrument and the asset being hedged, which could result in losses both on the hedging transaction and on the instrument
being hedged. Use of hedging activities may not prevent significant losses and could increase our losses. Further, hedging transactions may reduce cash available to pay
distributions to our shareholders.

Price Declines in the Corporate Leveraged Loan Market. Conditions in the medium- and large-sized U.S. corporate debt market may experience disruption or
deterioration in the future, which may cause pricing levels to decline or be volatile. As a result, our net asset value could decline through an increase in unrealized depreciation
and incurrence of realized losses in connection with the sale of our investments, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Defaults Under a Credit Facility. In the event we default under a credit facility or other borrowings, our business could be adversely affected as we may be forced to sell
a portion of our investments quickly and prematurely at what may be disadvantageous prices to us in order to meet our outstanding payment obligations and/or support working
capital requirements under such borrowing facility, any of which would have a material
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adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, following any such default, the agent for the lenders under such borrowing
facility could assume control of the disposition of any or all of our assets, including the selection of such assets to be disposed and the timing of such disposition, which would
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Provisions in a Credit Facility May Limit Discretion. A credit facility may be backed by all or a portion of our loans and securities on which the lenders will have a
security interest. We may pledge up to 100% of our assets and may grant a security interest in all of our assets under the terms of any debt instrument we enter into with lenders.
We expect that any security interests we grant will be set forth in a pledge and security agreement and evidenced by the filing of financing statements by the agent for the
lenders. In addition, we expect that the custodian for our securities serving as collateral for such loan would include in its electronic systems notices indicating the existence of
such security interests and, following notice of occurrence of an event of default, if any, and during its continuance, will only accept transfer instructions with respect to any
such securities from the lender or its designee. If we were to default under the terms of any debt instrument, the agent for the applicable lenders would be able to assume control
of the timing of disposition of any or all of our assets securing such debt, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.

In addition, any security interests and/or negative covenants required by a credit facility may limit our ability to create liens on assets to secure additional debt and may
make it difficult for us to restructure or refinance indebtedness at or prior to maturity or obtain additional debt or equity financing. In addition, if our borrowing base under a
credit facility were to decrease, we may be required to secure additional assets in an amount sufficient to cure any borrowing base deficiency. In the event that all of our assets
are secured at the time of such a borrowing base deficiency, we could be required to repay advances under a credit facility or make deposits to a collection account, either of
which could have a material adverse impact on our ability to fund future investments and to make distributions.

In addition, we may be subject to limitations as to how borrowed funds may be used, which may include restrictions on geographic and industry concentrations, loan
size, payment frequency and status, average life, collateral interests and investment ratings, as well as regulatory restrictions on leverage which may affect the amount of
funding that may be obtained. There may also be certain requirements relating to portfolio performance, including required minimum portfolio yield and limitations on
delinquencies and charge-offs, a violation of which could limit further advances and, in some cases, result in an event of default. An event of default under a credit facility could
result in an accelerated maturity date for all amounts outstanding thereunder, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. This could
reduce our liquidity and cash flow and impair our ability to grow our business.

Competition for Investments. Other entities, including commercial banks, commercial financing companies, BDCs and insurance companies compete to make the types
of investments that we plan to make in middle market companies. Certain of these competitors may be substantially larger, have considerably greater financial, technical and
marketing resources than we will have and offer a wider array of financial services. For example, some competitors may have a lower cost of funds or access to funding sources
that are not available to us. We may lose investment opportunities if we do not match our competitors’ pricing, terms and structure. There may be intense competition for
financings or investments of the type we intend to make, and such competition may result in less favorable financing or investment terms than might otherwise exist.
Furthermore, many of our competitors are not subject to the regulatory restrictions that the 1940 Act imposes on us as a BDC or the source of income, asset diversification and
distribution requirements we must satisfy to maintain our RIC status. There can be no assurance that there will be a sufficient number of attractive potential investments
available to us to achieve target returns. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider
a wider variety of investments and establish more relationships than us. The competitive pressures we face may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Broad Authority for Board Action. The Board of Directors has the authority to modify or waive certain of our operating policies and strategies without prior notice
(except as required by the 1940 Act) and without shareholder approval. However, absent shareholder approval, the Board of Directors may not change the nature of our business
so as to cease to be, or withdraw our election as, a BDC. We cannot predict the effect any changes to our current operating policies and strategies would have on our business,
operating results and value of our common stock. Nevertheless, the effects may adversely affect our business and impact our ability to make distributions.
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Changes in Law or Regulation. Changes to the laws and regulations governing our operations may cause us to alter our investment strategy in order to avail ourselves of
new or different opportunities. These changes could result in material differences to the strategies and plans described herein and may result in a shift in investment focus.

There is significant uncertainty regarding recently enacted legislation (including the Dodd-Frank Act and the regulations that have recently been adopted and future
regulations that will need to be adopted pursuant to such legislation) and, consequently, the full impact that such legislation will ultimately have on us and the markets in which
we invest is not fully known. Such uncertainty and any resulting confusion may itself be detrimental to the efficient functioning of the markets and the success of certain
investment strategies. The Dodd-Frank Act impacts many aspects of the financial services industry. Some of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act have been enacted, while
others have extended implementation periods and delayed effective dates and will require extensive rulemaking by regulatory authorities. While the full impact of the Dodd-
Frank Act on us and our portfolio companies may not be known for an extended period of time, the Dodd-Frank Act, including current rules and regulations and future rules
implementing its provisions and the interpretation of those rules, along with other legislative and regulatory proposals directed at the financial services industry or affecting
taxation that are proposed or pending in the U.S. Congress, may negatively impact us and our portfolio companies’ operations, cash flows or financial condition, impose
additional costs on us and our portfolio companies, intensify the regulatory supervision of us and our portfolio companies or otherwise adversely affect our business or the
business of our portfolio companies.

Reliance on Personnel. Our success depends upon the diligence, skill and network of business contacts of the Investment Team. The Investment Team will evaluate,
negotiate, structure, close and monitor our investments in accordance with the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement. There can be no assurance that the members of the
Investment Team upon which the Adviser relies will continue to be associated with the Adviser throughout the life of the Company. Douglas I. Ostrover, together with the
Investment Team and any investment professionals that the Adviser may subsequently retain, will identify, evaluate, negotiate, structure, close, monitor and manage our
investments. Our future success will depend to a significant extent on the continued service and coordination of the Investment Team. If the Investment Team does not maintain
their existing relationships with sources of investment opportunities and do not develop new relationships with other sources of investment opportunities available to us, the
Adviser may not be able to grow our investment portfolio. In addition, individuals with whom the Investment Team has relationships are not obligated to provide us with
investment opportunities. Therefore, we and the Adviser can offer no assurance that such relationships will generate investment opportunities for us.

Our ability to achieve our investment objective will also depend on the Adviser’s ability to manage the Company and to grow our investments and earnings. This will
depend, in turn, on the Adviser’s ability to identify, invest in and monitor portfolio companies that meet our investment criteria. The achievement of our investment objective
will depend upon the Adviser’s execution of our investment process, its ability to provide competent, attentive and efficient services to us and, to a lesser extent, our access to
financing on acceptable terms. The Adviser’s team of investment professionals will have substantial responsibilities in connection with the management of other investment
funds, accounts and investment vehicles. The personnel of the Adviser may be called upon to provide managerial assistance to our portfolio companies. These activities may
distract them from servicing new investment opportunities for us or slow our rate of investment. Any failure to manage our business and our future growth effectively could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Resignation of Adviser. Generally, the Adviser has the right, under the Investment Advisory Agreement, to resign at any time upon not less than 60 days’ written notice,
regardless of whether we have found a replacement. In certain circumstances the Adviser may only be able to terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement upon 120 days’
written notice. If the Adviser resigns, we may not be able to find a new investment adviser or hire internal management with similar expertise and ability to provide the same or
equivalent services on acceptable terms within 60 or 120 days, as applicable, or at all. If we are unable to do so quickly, our operations are likely to experience a disruption, our
financial condition, business and results of operations as well as our ability to pay distributions are likely to be adversely affected, and the value of our common stock may
decline.
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Potential Lack of Diversification. Our portfolio may be concentrated in a limited number of portfolio companies and industries. Beyond the asset diversification
requirements associated with our intention to comply with the requirements to qualify as a RIC for U.S. tax purposes we do not have fixed guidelines for diversification, and
while we are not targeting any specific industries, our investments may be concentrated in relatively few industries. As a result, the aggregate returns we realize may be
significantly adversely affected if a small number of investments perform poorly or if we need to write down the value of any one investment. Additionally, a downturn in any
particular industry in which we are invested could significantly affect our aggregate returns.

No Assurance of Cash Distributions. Subject to the Board of Directors’ discretion and applicable legal restrictions, we expect to declare and pay distributions quarterly.
We expect to pay these distributions out of assets legally available for distribution. However, there are no assurances that we will achieve investment results that will allow us to
make a targeted level of cash distributions or year-to-year increases in cash distributions. All distributions that are made will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and
will depend on our earnings, financial condition, maintenance of our RIC status and other factors as the Board of Directors may deem to be relevant. Our ability to pay
distributions might be adversely affected by the impact of the risks described herein. In addition, the inability to satisfy the asset coverage test applicable to a BDC may limit
our ability to pay distributions. There can be no assurances that we will pay distributions to our shareholders in the future.

In certain cases, we may recognize income before or without receiving the accompanying cash. Depending on the amount of noncash income, this could result in
difficulty satisfying the annual distribution requirement applicable to RICs. Accordingly, we may have to sell some of our investments at times we would not consider
advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or reduce new investments to meet these distribution requirements. In addition, the withholding tax treatment of our
distributions to certain of our non-U.S. Shareholders will depend on whether and when Congress enacts legislation extending the pass-through treatment of “interest-related
dividends,” and we may elect to defer the payment of dividends in any year pending the resolution of this issue.

Furthermore, the middle market companies in which we intend to invest are generally more susceptible to economic down-turns than larger operating companies, and
therefore may be more likely to default on their payment obligations to us during recessionary periods, including the current economic environment. Any such defaults could
substantially reduce our net investment income available for distribution to our shareholders.

Valuation of Portfolio Securities. Investments are valued at the end of each calendar quarter. A significant amount of our investments are expected to be in loans that do
not have readily ascertainable market prices. Assets that are not publicly traded or whose market prices are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined in good
faith by the Board of Directors and reviewed by the valuation committee of the Adviser. In connection with that determination, portfolio company valuations will be prepared
using sources, preliminary valuations obtained from independent valuation firms, and/or proprietary models depending on the availability of information on our assets and the
type of asset being valued, all in accordance with our valuation policy. The participation of the Adviser in the valuation process could result in a conflict of interest, since the
Adviser’s management fee is based in part on our gross assets.

Because fair values, and particularly fair values of private securities and private companies, are inherently uncertain, may fluctuate over short periods of time, and are
often based to a large extent on estimates, comparisons and qualitative evaluations of private information, our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values
that would have been determined if a ready market for these securities existed. This could make it more difficult for our shareholders to value accurately our portfolio
investments and could lead to undervaluation or overvaluation of our interests. In addition, the valuation of these types of securities may result in substantial write-downs and
earnings volatility.

Net asset value as of a particular date may be materially greater than or less than the value that would be realized if assets were to be liquidated as of such date. For
example, if we were required to sell a certain asset or all
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or a substantial portion of our assets on a particular date, the actual price that we would realize upon the disposition of such asset or assets could be materially less than the
value of such asset or assets as reflected in our net asset value. Volatile market conditions could also cause reduced liquidity in the market for certain assets, which could result
in liquidation values that are materially less than the values of such assets as reflected in net asset value.

Potential Fluctuations in Quarterly Results. We could experience fluctuations in our quarterly operating results due to a number of factors, including our ability or
inability to make investments in companies that meet our investment criteria, the interest rate payable and default rates on the debt securities we acquire, the level of our
expenses, variations in and the timing of the recognition of realized and unrealized gains or losses, the degree to which we encounter competition in our markets, and general
economic conditions. As a result of these factors, results for any previous period should not be relied upon as indicative of performance in future periods. These factors could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, the value of an investment in our common stock and our ability to pay distributions.

Certain Provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, Our Charter and Our Bylaws Could Deter Takeover Attempts. Our charter and our bylaws as well as
the Maryland General Corporation Law (“MGCL”) contain provisions that may have the effect of discouraging a third party from making an acquisition proposal for the
Company. Among other things, our charter and our bylaws:
 

 •  provide that the Board of Directors is classified, which may delay the ability of our shareholders to change the membership of a majority of the Board of
Directors;

 

 •  do not provide for cumulative voting;
 

 •  provide that, except for vacancies on the Board of Directors caused by the removal of a director by our shareholders before the time that we have four
independent directors, newly created directorships and vacancies on the Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority vote of directors then in office;

 

 •  provide that directors may be removed only for cause, and only by a supermajority vote of our shareholders entitled to elect such directors;
 

 •  provide that our shareholders may only take action (i) at an annual or special meeting of our shareholders or (ii) by unanimous written consent;
 

 •  require a supermajority vote of our shareholders to effect amendments to certain provisions of our charter;
 

 •  vest in the Board of Directors the exclusive power to amend our bylaws; and
 

 •  require our shareholders to provide advance notice of new business proposals and director nominations under specific procedures.

In addition, except as otherwise provided in our charter, the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the votes entitled to be cast thereon, with each class or series of stock
voting as a separate class, in addition to the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the Board of Directors is required to effect a number of actions, including certain business
combinations, that the holders of shares of common stock may view as desirable or in their best interest.

Under the MGCL, certain “business combinations,” including mergers, consolidations, share exchanges, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, asset transfers or
issuances or reclassifications of equity securities, between a Maryland corporation and any person who owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s outstanding
voting stock, and certain other parties (each an “interested shareholder”), or an affiliate of the interested shareholder, are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on
which the interested shareholder becomes an interested shareholder to the extent such statute is not superseded by applicable requirements of the 1940 Act. Thereafter, any of
the specified business combinations must be approved by two supermajority votes of the shareholders unless, among other conditions, holders of the corporation’s common
stock receive a minimum price for their shares. However, the Board of Directors has adopted a resolution exempting from the above restrictions any business combination
between us and any other person, provided that such business combination is first approved by the Board of Directors (including a majority of the directors who are not
“interested persons” within the meaning of the 1940 Act). This resolution, however, may be altered or repealed in whole or in part at any time.
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These anti-takeover provisions may inhibit a change of control in circumstances that could give our shareholders the opportunity to realize a premium over the market
price for our common stock.

1934 Act Filing Requirements. Because our common stock will be registered under the 1934 Act, ownership information for any person who beneficially owns 5% or
more of our common stock will have to be disclosed in a Schedule 13G or other filings with the SEC. Beneficial ownership for these purposes is determined in accordance with
the rules of the SEC, and includes having voting or investment power over the securities. In some circumstances, our shareholders who choose to reinvest their dividends may
see their percentage stake in the Company increased to more than 5%, thus triggering this filing requirement. Each shareholder is responsible for determining their filing
obligations and preparing the filings. In addition, our shareholders who hold more than 10% of a class of our shares may be subject to Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, which
recaptures for the benefit of the Company profits from the purchase and sale of registered stock within a six-month period.

Investment by ERISA Plans. We intend to conduct our operations so that they will not trigger “prohibited transactions” for benefit plan investors. We will use
reasonable efforts to conduct our affairs so that our assets will not be deemed to be “plan assets” under the plan asset regulations promulgated by the Department of Labor. The
fiduciary of each prospective benefit plan investor must independently determine that our stock is an appropriate investment for such plan, taking into account the fiduciary’s
obligations under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and the facts and circumstances of each investing benefit plan.

Limited Liquidity. There is currently no public market for our common stock, and a market for our common stock may never develop. Our common stock is not
registered under the 1933 Act, or any state securities law and is restricted as to transfer by law and the terms of our charter. Our shareholders generally may not sell, assign or
transfer its shares without prior written consent of the Adviser, which the Adviser may grant or withhold in its sole discretion. Except in limited circumstances for legal or
regulatory purposes, our shareholders are not entitled to redeem their shares of our common stock. Our shareholders must be prepared to bear the economic risk of an
investment in our common stock for an indefinite period of time. While we may undertake an Exchange Listing, there can be no assurance that such a listing will be
successfully completed. Furthermore, an Exchange Listing does not ensure that an actual market will develop for a listed security.

Beginning with the quarter after we accept subscriptions for $1 billion of cumulative total Capital Commitments, until an Exchange Listing, we intend to conduct
repurchase offers to allow shareholders to tender shares of our common stock on a quarterly basis at a price per share expected to reflect a recent NAV per share. Any such
share repurchase offer will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and subject to applicable law. We intend to limit the number of shares repurchased pursuant to any such
repurchase offers to 15% of the total Capital Commitments raised in excess of $1 billion, with the exact amount to be set by the Board of Directors. We will conduct any
repurchase offers in accordance with Section 23 (c) of the 1940 Act and Rule 13e-4 under the 1934 Act. Although we intend to conduct repurchase offers on a quarterly basis
beginning with the quarter after we accept subscriptions for $1 billion of cumulative total Capital Commitments, the Board of Directors has complete and absolute discretion to
determine whether we will engage in any share repurchases and, if so, the terms of such repurchases. Therefore, we may ultimately not engage in any share repurchases or may
cease share repurchases at any time, and shareholders may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at all. Shareholders should not assume or rely upon any expectation
that we will offer to repurchase any of its shares of our common stock. The repurchase price per share of future repurchase offers, if any, may be lower than the price per share
that shareholders paid for their shares of our common stock. In addition, in the event that a shareholder chooses to participate in a quarterly repurchase offer, the shareholder
may be required to provide us with notice of intent to participate prior to knowing what the NAV per share will be on the repurchase date. We anticipate that certain designated
principals of the Adviser will agree not to participate in any repurchase offers.

Our Shareholders May Experience Dilution. Our shareholders will not have preemptive rights to subscribe to or purchase any shares of our common stock issued in the
future. To the extent we issue additional equity interests, including in a public offering or following a Subsequent Closing, a shareholder’s percentage ownership interest in the
Company will be diluted. In addition, depending upon the terms and pricing of any additional offerings and the value of our investments, a shareholder may also experience
dilution in the net asset value and fair value of our shares.
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Preferred Stock Could be Issued. Under the terms of our charter, the Board of Directors is authorized, to the fullest extent permitted by the 1940 Act, to authorize us to
issue shares of preferred stock in one or more classes or series without shareholder approval. The Board of Directors, subject to the terms of any class or series of stock
outstanding at the time, is required to set the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends and other distributions,
qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption of each class or series, including preferred stock with terms that might adversely affect the interests of our existing
shareholders.

Significant Financial and Other Resources to Comply with the Requirements of Being a Public Entity. Upon the effectiveness of this Registration Statement we will
be subject to the reporting requirements of the 1934 Act and requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. These requirements may place a strain on our systems and resources. The
1934 Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting, which are discussed below. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls, significant resources and management oversight will be required. We intend to implement procedures, processes,
policies and practices for the purpose of addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public companies. These activities may divert management’s attention from
other business concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We expect to incur significant
additional annual expenses related to these steps and, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, reporting requirements of the SEC, transfer
agent fees, additional administrative expenses payable to the Administrator to compensate them for hiring additional accounting, legal and administrative personnel, increased
auditing and legal fees and similar expenses.

The systems and resources necessary to comply with public company reporting requirements will increase further once we cease to be an “emerging growth company”
under the JOBS Act. As long as we remain an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are
applicable to other public companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act. We will remain an emerging growth company for up to five years following an initial public offering, although if the market value of our common stock that is held by
non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before that time, we would cease to be an emerging growth company as of the following December 31.

We Do Not Currently Have Comprehensive Documentation of Our Internal Controls. We are not required to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
including the internal control evaluation and certification requirements of Section 404 of that statute (“Section 404”), and will not be required to comply with all of those
requirements until we have been subject to the reporting requirements of the 1934 Act for a specified period of time or the date we are no longer an emerging growth company
under the JOBS Act. Accordingly, our internal controls over financial reporting do not currently meet all of the standards contemplated by Section 404 that we will eventually
be required to meet. We are in the process of addressing our internal controls over financial reporting and are establishing formal procedures, policies, processes and practices
related to financial reporting and to the identification of key financial reporting risks, assessment of their potential impact and linkage of those risks to specific areas and
activities within the Company.

Additionally, we have begun the process of documenting our internal control procedures to satisfy the requirements of Section 404, which requires annual management
assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. Our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until the later of the year following our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC, or the date we are no
longer an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act. Because we do not currently have comprehensive documentation of our internal controls and have not yet tested our
internal controls in accordance with Section 404, we cannot conclude in accordance with Section 404 that we do not have a material weakness in our internal controls or a
combination of significant deficiencies that
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could result in the conclusion that we have a material weakness in our internal controls. As a public entity, we will be required to complete our initial assessment in a timely
manner. If we are not able to implement the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or with adequate compliance, our operations, financial reporting or financial results
could be adversely affected. Matters impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis and thereby subject us to
adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or violations of applicable stock exchange listing rules, and result in a breach of the covenants under the
agreements governing any of our financing arrangements. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in the Company
and the reliability of our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial statements could also suffer if we or our independent registered public accounting
firm were to report a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting. This could materially adversely affect us and, following an Exchange Listing, lead to a
decline in the market price of our common stock.

We Could Raise Capital Through Other Channels. The Board of Directors may determine to raise additional capital through other channels, including through a private
offerings or continuous public offerings through the independent broker-dealer network (a “Non-Listed Offering”) or an Exchange Listing. Capital raised through other
channels could subject us to additional regulatory requirements. For example, a Non-Listed Offering would require us to file a registration statement under the 1933 Act and to
comply with the guidelines issued by the North American Securities Administrators Association (the “Omnibus Guidelines”) and an Exchange Listing would require us to
comply with the rules of the relevant securities exchange. In order to comply with the Omnibus Guidelines, at the time of a Non-Listed Offering, certain provisions of our
charter would come into effect. See “Item 11. Description of Registrant’s Securities to be Registered.” These additional provisions could, among other things, affect our
shareholders and limit the ability of the Company and the Adviser to take certain actions. In addition, if capital is raised through other channels, we would have to use financial
and other resources to file any required registration statements and to comply with any additional regulatory requirements including, in the case of a Non-Listed Offering, the
Omnibus Guidelines.

Terrorist Attacks, Acts of War or Natural Disasters. Terrorist acts, acts of war or natural disasters may disrupt our operations, as well as the operations of the businesses
in which we invest. Such acts have created, and continue to create, economic and political uncertainties and have contributed to recent global economic instability. Future
terrorist activities, military or security operations, or natural disasters could further weaken the domestic/global economies and create additional uncertainties, which may
negatively impact the businesses in which we invest directly or indirectly and, in turn, could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial
condition. Losses from terrorist attacks and natural disasters are generally uninsurable.

Cyber-security Risks. A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of our information resources.
These incidents may be an intentional attack or an unintentional event and could involve gaining unauthorized access to our information systems for purposes of
misappropriating assets, stealing confidential information, corrupting data or causing operational disruption. The result of these incidents may include disrupted operations,
misstated or unreliable financial data, liability for stolen information, misappropriation of assets, increased cyber-security protection and insurance costs, litigation and damage
to our business relationships. This could result in significant losses, reputational damage, litigation, regulatory fines or penalties, or otherwise adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. In addition, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to modify our protective measures and to investigate and
remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures arising from operational and security risks. We face risks posed to our information systems, both internal and those provided to us
by third-party service providers. We, the Adviser and our affiliates have implemented processes, procedures and internal controls to help mitigate cyber-security risks and cyber
intrusions, but these measures, as well as our increased awareness of the nature and extent of a risk of a cyber incident, may be ineffective and do not guarantee that a cyber
incident will not occur or that our financial results, operations or confidential information will not be negatively impacted by such an incident.

Third parties with which we intend to do business (including those that provide services to us) may also be sources or targets of cyber-security or other technological
risks. We intend to outsource certain functions and these relationships may allow for the storage and processing of our information and assets, as well as certain investor,
counterparty, employee and borrower information. While we intend to engage in actions to reduce our exposure resulting from outsourcing, ongoing threats may result in
unauthorized access, loss, exposure or destruction of data,
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or other cyber-security incidents, with increased costs and other consequences, including those described above. Privacy and information security laws and regulation changes,
and compliance with those changes, may also result in cost increases due to system changes and the development of new administrative processes.

State Licensing Requirements. We may be required to obtain various state licenses in order to, among other things, originate commercial loans. Applying for and
obtaining required licenses can be costly and take several months. There is no assurance that we will obtain all of the licenses that we need on a timely basis. Furthermore, we
will be subject to various information and other requirements in order to obtain and maintain these licenses, and there is no assurance that we will satisfy those requirements.
Our failure to obtain or maintain licenses might restrict investment options and have other adverse consequences.

Risks Related to RICs and BDCs

We Will be Subject to Corporate-level U.S. Federal Income Tax if We are Unable to Qualify as a RIC. Although we intend to elect to be treated as a RIC as soon as
practicable following our election to be a BDC, no assurance can be given that we will be able to qualify for and maintain our qualification as a RIC. To obtain and maintain
our qualification as a RIC, we must meet the following source-of-income, asset diversification, and distribution requirements.

The income source requirement will be satisfied if we obtain at least 90% of our gross income for each year from dividends, interest, foreign currency, payments with
respect to loans of certain securities, gains from the sale of stock or other securities, net income from certain “qualified publicly traded partnerships,” or similar sources.

The asset diversification requirement will be satisfied if we meet certain asset diversification requirements at the end of each quarter of our taxable year. Failure to meet
those requirements may result in us having to dispose of certain investments quickly in order to prevent the loss of our qualification as a RIC. Because most of our investments
will be in private companies, and therefore will be relatively illiquid, any such dispositions could be made at disadvantageous prices and could result in substantial losses. We
may have difficulty satisfying the diversification requirement during our ramp-up phase until we have a portfolio of investments.

The annual distribution requirement will be satisfied if we distribute to our shareholders on an annual basis at least 90% of our net ordinary income and realized net
short-term capital gains in excess of realized net long-term capital losses, if any. Because we may use debt financing, we are subject to certain asset coverage ratio requirements
under the 1940 Act and financial covenants under loan and credit agreements that could, under certain circumstances, restrict us from making distributions necessary to satisfy
the distribution requirement. If we are unable to obtain cash from other sources, we could fail to qualify as a RIC.

If we fail to qualify as a RIC for any reason and therefore become subject to corporate income tax, the resulting corporate taxes could substantially reduce our net assets,
the amount of income available for distribution and the amount of our distributions.

Limits on Capital Raising; Asset Coverage Ratio. Our business will require a substantial amount of capital. However, we may not be able to raise additional capital in
the future on favorable terms or at all. We may issue debt securities, other evidences of indebtedness or preferred stock, and may borrow money from banks or other financial
institutions, which are referred to collectively herein as “senior securities,” up to the maximum amount permitted by the 1940 Act. The 1940 Act will permit us to issue senior
securities in amounts such that our asset coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, equals at least 200% after each issuance of senior securities. Our ability to pay dividends or issue
additional senior securities would be restricted if our asset coverage ratio were not at least 200%. If the value of our assets declines, we may be unable to satisfy this test. If that
happens, we may be required to liquidate a portion of our investments and repay a portion of our indebtedness at a time when such sales or repayment may be disadvantageous.
As a result of issuing senior securities, we will also be exposed to typical risks associated with leverage, including an increased risk of loss. If we issue preferred stock, such
preferred stock will rank “senior” to our common stock in our capital structure, preferred shareholders will have separate voting rights for certain purposes and may have rights,
preferences or privileges more favorable than those of our common stock and the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a
transaction or a change of control that might involve a premium price for our shareholders or otherwise be in the best interest of our shareholders.
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To the extent we are constrained in our ability to issue debt or other senior securities, we will depend on issuances of capital stock to finance our operations. As a BDC,
we will not generally be able to issue our common stock at a price below net asset value without first obtaining required approvals of our shareholders and our independent
directors. If we raise additional funds by issuing more of our common stock or senior securities convertible into, or exchangeable for, our common stock, the percentage
ownership of our shareholders at that time would decrease and our shareholders may experience dilution. In addition to issuing securities to raise capital as described above, we
could, in the future, securitize our loans to generate cash for funding new investments. An inability to successfully securitize our loan portfolio could limit our ability to grow
our business, fully execute our business strategy and improve our profitability.

Legislation May Allow Us to Incur Additional Leverage. As a BDC, generally, we are not permitted to incur indebtedness unless immediately after such borrowing we
have an asset coverage for total borrowings of at least 200% (i.e., the amount of debt may not exceed 50% of the value of our assets). If recent legislation in the U.S. House of
Representatives is passed, or similar legislation is introduced, it would modify this section of the 1940 Act and increase the amount of debt that BDCs may incur by modifying
the asset coverage percentage from 200% to 150%. As a result, we may be able to incur additional indebtedness in the future, and our shareholders may face increased
investment risk. In addition, since our management fee is calculated as a percentage of the value of our gross assets, which includes any borrowings for investment purposes,
the management fee expenses will increase if we incur additional indebtedness.

We May Have Difficulty Paying Our Required Distributions if We Recognize Income Before or Without Receiving Cash Representing Such Income. For U.S. federal
income tax purposes, we will include in our taxable income certain amounts that we have not yet received in cash, such as original issue discount, which may arise if we receive
warrants in connection with the origination of a loan or possibly in other circumstances, or contractual “payment-in-kind,” or PIK, interest, which represents contractual interest
added to the loan balance and due at the end of the loan term. Such original issue discount or increases in loan balances as a result of contractual PIK arrangements will be
included in our taxable income before we receive any corresponding cash payments. We also may be required to include in our taxable income certain other amounts that we
will not receive in cash. Since, in certain cases, we may recognize taxable income before or without receiving corresponding cash payments, we may have difficulty meeting the
annual distribution requirement necessary to maintain our qualification as a RIC. Accordingly, to satisfy our RIC distribution requirements, we may have to sell some of our
investments at times or at prices we would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or forgo new investment opportunities. If we are not able to obtain
cash from other sources, we may fail to qualify as a RIC and thus become subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax. For additional discussion regarding the tax
implications of our election to be taxed as a RIC, please see “Item 1(c). Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations — Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company.”

To the extent original issue discount and PIK-interest constitute a portion of our income, we will be exposed to typical risks associated with such income being
required to be included in taxable and accounting income prior to receipt of cash representing such income. Our investments may include original-issue-discount instruments
and contractual PIK-interest arrangements. To the extent original issue discount or PIK-interest constitutes a portion of our income, we are exposed to typical risks associated
with such income being required to be included in taxable and accounting income prior to receipt of cash, including the following:
 

 •  The higher interest rates of original issue discount and PIK instruments reflect the payment deferral and increased credit risk associated with these
instruments, and original issue discount and PIK instruments generally represent a significantly higher credit risk than coupon loans.

 

 •  Even if the accounting conditions for income accrual are met, the borrower could still default when our actual collection is supposed to occur at the
maturity of the obligation.

 

 
•  Original issue discount and PIK instruments may have unreliable valuations because their continuing accruals require continuing judgments about the

collectability of the deferred payments and the value of any associated collateral. Original issue discount and PIKincome may also create uncertainty about
the source of our cash distributions.
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•  To the extent we provide loans with interest-only payments or moderate loan amortization, the majority of the principal payment or amortization of

principal may be deferred until loan maturity. Because this debt generally allows the borrower to make a large lump-sum payment of principal at the end of
the loan term, there is a risk of loss if the borrower is unable to pay the lump sum or refinance the amount owed at maturity.

 

 

•  For accounting purposes, any cash distributions to stockholders representing original issue discount and PIK-income are not treated as coming from paid-in
capital, even though the cash to pay them comes from offering proceeds. As a result, despite the fact that a distribution representing original issue discount
and PIK-income could be paid out of amounts invested by our stockholders, the 1940 Act does not require that stockholders be given notice of this fact by
reporting it as a return of capital.

Distribution and Asset Coverage Ratio Requirements May Impact Company’s Ability to Grow. In order to satisfy the requirements applicable to RICs and to avoid
payment of excise taxes, we intend to distribute to our shareholders substantially all of our ordinary income and capital gain net income except for certain net capital gains,
which we intend to retain and to elect to treat as deemed distributions to our shareholders. As a BDC, we are generally required to meet a coverage ratio of total assets to total
senior securities, which would include all of our borrowings and any preferred stock that we may issue in the future, of at least 200%. This requirement will limit the amount
that we may borrow. Because we will continue to need capital to grow our loan and investment portfolio, this limitation may prevent us from incurring debt and require us to
raise additional equity at a time when it may be disadvantageous to do so. While we expect to be able to borrow and to issue additional debt and equity securities, there is no
assurance that debt and equity financing will be available to us on favorable terms or at all. In addition, as a BDC, we are not permitted to issue equity securities priced below
net asset value without shareholder and independent director approval. However, if we do obtain the necessary approvals to issue securities at prices below their net asset values,
a shareholder’s investment in our common stock will experience dilution as a result of such issuance. If additional funds are not available to us, we could be forced to curtail or
cease our lending and investment activities, and our net asset value could decrease.

Unrealized Depreciation on Our Loan Portfolio May Be an Indication of Future Realized Losses and Reduction in Income Available for Distribution. As a BDC, we
are required to carry our investments at market value or, if no market value is ascertainable, at fair value as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors. Decreases in the
market values or fair values of our investments will be recorded as unrealized depreciation. Any unrealized depreciation in our loan portfolio could be an indication of a
portfolio company’s inability to meet its repayment obligations to us with respect to the loans whose market values or fair values decreased. This could result in realized losses
in the future and ultimately in reductions of our income available for distribution in future periods.

Qualifying Asset Requirements. As a BDC, we may not acquire any assets other than “qualifying assets” unless, at the time of such acquisition, at least 70% of our total
assets are qualifying assets. Therefore, we may be precluded from investing in what we believe are attractive investments if such investments are not qualifying assets.
Similarly, these rules could prevent us from making additional investments in existing portfolio companies, which could result in the dilution of our position, or could require us
to dispose of investments at an inopportune time to comply with the 1940 Act. If we were forced to sell non-qualifying investments for compliance purposes, the proceeds from
such sale could be significantly less than the current value of such investments. Conversely, if we failed to invest a sufficient portion of our assets in qualifying assets, we could
lose our status as a BDC, which would subject us to substantially more regulatory restrictions and significantly decrease our operating flexibility.

Limits on Transactions with Affiliates. We are prohibited under the 1940 Act from participating in certain transactions with certain of our affiliates without the prior
approval of a majority of the independent members of the Board of Directors and, in some cases, the SEC. Any person that owns, directly or indirectly, 5% or more of our
outstanding voting securities will be our affiliate for purposes of the 1940 Act, and we will generally be prohibited from buying or selling any securities from or to such affiliate,
absent the prior approval of the Board of
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Directors. The 1940 Act also prohibits certain “joint” transactions with certain of our affiliates, which could include investments in the same portfolio company (whether at the
same or different times), without prior approval of the Board of Directors and, in some cases, the SEC. If a person acquires more than 25% of our voting securities, we will be
prohibited from buying or selling any security from or to such person or certain of that person’s affiliates, or entering into prohibited joint transactions with such persons absent
the prior approval of the SEC. Similar restrictions limit our ability to transact business with our officers or directors or their affiliates. We have applied for an exemptive order
from the SEC which would allow us, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to enter into transactions with certain of our affiliates. There are no assurances that such
exemptive relief will be granted in a timely manner or at all. These restrictions may limit the scope of investment opportunities that would otherwise be available to us.

Risks Related to the Adviser

The Adviser Has no Prior Experience Managing a BDC. The Adviser has no prior experience managing a BDC. The 1940 Act imposes numerous constraints on the
operations of BDCs that do not apply to the other types of investment vehicles. For example, under the 1940 Act, BDCs are generally required to invest at least 70% of their
total assets primarily in securities of qualifying U.S. private or thinly traded companies. The failure to comply with these provisions in a timely manner could prevent us from
qualifying as a BDC, which could be material. The Adviser’s lack of experience in managing a portfolio of assets under such constraints may hinder our ability to take
advantage of attractive investment opportunities and, as a result, achieve our investment objective.

Conflicts Related to Obligations the Adviser Has to Other Clients. Certain members of the Investment Team serve, or may serve, as officers, directors, members, or
principals of entities that operate in the same or a related line of business as we do, or of investment funds, accounts, or investment vehicles managed by the Adviser or affiliates
of the Adviser. Similarly, the Adviser may have other clients with similar, different or competing investment objectives. In serving in these multiple capacities, the Adviser and
certain members of the Investment Team may have obligations to other clients or investors in those entities, the fulfillment of which may not be in the best interests of the
Company or our shareholders. In addition, prior to an Exchange Listing and in accordance with its obligations under the 1940 Act, the Adviser has agreed to allow certain
shareholders the opportunity to participate in certain investment opportunities that we may decide to participate in. The Adviser intends to allocate any investment opportunities
in a fair and equitable manner; however, there is no assurance that that we will be able to participate in all investment opportunities or that investment opportunities will be
allocated in a fair and equitable manner.

Possession of Material Non-Public Information, Limiting the Adviser’s Investment Discretion. The Investment Team, including members of the Investment
Committee, may serve as directors of, or in a similar capacity with, portfolio companies in which we invest, the securities of which are purchased or sold on our behalf. In the
event that material non-public information is obtained with respect to such companies, or we become subject to trading restrictions under the internal trading policies of those
companies or as a result of applicable law or regulations, we could be prohibited for a period of time from purchasing or selling the securities of such companies, and this
prohibition may have an adverse effect on us.

Management Fees and Incentive Fees. Even in the event the value of a shareholder’s investment declines, the management fee and, in certain circumstances, the
incentive fee will still be payable to the Adviser. The management fee is calculated as a percentage of the value of our gross assets and our stockholders’ remaining unfunded
Capital Commitments to us at a specific time, which would include any borrowings for investment purposes, and may give the Adviser an incentive to use leverage to make
additional investments and because it is based, in part, on our stockholders’ remaining unfunded Capital Commitments to us, it may be payable even when we have limited
invested assets. In addition, the management fee is payable regardless of whether the value of our gross assets has decreased. The use of increased leverage may increase the
likelihood of default, which would disfavor our shareholders. Given the subjective nature of the investment decisions that the Adviser will make on our behalf, we may not be
able to monitor this potential conflict of interest.

One component of the incentive fee, which is only payable following an Exchange Listing, is calculated as a percentage of pre-incentive fee net investment income.
Since pre-incentive fee net investment income does not include any realized capital gains, realized capital losses or unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation, it is possible
that we may pay an incentive fee in a quarter in which we incur a loss. For example, if we receive pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of the quarterly hurdle rate,
we will pay the applicable incentive fee even if we have incurred a loss in that quarter due to realized and unrealized capital losses. In addition, because the
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quarterly hurdle rate is calculated based on our net assets, decreases in net assets due to realized or unrealized capital losses in any given quarter may increase the likelihood that
the hurdle rate is reached in that quarter and, as a result, that an incentive fee is paid for that quarter. Our net investment income used to calculate this component of the
incentive fee is also included in the amount of our gross assets used to calculate the management fee.

The second component of the incentive fee, which is also only payable following an Exchange Listing, is calculated annually based upon our realized capital gains,
computed net of realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation on a cumulative basis. As a result, we may owe the Adviser an incentive fee during one year as a
result of realized capital gains on certain investments, and then later incur significant realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation on the remaining investments in
our portfolio during subsequent years. Incentive fees earned in prior years cannot be clawed back even if we later incur losses.

In addition, the incentive fee payable by us to the Adviser may create an incentive for the Adviser to make investments on our behalf that are risky or more speculative
than would be the case in the absence of such a compensation arrangement. The Adviser receives the incentive fee based, in part, upon capital gains realized on our investments.
Unlike the portion of the incentive fee that is based on net investment income, there is no hurdle rate applicable to the portion of the capital gains incentive fee. As a result, the
Adviser may have an incentive to invest more in companies whose securities are likely to yield capital gains, as compared to income-producing investments. Such a practice
could result in us making more speculative investments than would otherwise be the case, which could result in higher investment losses, particularly during cyclical economic
downturns.

Limitation on Liability of the Adviser. The Investment Advisory Agreement provides that the Adviser, its officers, members and personnel, and any person controlling
or controlled by the Adviser will not be liable to us or our shareholders for acts or omissions performed in accordance with and pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement,
except those resulting from acts constituting gross negligence, willful misconduct, bad faith or reckless disregard of the duties that Adviser owes to us under the Investment
Advisory Agreement. In addition, as part of the Investment Advisory Agreement, we have agreed to indemnify the Adviser and each of its officers, directors, members,
managers and employees from and against any claims or liabilities, including reasonable legal fees and other expenses reasonably incurred, arising out of or in connection with
our business and operations or any action taken or omitted on our behalf pursuant to authority granted by the Investment Advisory Agreement, except where attributable to gross
negligence, willful misconduct, bad faith or reckless disregard of such person’s duties under the Investment Advisory Agreement. These protections may lead the Adviser to act
in a riskier manner when acting on our behalf than it would when acting for its own account.

Related Party Agreement. The Investment Advisory Agreement was negotiated between related parties. Consequently, its terms, including fees payable to the Adviser,
may not be as favorable to us as if they had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.

Risks Associated with Our Investments

Nature of Investments. We intend to invest in senior secured or unsecured loans, subordinated loans or mezzanine loans and, to a lesser extent, equity-related securities
including warrants, preferred stock and similar forms of senior equity, which may or may not be convertible into a portfolio company’s common equity.

Senior Secured Loans. When we make a first or second lien loan or a unitranche loan to a portfolio company, we generally take a security interest in the available assets
of the portfolio company, including the equity interests of its subsidiaries, which we expect to help mitigate the risk that we will not be repaid. However, there is a risk that the
collateral securing our loans may decrease in value over time, may be difficult to sell in a timely manner, may be difficult to appraise, or may fluctuate in value based upon the
success of the business and market conditions, including as a result of the inability of the portfolio company to raise additional capital. In some circumstances, our lien could be
subordinated to claims of other creditors. In addition, deterioration in a portfolio company’s financial condition and prospects, including its inability to raise additional capital,
may be accompanied by deterioration in the value of the collateral for the loan. Consequently, the fact that a loan is secured does not guarantee that we will receive principal
and interest payments according to the loan’s terms, or at all, or that we will be able to collect on the loan should we be forced to enforce our remedies.
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Mezzanine Loans. Our mezzanine loans generally will be subordinated to senior secured loans on a payment basis, are typically unsecured and rank pari passu with other
unsecured creditors. As such, other creditors may rank senior to us in the event of insolvency. This may result in an above average amount of risk and loss of principal.

Equity-related Investments. When we invest in first and second lien loans, unitranche loans or mezzanine loans, we may acquire equity securities in a portfolio company.
In addition, we may invest directly in the equity securities of portfolio companies. Our goal is ultimately to dispose of such equity interests and realize gains upon our
disposition of such interests. However, the equity interests we receive may not appreciate in value and, in fact, may decline in value. Accordingly, we may not be able to realize
gains from our equity interests, and any gains that we do realize on the disposition of any equity interests may not be sufficient to offset any other losses we experience.

In addition, our investments are likely to be in lower grade obligations. The lower grade investments in which we invest may be rated below investment grade by one or
more nationally recognized statistical rating agencies at the time of investment or may be unrated but determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality. Loans or debt
securities rated below investment grade are considered speculative with respect to the issuer’s capacity to pay interest and repay principal. The major risks of non-investment
grade investments include:
 

 

•  Non-investment grade securities may be issued by less creditworthy issuers. Issuers of non-investment grade securities may have a larger amount of
outstanding debt relative to their assets than issuers of investment grade securities. In the event of an issuer’s bankruptcy, claims of other creditors may
have priority over the claims of holders of non-investment grade securities, leaving few or no assets available to repay holders of non-investment grade
securities.

 

 •  Prices of non-investment grade securities are subject to extreme price fluctuations. Adverse changes in an issuer’s industry and general economic
conditions may have a greater impact on the prices of non-investment grade securities than on other higher rated fixed-income securities.

 

 •  Issuers of non-investment grade securities may be unable to meet their interest or principal payment obligations because of an economic downturn, specific
issuer developments, or the unavailability of additional financing.

 

 •  Non-investment grade securities frequently have redemption features that permit an issuer to repurchase the security from us before it matures. If the issuer
redeems non-investment grade securities, we may have to invest the proceeds in securities with lower yields and may lose income.

 

 
•  Non-investment grade securities may be less liquid than higher rated fixed-income securities, even under normal economic conditions. There are fewer

dealers in the non-investment grade securities market, and there may be significant differences in the prices quoted by the dealers. Judgment may play a
greater role in valuing these securities and we may be unable to sell these securities at an advantageous time or price.

 

 •  We may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon default or to negotiate new terms with a defaulting issuer.

The credit rating of a high yield security does not necessarily address its market value risk. Ratings and market value may change from time to time, positively or
negatively, to reflect new developments regarding the issuer.

Risks Associated with Investments in Middle Market Companies. Investment in private and middle market companies involves a number of significant risks including:
 

 
•  such companies may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under their debt securities that we hold, which may be

accompanied by a deterioration in the value of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of us realizing any guarantees we may have obtained in
connection with its investment;
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 •  such companies typically have shorter operating histories, narrower product lines and smaller market shares than larger businesses, which tend to render
them more vulnerable to competitors’ actions and market conditions, as well as to general economic downturns;

 

 •  such companies are more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons; therefore, the death, disability, resignation or
termination of one or more of these persons could have a material adverse impact on the portfolio company and, in turn, on us;

 

 •  such companies generally have less predictable operating results, may be engaged in rapidly changing businesses with products subject to a substantial risk
of obsolescence, and may require substantial additional capital to support their operations, finance expansion or maintain their competitive position;

 

 •  debt investments in such companies generally may have a significant portion of principal due at the maturity of the investment, which would result in a
substantial loss to us if such borrowers are unable to refinance or repay their debt at maturity;

 

 •  our executive officers, directors and the Adviser may, in the ordinary course of business, be named as defendants in litigation arising from our investments
in such companies;

 

 •  such companies generally have less publicly available information about their businesses, operations and financial condition and, if we are unable to
uncover all material information about these companies, we may not make a fully informed investment decision; and

 

 •  such companies may have difficulty accessing the capital markets to meet future capital needs, which may limit their ability to grow or to repay their
outstanding indebtedness upon maturity.

Risks Associated with Equity Investments. Our investments may include equity related securities, such as rights and warrants that may be converted into or exchanged
for our common stock or the cash value of our common stock. In addition, we may make direct equity investments in portfolio companies. The equity interests we receive may
not appreciate in value and, in fact, may decline in value. Accordingly, we may not be able to realize gains from our equity interests, and any gains that we do realize on the
disposition of any equity interests may not be sufficient to offset any other losses we experience. We may also be unable to realize any value if a portfolio company does not
have a liquidity event, such as a sale of the business, recapitalization or public offering, which would allow us to sell the underlying equity interests. We may be unable to
exercise any put rights we acquire, which would grant us the right to sell our equity securities back to the portfolio company, for the consideration provided in its investment
documents if the issuer is in financial distress.

Portfolio Company Debt and Equity. Our portfolio companies may have, or may be permitted to incur, other debt or issue equity securities that rank equally with, or
senior to, the debt in which we invest. By their terms, such debt instruments or equity securities may entitle the holders to receive payment of dividends, interest or principal on
or before the dates on which we are entitled to receive payments with respect to our investments. These debt instruments or equity securities would usually prohibit the portfolio
companies from paying interest on or repaying our investments in the event and during the continuance of a default under such debt or equity securities. Also, in the event of
insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a portfolio company, holders of debt instruments or equity securities ranking senior to our investment in
that portfolio company would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before we receive any distribution in respect of our investment. After repaying such senior
creditors, such portfolio company may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying its obligation to us. In the case of debt or equity securities ranking equally with debt
instruments in which we invest, we would have to share on an equal basis any distributions with other creditors holding such debt or equity in the event of an insolvency,
liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of the relevant portfolio company.

Subordinated Liens on Collateral. Certain debt investments that we will make in portfolio companies will be secured on a second priority basis by the same collateral
securing senior secured debt of such companies. The first priority liens on the collateral will secure the portfolio company’s obligations under any outstanding senior debt
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and may secure certain other future debt that may be permitted to be incurred by the company under the agreements governing the debt. The holders of obligations secured by
the first priority liens on the collateral will generally control the liquidation of and be entitled to receive proceeds from any realization of the collateral to repay their obligations
in full before we are so entitled. In addition, the value of the collateral in the event of liquidation will depend on market and economic conditions, the availability of buyers and
other factors. There can be no assurance that the proceeds, if any, from the sale or sales of all of the collateral would be sufficient to satisfy the debt obligations secured by the
second priority liens after payment in full of all obligations secured by the first priority liens on the collateral. If such proceeds are not sufficient to repay amounts outstanding
under the debt obligations secured by the second priority liens, then, to the extent not repaid from the proceeds of the sale of the collateral, we will only have an unsecured claim
against the company’s remaining assets, if any.

We may also make unsecured debt investments in portfolio companies, meaning that such investments will not benefit from any interest in collateral of such companies.
Liens on such portfolio companies’ collateral, if any, will secure the portfolio company’s obligations under its outstanding secured debt and may secure certain future debt that
is permitted to be incurred by the portfolio company under its secured debt agreements. The holders of obligations secured by such liens will generally control the liquidation
of, and be entitled to receive proceeds from, any realization of such collateral to repay their obligations in full before we are so entitled. In addition, the value of such collateral
in the event of liquidation will depend on market and economic conditions, the availability of buyers and other factors. There can be no assurance that the proceeds, if any, from
sales of such collateral would be sufficient to satisfy its unsecured debt obligations after payment in full of all secured debt obligations. If such proceeds were not sufficient to
repay the outstanding secured debt obligations, then its unsecured claims would rank equally with the unpaid portion of such secured creditors’ claims against the portfolio
company’s remaining assets, if any.

The rights we may have with respect to the collateral securing the debt investments we make in portfolio companies with senior debt outstanding may also be limited
pursuant to the terms of one or more inter-creditor agreements that we enter into with the holders of senior debt. Under such an inter-creditor agreement, at any time that
obligations that have the benefit of the first priority liens are outstanding, any of the following actions that may be taken in respect of the collateral will be at the direction of the
holders of the obligations secured by the first priority liens: the ability to cause the commencement of enforcement proceedings against the collateral; the ability to control the
conduct of such proceedings; the approval of amendments to collateral documents; releases of liens on the collateral; and waivers of past defaults under collateral documents.
We may not have the ability to control or direct such actions, even if our rights are adversely affected.

Our Investments Will Be Illiquid and Long Term. We will generally make loans to private companies that are illiquid and may be difficult for us to sell if the need
arises. Although portfolio financings and investments by us may generate current income, the return of capital and the realization of gains, if any, from a financing or investment
generally will occur only upon the partial or complete satisfaction of the financing conditions or disposition of such investment, which may not occur for a number of years after
the investment is made. If we are required to liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, we may realize significantly less than the value at which we had previously
recorded such investments. In addition, we will not be able to sell securities we purchase publicly, if we hold any, unless the sale of such securities is registered under applicable
securities laws, or unless an exemption from such registration requirements is available. In addition, in some cases we may be prohibited by contract from selling certain
securities we invest in for a period of time or we may face other restrictions on our ability to liquidate an investment in a portfolio company to the extent that we hold a
significant portion of a company’s equity or if we have material non-public information regarding that company. Furthermore, under the 1940 Act, if there is no readily
available market for these investments, we are required to carry these investments at fair value as determined by the Board of Directors. As a result, if we are required to
liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, we may realize significantly less than the value at which we had previously recorded these investments.

Limited Number of Portfolio Companies. To the extent we assume large positions in the securities of a small number of issuers or industries, our net asset value may
fluctuate to a greater extent than that of a more diversified investment company as a result of changes in the financial condition or the market’s assessment of the issuer. In
addition, the aggregate returns we realize may be significantly adversely affected if a small number of investments perform poorly or if we need to write down the value of any
one investment. Additionally, a downturn in any particular industry in which we are invested could significantly affect our aggregate returns.
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Follow-on Investments in Portfolio Companies. Following an initial investment in a portfolio company, we may make additional investments in that portfolio company
as “follow-on” investments, in seeking to:
 

 •  increase or maintain in whole or in part our position as a creditor or equity ownership percentage in a portfolio company;
 

 •  exercise warrants, options or convertible securities that were acquired in the original or subsequent financing; or
 

 •  preserve or enhance the value of our investment.

We have discretion to make follow-on investments, subject to the availability of capital resources. Failure on our part to make follow-on investments may, in some
circumstances, jeopardize the continued viability of a portfolio company and our initial investment, or may result in a missed opportunity for us to increase our participation in
a successful operation.

Portfolio Company Leverage. Our portfolio companies will typically have capital structures with significant leverage. Leveraged companies in which we invest may
have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under their loans and debt securities that we hold. Although the Adviser will seek to structure
transactions in an attempt to minimize these risks, such leverage may increase our exposure to adverse economic factors such as rising interest rates, downturns in the general
economy or deterioration in the condition of the portfolio company or its sector in its particular industry. Such developments may be accompanied by a deterioration in the
value of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of us realizing any guarantees that we may have obtained in connection with our investment. Smaller leveraged
companies also may have less predictable operating results and may require substantial additional capital to support their operations, finance their expansion or maintain their
competitive position.

A portfolio company’s failure to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by us or other lenders could lead to defaults and, potentially, acceleration of the time
when the loans are due and foreclosure on its assets representing collateral for its obligations, which could trigger cross defaults under other agreements and jeopardize the value
of any equity securities we own and the portfolio company’s ability to meet its obligations under any debt that we hold. We may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek
recovery upon default or to negotiate new terms with a defaulting portfolio company.

Defaults by Portfolio Companies. A portfolio company’s failure to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by us or other lenders could lead to defaults and,
potentially, termination of its loans and foreclosure on its assets. This could trigger cross-defaults under other agreements and jeopardize such portfolio company’s ability to
meet its obligations under the loans or debt or equity securities that we hold. We may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon default or to negotiate new
terms, which may include the waiver of certain financial covenants, with a defaulting portfolio company.

Prepayments by Portfolio Companies. We will be subject to the risk that the debt investments we make in portfolio companies may be repaid prior to maturity. The
Adviser expects that our investments will generally allow for repayment at any time subject to certain penalties. When this occurs, the Adviser may reinvest a portion of these
proceeds in temporary investments, pending their future investment in accordance with our investment strategy. These temporary investments will typically have substantially
lower yields than the debt being prepaid, and we could experience significant delays in reinvesting these amounts. Any future investment may also be at lower yields than the
debt that was repaid. As a result, our results of operations could be materially adversely affected if one or more of our portfolio companies elect to prepay amounts owed to us.

Economic Recessions or Downturns. Our portfolio companies may be susceptible to economic downturns or recessions. During these periods the value of our portfolio
may decrease if we are required to write down the values of our investments. Adverse economic conditions may also decrease the value of our equity investments and the value
of collateral securing any debt instruments that we hold. Economic slowdowns or recessions could lead to financial losses in our portfolio and a decrease in revenues, net
income and assets which could harm our operating results. In addition, a prolonged economic downturn or recession could extend our investment time horizon by limiting our
ability to achieve timely liquidity events, such as a sale, merger or initial public offering or the refinancing of our debt investments, and could ultimately impact our ability to
realize anticipated investment returns.
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Risks Related to Non-Controlling Investments. Investments we make will primarily be non-controlling investments, meaning we will not be in a position to control the
management, operation and strategic decision-making of the companies in which we invest. As a result, we will be subject to the risk that a portfolio company we do not
control, or in which we do not have a majority ownership position, may make business decisions with which we disagree, and the equity holders and management of such a
portfolio company may take risks or otherwise act in ways that are adverse to our interests. Due to the lack of liquidity for the debt investments that we will typically hold in our
portfolio companies, we may not be able to dispose of our investments in the event that we disagree with the actions of a portfolio company, and may therefore suffer a decrease
in the value of such portfolio company.

Risks Associated with Bankruptcy Cases. As part of our lending activities, we may originate loans to companies that are experiencing significant financial or business
difficulties, including companies involved in bankruptcy or other reorganization and liquidation proceedings. While we expect that the terms of such financing may result in
significant financial returns to us, it involves a substantial degree of risk. The level of analytical sophistication, both financial and legal, necessary for successful financing to
companies experiencing significant business and financial difficulties is unusually high. There is no assurance that we will correctly evaluate the value of the assets
collateralizing our loans or the prospects for a successful reorganization or similar action. In any reorganization or liquidation proceeding relating to a company that we invest
in, we may lose all or part of the amounts advanced to the portfolio company or may be required to accept collateral with a value less than the amount of the loan advanced by
us to the portfolio company.

Many of the events within a bankruptcy case are adversarial and often beyond the control of the creditors. While creditors generally are afforded an opportunity to object
to significant actions, there can be no assurance that a bankruptcy court would not approve actions that may be contrary to our interests. Furthermore, there are instances where
creditors and equity holders lose their ranking and priority as such if they are considered to have taken over management and functional operation of a debtor.

Generally, the duration of a bankruptcy case can only be roughly estimated. The reorganization of a company usually involves the development and negotiation of a plan
of reorganization, plan approval by the creditors and confirmation by a bankruptcy court. This process can involve substantial legal, professional and administrative costs to the
debtor company and the Company; it is subject to unpredictable and lengthy delays; and during the process our competitive position may erode, key management may depart
and the debtor company may not be able to operate adequately. In some cases, the debtor company may not be able to reorganize and may be required to liquidate assets. The
debt of companies in financial reorganization will, in most cases, not pay current interest, may not accrue interest during reorganization and may be adversely affected by an
erosion of the issuer’s fundamental value. Such investments can result in a total loss of principal. U.S. bankruptcy law permits the classification of “substantially similar” claims
in determining the classification of claims in reorganization for purposes of voting on a plan of reorganization. Because the standard for classification is vague, there exists a
significant risk that our influence with respect to a class of securities can be lost by the inflation of the number and amount of claims in, or other gerrymandering of, the class. In
addition, certain administrative costs and claims that have priority by law over the claims of certain creditors (for example, claims for taxes) may be quite high.

Furthermore, there are instances where creditors and equity holders lose their ranking and priority as such when they take over management and functional operating
control of a debtor. Therefore, depending on the facts and circumstances, including the extent to which we actually provided managerial assistance to a portfolio company or its
representative or the Adviser sat on the board of directors of such portfolio company, a bankruptcy court might re-characterize our debt investment and subordinate all or a
portion of our claim to that of other creditors.

A representative of the Company may serve on creditors’ committees or other groups to ensure preservation or enhancement of our position as a creditor or equity
holder. A member of any such committee or group may owe certain obligations generally to all parties similarly situated that the committee represents. If our representative
concludes that the obligations they owe to other parties as a committee or group member conflict with the duties they owe to us, they will resign from that committee or group,
and we will not realize the benefits, if any, of participating on the committee or group. In addition, and also as discussed above, if we are represented on a committee or group,
we may be restricted or prohibited under applicable law from, disposing of or increasing our investments in such debtor company while we continue to be represented on such
committee or group.
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In addition, lenders can be subject to lender liability claims for actions taken by them where they become too involved in the borrower’s business or exercise control over
the borrower. For example, we could become subject to a lender’s liability claim, if, among other things, we actually render significant managerial assistance.

 ITEM 2. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Maryland on October 15, 2015. We have elected to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act, and intend to elect to be
treated as a regulated investment company for federal income tax purposes. As such, we are required to comply with various regulatory requirements, such as the requirement to
invest at least 70% of our assets in “qualifying assets,” source of income limitations, asset diversification requirements, and the requirement to distribute annually at least 90%
of our taxable income and tax-exempt interest. See “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Regulation as a Business Development Company” and “Item 1(c). Description of
Business — Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences — Taxation as a Regulated Investment Company.” In addition, we will not invest more than 20% of our total assets
in companies whose principal place of business is outside the United States.

Revenues

We plan to generate revenues in the form of interest income from the debt securities we hold and dividends and capital appreciation on either direct equity investments or
equity interests obtained in connection with originating loans, such as options, warrants or conversion rights. The debt we invest in will typically not be rated by any rating
agency, but if it were, it is likely that such debt would be below investment grade. In addition, we may also generate revenue in the form of commitment, loan origination,
structuring or diligence fees, fees for providing managerial assistance to our portfolio companies, and possibly consulting fees. Certain of these fees may be capitalized and
amortized as additional interest income over the life of the related loan.

Expenses

Except as specifically provided below, we anticipate that all investment professionals and staff of the Adviser, when and to the extent engaged in providing investment
advisory and management services to the Company, and the base compensation, bonus and benefits, and the routine overhead expenses, of such personnel allocable to such
services, will be provided and paid for by the Adviser. We will bear our allocable portion of the compensation paid by the Adviser (or its affiliates) to our chief compliance
officer and chief financial officer and their respective staffs (based on a percentage of time such individuals devote, on an estimated basis, to our business affairs). We will bear
all other costs and expenses of our operations, administration and transactions, including, but not limited to (i) investment advisory fees, including management fees and
incentive fees, to the Adviser, pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement; (ii) our allocable portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by the Adviser in performing
its administrative obligations under the Investment Advisory Agreement, and (iii) all other expenses of its operations and transactions including, without limitation, those
relating to:
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 •  the cost of our organization and this offering;
 

 •  the cost of calculating our net asset value, including the cost of any third-party valuation services;
 

 •  the cost of effecting any sales and repurchases of our common stock and other securities;
 

 •  fees and expenses payable under any dealer manager agreements, if any;
 

 •  debt service and other costs of borrowings or other financing arrangements;
 

 •  costs of hedging
 

 •  expenses, including travel expense, incurred by the Adviser, or members of the Investment Team, or payable to third parties, performing due diligence on
prospective portfolio companies and, if necessary, enforcing our rights;

 

 •  transfer agent and custodial fees;
 

 •  fees and expenses associated with marketing efforts;
 

 •  federal and state registration fees, any stock exchange listing fees and fees payable to rating agencies;
 

 •  federal, state and local taxes;
 

 •  independent directors’ fees and expenses including certain travel expenses;
 

 •  costs of preparing financial statements and maintaining books and records and filing reports or other documents with the SEC (or other regulatory bodies) and other
reporting and compliance costs, including registration and listing fees, and the compensation of professionals responsible for the preparation of the foregoing;

 

 •  the costs of any reports, proxy statements or other notices to our shareholders (including printing and mailing costs), the costs of any shareholder or director
meetings and the compensation of investor relations personnel responsible for the preparation of the foregoing and related matters;

 

 •  commissions and other compensation payable to brokers or dealers;
 

 •  research and market data;
 

 •  fidelity bond, directors and officers errors and omissions liability insurance and other insurance premiums;
 

 •  direct costs and expenses of administration, including printing, mailing, long distance telephone and staff;
 

 •  fees and expenses associated with independent audits, outside legal and consulting costs;
 

 •  costs of winding up;
 

 •  costs incurred in connection with the formation or maintenance of entities or vehicles to hold our assets for tax or other purposes;
 

 •  extraordinary expenses (such as litigation or indemnification); and
 

 •  costs associated with reporting and compliance obligations under the 1940 Act and applicable federal and state securities laws.

Hedging

We may, but are not required to, enter into interest rate, foreign exchange or other derivative agreements to hedge interest rate, currency, credit or other risks, but we do
not generally intend to enter into any such derivative agreements for speculative purposes. Any derivative agreements entered into for speculative purposes are not expected to
be material to the Company’s business or results of operations. These hedging activities, which will be in compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, may
include the use of futures, options and forward contracts. We will bear the costs incurred in connection with entering into, administering and settling any such derivative
contracts. There can be no assurance any hedging strategy we employ will be successful.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

        From October 15, 2015 through March 1, 2016 our only equity transaction was the issuance and sale of 100 shares of our common stock to the Adviser, for an aggregate
purchase price of $1,500. During March 2016 we entered into subscription agreements with several investors providing for the private placement of our common stock. On
March 17, 2016 we delivered a drawdown notice to investors relating to the issuance 3,333,344 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $50,000,000.
These shares were issued on March 30, 2016. We expect to generate cash primarily from (i) the net proceeds of the Private Offering, (ii) cash flows from our operations,
(iii) any financing arrangements we may enter into in the future and (iv) any future offerings of our equity or debt securities. We may fund a portion of our investments through
borrowings from banks and issuances of senior securities.
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Our primary uses of cash will be for (i) investments in portfolio companies and other investments to comply with certain portfolio diversification requirements, (ii) the
cost of operations (including paying the Adviser), (iii) debt service of any borrowings and (iv) cash distributions to the holders of our stock.

Contractual Obligations

We have entered into the Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement with our Adviser to provide us with investment advisory services and
administrative services. Payments for investment advisory services under the Investment Advisory Agreements and reimbursements under the Administration Agreement are
described in “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Investment Advisory Agreement,” “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Administration Agreement,” and “Item 1(c).
Description of Business — Payment of Our Expenses under the Investment Advisory and Administration Agreements.”

We intend to establish one or more credit facilities and/or subscription facilities or enter into other financing arrangements to facilitate investments and the timely
payment of our expenses. It is anticipated that any such credit facilities will bear interest at floating rates at to be determined spreads over LIBOR. We cannot assure
shareholders that we will be able to enter into a credit facility on favorable terms or at all. In connection with a credit facility or other borrowings, lenders may require us to
pledge assets, commitments and/or drawdowns (and the ability to enforce the payment thereof) and may ask to comply with positive or negative covenants that could have an
effect on our operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than contractual commitments and other legal contingencies incurred in the normal course of our business, we do not expect to have any off-balance sheet
financings or liabilities.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are subject to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates. We plan to invest primarily in illiquid debt and equity securities of private companies. Most
of our investments will not have a readily available market price, and we will value these investments at fair value as determined in good faith by the Board in accordance with
our valuation policy. There is no single standard for determining fair value in good faith. As a result, determining fair value requires that judgment be applied to the specific
facts and circumstances of each portfolio investment while employing a consistently applied valuation process for the types of investments we make. See “Item 9. Market Price
of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters—Valuation of Portfolio Securities.”

Related Parties

See “Item 7. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence” for a description of certain transactions and relationships with related parties.

 ITEM 3. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located at 245 Park Avenue, 41st floor, New York, New York 10167 and are provided by the Adviser in accordance with the terms of our
Administration Agreement. We believe that our office facilities are suitable and adequate for our business as it is contemplated to be conducted.



 ITEM 4. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 2016, certain ownership information with respect to our common stock for those persons who directly or indirectly own,
control or hold with the power to vote, five percent or more of our outstanding common stock and all officers and directors, as a group.

Percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 3,333,444 shares of common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2016. Unless otherwise indicated, the Company believes
that each beneficial owner set forth in the table has sole voting and investment power over such shares.
 
Name and Address   

Number of
Shares Owned   

Percentage of
class outstanding 

5% Owners     
QSP Athena LP(1)    559,429     16.7828% 
Quantum Strategic Partners Ltd.(2)    86,066     2.5820% 
Brown University(3)    344,264     10.3279% 
MSD Owl Rock Investments, LLC(4)    344,264     10.3279% 
PSPEF Limited(5)    275,411     8.2629% 
Interested Directors     
Douglas I. Ostrover(6)    344,264     10.3279% 
Alan Kirshenbaum    1,377     *  
Independent Directors     
Edward D’Alelio    —     —  
Eric Kaye    —     —  
Christopher M. Temple    —     —  
Executive Officers     
Rebecca Tabb    —     —  
All officers and directors as a group (6 persons)(7)    345,641     10.3279% 
 
* Less than 1%.
 

(1) QSP Athena LP (“QSP Athena”) is a Delaware limited partnership. Soros Fund Management LLC (“SFM LLC”) serves as principal investment manager to QSP Athena.
As such, SFM LLC has been granted investment discretion over portfolio investments, including the common stock of Owl Rock Capital Corporation held for the account
of QSP Athena, but does not have the power to vote (or direct the vote) of such shares. SFM LLC must either (i) vote such shares in the same manner as other shareholders
of Owl Rock Capital Corporation vote their shares or (ii) seek voting instructions from the limited partner(s) of QSP Athena and vote in accordance with such instructions.
George Soros serves as Chairman of SFM LLC and Robert Soros serves as President and Deputy Chairman of SFM LLC. The business address for SFM LLC is 250 West
55th Street, New York, NY 10019. The registered address for QSP Athena is c/o The Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.

(2) Quantum Strategic Partners Ltd. (“QSP”), is a Cayman Islands exempted company. SFM LLC serves as principal investment manager to QSP. As such, SFM LLC has
been granted investment discretion over portfolio investments, including the common stock of Owl Rock Capital Corporation held for the account of QSP. George Soros
serves as Chairman of SFM LLC and Robert Soros serves as President and Deputy Chairman of SFM LLC. The business address of SFM LLC is 250 West 55th Street,
New York, NY 10019. The registered address for QSP is c/o Walkers Corporate Limited, Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital Road, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-9008, Cayman Islands.

(3) Brown University is a Rhode Island corporation whose address is 121 South Main Street, 9th Floor, Providence, Rhode Island 02903.
(4) MSD Private Capital Investments, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, is the sole owner of MSD Owl Rock Investments, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and

may be deemed to have or share voting and dispositive power over, and/or beneficially own, the shares held by MSD Owl Rock Investments, LLC. MSD Capital, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership, is the general partner of MSD Private Capital Investments, L.P. and may be deemed to have or share voting and dispositive power over,
and/or beneficially own, the shares beneficially owned by MSD Private Capital Investments, L.P. MSD Capital Management LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
is the general partner of MSD Capital, L.P. and may be deemed to have or share voting and/or dispositive power over, and beneficially own, the shares beneficially owned
by MSD Capital, L.P. Michael S. Dell is the controlling member of, and may be deemed to beneficially own the shares beneficially owned by, MSD Capital Management
LLC. Each of Glenn R. Fuhrman and Marc R. Lisker is a manager of MSD Capital Management LLC and may be deemed to have or share voting and/or dispositive power
over, and beneficially own, the shares beneficially owned by MSD Capital Management LLC. The address for MSD Owl Rock Investments, LLC is c/o MSD Capital, L.P.,
645 Fifth Avenue, 21st Floor, New York, NY 10022.

(5) PSPEF Limited is a British Virgin Islands company and its registered address is KCS Chambers, PO Box 4051, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands. Each of Blue
Pool Management Ltd. (“BPM”), as investment manager to PSPEF Limited, and Blue Pool Capital Limited (“BPCL”), as investment adviser to BPM, has the power to
vote (or to direct the voting of) and the power to dispose (or to direct the disposition of) the shares of common stock of Owl Rock Capital Corporation held by PSPEF
Limited. BPCL is wholly-owned by BPM, and the shareholders of BPM are Alexander Gustav Lennart West and Oliver Paul Weisberg. The address of each of BPCL,
BPM, Mr. West and Mr. Weisberg is c/o Blue Pool Capital Limited, 3208 Two Exchange Square, Central, Hong Kong.

(6) Includes 258,198 shares held directly by Mr. Ostrover and 86,066 shares held by DIO Family LLC, a Delaware limited liability company controlled by Julia Ostrover, Mr.
Ostrover’s wife.

(7) The address for each of the directors and officers is c/o Owl Rock Capital Corporation, 245 Park Avenue, 41st Floor, New York, New York 10167.
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 ITEM 5. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our business and affairs are managed under the direction of the Board of Directors. The responsibilities of the Board of Directors include, among other things, the
oversight of our investment activities, the quarterly valuation of our assets, oversight of our financing arrangements and corporate governance activities. Our Board of Directors
consists of five members, three of whom will not be “interested persons” of the Company or of the Adviser as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act and are
“independent,” as determined by the Board of Directors. These individuals are referred to as independent directors. Our Board of Directors elects the Company’s executive
officers, who serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Board of Directors and Executive Officers

Directors

Under our charter, the directors are divided into three classes. Directors of each class will hold office for terms ending at the third annual meeting of our shareholders
after their election and when their respective successors are elected and qualify. However, the initial members of the three classes of directors have initial terms ending at the
first, second and third annual meeting of our shareholders after the Initial Closing, respectively. Each director will hold office for the term to which he or she is elected and until
his or her successor is duly elected and qualifies.

Certain shareholders have been given the right to propose for nomination an individual who must qualify as an independent director, to serve on the Board of Directors
and/or to invite a representative to attend meetings of the Board of Directors in a nonvoting observer capacity. Such rights will terminate prior to an Exchange Listing.
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Information regarding the Board of Directors is as follows:
 

Name   
Year of
Birth   Position   

Director
Since   

Expiration of
Term

Interested Director:         
Douglas I. Ostrover   1962   Director, Chief Executive Officer and President   2016   2018
Alan Kirshenbaum

  
1971

  
Director, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer   

2015
  

2019

Independent Directors:         
Edward D’Alelio   1952   Chairman of the Board, Director   2016   2019
Christopher M. Temple   1967   Director   2016   2018
Eric Kaye   1963   Director   2016   2017

The address for each of our directors is c/o Owl Rock Capital Corporation, 245 Park Avenue 41st floor, New York, NY 10167.

Executive Officers
 

Name   Year of Birth    Position
Douglas I. Ostrover   1962     Chief Executive Officer and President
Alan Kirshenbaum   1971     Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Rebecca Tabb   1982     Chief Compliance Officer and Secretary

Biographical Information

Directors

Our directors have been divided into two groups — interested directors and independent directors. An interested director is an “interested person” as defined in
Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act.

Interested Directors

Douglas I. Ostrover

Mr. Ostrover is a co-founder and the Chief Executive Officer of Owl Rock Capital Partners and Co-Chief Investment Officer of Owl Rock Capital Advisors. Prior to founding
Owl Rock, Mr. Ostrover was one of the founders of GSO Capital Partners, Blackstone’s alternative credit platform, and a Senior Managing Director at Blackstone until 2015.
Prior to co-founding GSO in 2005, Mr. Ostrover was a Managing Director and Chairman of the Leveraged Finance Group of CSFB. Prior to his role as Chairman, Mr. Ostrover
was Global Co-Head of CSFB’s Leveraged Finance Group, during which time he was responsible for all of CSFB’s origination, distribution and trading activities relating to
high yield securities, leveraged loans, high yield credit derivatives and distressed securities. Mr. Ostrover was a member of CSFB’s Management Council and the Fixed Income
Operating Committee. Mr. Ostrover joined CSFB in November 2000 when CSFB acquired DLJ, where he was a Managing Director in charge of High Yield and Distressed
Sales, Trading and Research. Mr. Ostrover had been a member of DLJ’s high yield team since he joined the firm in 1992. Mr. Ostrover received a B.A. in Economics from the
University of Pennsylvania and an M.B.A. from New York University’s Stern School of Business. He serves on the Board of Directors of the Michael J. Fox Foundation.

We believe Mr. Ostrover’s depth of experience in corporate finance, capital markets and financial services, will give our Board of Directors valuable industry-specific
knowledge and expertise on these and other matters.

Alan Kirshenbaum

Mr. Kirshenbaum is the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Owl Rock Capital Corporation, Owl Rock Capital Partners and Owl Rock Capital Advisors.
Prior to joining Owl Rock, Mr. Kirshenbaum was Chief Financial Officer of TPG Specialty Lending, Inc., a business development company traded on the NYSE (TSLX).
Mr. Kirshenbaum was responsible for building and overseeing TSLX’s finance, treasury, accounting and operations functions from 2011 through 2015, including during its
initial public offering in March
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2014. From 2011 to 2013, Mr. Kirshenbaum was also Chief Financial Officer of TPG Special Situations Partners. From 2007 to 2011, Mr. Kirshenbaum was the Chief Financial
Officer of Natsource, a private investment firm and, prior to that, Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of MainStay Investments.
Mr. Kirshenbaum joined Bear Stearns Asset Management in 1999 and was BSAM’s Chief Financial Officer from 2003 to 2006. Before joining BSAM, Mr. Kirshenbaum
worked in public accounting at KPMG and J.H. Cohn. Mr. Kirshenbaum received a B.S. from Rutgers University and an M.B.A. from New York University’s Stern School of
Business.

We believe Mr. Kirshenbaum’s finance and operations experience, including serving as chief financial officer for a publicly traded business development company, provides an
important skillset to our Board of Directors.

Independent Directors

Edward D’Alelio

Mr. D’Alelio was formerly a Managing Director and CIO for Fixed Income at Putnam Investments, Boston, where he served from 1989 until he retired in 2002. While at
Putnam, he served on the Investment Policy Committee, which was responsible for oversight of all investments. He also sat on various Committees including attribution and
portfolio performance. Prior to joining Putnam, he was a portfolio manager at Keystone Investments and prior to that, he was an Investment Analyst at The Hartford Ins. Co.
Since 2002, Mr. D’Alelio has served as an Executive in Residence at the University of Mass., Boston—School of Management. He is also chair of the investment committee of
the UMass Foundation and chair of the UMass Memorial Hospital investment committee and serves on its corporate board. He serves on the Advisory Committees of Ceres
Farms and New Generation Investments. Since May 2007, Mr. D’Alelio has served as corporate director of Engauge Inc. and since September 2009 he has served as director of
Vermont Farmstead Cheese. Since January 2008 he has served on the board of Blackstone/GSO Long Short Credit Fund & Blackstone/GSO Sen. Flt Rate Fund. Since
December 2008 he has served on the board of Carador PLC, a Dublin based offshore closed end fund. Mr. D’Alelio’s previous corporate board assignments include Archibald
Candy, Doane Pet Care and Trump Entertainment Resorts. Mr. D’Alelio is a graduate of the Univ. of Mass Boston (1974) and has an MBA from Boston University (1977).

We believe Mr. D’Alelio’s numerous management positions and broad experiences in the financial services sector provide him with skills and valuable insight in handling
complex financial transactions and issues, all of which make him well qualified to serve on our Board of Directors.

Christopher M. Temple

Mr. Temple has served as President of DelTex Capital LLC (a private investment firm) since its founding in 2010. Mr. Temple has served as an Operating Executive for
Tailwind Capital, LLC, a New York based middle market private equity firm, since June 2011 and Chairman of Brawler Industries, LLC, a Houston, Texas based distributor of
engineered plastics used in the energy, industrial and agriculture end markets since September 2012. Mr. Temple has also served on the board of NHME, Inc, a medical
equipment rental company, since July 2015. Prior to forming DelTex Capital, Mr. Temple served as President of Vulcan Capital, the private investment group of Vulcan Inc.,
from May 2009 until December 2009 and as Vice President of Vulcan Capital from September 2008 to May 2009. Mr. Temple has served on the board of directors and audit
committee of Plains All American Pipeline Company since 2009 and on the board of directors and audit committee of Clear Channel Outdoor Holdings since April 2011. Mr.
Temple has also previously served on the board of directors and audit committee of Charter Communications Inc. from November 2009 through January 2011. Prior to joining
Vulcan in September 2008, Mr. Temple served as a managing director at Tailwind Capital, LLC from May to August 2008. Prior to joining Tailwind, Mr. Temple was a
managing director at Friend Skoler & Co., Inc. from May 2005 to May 2008. From April 1996 to December 2004, Mr. Temple was a managing director at Thayer Capital
Partners. Additionally, Mr. Temple was a licensed CPA with KPMG in Houston, Texas from 1989 to 1993. Mr. Temple holds a BBA, magna cum laude, from the University of
Texas and an MBA from Harvard.

We believe Mr. Temple’s broad investment management background, together with his financial and accounting knowledge, will bring important and valuable skills to our
Board of Directors.

Eric Kaye

Mr. Kaye is the founder of ARQ^EX Fitness Systems, a fitness equipment design company. Prior to founding ARQ^EX, Mr. Kaye served as a Vice Chairman and Managing
Director of UBS Investment Bank, and a member of the division’s Global Operating and U.S. Executive Committees, from June 2001 to May 2012. For the majority of
Mr. Kaye’s tenure with UBS, he was a Managing Director and led the firm’s Exclusive Sales and Divestitures Group, where he focused on advising middle-market companies.
Prior to joining UBS, Mr. Kaye has served as Global Co-Head of Mergers & Acquisitions for Robertson Stephens, an investment banking firm, from February 1998 to June
2001. Mr. Kaye joined Robertson Stephens from PaineWebber where he served as Executive Director and head of the firm’s Technology Mergers & Acquisitions team. Since
May 2012, Mr. Kaye has served as Chairman of the Greenwich Education Group’s School Foundation. Mr. Kaye holds a BA from Union College and an MBA from Columbia
Business School.

We believe Mr. Kaye’s management positions and experiences in the middle markets will provide our Board of Directors with valuable insight.
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Executive Officers Who Are Not Directors

Rebecca Tabb

Ms. Tabb is a Principal of Owl Rock Capital Partners and serves as the Chief Compliance Officer of Owl Rock Capital Corporation and Owl Rock Capital Advisors. Ms. Tabb
joined Owl Rock in February 2016. Prior to joining Owl Rock, Ms. Tabb was an associate at Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP in New York, which she joined in
September 2009. Ms. Tabb received a J.D. from Stanford Law School, Order of the Coif, where she was named the Nathan Abbott Scholar for graduating first in her law school
class. She also received a M.Sc. in Economics, with distinction, from University College London and a B.A. in Economics, with honors and distinction, Phi Beta Kappa, from
Stanford University.

Leadership Structure and Oversight Responsibilities

Overall responsibility for our oversight rests with the Board of Directors. We have entered into the Investment Advisory Agreement pursuant to which the Adviser will
manage the Company on a day-to-day basis. The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Adviser and other service providers in our operations in accordance with
the provisions of the 1940 Act, applicable provisions of state and other laws and our charter. The Board of Directors is currently composed of five members, three of whom are
directors who are not “interested persons” of the Company or the Adviser as defined in the 1940 Act. The Board of Directors meets in person at regularly scheduled quarterly
meetings each year. In addition, the Board of Directors may hold special in-person or telephonic meetings or informal conference calls to discuss specific matters that may arise
or require action between regular meetings. As described below, the Board of Directors has established a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and an Audit
Committee, and may establish ad hoc committees or working groups from time to time, to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities.

The Board of Directors has appointed Edward D’Alelio, an independent director, to serve in the role of Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman’s role is to
preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and to act as a liaison with the Adviser, counsel and other directors generally between meetings. The Chairman serves as a key
point person for dealings between management and the directors. The Chairman also may perform such other functions as may be delegated by the Board of Directors from
time to time. The Board of Directors reviews matters related to its leadership structure annually. The Board of Directors has determined that the Board of Directors’ leadership
structure is appropriate because it allows the Board of Directors to exercise informed and independent judgment over the matters under its purview and it allocates areas of
responsibility among committees of directors and the full Board in a manner that enhances effective oversight.

We are subject to a number of risks, including investment, compliance, operational and valuation risks, among others. Risk oversight forms part of the Board of
Directors’ general oversight of the Company and is addressed as part of various Board and committee activities. Day-to-day risk management functions are subsumed within the
responsibilities of the Adviser and other service providers (depending on the nature of the risk), which carry out our investment management and business affairs. The Adviser
and other service providers employ a variety of processes, procedures and controls to identify various events or circumstances that give rise to risks, to lessen the probability of
their occurrence and to mitigate the effects of such events or circumstances if they do occur. Each of the Adviser and other service providers has their own independent interest
in risk management, and their policies and methods of risk management will depend on their functions and business models. The Board of Directors recognizes that it is not
possible to identify all of the risks that may affect the Company or to develop processes and controls to eliminate or mitigate their occurrence or effects. As part of its regular
oversight of the Company, the Board of Directors interacts with and reviews reports from, among others, the Adviser, our chief compliance officer, our independent registered
public accounting firm and counsel, as appropriate, regarding risks faced by the Company and applicable risk controls. The Board of Directors may, at any time and in its
discretion, change the manner in which it conducts risk oversight.
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Committees

The Board of Directors has an Audit Committee and a Nominating Committee and may form additional committees in the future.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is currently composed of Edward D’Alelio, Eric Kaye and Christopher M. Temple, each of whom is not considered an “interested person” of the
Company as that term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Mr. Temple serves as Chair of the Audit Committee. Our Board of Directors has determined that
Mr. Temple is an “audit committee financial expert” as that term is defined under Item 407 of Regulation S-K, as promulgated under the 1934 Act. Messrs. D’Alelio, Kaye and
Temple meet the current independence and experience requirements of Rule 10A-3 of the 1934 Act.

In accordance with its written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee (a) assists the Board’s oversight of the integrity of our financial
statements, the independent registered public accounting firm’s qualifications and independence, our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the performance of
our independent registered public accounting firm; (b) prepares an Audit Committee report, if required by the SEC, to be included in our annual proxy statement; (c) oversees
the scope of the annual audit of our financial statements, the quality and objectivity of our financial statements, accounting and financial reporting policies and internal controls;
(d) determines the selection, appointment, retention and termination of our independent registered public accounting firm, as well as approving the compensation thereof;
(e) pre-approves all audit and non-audit services provided to us and certain other persons by such independent registered public accounting firm; and (f) acts as a liaison
between our independent registered public accounting firm and the Board of Directors.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Nominating Committee”) are Edward D’Alelio, Eric Kaye and Christopher M. Temple,
each of whom is not considered an “interested person” of the Company as that term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act. Mr. D’Alelio serves as Chair of the
Nominating Committee.

In accordance with its written charter adopted by the Board of Directors, the Nominating Committee recommends to the Board persons to be nominated by the Board for
election at the Company’s meetings of our shareholders, special or annual, if any, or to fill any vacancy on the Board of Directors that may arise between shareholder meetings.
The Nominating Committee also makes recommendations with regard to the tenure of the directors and is responsible for overseeing an annual evaluation of the Board of
Directors and its committee structure to determine whether the structure is operating effectively. The Nominating Committee will consider for nomination to the Board of
Directors candidates submitted by our shareholders or from other sources it deems appropriate.

Compensation Committee

The Board does not currently intend to delegate any authority to a compensation committee because our executive officers will not receive any direct compensation from
us.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors. The indemnification agreements are intended to provide our directors the maximum indemnification
permitted under Maryland law and the 1940 Act. Each indemnification agreement provides that we will indemnify the director who is a party to the agreement including the
advancement of legal expenses, if, by reason of his or her corporate status, the director is, or is threatened to be, made a party to or a witness in any threatened, pending, or
completed proceeding, other than a proceeding by or in the right of the Company.
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Portfolio Management

The management of our investment portfolio is the responsibility of the Adviser and the Investment Team, including the Investment Committee. We consider these
individuals to be its portfolio managers. The Investment Team sources investment opportunities, conducts research, performs due diligence on potential investments, structures
our investments and will monitor our portfolio companies on an ongoing basis. The Investment Committee meets regularly to consider our investments, direct our strategic
initiatives and supervise the actions taken by the Adviser on our behalf. In addition, the Investment Committee reviews and determines whether to make prospective investments
and monitors the performance of the investment portfolio. Each investment opportunity requires the unanimous approval of the Investment Committee. Follow-on investments
in existing portfolio companies may require the Investment Committee’s approval beyond that obtained when the initial investment in the company was made. In addition,
temporary investments, such as those in cash equivalents, U.S. government securities and other high quality debt investments that mature in one year or less, may require
approval by the Investment Committee. Their compensation package from the Adviser includes some combination of fixed draw and variable incentive compensation based
primarily on performance for services provided.

None of the Adviser’s investment professionals receive any direct compensation from the Company in connection with the management of our portfolio. The members
of the Investment Committee, through their financial interests in the Adviser, are entitled to a portion of the profits earned by the Adviser, which includes any fees payable to
the Adviser under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, less expenses incurred by the Adviser in performing its services under the Investment Advisory Agreement.

The Adviser

Owl Rock Capital Advisors will serve as the Company’s investment adviser. The Adviser is registered with the SEC as an investment adviser under the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940. The Adviser is an indirect subsidiary of Owl Rock Capital Partners. Owl Rock Capital Partners is led by Douglas I. Ostrover, its Chief Executive Officer
and Marc Lipschultz, its President. The Adviser has no operating history. Subject to the overall supervision of the Board of Directors, the Adviser manages the day-to-
day operations of, and provides investment advisory and management services to, the Company.

Investment Team and Investment Committee

All investment decisions require the unanimous approval of the Investment Committee. The Investment Committee is currently comprised of Douglas I. Ostrover, Marc
S. Lipschultz and Alexis Maged and the Adviser intends to appoint one additional senior investment professional to the Investment Committee. The Board of Directors,
including a majority of independent directors, oversees and monitors the investment performance and, beginning with the second anniversary of the effective date of the
Investment Advisory Agreement, will annually review the compensation the Company pays to the Adviser to determine that the provisions of the Investment Advisory
Agreement are carried out. See “Description of Business — Investment Advisory Agreement” for more information, including information regarding the termination provisions
of the Investment Advisory Agreement.

Information regarding the Investment Team, including the Investment Committee is as follows:
 

Name   Year of Birth
Investment Committee   
Douglas I. Ostrover   1962
Marc S. Lipschultz   1969
Alexis Maged   1965
Investment Team   
Nicole Drapkin   1984
Greg Boxer   1985
Matt Tier   1985

Biographical information regarding members of the Investment Team, including the Investment Committee, who are not directors or executive officers of the Company
is as follows:

Marc S. Lipschultz

Mr. Lipschultz is a co-founder and the President of Owl Rock Capital Partners and Co-Chief Investment Officer of Owl Rock Capital Advisors. Prior to founding Owl Rock,
Mr. Lipschultz spent more than two decades at KKR, and
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he served on the firm’s Management Committee and as the Global Head of Energy and Infrastructure. Mr. Lipschultz has a wide range of experience in alternative investments,
including leadership roles in private equity, infrastructure and direct-asset investing. Prior to joining KKR, Mr. Lipschultz was with Goldman, Sachs & Co., where he focused
on mergers and acquisitions and principal investment activities. He received an A.B. with honors and distinction, Phi Beta Kappa, from Stanford University and an M.B.A. with
high distinction, Baker Scholar, from Harvard Business School. Mr. Lipschultz is actively involved in a variety of non-profit organizations, serving as a trustee or board
member of the American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research, Michael J. Fox Foundation, Mount Sinai Health System, Riverdale Country School and as the
President of the Board of Directors of the 92nd Street Y.

Alexis Maged

Mr. Maged is a Managing Director of Owl Rock Capital Partners, and serves as the Head of Underwriting and Portfolio Management for Owl Rock Capital Advisors. Prior to
joining Owl Rock in January 2016, Mr. Maged was Chief Financial Officer of Barkbox, Inc., a New York-based provider of pet-themed products and technology, from
September 2014 through September 2015. Prior to that, he was a Managing Director with Goldman Sachs & Co. from July 2007 through September 2014. At Goldman,
Mr. Maged held several leadership positions, including Chief Operating Officer of the investment bank’s global credit finance businesses, co-chair of the Credit Markets Capital
Committee and a member of the Firmwide Capital Committee. Prior to assuming that role in 2011, Mr. Maged served as Chief Underwriting Officer for the Americas and
oversaw the US Bank Debt Portfolio Group and US Loan Negotiation Group. From mid-2007 to the end of 2008, Mr. Maged was head of Bridge Finance Capital Markets in the
Americas Financing Group’s Leveraged Finance Group, where he coordinated the firm’s high yield bridge lending and syndication business. Prior to joining Goldman,
Mr. Maged was head of the Bridge Finance Group at Credit Suisse and also worked in the Loan Capital Markets Group at Donaldson, Lufkin and Jenrette. Upon DLJ’s merger
with Credit Suisse in 2000, Mr. Maged joined Credit Suisse’s Syndicated Loan Group and, in 2003, founded its Bridge Finance Group. Earlier in his career, Mr. Maged was a
member of the West Coast Sponsor Coverage Group at Citigroup and the Derivatives Group at Republic National Bank, as well as a founding member of the Loan Syndication
Group at Swiss Bank Corporation. Mr. Maged received a B.A. from Vassar College and an M.B.A. from New York University.

Nicole Drapkin

Ms. Drapkin is a Principal of Owl Rock Capital Partners and serves as a member of Owl Rock Capital Advisors’ Originations team. Prior to joining Owl Rock in January 2016,
Ms. Drapkin was a Principal in the Principal Credit Investments group at the CPP Investment Board from 2013 to 2015, where she focused on sourcing and evaluating credit
investments across the gaming, consumer retail, software and healthcare sectors. Prior to that, Ms. Drapkin was a Vice President in the Leveraged Finance Group at Goldman
Sachs & Co. in New York from 2006 to 2013. Ms. Drapkin received a B.A., with Honors, from Princeton University in 2006.

Greg Boxer

Mr. Boxer is a Principal of Owl Rock Capital Partners and serves as a member of Owl Rock Capital Advisors’ Originations team. Prior to joining Owl Rock in March 2016,
Mr. Boxer was the Director of Finance and Capital Markets for American Energy Partners from 2014 to 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Boxer was a Vice President in the Leveraged
Finance Group at Goldman, Sachs & Co. in New York from 2007 to 2014. Mr. Boxer received a B.S. from Babson College.

Matt Tier

Mr. Tier is a Vice President of Owl Rock Capital Partners. Prior to joining Owl Rock in March 2016, Mr. Tier spent nearly five years at Fifth Street Asset Management, most
recently as a Vice President, where he served as a senior credit underwriter and was responsible for structuring, underwriting, documenting and managing middle-market
sponsor transactions across a variety of industries. Prior to that, Mr. Tier began his career in the U.S. Corporate Banking group at Wells Fargo in New York, where he
underwrote syndicated loans to support investment-grade, Fortune 1000 companies and managed a portfolio of existing borrowers. Mr. Tier earned his B.A. in Economics with
a minor in History at New York University.

 ITEM 6. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation of Executive Officers

We do not currently have any employees and do not expect to have any employees. Services necessary for our business are provided by individuals who are employees
of the Adviser or its affiliates, pursuant to the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement, as applicable. Our day-to-day investment and
administrative operations are managed by the Adviser. Most of the services necessary for the origination and administration of our investment portfolio will be provided by
investment professionals employed by the Adviser or its affiliates.



None of our executive officers will receive direct compensation from us. We will reimburse the Adviser the allocable portion of the compensation paid by the Adviser (or
its affiliates) to our chief compliance officer and chief financial officer and their respective staffs (based on the percentage of time such individuals devote, on an estimated
basis, to our business and affairs). The members of the Investment Committee, through their financial interests in the Adviser, are entitled to a portion of the profits earned by
the Adviser, which includes any fees payable to the Adviser under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, less expenses incurred by the Adviser in performing its
services under the Investment Advisory Agreement. See “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Investment Advisory Agreement” and “Item 7. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions, and Director Independence.”
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Compensation of Directors

No compensation is expected to be paid to our directors who are “interested persons,” as such term is defined in Section 2(a) (19) of the 1940 Act. We will pay each
independent director the following amounts for serving as a director: (i) $75,000 ($100,000 after an Exchange Listing) per year, (ii) $2,500 for each meeting of the Board of
Directors attended, (iii) $1,000 for each committee meeting of the Company attended, (iv) an additional fee of $10,000 ($15,000 after an Exchange Listing) for the chairman of
the Board of Directors, (v) an additional fee of $5,000 ($7,500 after an Exchange Listing) per year for the chairman of the Audit Committee and (vi) an additional fee of $2,500
($5,000 after an Exchange Listing) per year for the chairman of any other committee of the Board of Directors. We are also authorized to pay the reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses of each independent director incurred by such director in connection with the fulfillment of his or her duties as an independent director.

 ITEM 7. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons

Investment Advisory Agreement; Administration Agreement

We have entered into the Investment Advisory Agreement with the Adviser pursuant to which we will pay management fees and incentive fees to the Adviser. In
addition, pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement, we will reimburse the Adviser for certain expenses as they occur. See “Item 1(c).
Description of Business — Investment Advisory Agreement,” “Item 1(c). Description of Business — Administration Agreement,” and “Item 1(c). Description of Business —
Payment of Our Expenses under the Investment Advisory and Administration Agreements.” The Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement have been
approved by the Board of Directors. Unless earlier terminated, the Investment Advisory Agreement will remain in effect for a period of two years from the date it first becomes
effective and will remain in effect from year-to-year thereafter if approved annually by a majority of the Board of Directors, including a majority of independent directors, or by
the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities.

License Agreement

We have entered into the License Agreement with Owl Rock Capital Partners, pursuant to which Owl Rock Capital Partners has granted us a non-exclusive license to
use the name “Owl Rock.” Under the License Agreement, we have a right to use the Owl Rock name for so long as the Adviser or one of its affiliates remains our investment
adviser. Other than with respect to this limited license, we have no legal right to the “Owl Rock” name or logo.

Relationship with the Adviser and Potential Conflicts of Interest

We, the Adviser and our respective direct or indirect members, partners, officers, directors, employees, agents and affiliates may be subject to certain potential conflicts
of interest in connection with our activities and investments. For example, the terms of the Adviser’s management and incentive fees may create an incentive for the Adviser to
approve and cause us to make more speculative investments than we would otherwise make in the absence of such fee structure. In addition, certain members of the Investment
Team serve, or may serve, as officers, directors, members, or principals of entities that operate in the same or a related line of business as we do, or of investment funds,
accounts, or investment vehicles managed by the Adviser. Similarly, the Adviser may have other clients with similar, different or competing investment objectives. In serving in
these multiple capacities, they may have obligations to other clients or investors in those entities, the fulfillment of which may not be in the best interests of the Company or our
shareholders. In addition, prior to an Exchange Listing and in accordance with its obligations under the 1940 Act, the Adviser has agreed to allow certain shareholders the
opportunity to participate in certain investment opportunities that the we may also participate in.
 

57



Table of Contents

The Adviser and its affiliates have procedures and policies in place designed to manage the potential conflicts of interest between its fiduciary obligations to us and its
similar fiduciary obligations to other clients. An investment opportunity that is suitable for multiple clients of the Adviser and its affiliates may not be capable of being shared
among some or all of such clients and affiliates due to the limited scale of the opportunity or other factors, including regulatory restrictions imposed by the 1940 Act. There can
be no assurance that the Adviser’s or its affiliates’ efforts to allocate any particular investment opportunity fairly among all clients for whom such opportunity is appropriate will
result in an allocation of all or part of such opportunity to us. Not all conflicts of interest can be expected to be resolved in our favor.

The principals of the Adviser may manage investment vehicles with similar or overlapping investment strategies. In order to address these issues, the Adviser has put in
place an investment allocation policy that addresses the co-investment restrictions set forth under the 1940 Act and seeks to ensure the equitable allocation of investment
opportunities when we are able to co-invest with other accounts managed by the Adviser and affiliated entities. In the absence of receiving exemptive relief from the SEC that
would permit greater flexibility relating to co-investments, the Adviser will apply the investment allocation policy. When we engage in such permitted co-investments, we will
do so in a manner consistent with the Adviser’s allocation policy. In situations where co-investment with other entities managed by the Adviser or its affiliates is not permitted
or appropriate, such as when there is an opportunity to invest in different securities of the same issuer, the Adviser will need to decide whether we or such other entity or entities
will proceed with the investment. The Adviser will make these determinations based on its policies and procedures, which generally require that such opportunities be offered to
eligible accounts in a manner that will be fair and equitable over time.

Co-Investment Opportunities

As a BDC, we are subject to certain regulatory restrictions in negotiating certain investments with entities with which we may be restricted from doing so under the 1940
Act, such as the Adviser and its affiliates, unless we obtain an exemptive order from the SEC. We, the Adviser and certain of its affiliates have submitted an exemptive
application to the SEC to permit us to co-invest with other funds managed by the Adviser or its affiliates in a manner consistent with our investment objective, positions,
policies, strategies and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements and other pertinent factors. There can be no assurance that this exemptive order will be granted. If such
relief is granted, then we will be permitted to co-invest with our affiliates if a “required majority” (as defined in Section 57(o) of the 1940 Act) of our independent directors
make certain conclusions in connection with a co-investment transaction, including that (1) the terms of the transactions, including the consideration to be paid, are reasonable
and fair to us and our shareholders and do not involve overreaching by us or our shareholders on the part of any person concerned and (2) the transaction is consistent with the
interests of our shareholders and is consistent with our investment objective and strategies.

Certain Business Relationships

Certain of our current directors and officers are directors or officers of the Adviser.

Indebtedness of Management

None.

Promoters and Certain Control Persons

The Adviser may be deemed a promoter of the Company. We have entered into the Investment Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement with the
Adviser. The Adviser, for its services to us, will be entitled to receive management fees and incentive fees in addition to the reimbursement of certain expenses. In addition,
under the Investment Advisory Agreement, we expect, to the extent permitted by applicable law and in the discretion of our Board of Directors, to indemnify the Adviser and
certain of its affiliates. See “Item 1 (c). Description of Business—General.”
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 ITEM 8. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Neither we nor the Adviser are currently subject to any material legal proceedings, nor, to our knowledge, are any material legal proceeding threatened against us or the
Adviser. From time to time, we or the Adviser may be a party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings relating to the enforcement
of our rights under contracts with our portfolio companies. Our business is also subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against us. While the
outcome of these legal or regulatory proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect that these proceedings will have a material effect upon our financial
condition or results of operations.

 ITEM 9. MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information

Until the completion of an Exchange Listing, our outstanding common stock will be offered and sold in transactions exempt from registration under the 1933 Act under
Section 4(2) and Regulation D. See “Item 10. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities” for more information. There is no public market for our common stock currently, nor can
we give any assurance that one will develop.

Because shares of our common stock are being acquired by investors in one or more transactions “not involving a public offering,” they are “restricted securities” and
may be required to be held indefinitely. Our common shares may not be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise disposed of unless (i) our consent is granted, and
(ii) the common shares are registered under applicable securities laws or specifically exempted from registration (in which case the stockholder may, at our option, be required
to provide us with a legal opinion, in form and substance satisfactory to us, that registration is not required). Accordingly, an investor must be willing to bear the economic risk
of investment in the common shares until we are liquidated. No sale, transfer, assignment, pledge or other disposition, whether voluntary or involuntary, of the common shares
may be made except by registration of the transfer on our books. Each transferee will be required to execute an instrument agreeing to be bound by these restrictions and the
other restrictions imposed on the common shares and to execute such other instruments or certifications as are reasonably required by us.

Holders

Please see “Item 4. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” for disclosure regarding the holders of our common stock.

Valuation of Portfolio Securities

Investments for which market quotations are readily available will typically be valued at those market quotations. To validate market quotations, we will utilize a number
of factors to determine if the quotations are representative of fair value, including the source and number of the quotations. Debt and equity securities that are not publicly
traded or whose market prices are not readily available, as is expected to be the case for substantially all of our investments, will be valued at fair value as determined in good
faith by the Board of Directors, based on, among other things, the input of the Adviser, the Audit Committee and independent third-party valuation firm(s) engaged at the
direction of the Board of Directors to review our investments.

The Board of Directors will undertake a multi-step valuation process, which includes, among other procedures, the following:
 

 •  With respect to investments for which market quotations are readily available, those investments will typically be valued at those market quotations;
 

 •  With respect to investments for which market quotations are not readily available, the valuation process begins with the independent valuation firm(s) providing a
preliminary valuation of each portfolio company or investment to the Adviser’s valuation committee;
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 •  Preliminary valuation conclusions will then be documented and discussed with management of the Adviser. Agreed upon valuation recommendations will be
presented to the Audit Committee;

 

 •  The Audit Committee will review the valuations presented and recommend values for each investment to the Board of Directors; and
 

 
•  The Board of Directors will review the recommended valuations and determine the fair value of each investment; valuations that are not based on readily available

market quotations will be valued in good faith based on, among other things, the input of the Adviser, the Audit Committee and, where applicable, other third
parties.

Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available market value, the fair value of our investments may
fluctuate from period to period. Additionally, the fair value of such investments may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market existed
for such investments and may differ materially from the values that may ultimately be realized. Further, such investments are generally less liquid than publicly traded
securities and may be subject to contractual and other restrictions on resale. If we were required to liquidate a portfolio investment in a forced or liquidation sale, we could
realize amounts that are different from the amounts presented and such differences could be material.

In addition, changes in the market environment and other events that may occur over the life of the investments may cause the gains or losses ultimately realized on these
investments to be different than the unrealized gains or losses reflected in our financial statements.

Distribution Policy

We generally intend to distribute, out of assets legally available for distribution, substantially all of our available earnings, on a quarterly basis, as determined by the
Board of Directors in its discretion.

We will reinvest dividends on behalf of our shareholders that do not elect to receive their dividends in cash. A shareholder may elect to receive its entire dividend in cash
by notifying the Adviser in writing no later than ten days prior to the record date for dividends to our shareholders. See “Item 1(c). Description of Business—Dividend
Reinvestment Plan.”

Reports to Shareholders

We will furnish our shareholders with annual reports containing audited financial statements, quarterly reports, and such other periodic reports as we determine to be
appropriate or as may be required by law. Upon the effectiveness of this Registration Statement, we will be required to comply with all periodic reporting, proxy solicitation and
other applicable requirements under the 1934 Act.

Following a Non-Listed Offering, within 60 days after each calendar quarter, we will distribute our quarterly report on Form 10-Q to all of our shareholders of record. In
addition, following a Non-Listed Offering, we will distribute our annual report on Form 10-K to all of our shareholders within 120 days after the end of each calendar year,
which must contain, among other things, a breakdown of the expenses reimbursed by us to the Adviser.

 ITEM 10. RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

In conjunction with our formation, we issued and sold 100 shares of our common stock to the Adviser, for an aggregate purchase price of $1,500. These shares were
issued and sold in reliance upon the available exemptions from registration requirements of Section 4(2) of the 1933 Act.

During March 2016, we entered into subscription agreements with several investors providing for the private placement of our common stock. On March 17, 2016 we
delivered a drawdown notice to investors relating to the issuance 3,333,344 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $50,000,000. These shares were
issued and sold on March 30, 2016 in reliance upon the available exemption from registration requirements of the 1933 Act under Section 4(2) and Regulation D.
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 ITEM 11. DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED

The following description is based on relevant portions of the Maryland General Corporation Law and on our charter and bylaws. This summary possesses the
provisions deemed to be material, but is not necessarily complete. Following a Non-Listed Offering, we will be required to comply with the Omnibus Guidelines. If we complete
a Non-Listed Offering, certain provisions of our charter described herein will come into effect. We do not currently anticipate making a Non-Listed Offering; however, the
Board of Directors, taking into account market conditions and other factors, may determine to do so in the future.

General

Under the terms of our charter, our authorized stock consists solely of 500 million shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and no shares of preferred stock,
par value $0.01 per share. As permitted by the MGCL, our charter provides that a majority of the entire Board of Directors, without any action by our shareholders, may amend
our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we have authority to
issue. Our charter also provides that the Board of Directors may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock into one or more classes or series of our
common stock or Preferred Stock by setting or changing the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, or limitations as to dividends, qualifications, or
terms or conditions of redemption of the shares. There is currently no market for our stock, and we can offer no assurances that a market for our stock will develop in the future.
We do not currently intend for our shares to be listed on any national securities exchange, although it is possible that they would be listed in the future. There are no outstanding
options or warrants to purchase our stock. No stock has been authorized for issuance under any equity compensation plans. Under Maryland law, our shareholders generally are
not personally liable for our debts, except as they may be liable by reason of their own conduct or acts. Unless the Board of Directors determines otherwise, we will issue all
shares of its stock in uncertificated form.

None of our shares of common stock are subject to further calls or to assessments, sinking fund provisions, obligations of the Company or potential liabilities associated
with ownership of the security (not including investment risks).

The following are our outstanding classes of securities as of March 31, 2016:
 

        (1)
Title of Class   

(2)
Amount

Authorized   

(3)
Amount Held

by
Us or for

Our Account    

(4)
Amount

Outstanding
Exclusive of

Amounts Shown
Under(3)

Common stock   500,000,000   —     3,333,444

Common Stock

Under the terms of our charter, all shares of our common stock have equal rights as to dividends, distributions and voting and, when they are issued, will be duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Dividends and distributions may be paid to our shareholders if, as and when authorized by the Board of Directors and
declared by the Company out of funds legally available therefor. Shares of our common stock have no preemptive, exchange, conversion or redemption rights and our
shareholders generally have no appraisal rights. Shares of our common stock are freely transferable, except where their transfer is restricted by federal and state securities laws
or by contract and except that, in order to avoid the possibility that our assets could be treated as “plan assets,” we may require any person proposing to acquire shares of our
common stock to furnish such information as may be necessary to determine whether such person is a Benefit Plan Investor (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA and
certain Department of Labor regulations) or a controlling person, restrict or prohibit transfers of shares of such stock or redeem any outstanding shares of stock for such price
and on such other terms and conditions as may be determined by or at the direction of the Board of Directors. In the event of our liquidation,
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dissolution or winding up, each share of our common stock would be entitled to share ratably in all of our assets that are legally available for distribution after we pay or
otherwise provide for all debts and other liabilities and subject to any preferential rights of holders of our preferred stock, if any preferred stock is outstanding at such time.
Subject to the rights of holders of any other class or series of stock, each share of our common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of our
shareholders, including the election of directors, and our shareholders will possess the exclusive voting power. There will be no cumulative voting in the election of directors.
Cumulative voting entitles a shareholder to as many votes as equals the number of votes which such holder would be entitled to cast for the election of directors multiplied by
the number of directors to be elected and allows a shareholder to cast a portion or all of the shareholder’s votes for one or more candidates for seats on the Board of Directors.
Without cumulative voting, a minority shareholder may not be able to elect as many directors as the shareholder would be able to elect if cumulative voting were permitted.
Subject to the special rights of the holders of any class or series of preferred stock to elect directors, each director will be elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to
such director’s election, except in the case of a “contested election” (as defined in our bylaws), in which directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast in the contested
election of directors.

Preferred Stock

Under the terms of our charter, the Board of Directors may authorize us to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more classes or series, without shareholder approval,
to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act. The Board of Directors has the power to fix the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to
dividends and other distributions, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption of each class or series of preferred stock. We do not currently anticipate issuing
preferred stock in the near future. In the event we issue preferred stock, we will make any required disclosure to our shareholders. We will not offer preferred stock to the
Adviser or our affiliates except on the same terms as offered to all other shareholders.

Preferred stock could be issued with terms that would adversely affect our shareholders. Preferred stock could also be used as an anti-takeover device through the
issuance of shares of a class or series of preferred stock with terms and conditions which could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in
control. Every issuance of preferred stock will be required to comply with the requirements of the 1940 Act. The 1940 Act requires, among other things, that: (1) immediately
after issuance and before any dividend or other distribution is made with respect to our common stock and before any purchase of our common stock is made, such preferred
stock together with all other senior securities must not exceed an amount equal to 50% of our total assets after deducting the amount of such dividend, distribution or purchase
price, as the case may be, and (2) the holders of shares of preferred stock, if any are issued, must be entitled as a class voting separately to elect two directors at all times and to
elect a majority of the directors if distributions on such preferred stock are in arrears by two full years or more. Certain matters under the 1940 Act require the affirmative vote
of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of preferred stock (as determined in accordance with the 1940 Act) voting together as a separate class. For
example, the vote of such holders of preferred stock would be required to approve a proposal involving a plan of reorganization adversely affecting such securities.

The issuance of any preferred stock must be approved by a majority of the independent directors not otherwise interested in the transaction, who will have access, at our
expense, to our legal counsel or to independent legal counsel.

Limitation on Liability of Directors; Indemnification and Advance of Expenses

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision eliminating the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation and its
shareholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (a) actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or (b) active and deliberate
dishonesty that is established by a final judgment and is material to the cause of action. Our charter contains a provision that eliminates directors’ and officers’ liability, subject
to the limitations of Maryland law and the requirements of the 1940 Act.

Maryland law requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer who has been successful in the
defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made or threatened to be made a party by reason of his or her service in that capacity against reasonable expenses actually
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incurred in the proceeding in which the director or officer was successful. Maryland law permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among
others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made or
threatened to be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that (1) the act or omission of the director or officer was material to
the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (a) was committed in bad faith or (b) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty; (2) the director or officer actually received
an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or (3) in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or
omission was unlawful. Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation also may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or on behalf of the corporation or for a
judgment of liability on the basis that a personal benefit was improperly received, unless in either case a court orders indemnification, and then only for expenses. In addition,
Maryland law permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the corporation’s receipt of (a) a written affirmation by the director or officer
of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the corporation and (b) a written undertaking by him or her or on
his or her behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the standard of conduct was not met.

Our charter obligates us, subject to the limitations of Maryland law and the requirements of the 1940 Act, to indemnify (1) any present or former director or officer;
(2) any individual who, while a director or officer and at our request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, limited liability
company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a director, officer, partner, member, manager or trustee; or (3) the Adviser or any of its affiliates
acting as an agent for us, from and against any claim or liability to which the person or entity may become subject or may incur by reason of such person’s service in that
capacity, and to pay or reimburse such person’s reasonable expenses as incurred in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. These indemnification rights vest immediately
upon an individual’s election as a director or officer. In accordance with the 1940 Act, we will not indemnify any person for any liability to the extent that such person would be
subject by reason of such person’s willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of his, her or its office.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, and in accordance with the Omnibus Guidelines, at anytime following a Non-Listed Offering, our charter prohibits us from holding
harmless a director, the Adviser or any affiliate of the Adviser for any loss or liability suffered by us, or indemnifying such persons for any loss or liability by him, her or it,
unless each of the following conditions are met: (1) the party seeking indemnification has determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability
was in our best interest; (2) the party seeking indemnification was acting or performing services on our behalf; (3) such liability or loss was not the result of (a) negligence or
misconduct, in the case that the party seeking indemnification is the Adviser or any of its affiliates or an officer of the Company, or (b) gross negligence or willful misconduct,
in the case that the party seeking indemnification is an independent director (and not also an officer of the Company, the Adviser or any of its affiliates); and (4) such
indemnification or agreement to hold harmless is recoverable only out of our net assets and not from our shareholders. Our charter provides that this provision does not apply to
any dealer manager.

Our charter further provides that, following a Non-Listed Offering, we may not provide indemnification to a director, the Adviser or any affiliate of the Adviser for any
loss, liability or expense arising from or out of an alleged violation of federal or state securities laws by such party unless one or more of the following conditions are met:
(1) there has been a successful adjudication on the merits of each count involving alleged material securities law violations as to the party seeking indemnification; (2) such
claims have been dismissed with prejudice on the merits by a court of competent jurisdiction as to such party; or (3) a court of competent jurisdiction approves a settlement of
the claims against such party and finds that indemnification of the settlement and the related costs should be made, and the court considering the request for indemnification has
been advised of the position of the SEC and of the published position of any state securities regulatory authority in which our securities were offered or sold as to
indemnification for violations of securities laws.

Our charter provides that, following a Non-Listed Offering, we may pay or reimburse reasonable legal expenses and other costs incurred by a director, the Adviser or any
affiliate of the Adviser in advance of final disposition of a proceeding only if all of the following are satisfied: (1) the proceeding relates to acts or omissions with respect to the
performance of duties or services on our behalf; (2) such party provides us with written affirmation of his, her or
 

63



Table of Contents

its good faith belief that he, she or it has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by us; (3) the legal proceeding was initiated by a third party who is not a
shareholder or, if by a shareholder acting in his or her capacity as such, a court of competent jurisdiction approves such advancement; and (4) such party provides us with a
written agreement to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by us, together with the applicable legal rate of interest thereon, if it is ultimately determined that such party did not
comply with the requisite standard of conduct and is not entitled to indemnification. Our charter provides that this provision does not apply to any dealer manager.

Maryland Law and Certain Charter and Bylaw Provisions; Anti-Takeover Measures

Maryland law contains, and our charter and bylaws also contain, provisions that could make it more difficult for a potential acquirer to acquire us by means of a tender
offer, proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions are expected to discourage certain coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids and to encourage persons
seeking to acquire control of the Company to negotiate first with the Board of Directors. These measures may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that
might otherwise be in the best interests of our shareholders. We believe, however, that the benefits of these provisions outweigh the potential disadvantages of discouraging any
such acquisition proposals because, among other things, the Board of Director’s ability to negotiate such proposals may improve their terms.

Under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, consolidate, convert into another form of business entity, sell all or
substantially all of its assets or engage in a statutory share exchange unless declared advisable by the corporation’s board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of
our shareholders entitled to cast at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. A Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of these matters
by a lesser or greater percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Subject to certain exceptions discussed below, our charter
provides for approval of these actions by the affirmative vote of our shareholders entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Subject to certain exceptions provided in our charter, the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the votes entitled to be cast thereon, with the holders of each class or series
of our stock voting as a separate class, in addition to the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the members of the Board of Directors, shall be necessary to effect any of the
following actions:
 

 •  any amendment to our charter to make our common stock a “redeemable security” or to convert the Company from a “closed-end company” to an “open-
end company” (as such terms are defined in the 1940 Act);

 

 •  any shareholder proposal as to specific investment decisions made or to be made with respect to our assets;
 

 •  following a Non-Listed Offering, any proposal as to the voluntary liquidation or dissolution of the Company or any amendment to our charter to terminate
our existence;

 

 •  following a Non-Listed Offering, any merger, consolidation or statutory share exchange of the Company with or into any other person; or
 

 •  following a Non-Listed Offering, the sale of all or substantially all of our assets, as further described in our charter, when such sale is to be made other than
in the ordinary course of our business.

However, if the proposal, transaction or business combination is approved by at least 75% of our continuing directors, the proposal, transaction or business combination
may be approved only by the Board of Directors and, if necessary, our shareholders as otherwise would be required by applicable law, our charter and bylaws and, following a
Non-Listed Offering, the Omnibus Guidelines, without regard to the supermajority approval requirements discussed above. A “continuing director” is defined in our charter as a
director who (i) is not an interested party (meaning a person who has or proposes to enter into a business combination with us or owns more than 5% of any class of our stock)
or an affiliate or an associate of an interested party and who has been a member of the Board of
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Directors for a period of at least 24 months (or since we commenced operations, if that period is less than 24 months); or (ii) is a successor of a continuing director who is not an
interested party or an affiliate or an associate of an interested party and is recommended to succeed a continuing director by a majority of the continuing directors then in office
or is nominated for election by our shareholders by a majority of the continuing directors then in office; or (iii) is elected to the Board of Directors to be a continuing director by
a majority of the continuing directors then in office and who is not an interested party or an affiliate or associate of an interested party.

Our charter also provides that the Board of Directors is divided into three classes, as nearly equal in size as practicable, with each class of directors serving for a
staggered three-year term. Additionally, subject to the rights of holders of one or more classes or series of preferred stock to elect or remove one or more directors, directors
may be removed at any time, but only for cause (as such term is defined in our charter) and only by the affirmative vote of our shareholders entitled to cast at least 75% of the
votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors, voting as a single class. Our charter and bylaws also provide that, except as provided otherwise by applicable law,
including the 1940 Act and subject to any rights of holders of one or more classes or series of preferred stock to elect or remove one or more directors, any vacancy on the
Board of Directors, except, until such time as we have three independent directors, for vacancies resulting from the removal of a director by our shareholders, and any newly
created directorship resulting from an increase in the size of the Board of Directors, may only be filled by vote of the directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a
sole remaining director; provided that, under Maryland law, when the holders of any class, classes or series of stock have the exclusive power under our charter to elect certain
directors, vacancies in directorships elected by such class, classes or series may be filled by a majority of the remaining directors so elected by such class, classes or series of
our stock. In addition, our charter provides that, subject to any rights of holders of one or more classes or series of stock to elect or remove one or more directors, the total
number of directors will be fixed from time to time exclusively pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors.

The classification of the Board of Directors and the limitations on removal of directors described above as well as the limitations on our shareholders’ right to fill
vacancies and newly created directorships and to fix the size of the Board of Directors could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire the Company,
or of discouraging a third party from acquiring or attempting to acquire the Company.

Maryland law and our charter and bylaws also provide that:
 

 •  any action required or permitted to be taken by our shareholders at an annual meeting or special meeting of our shareholders may only be taken if it is properly
brought before such meeting or by unanimous consent in lieu of a meeting;

 

 
•  special meetings of our shareholders may only be called by the Board of Directors, the chairman of the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer, and must

be called by the secretary upon the written request of our shareholders who are entitled to cast at least a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on such matter at
such meeting; and

 

 •  from and after the Initial Closing, any shareholder nomination or business proposal to be properly brought before a meeting of our shareholders must have been
made in compliance with certain advance notice and informational requirements.

Our charter also provides that any tender offer made by any person, including any “mini-tender” offer, must comply with the provisions of Regulation 14D of the 1934
Act, including the notice and disclosure requirements. Among other things, the offeror must provide us with notice of such tender offer at least ten business days before
initiating the tender offer. Our charter prohibits any shareholder from transferring shares of stock to a person who makes a tender offer which does not comply with such
provisions unless such shareholder has first offered such shares of stock to us at the tender offer price in the non-compliant tender offer. In addition, the non-complying offeror
will be responsible for all of our expenses in connection with that offeror’s noncompliance.

These provisions could delay or hinder shareholder actions which are favored by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities. These provisions may also
discourage another person or entity from making a tender offer for our common stock, because such person or entity, even if it acquired a majority of our outstanding
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voting securities, would be able to take action as a shareholder (such as electing new directors or approving a merger) only at a duly called shareholders meeting, and not by
written consent. The provisions of our charter requiring that the directors may be removed only for cause and only by the affirmative vote of at least three-quarters of the votes
entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors will also prevent our shareholders from removing incumbent directors except for cause and upon a substantial affirmative
vote. In addition, although the advance notice and information requirements in our bylaws do not give the Board of Directors any power to disapprove shareholder nominations
for the election of directors or business proposals that are made in compliance with applicable advance notice procedures, they may have the effect of precluding a contest for
the election of directors or the consideration of shareholder proposals if proper procedures are not followed and of discouraging or deterring a third party from conducting a
solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or to approve its own proposal without regard to whether consideration of such nominees or proposals might be harmful
or beneficial to us and our shareholders.

Under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation generally cannot amend its charter unless the amendment is declared advisable by the corporation’s board of directors and
approved by the affirmative vote of shareholders entitled to cast at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. A Maryland corporation may provide in its
charter for approval of these matters by a lesser or greater percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Subject to certain
exceptions discussed below, our charter provides for approval of charter amendments by the affirmative vote of our shareholders entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled
to be cast on the matter. The Board of Directors, by vote of a majority of the members of the Board of Directors, has the exclusive power to adopt, alter, amend or repeal our
bylaws. Our charter provides that any amendment to the following provisions of our charter, among others, shall require, in addition to any other vote required by applicable
law or our charter, the affirmative vote of our shareholders entitled to cast at least three-quarters of the votes entitled to be cast thereon, with the holders of each class or series
of our stock voting as a separate class, in addition to the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the members of the Board of Directors, unless three-quarters of the continuing
directors approve the amendment, in which case such amendment must be approved as would otherwise be required by applicable law, our charter, bylaws and, following a
Non-Listed Offering, the Omnibus Guidelines:
 

 •  the provisions regarding the classification of the Board of Directors;
 

 •  the provisions governing the removal of directors;
 

 •  the provisions limiting shareholder action by written consent;
 

 •  the provisions regarding the number of directors on the Board of Directors;
 

 •  the provisions specifying the vote required to approve extraordinary actions and amend our charter and the Board of Directors’ exclusive power to amend our
bylaws;

 

 •  the limitations of directors’ and officers’ liability for money damages and the requirement that we indemnify its directors and officers as described above; and
 

 •  the provisions imposing additional voting requirements on certain business combinations and other actions.

Following a Non-Listed Offering, without the approval of our shareholders entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, we may not permit the
Adviser to:
 

 •  amend our charter, except for amendments that would not adversely affect the interests of our shareholders;
 

 •  except as permitted in the Investment Advisory Agreement, voluntarily withdraw as investment adviser, unless such withdrawal would not affect our tax status and
would not materially adversely affect our shareholders;
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 •  appoint a new investment adviser other than a sub-adviser pursuant to the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement and applicable law;
 

 •  sell all or substantially all of our assets other than in the ordinary course of our business or as otherwise permitted by law; and
 

 •  cause a merger or any other reorganization of the Company except as permitted by law.

Our charter prohibits the Adviser from, following a Non-Listed Offering: (i) receiving or accepting any rebate, give-ups or similar arrangement that is prohibited under
applicable federal or state securities laws, (ii) participating in any reciprocal business arrangement that would circumvent provisions of applicable federal or state securities laws
governing conflicts of interest or investment restrictions, or (iii) entering into any agreement, arrangement or understanding that would circumvent the restrictions against
dealing with affiliates or promoters under applicable federal or state securities laws. In addition, the Adviser may not directly or indirectly pay or award any fees or commissions
or other compensation to any person or entity engaged to sell our stock or give investment advice to a potential shareholder; provided, however, that the Adviser may pay a
registered broker-dealer or other properly licensed agent from sales commissions for selling or distributing our common stock.

Advance Notice Provisions for Shareholder Nominations and Shareholder Proposals

Our bylaws provide that, with respect to an annual meeting of our shareholders, nominations of individuals for election as directors and the proposal of business to be
considered by our shareholders may be made only (a) pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (b) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (c) by a shareholder who is a
shareholder of record both at the time of giving the advance notice required by tour bylaws and at the time of the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of
each individual so nominated or on any such other business and who has complied with the advance notice procedures of our bylaws. With respect to special meetings of our
shareholders, only the business specified in our notice of the meeting may be brought before the meeting. Nominations of individuals for election as directors at a special
meeting at which directors are to be elected may be made only (a) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (b) provided that the special meeting has been called in
accordance with our bylaws for the purpose of electing directors, by a shareholder who is a shareholder of record both at the time of giving the advance notice required by our
bylaws and at the time of the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of each individual so nominated and who has complied with the advance notice
provisions of our bylaws.

The purpose of requiring our shareholders to give us advance notice of nominations and other business is to afford the Board of Directors a meaningful opportunity to
consider the qualifications of the proposed nominees and the advisability of any other proposed business and, to the extent deemed necessary or desirable by the Board of
Directors, to inform our shareholders and make recommendations about such qualifications or business, as well as to provide a more orderly procedure for conducting meetings
of our shareholders. Although our bylaws do not give the Board of Directors any power to disapprove shareholder nominations for the election of directors or proposals
recommending certain action, the advance notice and information requirements may have the effect of precluding election contests or the consideration of shareholder proposals
if proper procedures are not followed and of discouraging or deterring a third party from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or to approve its
own proposal without regard to whether consideration of such nominees or proposals might be harmful or beneficial to the Company and our shareholders.

No Appraisal Rights

For certain extraordinary transactions and charter amendments, the MGCL provides the right to dissenting shareholders to demand and receive the fair value of their
shares, subject to certain procedures and requirements set forth in the statute. Those rights are commonly referred to as appraisal rights. As permitted by the MGCL, our charter
provides that our shareholders will not be entitled to exercise appraisal rights unless the Board of Directors determines that appraisal rights apply, with respect to all or any
classes or series of stock, to one or more transactions occurring after the date of such determination in connection with which our shareholders would otherwise be entitled to
exercise appraisal rights.
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Control Share Acquisitions

Certain provisions of the MGCL provide that a holder of control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition has no voting rights with
respect to the control shares except to the extent approved by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, which is referred to as the Control
Share Acquisition Act. Shares owned by the acquiror, by officers or by employees who are directors of the corporation are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter.
Control shares are voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in respect of which the acquirer is able to exercise or direct
the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following
ranges of voting power:
 

 •  one-tenth or more but less than one-third;
 

 •  one-third or more but less than a majority; or
 

 •  a majority or more of all voting power.

The requisite shareholder approval must be obtained each time an acquirer crosses one of the thresholds of voting power set forth above. Control shares do not include
shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained shareholder approval or shares acquired directly from the corporation. A control
share acquisition means the acquisition of issued and outstanding control shares, subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel the board of directors of the corporation to call a special meeting of shareholders to
be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. The right to compel the calling of a special meeting is subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions, including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If no request for a meeting is made, the corporation may itself present the question at any shareholders
meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the statute, then the corporation
may redeem for fair value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been approved. The right of the corporation to redeem control
shares is subject to certain conditions and limitations. Fair value is determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last
control share acquisition by the acquirer or if a meeting of shareholders is held at which the voting rights of the shares are considered and not approved, as of the date of such
meeting. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a shareholder meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other
shareholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares as determined for purposes of appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by
the acquirer in the control share acquisition.

The Control Share Acquisition Act does not apply (a) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party to the transaction or
(b) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the Control Share Acquisition Act any and
all acquisitions by any person of shares of stock. There can be no assurance that such provision will not be amended or eliminated at time in the future. However, the SEC staff
has taken that position that, if a BDC fails to opt-out of the Control Share Acquisition Act, its actions are inconsistent with Section 18(i) of the 1940 Act and we will amend our
bylaws to be subject to the Control Share Acquisition Act only if the Board of Directors determines that it would be in our best interests and if the SEC staff does not object to
our determination that being subject to the Control Share Acquisition Act does not conflict with the 1940 Act.

Business Combinations

Under Maryland law, “business combinations” between a Maryland corporation and an interested shareholder or an affiliate of an interested shareholder are prohibited
for five years after the most recent date on which the interested shareholder becomes an interested shareholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation,
statutory share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested shareholder is defined as:
 

 •  any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s stock; or
 

 •  an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the
voting power of the then outstanding voting stock of the corporation.
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A person is not an interested shareholder under this statute if the corporation’s board of directors approves in advance the transaction by which he or she otherwise
would have become an interested shareholder. However, in approving a transaction, the board may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of
approval, with any terms and conditions determined by the board.

After the five-year prohibition, any such business combination generally must be recommended by the corporation’s board of directors and approved by the affirmative
vote of at least:
 

 •  80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and
 

 •  two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested shareholder with whom or with whose
affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested shareholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if holders of the corporation’s common stock receive a minimum price, as defined under Maryland law, for their
shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested shareholder for its shares. The statute provides various exemptions from
its provisions, including for business combinations that are exempted by the corporation’s board of directors before the time that the interested shareholder becomes an
interested shareholder. The Board of Directors has adopted a resolution exempting from the requirements of the statute any business combination between the Company and any
other person, provided that such business combination is first approved by the Board of Directors (including a majority of the directors who are not “interested persons” within
the meaning of the 1940 Act). This resolution, however, may be altered or repealed in whole or in part at any time. If this resolution is repealed, or the Board of Directors does
not otherwise approve a business combination, the statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of the Company and increase the difficulty of consummating any
offer.

Restrictions on Roll-Up Transactions

Following a Non-Listed Offering, in connection with a proposed “roll-up transaction,” which, in general terms, is any transaction involving the acquisition, merger,
conversion or consolidation, directly or indirectly, of the Company and the issuance of securities of an entity that would be created or would survive after the successful
completion of the roll-up transaction, we will obtain an appraisal of all of its properties from an independent expert. In order to qualify as an independent expert for this
purpose, the person or entity must have no material current or prior business or personal relationship with the Company and must be engaged to a substantial extent in the
business of rendering opinions regarding the value of assets of the type held by the Company, who is qualified to perform such work. Following a Non-Listed Offering, our
assets will be appraised on a consistent basis, and the appraisal will be based on the evaluation of all relevant information and will indicate the value of our assets as of a date
immediately prior to the announcement of the proposed roll-up transaction. The appraisal will assume an orderly liquidation of our assets over a 12-month period. The terms of
the engagement of such independent expert will clearly state that the engagement is for our benefit and the benefit of our shareholders. We will include a summary of the
appraisal, indicating all material assumptions underlying the appraisal, in a report to our shareholders in connection with the proposed roll-up transaction. If the appraisal will be
included in a prospectus used to offer the securities of the roll-up entity, the appraisal will be filed with the SEC and the states as an exhibit to the registration statement for the
offering.

Following a Non-Listed Offering, in connection with a proposed roll-up transaction, the person sponsoring the roll-up transaction must offer to our shareholders who
vote against the proposal a choice of:
 

 •  accepting the securities of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction offered in the
proposed roll-up transaction; or

 

 •  one of the following:
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 ¡  remaining as our shareholders and preserving their interests in the Company on the same terms and conditions as existed previously; or
 

 ¡  receiving cash in an amount equal to their pro rata share of the appraised value of our net assets.

Following a Non-Listed Offering, we are prohibited from participating in any proposed roll-up transaction:
 

 
•  which would result in our shareholders having voting rights in the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up

transaction that are less than those provided in our charter, including rights with respect to the election and removal of directors, annual and special meetings,
amendments to our charter and our dissolution;

 

 

•  which includes provisions that would operate as a material impediment to, or frustration of, the accumulation of shares of our common stock by any purchaser of
the securities of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction, except to the minimum extent necessary
to preserve the tax status of such entity, or which would limit the ability of an investor to exercise the voting rights of its securities of the entity that would be
created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction on the basis of the number of shares held by that investor;

 

 •  in which our shareholders’ rights to access to records of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction
will be less than those provided in our charter; or

 

 •  in which we would bear any of the costs of the roll-up transaction if our shareholders reject the roll-up transaction.

Reports to Shareholders

Following a Non-Listed Offering, within 60 days after each calendar quarter, we will distribute our quarterly report on Form 10-Q to all of our shareholders of record. In
addition, following a Non-Listed Offering, we will distribute our annual report on Form 10-K to all of our shareholders within 120 days after the end of each calendar year,
which must contain, among other things, a breakdown of the expenses reimbursed by us to the Adviser.

Conflict with the 1940 Act

Our bylaws provide that, if and to the extent that any provision of the MGCL, including the Control Share Acquisition Act (if we amend our bylaws to be subject to such
Act) and the Business Combination Act or any provision of our charter or bylaws conflicts with any provision of the 1940 Act, the applicable provision of the 1940 Act will
control.

 ITEM 12. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Limitation on Liability of Directors; Indemnification and Advance of Expenses

See “Item 11. Description of Registrant’s Securities to be Registered — Limitation on Liability of Directors and Officers; Indemnification and Advance of Expenses.”

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors. The indemnification agreements are intended to provide our directors the maximum indemnification
permitted under Maryland law and the 1940 Act. Each indemnification agreement provides that we shall indemnify the director who is a party to the agreement including the
advancement of legal expenses, if, by reason of his or her corporate status, such director is, or is threatened to be, made a party to or a witness in any threatened, pending, or
completed proceeding, other than a proceeding by or in the right of the Company.
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Adviser

Under the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Adviser and its affiliates (each, an “Indemnitee”) will not be liable to us for (i) mistakes of judgment or for action or
inaction that such person reasonably believed to be in our best interests absent such Indemnitee’s gross negligence, knowing and willful misconduct, or fraud or (ii) losses or
expenses due to mistakes of judgment, action or inaction, or the negligence, dishonesty or bad faith of any broker or other agent of the Company who is not an affiliate of such
Indemnitee, provided that such person was selected, engaged or retained without gross negligence, willful misconduct, or fraud.

We will indemnify each Indemnitee against any liabilities relating to our offering of our common stock or our business, operation, administration or termination, if the
Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner it believed to be in, or not opposed to, our interest and except to the extent arising out of the Indemnitee’s gross negligence,
fraud or knowing and willful misconduct. We may pay the expenses incurred by the Indemnitee in defending an actual or threatened civil or criminal action in advance of the
final disposition of such action, provided the Indemnitee agrees to repay those expenses if found by adjudication not to be entitled to indemnification.
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 ITEM 13. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Set forth below is an index to our financial statements attached to this Registration Statement.
 
     Page   
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm   
Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of March 1, 2016    F-2  
Statement of Operations for the Period from October 15, 2015 (inception) through March 1, 2016    F-3  
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the Period from October 15, 2015 (inception) through March 1, 2016    F-4  
Statement of Cash Flows for the Period from October 15, 2015 (inception) through March 1, 2016    F-5  
Notes to Financial Statements    F-6  
Statement of Assets and Liabilities as of March 31, 2016 (unaudited)    F-11  
Statement of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 (unaudited)    F-12  
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 (unaudited)    F-13  
Statement of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 (unaudited)    F-14  
Notes to Financial Statements    F-15  

 ITEM 14. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There are not and have not been any disagreements between the Company and its accountant on any matter of accounting principles, practices, or financial statement
disclosure.

 ITEM 15. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

(a) List separately all financial statements filed

The financial statements attached to this Registration Statement are listed under “Item 13. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(b) Exhibits
 
    3.1   Articles of Amendment and Restatement dated March 1, 2016

    3.2   Bylaws dated January 11, 2016

    4.1   Form of Subscription Agreement*

  10.1   Investment Advisory Agreement between the Company and the Adviser, dated March 1, 2016

  10.2   Administration Agreement between the Company and the Adviser, dated March 1, 2016

  10.3   Dividend Reinvestment Plan effective as of March 1, 2016

  10.4   Form of Indemnification Agreement*

  10.5   Custody Agreement by and between the Company and State Street Bank and Trust Company dated February 24, 2016

  10.6   License Agreement between the Company and Owl Rock Capital Partners LP, dated March 1, 2016

  21.1   List of Subsidiaries—None
 
* previously filed
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

Owl Rock Capital Corporation

By:  /s/ Alan Kirshenbaum
 Name: Alan Kirshenbaum

 
Title: Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 11, 2016
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 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Owl Rock Capital Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying statement of assets and liabilities of Owl Rock Capital Corporation (the Company) as of March 1, 2016, and the related statements of
operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the period from October 15, 2015 (inception) to March 1, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Owl Rock Capital Corporation as of March 1, 2016, and
the results of its operations, changes in its net assets, and its cash flows for the period October 15, 2015 (inception) to March 1, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
April 11, 2016
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Assets and Liabilities

 
   As of March 1, 2016 
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents   $ —    
Due from affiliate    1,500  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    409,699  

  

Total Assets   $ 411,199  
  

Liabilities   
Other accrued expenses   $ 1,030,509  
Payable to affiliate    486,992  

  

Total Liabilities   $ 1,517,501  
  

Commitment and contingencies (Note 4)   

Net Assets   
Common shares, $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 100 shares issued and outstanding   $ 1  
Additional paid-in capital    1,499  
Accumulated net loss    (1,107,802) 

  

Total Net Assets   $ (1,106,302) 
  

Total Liabilities and Net Assets   $ 411,199  
  

Net Asset Value Per Share   $ (11,063.02) 
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Operations

 

   

Period from October 15,
2015 (inception) to

March 1, 2016  
Expenses   
Initial organization   $ 1,107,802  

  

Net expenses    1,107,802  
  

Net investment loss    (1,107,802) 
  

Decrease in net assets resulting from operations   $ (1,107,802) 
  

Loss Per Share - Basic and Diluted   $ (11,078.02) 
  

Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding - Basic and Diluted    100  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

 

   

Period from October 15,
2015 (inception) to

March 1, 2016  
Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations   
Net investment loss   $ (1,107,802) 

  

Decrease in net assets resulting from operations    (1,107,802) 
  

Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Capital Share Transactions   
Issuance of common shares    1,500  

  

Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Capital Share Transactions    1,500  
  

Total Decrease in Net Assets    (1,106,302) 
Net assets, beginning of period    —    

  

Net assets, end of period   $ (1,106,302) 
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows

 

   

Period from October 15,
2015 (inception) to

March 1, 2016  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities   
Decrease in net assets resulting from operations   $ (1,107,802) 
Adjustments to reconcile net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations to net cash provided by operating activities:   

Change in prepaid expenses and other assets    (409,699) 
Change in other accrued expenses    1,030,509  
Change in payables to affiliates    486,992  

  

Net cash provided by operating activities    —    
  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    —    
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   $ —    

  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ —    
  

Non-cash financing activities:

As of March 1, 2016, the Company had a $1,500 receivable relating to the issuance of 100 common shares from the Adviser. The Company received $1,500 in cash from the
Adviser on March 14, 2016.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Notes to Financial Statements
 

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Organization

Owl Rock Capital Corporation (“Owl Rock” or the “Company”) is a Maryland corporation formed on October 15, 2015. The Company was formed primarily to make loans to,
and make debt and equity investments in, U.S. middle market companies. The Company has elected to be regulated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”). In addition, for tax purposes, the Company intends to elect to be treated as a regulated investment company
(“RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The Company is managed by Owl Rock Capital Advisors LLC (the “Adviser”).
As of March 1, 2016, the Company had not commenced its investing activities. As of March 1, 2016, the Company was still devoting substantially all of its efforts to
establishing the business and its planned principal operations had not commenced.

Because the Company has elected to be regulated as a BDC and intends to qualify as a RIC under the Code, the Company’s portfolio will be subject to diversification and other
requirements.

The Company expects that capital will be used to support organic growth, acquisitions, market or product expansion, refinancings and/or recapitalizations. The Company
defines “middle market companies” to generally mean companies with earnings before interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, or “EBITDA,”
between $10 million and $250 million annually and/or annual revenue of $50 million to $2.5 billion at the time of investment. The Company may on occasion invest in smaller
or larger companies if an attractive opportunity presents itself, including when there are dislocations in the capital markets, including the high yield and large syndicated loan
markets. Its target credit investments will typically have maturities between three and ten years and generally range in size between $20 and $250 million. The investment size
will vary with the size of its capital base.

The Company expects to conduct private offerings (the “Private Offering”) of its common shares to investors in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. At the closing of any Private Offering, each investor will make a capital commitment (a “Capital Commitment”) to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into with the Company. Investors will be required to fund drawdowns to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock up to the amount of their respective Capital Commitment on an as-needed basis each time the Company delivers a notice to its investors. The
Company anticipates commencing its loan origination and investment activities contemporaneously with the initial drawdown from investors in the Private Offering.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The
Company is an investment company and, therefore, applies the specialized accounting and reporting guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 946,
Financial Services – Investment Companies. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting solely of accruals considered necessary for the fair presentation of
financial statements, have been included. The results of operations are not indicative of results to be expected for the full year.

Fiscal Year End

The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Such amounts could differ from those estimates and such differences could be
material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and highly liquid investments (e.g. U.S. treasury notes) with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value.

Organization Expenses

Costs associated with the organization of the Company are expensed as incurred. These expenses consist primarily of legal fees and other costs of organizing the Company.

Offering Expenses

Costs associated with the offering of common shares of the Company are capitalized as deferred offering expenses and included as prepaid and other assets on the Statement of
Assets and Liabilities and amortized over a twelve-month period from incurrence. These expenses consist primarily of legal fees and other costs incurred in connection with the
Company’s share offering, the preparation of the Company’s registration statement, and registration fees.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. The Company also intends to elect to be treated as a RIC under the Code for the taxable year ending
December 31, 2016. So long as the Company maintains its status as a RIC, it generally will not pay corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital
gains that it distributes at least annually to its stockholders as dividends. Rather, any tax liability related to income earned and distributed by Owl Rock represents obligations of
the Company’s investors and will not be reflected in the financial statements of the Company.

To continue to qualify as a RIC, the Company must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification requirements. In addition, to qualify for RIC
tax treatment, the Company must distribute to its stockholders, for each taxable year, at least 90% of its “investment company taxable income” for that year, which is generally
its ordinary income plus the excess of its realized net short-term capital gains over its realized net long-term capital losses.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 11, 2016 and determined that there have been no events that have occurred that would require adjustments to the
Company’s disclosures in the financial statements.

New Accounting Standards

Management does not believe any recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying financial
statements.

 
3. Agreements and Related Party Transactions

Administration Agreement

On March 1, 2016, the Company entered into an Administration Agreement (the “Administration Agreement”) with the Adviser. Under the terms of the Administration
Agreement, the Adviser will perform, or oversee the performance of, required administrative services, which includes providing office space, equipment and office services,
maintaining financial records, preparing reports to shareholders and reports filed with the SEC, and managing the payment of expenses and the performance of administrative
and professional services rendered by others.

The Company will reimburse the Adviser for services performed for it pursuant to the terms of the Administration Agreement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the
Administration Agreement, the Adviser may delegate its obligations under the Administration Agreement to an affiliate or to a third party and the Company will reimburse the
Adviser for any services performed for it by such affiliate or third party. As of March 1, 2016, the Company incurred approximately $0.5 million of costs and expenses
reimbursable to the Adviser under the terms of the Administration Agreement.
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Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Administration Agreement will remain in effect until March 1, 2018 and from year to year thereafter if approved annually by
(1) the vote of the Company’s Board of Directors, or by the vote of a majority of its outstanding voting securities, and (2) the vote of a majority of the Company’s directors who
are not “interested persons” of the Company, of the Adviser or of any of their respective affiliates, as defined in the 1940 Act. The Administration Agreement may be
terminated at any time, without the payment of any penalty, on 60 days’ written notice, by the vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Company, or by the
vote of the Board of Directors or by the Administrator.

Investment Advisory Agreement

On March 1, 2016, the Company entered into an Investment Advisory Agreement (the “Investment Advisory Agreement”) with the Adviser. Under the terms of the Advisory
Agreement, the Adviser will be responsible for managing the Company’s business and activities, including sourcing investment opportunities, conducting research, performing
diligence on potential investments, structuring its investments, and monitoring its portfolio companies on an ongoing basis through a team of investment professionals.

The Adviser’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive, and it is free to furnish similar services to other entities so long as its services to the
Company are not impaired.

Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Company will pay the Adviser a base management fee and may also pay to it certain incentive fees. The cost of both
the management fee and the incentive fee will ultimately be borne by the Company’s shareholders.

The management fee is payable quarterly in arrears. Prior to the future quotation or listing of the Company’s securities on a national securities exchange (an “Exchange Listing”)
or the future quotation or listing of its securities on any other public trading market, the management fee is payable at an annual rate of 0.75% of the Company’s (i) average
gross assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed amounts, at the end of the Company’s two most recently completed calendar
quarters plus (ii) the average of any remaining unfunded Capital Commitments at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters. Following an Exchange Listing,
the management fee is payable at an annual rate of 1.75% of the Company’s gross assets excluding cash and cash equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed
amounts, at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters. The management fee for any partial month or quarter, as the case may be, will be appropriately
prorated and adjusted for any share issuances or repurchases during the relevant calendar months or quarters, as the case may be.

Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Adviser will not be entitled to an incentive fee prior to an Exchange Listing. Following an Exchange Listing, the incentive
fee will consist of two components that are independent of each other, with the result that one component may be payable even if the other is not. A portion of the incentive fee
is based on the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income and a portion is based on the Company’s capital gains. The portion of the incentive fee based on pre-
incentive fee net investment income is determined and paid quarterly in arrears commencing with the first calendar quarter following an Exchange Listing, and equals 100% of
the pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of a 1.5% quarterly “hurdle rate,” until the Adviser has received 20% of the total pre-incentive fee net investment income
for that calendar quarter and, for pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of 1.875% quarterly, 20% of all remaining pre-incentive fee net investment income for that
calendar quarter.

The second component of the incentive fee, the capital gains incentive fee, payable at the end of each calendar year in arrears, equals 20% of cumulative realized capital gains
from the date on which the Exchange Listing becomes effective (the “Listing Date”) to the end of each calendar year, less cumulative realized capital losses and unrealized
capital depreciation from the Listing Date to the end of each calendar year, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid capital gains incentive fee for prior periods. In no
event will the capital gains incentive fee payable pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement be in excess of the amount permitted by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940,
as amended, including Section 205 thereof.

Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Investment Advisory Agreement will remain in effect until March 1, 2018 and will remain in effect from year-to-year
thereafter if approved annually by a majority of the Board of Directors or by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities and, in each case, by a majority of
independent directors.

The Investment Advisory Agreement will automatically terminate within the meaning of the 1940 Act and related SEC guidance and interpretations in the event of its
assignment. In accordance with the 1940 Act, without payment of any penalty, the Company may terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement with the Adviser upon 60 days’
written notice. The decision to terminate the agreement may be made by a majority of the board of directors or the shareholders holding a majority (as defined under the 1940
Act) of the
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outstanding shares of our common stock. In addition, without payment of any penalty, the Adviser may generally terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement upon 60 days’
written notice and, in certain circumstances, the Adviser may only be able to terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice.
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4. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become a party to certain legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of its business. At March 1, 2016, management is not aware of
any pending or threatened litigation.

 
5. Net Assets

In connection with its formation, the Company had the authority to issue 500,000,000 common shares at $0.01 per share par value.

On March 1, 2016, the Company issued 100 common shares for $1,500 to the Adviser. The Company has not engaged in any other equity transactions as of March 1, 2016. The
Company received $1,500 in cash from the Adviser on March 14, 2016.

During March 2016, the Company entered into subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) aggregating $973.25 million, of which $110.4 million is from
executives of the Adviser, with several investors providing for the private placement of the Company’s common shares. Under the terms of the Subscription Agreements,
investors are required to fund drawdowns to purchase the Company’s common shares up to the amount of their respective Capital Commitment on an as-needed basis each time
the Company delivers a notice to its investors.

The commitments received provide the Company with sufficient liquidity to settle its liabilities and commence its lending activities.

On March 17, 2016, pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Company delivered a capital drawdown notice to its investors relating to the issuance of 3,333,344 common
shares for an aggregate offering price of $50 million. The shares were issued on March 30, 2016.

 
6. Financial Highlights

The following per share data and ratios have been derived from information provided in the financial statements. The following are the financial highlights for a common share
outstanding during the period from October 15, 2015 (inception) to March 1, 2016:
 

   

Period from
October 15, 2015

(inception) to
March 1, 2016

Per Share Data    
Net asset value, beginning of period   $ —     
Net investment loss   $ (11,078.02)  
Issuance of common shares    15.00   
Net decrease in net assets   $ (11,063.02)  
Net asset value, end of period   $ (11,063.02)  
Shares outstanding, end of period    100   
Total Return    N/M   
Ratios / Supplemental Data    
Ratio of operating expenses to average net assets    N/M   
Ratio of total expenses to average net assets    N/M   
Ratio of net investment loss to average net assets    N/M   
Net assets, end of period   $ (1,106,302)  
Weighted-average shares outstanding    100   
Year of formation    2015   

N/M Not meaningful.
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Assets and Liabilities

(Unaudited)
 
   As of March 31, 2016 
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 49,717,482  
Subscription receivable    284,018  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    764,438  

  

Total Assets   $ 50,765,938  
  

Liabilities   
Management fees payable to affiliate   $ 566,045  
Directors’ fees payable to affiliate    20,208  
Other accrued expenses    1,434,605  
Payable to affiliate    1,062,889  

  

Total Liabilities   $ 3,083,747  
  

Commitment and contingencies (Note 4)   

Net Assets   
Common shares, $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 3,333,444 shares issued and outstanding   $ 33,334  
Additional paid-in-capital    49,968,166  
Accumulated net loss    (2,319,309) 

  

Total Net Assets   $ 47,682,191  
  

Total Liabilities and Net Assets   $ 50,765,938  
  

Net Asset Value Per Share   $ 14.30  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Operations

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2016  
Expenses   
Initial Organization   $ 1,223,542  
Management fees    566,045  
Professional fees    304,010  
Directors’ fees    20,208  
Other general and administrative    205,504  

  

Net Expenses    2,319,309  
  

Net Investment Loss    (2,319,309) 
  

Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations   $ (2,319,309) 
  

Loss Per Share - Basic and Diluted   $ (21.55) 
  

Weighted-Average Shares Outstanding - Basic and Diluted    107,627  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2016  
Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations   
Net Investment Loss   $ (2,319,309) 

  

Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations    (2,319,309) 
  

Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Capital Share Transactions   
Issuance of common shares    50,001,500  

  

Increase in Net Assets Resulting from Capital Share Transactions    50,001,500  
  

Total Increase in Net Assets    47,682,191  
Net assets, beginning of period    —    

  

Net assets, end of period   $ 47,682,191  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Owl Rock Capital Corporation
Statement of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31, 2016  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities   
Decrease in net assets resulting from operations   $ (2,319,309) 
Adjustments to reconcile net increase (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations to net cash provided by operating activities:   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   
  

Change in prepaid expenses and other assets    (764,438) 
Change in management fees payable    566,045  
Change in directors’ fees payable to affiliate    20,208  
Change in other accrued expenses    1,434,605  
Change in payable to affiliate    1,062,889  

  

Net cash used in operating activities    —    
  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities   
Proceeds from issuance of common shares   $ 49,717,482  

  

Net cash provided by financing activities    49,717,482  
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    49,717,482  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   $ —    

  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 49,717,482  
  

Non-cash financing activities   
Subscriptions receivable   $ 284,018  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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 Notes to Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Organization

Owl Rock Capital Corporation (“Owl Rock” or the “Company”) is a Maryland corporation formed on October 15, 2015. The Company was formed primarily to make loans to,
and make debt and equity investments in, U.S. middle market companies. The Company has elected to be regulated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”). In addition, for tax purposes, the Company intends to elect to be treated as a regulated investment company
(“RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The Company is managed by Owl Rock Capital Advisors LLC (the “Adviser”).
As of March 31, 2016, the Company has not commenced its investing activities.

Because the Company has elected to be regulated as a BDC and intends to qualify as a RIC under the Code, the Company’s portfolio will be subject to diversification and other
requirements.

The Company expects that capital will be used to support organic growth, acquisitions, market or product expansion, refinancings and/or recapitalizations. The Company
defines “middle market companies” to generally mean companies with earnings before interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, or “EBITDA,”
between $10 million and $250 million annually and/or annual revenue of $50 million to $2.5 billion at the time of investment. The Company may on occasion invest in smaller
or larger companies if an attractive opportunity presents itself, including when there are dislocations in the capital markets, including the high yield and large syndicated loan
markets. Its target credit investments will typically have maturities between three and ten years and generally range in size between $20 and $250 million. The investment size
will vary with the size of its capital base.

The Company expects to conduct private offerings (the “Private Offering”) of its common shares to investors in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. At the closing of any Private Offering, each investor will make a capital commitment (a “Capital Commitment”) to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into with the Company. Investors will be required to fund drawdowns to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock up to the amount of their respective Capital Commitment on an as-needed basis each time the Company delivers a notice to its investors. The
Company anticipates commencing its loan origination and investment activities contemporaneously with the initial drawdown from investors in the Private Offering.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The
Company is an investment company and, therefore, applies the specialized accounting and reporting guidance in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 946,
Financial Services – Investment Companies. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting solely of accruals considered necessary for the fair presentation of
financial statements for interim periods, have been included. The results of operations for interim periods are not indicative of results to be expected for the full year.

Fiscal Year End

The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Such amounts could differ from those estimates and such differences could be
material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and highly liquid investments (e.g. U.S. treasury notes) with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at cost which approximates fair value.

Organization Expenses

Costs associated with the organization of the Company are expensed as incurred. These expenses consist primarily of legal fees and other costs of organizing the Company.

Offering Expenses

Costs associated with the offering of common shares of the Company are capitalized as deferred offering expenses and are included in prepaid and other assets in the Statement
of Assets and Liabilities and are amortized over a twelve-month period from incurrence. These expenses consist primarily of legal fees and other costs incurred in connection
with the Company’s share offering, the preparation of the Company’s registration statement, and registration fees.

Reimbursement of Transaction-Related Expenses

The Company may receive reimbursement for certain transaction-related expenses in pursuing portfolio company investments. Transaction-related expenses, which are
generally expected to be reimbursed by third parties, are typically deferred until the transaction is consummated and are recorded in prepaid expenses and other assets on the
date incurred. The costs of successfully completed investments not otherwise reimbursed are borne by the Company and are included as a component of the investment’s cost
basis. Subsequent to closing, investments are recorded at fair value at each reporting period.

Cash advances of transaction-related expenses received are recorded as cash and cash equivalents with an offset to other accrued expenses and payables to affiliates. Other
accrued expenses and payables to affiliates are relieved as reimbursable expenses are incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be treated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. The Company also intends to elect to be treated as a RIC under the Code for the taxable year ending
December 31, 2016. So long as the Company maintains its status as a RIC, it generally will not pay corporate-level U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital
gains that it distributes at least annually to its stockholders as dividends. Rather, any tax liability related to income earned and distributed by Owl Rock represents obligations of
the Company’s investors and will not be reflected in the financial statements of the Company.

To continue to qualify as a RIC, the Company must, among other things, meet certain source-of-income and asset diversification requirements. In addition, to qualify for RIC
tax treatment, the Company must distribute to its stockholders, for each taxable year, at least 90% of its “investment company taxable income” for that year, which is generally
its ordinary income plus the excess of its realized net short-term capital gains over its realized net long-term capital losses.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 11, 2016 and determined that there have been no events that have occurred that would require adjustments to the
Company’s disclosures in the financial statements.

New Accounting Standards

Management does not believe any recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standards, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying financial
statements.
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3. Agreements and Related Party Transactions

Administration Agreement

On March 1, 2016, the Company entered into an Administration Agreement (the “Administration Agreement”) with the Adviser. Under the terms of the Administration
Agreement, the Adviser will perform, or oversee the performance of, required administrative services, which includes providing office space, equipment and office services,
maintaining financial records, preparing reports to shareholders and reports filed with the SEC, and managing the payment of expenses and the performance of administrative
and professional services rendered by others.

The Administration Agreement also provides that the Company will reimburse the Adviser for certain organization costs incurred prior to the commencement of the Company’s
operations, and for certain offering costs.

The Company will reimburse the Adviser for services performed for it pursuant to the terms of the Administration Agreement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the
Administration Agreement, the Adviser may delegate its obligations under the Administration Agreement to an affiliate or to a third party and the Company will reimburse the
Adviser for any services performed for it by such affiliate or third party.

As of March 31, 2016, the Company incurred approximately $0.6 million of costs and expenses reimbursable to the Adviser under the terms of the Administration Agreement.

Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Administration Agreement will remain in effect until March 1, 2018 and from year to year thereafter if approved annually by
(1) the vote of the Company’s Board of Directors, or by the vote of a majority of its outstanding voting securities, and (2) the vote of a majority of the Company’s directors who
are not “interested persons” of the Company, of the Adviser or of any of their respective affiliates, as defined in the 1940 Act. The Administration Agreement may be
terminated at any time, without the payment of any penalty, on 60 days’ written notice, by the vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Company, or by the
vote of the Board of Directors or by the Administrator.

Investment Advisory Agreement

On March 1, 2016, the Company entered into an Investment Advisory Agreement (the “Investment Advisory Agreement”) with the Adviser. Under the terms of the Advisory
Agreement, the Adviser will be responsible for managing the Company’s business and activities, including sourcing investment opportunities, conducting research, performing
diligence on potential investments, structuring its investments, and monitoring its portfolio companies on an ongoing basis through a team of investment professionals.

The Adviser’s services under the Investment Advisory Agreement are not exclusive, and it is free to furnish similar services to other entities so long as its services to the
Company are not impaired.

Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Company will pay the Adviser a base management fee and may also pay to it certain incentive fees. The cost of both
the management fee and the incentive fee will ultimately be borne by the Company’s shareholders.

The management fee is payable quarterly in arrears. Prior to the future quotation or listing of the Company’s securities on a national securities exchange (an “Exchange Listing”)
or the future quotation or listing of its securities on any other public trading market, the management fee is payable at an annual rate of 0.75% of the Company’s (i) average
gross assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed amounts, at the end of the Company’s two most recently completed calendar
quarters plus (ii) the average of any remaining unfunded Capital Commitments at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters. Following an Exchange Listing,
the management fee is payable at an annual rate of 1.75% of the Company’s gross assets excluding cash and cash equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed
amounts, at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters. The management fee for any partial month or quarter, as the case may be, will be appropriately
prorated and adjusted for any share issuances or repurchases during the relevant calendar months or quarters, as the case may be.
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For the three month period ended March 31, 2016, Management Fees were $566,045.

Pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, the Adviser will not be entitled to an incentive fee prior to an Exchange Listing. Following an Exchange Listing, the incentive
fee will consist of two components that are independent of each other, with the result that one component may be payable even if the other is not. A portion of the incentive fee
is based on the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income and a portion is based on the Company’s capital gains. The portion of the incentive fee based on pre-
incentive fee net investment income is determined and paid quarterly in arrears commencing with the first calendar quarter following an Exchange Listing, and equals 100% of
the pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of a 1.5% quarterly “hurdle rate,” until the Adviser has received 20% of the total pre-incentive fee net investment income
for that calendar quarter and, for pre-incentive fee net investment income in excess of 1.875% quarterly, 20% of all remaining pre-incentive fee net investment income for that
calendar quarter.

The second component of the incentive fee, the capital gains incentive fee, payable at the end of each calendar year in arrears, equals 20% of cumulative realized capital gains
from the date on which the Exchange Listing becomes effective (the “Listing Date”) to the end of each calendar year, less cumulative realized capital losses and unrealized
capital depreciation from the Listing Date to the end of each calendar year, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid capital gains incentive fee for prior periods. In no
event will the capital gains incentive fee payable pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement be in excess of the amount permitted by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940,
as amended, including Section 205 thereof.
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There was no Incentive Fee for the three month period ended March 31, 2016.

Unless earlier terminated as described below, the Investment Advisory Agreement will remain in effect until March 1, 2018 and will remain in effect from year-to-year
thereafter if approved annually by a majority of the Board of Directors or by the holders of a majority of our outstanding voting securities and, in each case, by a majority of
independent directors.

The Investment Advisory Agreement will automatically terminate within the meaning of the 1940 Act and related SEC guidance and interpretations in the event of its
assignment. In accordance with the 1940 Act, without payment of any penalty, the Company may terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement with the Adviser upon 60 days’
written notice. The decision to terminate the agreement may be made by a majority of the board of directors or the shareholders holding a majority (as defined under the 1940
Act) of the outstanding shares of our common stock. In addition, without payment of any penalty, the Adviser may generally terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement
upon 60 days’ written notice and, in certain circumstances, the Adviser may only be able to terminate the Investment Advisory Agreement upon 120 days’ written notice.

 
4. Commitments and Contingencies

As of March 31, 2016, the Company had $973.25 million in total capital commitments from investors ($923.25 million unfunded), of which $110.4 million is from executives
of the Adviser ($104.9 million unfunded).

From time to time, the Company may become a party to certain legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of its business. At March 31, 2016, management is not aware
of any pending or threatened litigation.

 
5. Net Assets

In connection with its formation, the Company had the authority to issue 500,000,000 common shares at $0.01 per share par value.

On March 1, 2016, the Company issued 100 common shares for $1,500 to the Adviser.

During March 2016, the Company entered into subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) with several investors providing for the private placement of the
Company’s common shares. Under the terms of the Subscription Agreements, investors are required to fund drawdowns to purchase the Company’s common shares up to the
amount of their respective Capital Commitment on an as-needed basis each time the Company delivers a notice to its investors.

On March 17, 2016, pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Company delivered a capital drawdown notice to its investors relating to the issuance of 3,333,344 common
shares for an aggregate offering price of $50 million. The shares were issued on March 30, 2016.

On March 30, 2016, pursuant to the Subscription Agreements, the Company delivered a capital drawdown notice to its investors relating to the issuance of 17,213 common
shares for an aggregate offering price of $0.3 million. The shares are expected to be issued on or around April 12, 2016.
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6. Financial Highlights

The following per share data and ratios have been derived from information provided in the financial statements. The following are the financial highlights for a common share
outstanding during the three month period ended March 31, 2016:
 

   

Three Months
Ended

March 31, 2016 
Per Share Data   
Net asset value, beginning of period   $ —   
Net investment loss   $ (0.70)
Issuance of common shares    15.00 

Net increase in net assets   $ 14.30 

Net asset value, end of period   $ 14.30 

Shares outstanding, end of period    3,333,444 
Total Return    N/M  
Ratios / Supplemental Data   
Ratio of operating expenses to average net assets (1)    9.73%
Ratio of total expenses to average net assets (1)    9.73%
Ratio of net investment loss to average net assets (1)    9.73%
Net assets, end of period   $ 47,682,191  
Weighted-average shares outstanding    107,627 
Total committed capital, end of period (2)   $973,250,000 
Ratio of total contributed capital to total committed capital, end of period    5.14%
Year of formation    2015 

 
N/M Not meaningful.
(1) Not annualized.
(2) Amount includes $110.4 million of commitments from executives of the Adviser.
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Exhibit 3.1

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT

FIRST: Owl Rock Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation, desires to amend and restate its charter as currently in effect and as hereinafter amended.

SECOND: The following provisions are all the provisions of the charter currently in effect and as hereinafter amended:

Article I. NAME

The name of the corporation (the “Corporation”) is: Owl Rock Capital Corporation

Article II. PURPOSES AND POWERS

The purposes for which the Corporation is formed are to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the general laws of the State of
Maryland as now or hereafter in force, including, without limitation or obligation, engaging in business as a business development company under the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended (together with any rules and regulations and any applicable guidance and/or interpretations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) or its
staff promulgated thereunder, the “1940 Act”).

Article III. PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN STATE AND RESIDENT AGENT

The name of the resident agent of the Corporation in the State of Maryland is The Corporation Trust Incorporated, whose address is 351 West Camden Street, 6th Floor,
Baltimore, Maryland 21201. The street address of the principal office of the Corporation in the State of Maryland is c/o The Corporation Trust Incorporated, 351 West Camden
Street, 6th Floor, Baltimore, Maryland 21201.

Article IV. DEFINITIONS

As used in the Charter, the following terms shall have the following meanings unless the context otherwise requires:

1940 Act. The term “1940 Act” shall have the meaning as provided in Article II herein.

Acquisition Expenses. The term “Acquisition Expenses” shall mean any and all expenses incurred by the Corporation, the Adviser or any of their Affiliates in connection with
the initial purchase or acquisition of assets, whether or not acquired, by the Corporation, including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses, travel and communications
expenses, costs of appraisals, non-refundable option payments on assets not acquired, accounting fees and expenses and miscellaneous expenses.

Acquisition Fee. The term “Acquisition Fee” shall mean any and all fees and commissions, exclusive of Acquisition Expenses, paid by any Person to any other Person
(including any fees or commissions paid by or to any Affiliate of the Corporation or the Adviser) in connection with the



initial purchase or acquisition of assets by the Corporation. Included in the computation of such fees or commissions shall be any commission, selection fee, supervision fee,
financing fee or non-recurring management fee or any fee of a similar nature, however designated.

Additional Preferred Directors. The term “Additional Preferred Directors shall have the meaning as provided in Section 5.09 herein.

Adviser or Advisers. The term “Adviser” or “Advisers” shall mean the Person or Persons, if any, appointed, employed or contracted with by the Corporation and responsible for
directing or performing the day-to-day business affairs of the Corporation, including any Person to whom the Adviser subcontracts all or substantially all of such functions.

Advisory Agreement. The term “Advisory Agreement” shall mean any investment advisory agreement with an Adviser.

Affiliate or Affiliated. The term “Affiliate” or “Affiliated” shall mean, with respect to any Person, (i) any Person directly or indirectly owning, controlling or holding, with the
power to vote, ten percent or more of the outstanding voting securities of such other Person; (ii) any Person ten percent or more of whose outstanding voting securities are
directly or indirectly owned, controlled or held, with the power to vote, by such other Person; (iii) any Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common
control with such other Person; (iv) any executive officer, director, trustee or general partner of such other Person; and (v) any legal entity for which such Person acts as an
executive officer, director, trustee or general partner.

Assessment. The term “Assessment” shall mean any additional amounts of capital which may be mandatorily required of, or paid voluntarily by, a Stockholder beyond his or
her subscription commitment excluding deferred payments.

Benefit Plan Investor. The term “Benefit Plan Investor” means a benefit plan investor as defined in section 3(42) of ERISA.

Board or Board of Directors. The term “Board” or “Board of Directors” shall mean the board of directors of the Corporation, as of any particular time.

Business Day. The term “Business Day” shall mean any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which banking institutions in New
York City are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to close.

Bylaws. The term “Bylaws” shall mean the bylaws of the Corporation, as amended from time to time.

Capital Contributions. The term “Capital Contributions” shall mean the total investment, including the original investment and amounts reinvested pursuant to a distribution
reinvestment plan, in the Corporation by a Stockholder or by all Stockholders, as the case may be. Unless otherwise specified, Capital Contributions shall be deemed to include
principal amounts to be received on account of deferred payments.

Charter. The term “Charter” shall mean the charter of the Corporation, as may be amended from time to time.

Code. The term “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.



Commencement of a Non-Listed Offering. The term “Commencement of a Non-Listed Offering” shall mean the date that the SEC declares effective the registration statement
filed under the Securities Act for a Non-Listed Offering.

Commencement of the Private Placement. The term “Commencement of the Private Placement” shall mean the first date on which the Company sells Common Shares pursuant
to a Private Placement.

Common Shares. The term “Common Shares” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 6.01 herein.

Controlling Person. The term “Controlling Person” shall mean a Person, whatever his or her title, who performs functions for the Sponsor similar to those of (a) the chairman or
other member of a board of directors, (b) executive officers or (c) those holding ten percent or more equity interest in the Sponsor, or a Person having the power to direct or
cause the direction of the Sponsor, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

Corporation. The term “Corporation” shall have the meaning as provided in Article I herein.

Director or Directors. The term “Director” or “Directors” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 5.01 herein.

Distributions. The term “Distributions” shall mean any distributions (as such term is defined in Section 2-301 of the MGCL) by the Corporation to owners of Shares, including
distributions that may constitute a return of capital for federal income tax purposes.

ERISA. The term “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

ERISA Controlling Person. The term “ERISA Controlling Person” means a Person (other than a benefit plan investor) who has discretionary authority or control with respect to
the assets of the Corporation or who provides investment advice for a fee (direct or indirect) with respect to such assets, or any affiliate of such a Person within the meaning of
29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101(f)(3).

Exchange Act. The term “Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or any successor statute thereto. Reference to any
provision of the Exchange Act shall mean such provision as in effect from time to time, as the same may be amended, and any successor provision thereto, as interpreted by any
applicable regulations as in effect from time to time.

Front End Fees. The term “Front End Fees” shall mean fees and expenses paid by any party for any services rendered to organize the Corporation and to acquire assets for the
Corporation, including Organization and Offering Expenses, Acquisition Fees, Acquisition Expenses, and any other similar fees, however designated by the Sponsor.

Indemnitee. The term “Indemnitee” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 11.02(b) herein.

Independent Expert. The term “Independent Expert” shall mean a Person with no material current or prior business or personal relationship with the Sponsor who is engaged to
a substantial extent in the business of rendering opinions regarding the value of assets of the type held by the Corporation, and who is qualified to perform such work.



Investment in Program Assets. The term “Investment in Program Assets” shall mean the amount of Capital Contributions actually paid or allocated to the purchase or
development of assets acquired by the Corporation (including working capital reserves allocable thereto, except that working capital reserves in excess of three percent shall not
be included) and other cash payments such as interest and taxes, but excluding Front End Fees.

Listing. The term “Listing” shall mean the listing of the Common Shares on a national securities exchange. Upon such Listing, the Common Shares shall be deemed Listed.

MGCL. The term “MGCL” shall mean the Maryland General Corporation Law, as amended from time to time.

NASAA Omnibus Guidelines. The term “NASAA Omnibus Guidelines” shall mean the Omnibus Guidelines published by the North American Securities Administrators
Association on May 7, 2007.

Non-Compliant Tender Offer. The term “Non-Compliant Tender Offer” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 10.06 herein.

Non-Listed Offering. The term “Non-Listed Offering” shall mean a continuous public Offering through the independent broker-dealer network pursuant to an effective
registration statement filed under the Securities Act that is not made in connection with a Listing.

Offering. The term “Offering” shall mean any offering and sale of Shares.

Organization and Offering Expenses. The term “Organization and Offering Expenses” shall mean any and all costs and expenses incurred by the Corporation and to be paid
from the assets of the Corporation in connection with the formation of the Corporation and the qualification and registration of an Offering, and the marketing and distribution
of Shares, including, without limitation, total underwriting and brokerage discounts and commissions (including fees of the underwriters’ attorneys), expenses for printing,
engraving and amending registration statements or supplementing prospectuses, mailing and distributing costs, salaries of employees while engaged in sales activity, telephone
and other telecommunications costs, all advertising and marketing expenses, charges of transfer agents, registrars, trustees, escrow holders, depositories and experts and fees,
expenses and taxes related to the filing, registration and qualification of the sale of Shares under federal and state laws, including taxes and fees and accountants’ and attorneys’
fees.

Person. The term “Person” shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, estate, trust (including a trust qualified under Sections 401(a) or 501(c)(17) of the Code), a portion
of a trust permanently set aside for or to be used exclusively for the purposes described in Section 642(c) of the Code, association, private foundation within the meaning of
Section 509(a) of the Code, joint stock company or other entity, or any government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, and also includes a group as that term is used
for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.

Plan. The term “Plan” means any employee benefit plan subject to Part 4 of Title I of ERISA, or any plan to which section 4975 of the Code applies.

Plan Asset Regulation. The term “Plan Asset Regulation” means 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, as modified by section 3 (42) of ERISA.



Preferred Shares. The term “Preferred Shares” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 6.01 herein.

Private Placement. The term “Private Placement” shall mean any Offering that is not made pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act.

Prospectus. The term “Prospectus” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 2(10) of the Securities Act, including a preliminary prospectus, an offering circular as
described in Rule 256 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act or, in the case of an intrastate offering, any document by whatever name known, utilized
for the purpose of offering and selling Shares to the public.

Publicly Offered Securities. The term “Publicly Offered Securities” means publicly offered securities as defined in 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101(b)(2) or any successor regulation
thereto.

Roll-Up Entity. The term “Roll-Up Entity” shall mean a partnership, corporation, trust or similar entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion
of a proposed Roll-Up Transaction.

Roll-Up Transaction. The term “Roll-Up Transaction” shall mean a transaction involving the acquisition, merger, conversion or consolidation either directly or indirectly of the
Corporation and the issuance of securities of a Roll-Up Entity to the holders of Common Shares. Such term does not include:

(a) a transaction involving securities of the Roll-Up Entity that have been listed on a national securities exchange for at least twelve months; or

(b) a transaction involving the conversion to corporate, trust or association form of only the Corporation, if, as a consequence of the transaction, there will be no significant
adverse change in any of the following:
 

 (i) voting rights of the holders of Common Shares;
 

 (ii) the term of existence of the Corporation;
 

 (iii) Sponsor or Adviser compensation; or
 

 (iv) the Corporation’s investment objectives.

SEC. The term “SEC” shall have the meaning as provided in Article II hereto.

Securities Act. The term “Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time, or any successor statute thereto. Reference to any provision of
the Securities Act shall mean such provision as in effect from time to time, as the same may be amended, and any successor provision thereto, as interpreted by any applicable
regulations as in effect from time to time.

Shares. The term “Shares” shall mean shares of stock of the Corporation of any class or series, including Common Shares or Preferred Shares.

Sponsor. The term “Sponsor” shall mean any Person which (i) is directly or indirectly instrumental in organizing, wholly or in part, the Corporation, (ii) will control, manage or
participate in the management of the Corporation, (iii) takes the initiative, directly or indirectly, in founding or organizing the Corporation, either alone or in conjunction with
one or more other Persons, (iv) receives a material participation in the Corporation in connection with the founding



or organizing of the business of the Corporation, in consideration of services or property, or both services and property, (v) has a substantial number of relationships and
contacts with the Corporation, (vi) possesses significant rights to control assets of the Corporation, (vii) receives fees for providing services to the Corporation which are paid on
a basis that is not customary in the industry or (viii) provides goods or services to the Corporation on a basis which was not negotiated at arm’s-length with the Corporation.
“Sponsor” does not include any Person whose only relationship with the Corporation is that of an independent manager of a portion of the Corporation’s assets and whose only
compensation is as such, or wholly independent third parties such as attorneys, accountants and underwriters whose only compensation is for professional services.

Stockholder List. The term “Stockholder List” shall have the meaning as provided in Section 10.04 herein.

Stockholders. The term “Stockholders” shall mean the holders of record of the Shares as maintained in the books and records of the Corporation or its transfer agent.

Article V. PROVISIONS FOR DEFINING, LIMITING
AND REGULATING CERTAIN POWERS

OF THE CORPORATION AND OF
THE STOCKHOLDERS AND DIRECTORS

Section 5.01 Number, Vacancies, Classification and Election of Directors. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of the Board of
Directors. The number of directors of the Corporation (the “Directors”) is five, which number may be increased or decreased only by the Board of Directors pursuant to the
Bylaws, or the Charter, but shall never be less than the minimum number required by the MGCL. A director shall have the qualifications, if any, specified in the Bylaws. The
names of the directors who shall serve until their successors are duly elected and qualify are:

Eric Kaye – Class 1 Director (as defined below)
Douglas I. Ostrover – Class 2 Director (as defined below)

Christopher M. Temple – Class 2 Director (as defined below)
Alan Kirshenbaum – Class 3 Director (as defined below)
Edward D’Alelio – Class 3 Director (as defined below)

The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy, whether resulting from an increase in the number of directors or otherwise, on the Board of Directors in the manner provided in
the Bylaws.

The Corporation elects at such time as it becomes eligible pursuant to Section 3-802 of the MGCL to make the election as provided for under Section 3-804(c) of the MGCL
that, except as may be provided by the Board of Directors in setting the terms of any class or series of Preferred Shares or as may be required by the 1940 Act, any and all
vacancies on the Board of Directors may be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining Directors in office, even if the remaining Directors do not
constitute a quorum, and any Director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the full term of the directorship in which such vacancy occurred.

On the date of the Commencement of the Private Placement, the Directors (other than any Director elected solely by holders of one or more classes or series of Preferred Stock
in connection with dividend arrearages) shall be classified, with respect to the terms for which they



severally hold office, into three classes, as determined by the Board of Directors, as nearly equal in size as is practicable. The term of office of one class of Directors (the “Class
1 Directors”) shall expire at the first annual meeting of Stockholders following the Commencement of the Private Placement, the term of office of another class of Directors (the
“Class 2 Directors”) shall expire at the second annual meeting of Stockholders following the Commencement of the Private Placement and the term of office of the remaining
class of Directors (the “Class 3 Directors”) shall expire at the third annual meeting of the Stockholders following the Commencement of the Private Placement, and, in each
case, when their respective successors are duly elected and qualify. The initial directors of each class shall be determined by the Board of Directors before or as soon as
reasonably practicable after the Commencement of the Private Placement. At each annual meeting of Stockholders, commencing with the annual meeting next following the
Commencement of the Private Placement, the successors to the class of Directors whose term expires at such meeting shall be elected to hold office for a term expiring at the
third succeeding annual meeting of Stockholders following the meeting at which they were elected and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualify.

A majority of the Board of Directors shall be independent directors, except for a period of up to 60 days, or such longer period permitted by law, after the death, removal or
resignation of an independent director pending the election of such independent director’s successor. A Director is considered independent if he or she is not an “interested
person” as that term is defined under Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act.

Section 5.02 Extraordinary Actions. Except as specifically provided in Section 5.07 (relating to removal of directors), in Section 12.02 (relating to certain amendments to the
Charter) and in Section 12.03 (relating to certain actions), notwithstanding any provision of law permitting or requiring any action to be taken or approved by the affirmative
vote of Stockholders entitled to cast a greater number of votes, any such action shall be effective and valid if declared advisable by the Board of Directors and taken or approved
by the affirmative vote of Stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Section 5.03 Quorum. The presence in person or by proxy of holders of Shares of the Corporation entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled to be cast (without regard to
class) shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of Stockholders, except with respect to any such matter that, under applicable statutes or regulatory requirements or the Charter,
requires approval by a separate vote of one or more classes or series of Shares, in which case the presence in person or by proxy of Stockholders entitled to cast a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast by such classes or series of Shares on such matter shall constitute a quorum. To the extent permitted by Maryland law as in effect from time to time, the
foregoing quorum provision may be changed by the Bylaws.

Section 5.04 Authorization by Board of Stock Issuance. The Board of Directors may authorize the issuance from time to time of Shares of any class or series, whether now or
hereafter authorized, or securities or rights convertible into Shares of any class or series, whether now or hereafter authorized, for such consideration, if any, as the Board of
Directors may deem advisable (including compensation for the Directors or without consideration in the case of a stock split or stock dividend), subject to such restrictions or
limitations, if any, as may be set forth in the Charter or the Bylaws.



Section 5.05 Preemptive Rights and Appraisal Rights. Except as may be provided by the Board of Directors in setting the terms of classified or reclassified Shares pursuant to
Section 6.04 or as may otherwise be provided by a contract approved by the Board of Directors, no holder of Shares shall, as such holder, have any preemptive right to purchase
or subscribe for any additional Shares or any other security of the Corporation which the Corporation may issue or sell. Holders of Shares shall not be entitled to exercise any
rights of an objecting Stockholder provided for under Title 3, Subtitle 2 of the MGCL or any successor statute unless the Board of Directors, upon such terms and conditions
specified by the Board of Directors, shall determine that such rights apply, with respect to all or any classes or series of Shares, or any proportion of the Shares thereof, to a
particular transaction or all transactions occurring after the date of such determination in connection with which holders of such Shares would otherwise be entitled to exercise
such rights.

Section 5.06 Determinations by Board. The determination as to any of the following matters, made by or pursuant to the direction of the Board of Directors not inconsistent with
the Charter, shall be final and conclusive and shall be binding upon the Corporation and every holder of Shares: the amount of the net income of the Corporation for any period
and the amount of assets at any time legally available for the payment of dividends, purchase of Shares or the payment of other Distributions on Shares; the amount of paid-in
surplus, net assets, other surplus, annual or other cash flow, funds from operations, net profit, net assets in excess of capital, undivided profits or excess of profits over losses on
sales of assets; the amount, purpose, time of creation, increase or decrease, alteration or cancellation of any reserves or charges and the propriety thereof (whether or not any
obligation or liability for which such reserves or charges shall have been created shall have been set aside, paid or discharged); any interpretation or resolution of any ambiguity
with respect to any provision of the Charter (including any of the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers or rights, restrictions, limitations as to dividends
or other Distributions, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption of any class or series of Shares) or the Bylaws; the fair value, or any sale, bid or asked price to be
applied in determining the fair value, of any asset owned or held by the Corporation or of any Shares; the number of Shares of any class or series of the Corporation; any matter
relating to the acquisition, holding and disposition of any assets by the Corporation; any interpretation of the terms and conditions of one or more agreements with any Person,
corporation, association, company, trust, partnership (limited or general) or other entity; the compensation of directors, officers, employees or agents of the Corporation;
following a Non-Listed Offering, any conflict between the MGCL and the provisions set forth in the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines; or any other matter relating to the business
and affairs of the Corporation or required or permitted by applicable law, the Charter or Bylaws or otherwise to be determined by the Board of Directors; provided, however,
that any determination by the Board of Directors as to any of the preceding matters shall not render invalid or improper any action taken or omitted prior to such determination
and no Director shall be liable for making or failing to make such a determination; and provided, further, that following a Non-Listed Offering, to the extent the Board
determines that the MGCL conflicts with the provisions set forth in the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines included in this Charter, the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines control to the
extent any provisions of the MGCL are not mandatory.

Section 5.07 Removal of Directors. Subject to the rights of holders of one or more classes or series of Preferred Shares to elect or remove one or more Directors, from and after
the



Commencement of the Private Placement any Director, or the entire Board of Directors, may be removed from office at any time only for cause and only by the affirmative vote
of at least 75% of the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of Directors, voting together as a single class. For the purpose of this paragraph, “cause” shall mean, with
respect to any particular Director, conviction of a felony or a final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction holding that such Director caused demonstrable, material harm
to the Corporation through bad faith or active and deliberate dishonesty.

Section 5.08 Stockholder Action by Unanimous Written Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Stockholders, unless such action is taken at a duly called
annual or special meeting of Stockholders, may only be taken by the unanimous written consent of all Stockholders entitled to vote thereon.

Section 5.09 Additional Preferred Directors. During any period when the holders of one or more classes or series of Preferred Shares, due to the occurrence of an event or
events, have the right to elect additional Directors who, together with the Directors elected by the separate vote of the holders of one or more classes or series of Preferred
Shares prior to such event or events, constitute a majority of the total number of Directors (the additional Directors elected by the separate vote of such holders following such
event, the “Additional Preferred Directors”), then, upon commencement and for the duration of the period during which such right continues: (i) the otherwise total authorized
number of Directors of the Corporation shall automatically be increased by such specified number of Additional Preferred Directors, and the holders of such Preferred Shares
shall be entitled to elect the Additional Preferred Directors so provided for or fixed pursuant to said provisions, and (ii) each such Additional Preferred Director shall serve until
the next meeting of Stockholders at which Directors are elected and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified, or until his or her right to hold such office terminates
pursuant to said provisions, whichever occurs earlier, subject to his or her earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. Except as otherwise provided by the
Board of Directors in fixing the terms of such class or series of Preferred Shares, whenever the holders of any class or series of Preferred Shares having such right to elect
Additional Preferred Directors are divested of such right pursuant to the terms of such class or series of Preferred Shares, the terms of office of all such Additional Preferred
Directors, or such other Directors elected to fill any vacancies resulting from the death, resignation, disqualification or removal of such Additional Preferred Directors, shall
forthwith terminate, all such Additional Preferred Directors shall automatically cease to be qualified to serve as Directors, and the total authorized number of Directors of the
Corporation shall be automatically reduced accordingly.

Article VI. STOCK

Section 6.01 Authorized Shares. The Corporation has authority to issue 500,000,000 Shares, initially consisting of 500,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per
share (“Common Shares”), and no shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Shares”). The aggregate par value of all authorized Shares having par value is
$5,000,000.00. All Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable when issued and the Corporation shall not make any mandatory Assessments against any Stockholder beyond
such Stockholder’s subscription commitment. If Shares of one class or series are classified or reclassified into Shares of another class or series pursuant to this Article VI, the
number of authorized Shares of the former class or



series shall be automatically decreased and the number of Shares of the latter class or series shall be automatically increased, in each case by the number of Shares so classified
or reclassified, so that the aggregate number of Shares of all classes and series that the Corporation has authority to issue shall not be more than the total number of Shares set
forth in the first sentence of this paragraph. The Board of Directors, with the approval of a majority of the entire Board and without any action by the Stockholders, may amend
the Charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of Shares or the number of Shares of any class or series that the Corporation has authority to issue.

Section 6.02 Common Shares.
 

 (a) Common Shares Subject to Terms of Preferred Shares. The Common Shares shall be subject to the express terms of any series of Preferred Shares.
 

 
(b) Description. Except as may otherwise be specified in the Charter, each Common Share shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote per share on all matters upon

which Stockholders are entitled to vote pursuant to Section 10.01 hereof. The Board may classify or reclassify any unissued Common Shares from time to time into
one or more classes or series of Shares.

 

 

(c) Rights Upon Liquidation. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or any Distribution of the assets of the Corporation,
the aggregate assets of the Corporation available for Distribution to holders of the Common Shares shall be determined in accordance with applicable law. Each
holder of Common Shares of a particular class or series shall be entitled to receive, ratably with each other holder of Common Shares of such class or series, that
portion of such aggregate assets available for Distribution as the number of outstanding Common Shares of such class or series held by such holder bears to the total
number of outstanding Common Shares of such class or series then outstanding.

 

 
(d) Voting Rights. Except as may be provided otherwise in the Charter, and subject to the express terms of any series of Preferred Shares, the holders of the Common

Shares shall have the exclusive right to vote on all matters (as to which a common stockholder shall be entitled to vote pursuant to applicable law) at all meetings of
the Stockholders.

Section 6.03 Preferred Shares. The Board, including a majority of the independent directors on the Board, may classify any unissued Preferred Shares and reclassify any
previously classified but unissued Preferred Shares of any series from time to time, into one or more classes or series of Shares.

Section 6.04 Classified or Reclassified Shares. Prior to issuance of classified or reclassified Shares of any class or series, the Board by resolution shall: (a) designate that class or
series to distinguish it from all other classes and series of Shares; (b) specify the number of Shares to be included in the class or series; (c) set or change, subject to the express
terms of any class or series of Shares outstanding at the time, the preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers (including exclusive voting rights, if any), restrictions,
limitations as to dividends or other Distributions, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption for each class or



series; and (d) cause the Corporation to file articles supplementary with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland. Any of the terms of any class or series
of Shares set or changed pursuant to clause (c) of this Section 6.04 may be made dependent upon facts or events ascertainable outside the Charter (including determinations by
the Board or other facts or events within the control of the Corporation) and may vary among holders thereof, provided that the manner in which such facts, events or variations
shall operate upon the terms of such class or series of Shares is clearly and expressly set forth in the articles supplementary or other charter document.

Section 6.05 Deferred Payments. The Corporation shall not have authority to make arrangements for deferred payments on account of the purchase price of Shares unless all of
the following conditions are met: (a) such arrangements are warranted by the Corporation’s investment objectives; (b) the period of deferred payments coincides with the
anticipated cash needs of the Corporation; (c) the deferred payments shall be evidenced by a promissory note of the Stockholder, which note shall be with recourse, shall not be
negotiable, shall be assignable only subject to defenses of the maker and shall not contain a provision authorizing a confession of judgment; and (d) selling commissions and
Front End Fees paid upon deferred payments are payable when payment is made on the note. The Corporation shall not sell or assign the deferred obligation notes at a discount.
In the event of default in the payment of deferred payments by a Stockholder, the Stockholder may be subjected to a reasonable penalty. The provisions of this Section 6.05 shall
only apply following a Non-Listed Offering.

Section 6.06 Distributions.
 

 
(a) Any Advisory Agreement shall provide that, following a Non-Listed Offering, the Adviser shall cause the Corporation to provide for adequate reserves for normal

replacements and contingencies (but the Corporation shall not be required to maintain reserves for payment of fees payable to the Adviser) by causing the
Corporation to retain a reasonable percentage of proceeds from offerings and revenues.

 

 

(b) From time to time and not less than quarterly, the Corporation shall cause the Adviser to review the Corporation’s accounts to determine whether cash
distributions are appropriate. The Corporation may, subject to authorization by the Board of Directors, distribute pro rata to the Stockholders funds received by the
Corporation which the Board of Directors deems unnecessary to retain in the Corporation. The Board of Directors may from time to time authorize the
Corporation to declare and pay to Stockholders such dividends or other Distributions, in cash or other assets of the Corporation or in securities of the Corporation,
including in Shares of one class or series payable to holders of Shares of another class or series, or from any other source as the Board of Directors in its discretion
shall determine. The Board of Directors may endeavor to authorize the Corporation to declare and pay such dividends and other Distributions (i) as may be
necessary or advisable for the Corporation to qualify as a “Regulated Investment Company” under the Code or as may be necessary or advisable under the 1940
Act and (ii) to the extent that the Board of Directors deems it unnecessary for the Corporation to retain funds received by it; provided, however, Stockholders shall
have no right to any dividend or other Distribution unless and until authorized by the Board and declared by the Corporation. The exercise of the powers and
rights of the Board of Directors pursuant



 

to this Section 6.06 shall be subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares at the time outstanding. The receipt by any Person in whose name any Shares
are registered on the records of the Corporation or by his or her duly authorized agent shall be a sufficient discharge for all dividends or other Distributions payable
or deliverable in respect of such Shares and from all liability to see to the application thereof. Distributions in kind shall not be permitted, except for distributions of
readily marketable securities or securities of the Corporation, distributions of beneficial interests in a liquidating trust established for the dissolution of the
Corporation and the liquidation of its assets in accordance with the terms of the Charter or in kind distributions in which (a) the Board advises each Stockholder of
the risks associated with direct ownership of the property, (b) the Board offers each Stockholder the election of receiving such in-kind distributions and (c) in-kind
distributions are made only to those Stockholders that accept such offer.

The restrictions in this Section 6.06 shall only be effective following a Non-Listed Offering.

Section 6.07 Charter and Bylaws. All Persons who acquire Shares of the Corporation acquire the same, and the rights of all Stockholders and the terms of all Shares are, subject
to the provisions of the Charter and the Bylaws. The Board of Directors shall have the exclusive power, at any time, to make, alter, amend or repeal the Bylaws.

Section 6.08 No Issuance of Share Certificates. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, the Corporation shall not issue stock certificates. A Stockholder’s
investment shall be recorded on the books of the Corporation. To transfer his or her Shares, a Stockholder shall submit an executed form to the Corporation, which form shall
be provided by the Corporation upon request. Such transfer will also be recorded on the books of the Corporation. Upon issuance or transfer of Shares, the Corporation will
provide the Stockholder with information concerning his or her rights with regard to such Shares, as required by the Bylaws and the MGCL or other applicable law.

Section 6.09 Suitability of Stockholders. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the following provisions shall apply:
 

 

(a) Investor Suitability Standards. Subject to suitability standards established by individual states and any amendment to the income and net worth standards set forth in
the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines, including any amendment or restatement thereto, to become a Stockholder, if such prospective Stockholder is an individual
(including an individual beneficiary of a purchasing individual retirement account), or if the prospective Stockholder is a fiduciary (such as a trustee of a trust or
corporate pension or profit sharing plan, or other tax-exempt organization, or a custodian under a Uniform Gifts to Minors Act), such individual or fiduciary, as the
case may be, must represent to the Corporation, among other requirements as the Corporation may require from time to time, that:

 

 
(i) such individual (or, in the case of sales to fiduciary accounts, that the beneficiary, the fiduciary account or the donor or grantor who directly or indirectly

supplies the funds to purchase the Shares if the donor or grantor is the fiduciary) has a minimum annual gross income of $70,000 and a net worth
(excluding home, furnishings and automobiles) of not less than $70,000; or



 
(ii) such individual (or, in the case of sales to fiduciary accounts, that the beneficiary, the fiduciary account or the donor or grantor who directly or indirectly

supplies the funds to purchase the Shares if the donor or grantor is the fiduciary) has a net worth (excluding home, furnishings and automobiles) of not less
than $250,000.

 

 

(b) Determination of Suitability of Sale. The Sponsor and each Person selling Common Shares on behalf of the Corporation shall make every reasonable effort to
determine that the purchase of Common Shares by a Stockholder is a suitable and appropriate investment for such Stockholder. In making this determination, the
Sponsor or each Person selling Common Shares on behalf of the Corporation shall ascertain that the prospective Stockholder: (a) meets the minimum income and
net worth standards established for the Corporation; (b) can reasonably benefit from the Corporation based on the prospective Stockholder’s overall investment
objectives and portfolio structure; (c) is able to bear the economic risk of the investment based on the prospective Stockholder’s overall financial situation; and
(d) has apparent understanding of (i) the fundamental risks of the investment; (ii) the risk that the Stockholder may lose the entire investment; (iii) the lack of
liquidity of the Common Shares; (iv) the restrictions on transferability of the Common Shares; and (v) the tax consequences of the investment.

The Sponsor or each Person selling Common Shares on behalf of the Corporation shall make this determination on the basis of information it has obtained from a
prospective Stockholder. Relevant information for this purpose will include at least the age, investment objectives, investment experiences, income, net worth,
financial situation and other investments of the prospective Stockholder, as well as any other pertinent factors.

The Sponsor or each Person selling Common Shares on behalf of the Corporation shall maintain records of the information used to determine that an investment in
Common Shares is suitable and appropriate for a Stockholder. The Sponsor or each Person selling Common Shares on behalf of the Corporation shall maintain
these records for at least six years.

Section 6.10 Repurchase of Shares. The Board of Directors may establish, from time to time, a program or programs by which the Corporation voluntarily repurchases Shares
from the Stockholders; provided, however, that such repurchase does not impair the capital or operations of the Corporation.

Article VII. ADVISER

Section 7.01 Supervision of Adviser. The Board may exercise broad discretion in allowing the Adviser to administer and regulate the operations of the Corporation, to act as
agent for the Corporation, to execute documents on behalf of the Corporation and to make executive decisions that conform to general policies and principles established by the
Board. The Board shall oversee the Adviser to assure that the administrative procedures, operations and programs of the Corporation are reasonable and appropriate and that
(i) the expenses incurred are reasonable in



light of the operations of the Corporation, (ii) following a Non-Listed Offering, all Front End Fees are reasonable and do not exceed 18% of the gross proceeds of any Offering,
regardless of the source of payment, and (iii) following a Non-Listed Offering, the percentage of gross proceeds of any Offering committed to Investment in Program Assets
shall be at least 82%. All items of compensation to underwriters or dealers, including, but not limited to, selling commissions, expenses, rights of first refusal, consulting fees,
finders’ fees and all other items of compensation of any kind or description paid by the Corporation, directly or indirectly, shall be taken into consideration in computing the
amount of allowable Front End Fees. The Board of Directors also will be responsible for determining that compensation to be paid to the Adviser is reasonable in relation to the
nature and quality of services performed and the investment performance of the Corporation and that the provisions of any Advisory Agreement are being carried out. The Board
of Directors may consider all factors that it deems relevant in making these determinations. So long as the Corporation is a business development company under the 1940 Act,
compensation to the Adviser shall be considered presumptively reasonable if the incentive fee is limited to the amounts allowed by the 1940 Act.

Section 7.02 Fiduciary Obligations; Experience. The Adviser has a fiduciary responsibility and duty to the Corporation and the Stockholders for the safekeeping and use of all
the funds and assets of the Corporation, whether or not in the Adviser’s immediate possession or control. The Adviser shall not employ, or permit another to employ, such funds
or assets except for the exclusive benefit of the Corporation. The Adviser may not contract away the fiduciary obligation owed to the Corporation and the Stockholders under
common law. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the investment committee of the Adviser shall have at least three years’ relevant experience demonstrating the knowledge and
experience to acquire and manage the type of assets being acquired by the Corporation and shall have not less than four years relevant experience in the kind of service being
rendered or otherwise must demonstrate sufficient knowledge and experience to perform the services proposed. Any sub-adviser to the Corporation shall be subject to the same
fiduciary duties imposed on the Adviser pursuant to this Section 7.02, the 1940 Act and the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended from time to time (together with any
rules and regulations and any applicable guidance and/or interpretations of the SEC or its staff promulgated thereunder), as well as other applicable federal and state law.

Section 7.03 Successor Adviser. The Board of Directors shall determine whether any successor Adviser possesses sufficient qualifications to perform the advisory function for
the Corporation and whether the compensation provided for in its contract with the Corporation is reasonable.

Section 7.04 Termination. Any Advisory Agreement shall provide that it is terminable, without cause or penalty, by (a) a majority of the Independent Directors on 60 days’
written notice or (b) the Adviser on 60 days’ written notice; provided, however, that following a Non-Listed Offering, any Advisory Agreement is only terminable by the
Adviser on 120 days’ written notice. In the event of termination, the Adviser will cooperate with the Corporation and the Board in making an orderly transition of the advisory
function. In addition, if the Corporation elects to continue its operations, the Adviser shall pay all expenses incurred as a result of its withdrawal. Upon termination of the
Advisory Agreement, the Corporation shall pay the Adviser all amounts then accrued but unpaid to the Adviser. The method of payment must be fair and protect the solvency
and liquidity of the Corporation.



Section 7.05 Organization and Offering Expenses Limitation. Following a Non-Listed Offering, unless otherwise provided in any resolution adopted by the Board, the
Corporation shall reimburse the Adviser and its Affiliates for Organization and Offering Expenses incurred by the Adviser or its Affiliates; provided, however, that the total
amount of all Organization and Offering Expenses shall be reasonable, as determined by the Board, and shall be included in Front End Fees for purposes of the limit on such
Front End Fees set forth in Section 7.01.

Section 7.06 Acquisition Fees. Unless otherwise provided in any resolution adopted by the Board, the Corporation may pay the Adviser and its Affiliates fees for the review and
evaluation of potential investments; provided, however, that the Board shall conclude that the total of all Acquisition Fees and Acquisition Expenses are reasonable.

Section 7.07 Limitations on Reimbursement of Expenses. In addition to the compensation paid to the Adviser, the Corporation shall reimburse the Adviser, at the end of each
fiscal quarter, for all expenses of the Corporation incurred by the Adviser as well as the actual cost of goods and services used for or by the Corporation and obtained from
entities not Affiliated with the Adviser. The Adviser may be reimbursed for the administrative services performed by it on behalf of the Corporation pursuant to any separate
administration or co-administration agreement with the Adviser; provided, however, such reimbursement shall be an amount equal to the lower of the Adviser’s actual cost or
the amount the Corporation would be required to pay third parties for the provision of comparable administrative services in the same geographic location; and provided,
further, that such costs are reasonably allocated to the Corporation on the basis of assets, revenues, time records or other methods conforming with generally accepted
accounting principles. No such reimbursement shall be permitted for services for which the Adviser is entitled to compensation by way of a separate fee. Excluded from such
allowable reimbursement shall be: (i) rent or depreciation, utilities, capital equipment, and other administrative items of the Adviser; and (ii) salaries, fringe benefits, travel
expenses and other administrative items incurred by or allocated to any Controlling Person of the Adviser. This Section 7.07 shall only be effective following a Non-Listed
Offering.

Article VIII. INVESTMENT LIMITATIONS

Section 8.01 Investment Objectives. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation’s investment objective will be to generate current income and, to a lesser extent, capital
appreciation. The independent directors on the Board shall review the investment policies of the Corporation with sufficient frequency (not less often than annually) to
determine that the policies being followed by the Corporation are in the best interests of the Corporation.

Section 8.02 Investments in Other Programs.
 

 

(a) Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation may invest in general partnerships or joint ventures with non-Affiliates that own and operate specific assets,
only if the Corporation, alone or together with any publicly registered Affiliate of the Corporation meeting the requirements of subsection (b) below, acquires a
controlling interest in such a general partnership or joint venture, but in no event shall the Adviser be entitled to duplicate fees; provided, however that the
foregoing is not intended to prevent the Corporation from carrying out its business of investing and reinvesting its assets in



 

securities of other issuers. For purposes of this Section, “controlling interest” means an equity interest possessing the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of the general partnership or joint venture, including the authority to: (i) review all contracts entered into by the general partnership or joint
venture that will have a material effect on its business or assets; (ii) cause a sale or refinancing of the assets or its interest therein subject, in certain cases where
required by the partnership or joint venture agreement, to limits as to time, minimum amounts and/or a right of first refusal by the joint venture partner or consent of
the joint venture partner; (iii) approve budgets and major capital expenditures, subject to a stated minimum amount; (iv) veto any sale or refinancing of the assets,
or alternatively, to receive a specified preference on sale or refinancing proceeds; and (v) exercise a right of first refusal on any desired sale or refinancing by the
joint venture partner of its interest in the assets, except for transfer to an Affiliate of the joint venture partner.

 

 

(b) Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation may invest in general partnerships or joint ventures with other publicly registered Affiliates of the Corporation
only if all of the following conditions are met: (i) the Affiliate and the Corporation have substantially identical investment objectives; (ii) there are no duplicate fees
to the Adviser; (iii) the compensation payable by the general partnership or joint venture to the Advisers by each of the Corporation and its Affiliate that invests in
such partnership or joint venture is substantially identical; (iv) each of the Corporation and the Affiliate has a right of first refusal to buy if the other party wishes to
sell assets held in the partnership or joint venture; (v) the investment of each of the Corporation and its Affiliate is on substantially the same terms and conditions;
and (vi) any Prospectus in use or proposed to be used when such an investment has been made or is contemplated discloses the potential risk of impasse on
partnership or joint venture decisions since neither the Corporation nor its Affiliate controls the partnership or joint venture, and the potential risk that, while the
Corporation or its Affiliate may have the right to buy the assets from the partnership or joint venture, it may not have the resources to do so.

 

 

(c) Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation may invest in general partnerships or joint ventures with Affiliates other than publicly registered Affiliates of the
Corporation only if all of the following conditions are met: (i) the investment is necessary to relieve the Adviser from any commitment to purchase the assets
entered into in compliance with Section 9.01 prior to the closing of the offering period of the Corporation; (ii) there are no duplicate fees to the Adviser; (iii) the
investment of each entity is on substantially the same terms and conditions; (iv) the Corporation has a right of first refusal to buy if the Adviser wishes to sell assets
held in the partnership or joint venture; and (v) any Prospectus in use or proposed to be used when such an investment has been made or is contemplated discloses
the potential risk of impasse on partnership or joint venture decisions.

 

 
(d) The Corporation may be structured to conduct operations through separate single-purpose entities managed by the Adviser (multi-tier arrangements); provided that

the terms of any such arrangements do not result in the circumvention of any of the requirements or prohibitions contained herein or under applicable federal or
state securities laws. Following a Non-Listed Offering, any agreements regarding such arrangements shall



 

accompany any Prospectus, if such agreement is then available, and the terms of such agreement shall contain provisions assuring that all of the following
restrictions apply: (i) there will be no duplication or increase in Organization and Offering Expenses, fees payable to the Adviser, program expenses or other fees
and costs; (ii) there will be no substantive alteration in the fiduciary and contractual relationship between the Adviser, the Corporation and the Stockholders; and
(iii) there will be no diminishment in the voting rights of the Stockholders.

 

 
(e) Other than as specifically permitted in subsections (b), (c), (d) and (f), and except as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act, exemptive relief granted by the SEC

pursuant thereto, or by a determination of the staff of the SEC under the 1940 Act, following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall not invest in general
partnerships or joint ventures with Affiliates.

 

 

(f) Except as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act, exemptive relief granted by the SEC pursuant thereto, or by a determination of the staff of the SEC under the
1940 Act, following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall be permitted to invest in general partnership interests of limited partnerships only if: (i) the
Corporation, alone or together with any publicly registered Affiliate of the Corporation meeting the requirements of subsection (b) above, acquires a “controlling
interest” as defined in subsection (a) above; (ii) the Adviser is not entitled to any duplicate fees; (iii) no additional compensation beyond that permitted under
applicable law is paid to the Adviser; and (iv) the agreement of limited partnership or other applicable agreement complies with this Section 8.02.

Section 8.03 Other Goods or Services.
 

 

(a) In addition to the services to be provided under any Advisory Agreement, the Corporation may accept goods or other services provided by the Adviser in
connection with the operation of assets subject to the restrictions contained in the 1940 Act, provided that: (i) the Adviser, as a fiduciary, determines such self-
dealing arrangement is in the best interest of the Corporation; (ii) the terms pursuant to which all such goods or services are provided to the Corporation by the
Adviser shall be embodied in a written contract, the material terms of which must be fully disclosed to the Stockholders; (iii) following a Non-Listed Offering, the
contract may be modified only with approval of Stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter; and (iv) the contract shall
contain a clause allowing termination without penalty on 60 days’ notice. Without limitation of the foregoing, following a Non-Listed Offering, arrangements to
provide such goods or other services must meet all of the following criteria: (x) the Adviser must be independently engaged in the business of providing such
goods or services to Persons other than Affiliates and at least 33% of the Adviser’s associated gross revenues must come from Persons other than Affiliates;
(y) the compensation, price or fee charged for providing such goods or services must be comparable and competitive with the compensation, price or fee charged
in the same geographic location by Persons other than the Adviser and its Affiliates who provide comparable goods or services which could reasonably be made
available to the Corporation; and (z) except in extraordinary circumstances, the compensation and other material terms of the arrangement must be fully disclosed
to the Stockholders.



 Extraordinary circumstances are limited to instances when immediate action is required and the goods or services are not immediately available from Persons other
than the Adviser and its Affiliates.

 

 

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing clause (a), if the Adviser is not engaged in the business to the extent required by such clause, the Adviser may provide to the
Corporation other goods and services if all of the following additional conditions are met: (i) the Adviser can demonstrate the capacity and capability to provide
such goods or services on a competitive basis; (ii) following a Non-Listed Offering, the goods or services are provided at the lesser of cost or the competitive rate
charged in the same geographic location by Persons other than the Adviser and its Affiliates who are in the business of providing comparable goods or services;
(iii) following a Non-Listed Offering, the cost is limited to the reasonable necessary and actual expenses incurred by the Adviser on behalf of the Corporation in
providing such goods or services, exclusive of expenses of the type which may not be reimbursed under applicable federal or state securities laws; and (iv) expenses
are allocated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and are made subject to any special audit required by applicable federal and state
securities laws.

Article IX. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Section 9.01 Sales and Leases to the Corporation. Except as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act, exemptive relief granted by the SEC pursuant thereto, or by a
determination of the staff of the SEC under the 1940 Act, following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall not purchase or lease assets in which the Adviser or any
Affiliate thereof has an interest unless all of the following conditions are met: (a) the transaction occurs at the formation of the Corporation and is fully disclosed to the
Stockholders either in a Prospectus or in a periodic report filed with the SEC or otherwise and (b) the assets are sold or leased upon terms that are reasonable to the Corporation
and at a price not to exceed the lesser of cost or fair market value as determined by an Independent Expert. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 9.01,
following a Non-Listed Offering, the Adviser may purchase assets in its own name (and assume loans in connection therewith) and temporarily hold title thereto, for the
purposes of facilitating the acquisition of the assets, the borrowing of money, obtaining financing for the Corporation, or the completion of construction of the assets, provided
that all of the following conditions are met: (a) the assets are purchased by the Corporation at a price no greater than the cost of the assets to the Adviser; (b) all income
generated by, and the expenses associated with, the assets so acquired shall be treated as belonging to the Corporation; and (c) there are no other benefits arising out of such
transaction to the Adviser apart from compensation otherwise permitted by the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines.

Section 9.02 Sales and Leases to the Adviser or Affiliates. Except as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act, exemptive relief granted by the SEC pursuant thereto, or by a
determination of the staff of the SEC under the 1940 Act, following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall not sell assets to the Adviser or any Affiliate thereof unless
such sale is duly approved by the Stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. The Corporation shall not lease assets to the Adviser or
any Affiliate thereof unless all of the following conditions are met: (a) the transaction occurs at the formation of the Corporation and is fully disclosed to the Stockholders in a
Prospectus or in a periodic report filed with the SEC and (b) the terms of the transaction are fair and reasonable to the Corporation.



Section 9.03 Loans. Except for the advancement of funds pursuant to Article XI, no loans, credit facilities, credit agreements or otherwise shall be made by the Corporation to
the Adviser or any Affiliate thereof.

Section 9.04 Commissions on Financing, Refinancing or Reinvestment. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall not pay, directly or indirectly, a commission or
fee to the Adviser or any Affiliate thereof (except as otherwise specified in this Article IX and by Section 7.01 of this Charter) in connection with the reinvestment of cash flow
from operations and available reserves or of the proceeds of the resale, exchange or refinancing of assets.

Section 9.05 Rebates, Kickbacks and Reciprocal Arrangements. The Adviser shall not receive or accept any rebate or give-ups or similar arrangement that is prohibited under
applicable federal or state securities laws. The Adviser shall not participate in any reciprocal business arrangement that would circumvent provisions of applicable federal or
state securities laws governing conflicts of interest or investment restrictions, or enter into any agreement, arrangement or understanding that would circumvent the restrictions
against dealing with affiliates or promoters under applicable federal or state securities laws. The Adviser shall not directly or indirectly pay or award any fees or commissions or
other compensation to any Person engaged to sell Shares or give investment advice to a potential Stockholder; provided, however, that this Section 9.05 shall not prohibit the
payment to a registered broker-dealer or other properly licensed agent of sales commissions for selling or distributing Shares. The restrictions in this Section 9.05 shall only be
effective following a Non-Listed Offering.

Section 9.06 Commingling. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the funds of the Corporation shall not be commingled with the funds of any other Person. Nothing in this
Section 9.06 shall prohibit the Adviser from establishing a master fiduciary account pursuant to which separate sub-trust accounts are established for the benefit of affiliated
programs, provided that the Corporation’s funds are protected from the claims of other programs and creditors of such programs.

Section 9.07 Lending Practices. On financing made available to the Corporation by the Adviser, the Adviser may not receive interest in excess of the lesser of the Adviser’s cost
of funds or the amounts that would be charged by unrelated lending institutions on comparable loans for the same purpose. The Adviser shall not impose a prepayment charge
or penalty in connection with such financing and the Adviser shall not receive points or other financing charges. The Adviser shall be prohibited from providing permanent
financing for the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 9.07, “permanent financing” shall mean any financing with a term in excess of twelve months. The restrictions in this
Section 9.07 shall only be effective following a Non-Listed Offering.

Section 9.08 Other Transactions. Except as otherwise permitted under the 1940 Act, exemptive relief granted by the SEC pursuant thereto, or by a determination of the staff of
the SEC under the 1940 Act, following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall not engage in any other transaction with the Adviser or an Affiliate thereof unless: (a) such
transaction complies with the



NASAA Omnibus Guidelines included in this Charter and all applicable law and (b) a majority of the Directors (including a majority of the independent directors of the
Corporation) not otherwise interested in such transaction approve such transaction as fair and reasonable to the Corporation and on terms and conditions not less favorable to the
Corporation than those available from non-Affiliated third parties.

Section 9.09 Exchanges. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation may not acquire assets from Affiliates in exchange for capital stock of the Corporation.

Section 9.10 No Exclusive Agreement. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall not grant or entitle the Adviser to an exclusive right to sell or exclusive
employment to sell assets for the Corporation.

Article X. STOCKHOLDERS

Section 10.01 Voting Rights of Stockholders. Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares then outstanding and the mandatory provisions of any applicable laws or
regulations, including the MGCL, or other provisions of this Charter, and following a Non-Listed Offering, the Stockholders may, without the necessity for concurrence by the
Adviser: (a) elect or remove Directors, as provided in Sections 5.01 and 5.07 hereof; (b) approve or disapprove an amendment of the Charter, as provided in Article XII hereof;
(c) approve or disapprove the dissolution of the Corporation; (d) remove the Adviser and elect a new Adviser; and (e) approve or disapprove the sale of all or substantially all of
the assets of the Corporation, when such sale is to be made other than in the ordinary course of the Corporation’s business. Without the approval of Stockholders entitled to cast
a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, or such other approval as may be required under the mandatory provisions of any applicable laws or regulations,
including the MGCL, or other provisions of this Charter, following a Non-Listed Offering the Corporation shall not permit the Adviser to: (A) amend the Charter except for
amendments that do not adversely affect the rights of Stockholders; (B) appoint a new Adviser (other than a sub-adviser pursuant to the terms of an Advisory Agreement and
applicable law); (C) sell all or substantially all of the Corporation’s assets other than in the ordinary course of the Corporation’s business or as otherwise permitted by law;
(D) cause the merger or similar reorganization of the Corporation except as permitted by law; or (E) except as permitted under the Advisory Agreement, voluntarily withdraw as
the Adviser unless such withdrawal would not affect the tax status of the Corporation and would not materially adversely affect the Stockholders.

Section 10.02 Voting Limitations on Shares Held by the Adviser and Affiliates. With respect to Shares owned by the Adviser, the Adviser may not vote or consent on matters
submitted to the Stockholders regarding the removal of the Adviser or any transaction between the Corporation and the Adviser or any of its Affiliates. In determining the
requisite percentage in interest of Shares entitled to vote on a matter, and necessary to approve a matter, on which the Adviser may not vote or consent, any Shares owned by it
shall not be included.

Section 10.03 Right of Inspection. Any Stockholder shall be permitted access to the records of the Corporation to which it is entitled under applicable law at all reasonable times
and may inspect and copy any of them for a reasonable charge. Inspection of the Corporation’s books and



records by the office or agency administering the securities laws of a jurisdiction shall be provided upon reasonable notice and during normal business hours. Information
regarding stockholders’ right to access the Corporation’s records pertaining to its stockholders is set forth in the Bylaws.

Section 10.04 Access to Stockholder List. An alphabetical list of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the Stockholders, along with the number of Shares held by each
of them (the “Stockholder List”), shall be maintained as part of the books and records of the Corporation and shall be available for inspection by any Stockholder or the
Stockholder’s designated agent at the home office of the Corporation upon the request of the Stockholder. The Stockholder List shall be updated at least quarterly to reflect
changes in the information contained therein. A copy of the Stockholder List shall be mailed to any Stockholder so requesting within ten days of receipt by the Corporation of
the request. The copy of the Stockholder List shall be printed in alphabetical order, on white paper, and in a readily readable type size (in no event smaller than ten-point type).
The Corporation may impose a reasonable charge for expenses incurred in reproduction pursuant to the Stockholder request. A Stockholder may request a copy of the
Stockholder List in connection with matters relating to Stockholders’ voting rights and the exercise of Stockholder rights under federal proxy laws.

If the Adviser or the Board neglects or refuses to exhibit, produce or mail a copy of the Stockholder List as requested, the Adviser and/or the Board, as the case may be, shall be
liable to any Stockholder requesting the Stockholder List for the costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by that Stockholder for compelling the production of the
Stockholder List, and for actual damages suffered by any Stockholder by reason of such refusal or neglect. It shall be a defense that the actual purpose and reason for the
requests for inspection or for a copy of the Stockholder List is to secure such list of Stockholders or other information for the purpose of selling such list or copies thereof, or of
using the same for a commercial purpose other than in the interest of the applicant as a Stockholder relative to the affairs of the Corporation. The Corporation may require the
Stockholder requesting the Stockholder List to represent that the list is not requested for a commercial purpose unrelated to the Stockholder’s interest in the Corporation. The
remedies provided hereunder to Stockholders requesting copies of the Stockholder List are in addition to and shall not in any way limit other remedies available to Stockholders
under federal law or the laws of any state.

Section 10.05 Reports.
 

 

(a) Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall cause to be prepared and mailed or delivered by any reasonable means, including an electronic medium, a
copy of the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K to each Stockholder as of a record date after the end of the fiscal year within 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year to which it relates for each fiscal year ending after the Commencement of a Non-Listed Offering that shall include: (i) financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles which are audited and reported on by independent certified public accountants; (ii) a report of the
material activities of the Corporation during the period covered by the report; (iii) where forecasts have been provided to the Stockholders, a table comparing the
forecasts previously provided with the actual results during the



 

period covered by the report; and (iv) a report setting forth distributions to Stockholders for the period covered thereby and separately identifying distributions from:
(A) cash flow from operations during the period; (B) cash flow from operations during a prior period which have been held as reserves; (C) proceeds from
disposition of assets; and (D) reserves from the gross proceeds. Such Annual Report on Form 10-K must also contain a breakdown of the costs reimbursed to the
Adviser. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall take reasonable steps to ensure that: (v) within the scope of the annual audit of the Corporation’s
financial statements, the independent certified public accountants preparing such Annual Report on Form 10-K will issue a special report on the allocation of such
costs to the Corporation in accordance with the Advisory Agreement; (w) the special report shall be in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants United States Auditing Standards relating to special reports; (x) the additional costs of such special report will be itemized and may be reimbursed to
the Adviser by the Corporation in accordance with this Section 10.05 only to the extent that such reimbursement, when added to the cost for administrative services
rendered, does not exceed the competitive rate for such services as determined above; (y) the special report shall at minimum provide a review of the time records
of individual employees, the costs of whose services were reimbursed and the specific nature of the work performed by each such employee; and (v) the prospectus,
prospectus supplement or periodic report as filed with the SEC shall disclose in tabular form an itemized estimate of such proposed expenses for the next fiscal year
together with a breakdown by year of such expenses reimbursed in each of the last five public programs formed by the Adviser and subject to the NASAA Omnibus
Guidelines.

 

 (b) Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall cause to be prepared and mailed or delivered to each Stockholder within 60 days after the end of each fiscal
quarter of the Corporation a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Corporation under the Exchange Act.

 

 
(c) Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation shall cause to be prepared and mailed or delivered within 75 days after the end of each calendar year of the

Corporation to each Person who was at any time during such calendar year a Stockholder all information pertaining to such Stockholder’s investment in the
Corporation necessary for the preparation of such Person’s federal income tax return.

 

 
(d) If Shares have been purchased on a deferred payment basis, on which there remains an unpaid balance during any period covered by any report required by

subsections (a) and (b) above, then such report shall contain a detailed statement of the status of all deferred payments, actions taken by the Corporation in response
to any defaults and a discussion and analysis of the impact on capital requirements of the Corporation.

Section 10.06 Tender Offers. If any Person makes a tender offer, including, without limitation, a “mini-tender” offer, such Person must comply with all of the provisions set
forth in Regulation 14D of the Exchange Act, including, without limitation, disclosure and notice requirements, that would be applicable if the tender offer was for more
than five percent of the outstanding Shares; provided, however, that, unless otherwise required by the Exchange Act, such documents are not required to be filed with the SEC.
In addition, any such Person must provide notice to the



Corporation at least ten Business Days prior to initiating any such tender offer. No Stockholder may transfer any Shares held by such Stockholder to any Person who initiates a
tender offer without complying with the provisions set forth above (a “Non-Compliant Tender Offer”) unless such Stockholder shall have first offered such Shares to the
Corporation at the tender offer price offered in such Non-Compliant Tender Offer. In addition, any Person who makes a Non-Compliant Tender Offer shall be responsible for
all expenses incurred by the Corporation in connection with the enforcement of the provisions of this Section 10.06, including, without limitation, expenses incurred in
connection with the review of all documents related to such tender offer. In addition to the remedies provided herein, the Corporation may seek injunctive relief, including,
without limitation, a temporary or permanent restraining order, in connection with any Non-Compliant Tender Offer. This Section 10.06 shall be of no force or effect with
respect to any Shares that are then Listed.

Article XI. LIABILITY LIMITATION AND INDEMNIFICATION

Section 11.01 Limitation of Stockholder Liability. No Stockholder shall be liable for any debt, claim, demand, judgment or obligation of any kind of, against or with respect to
the Corporation by reason of his being a Stockholder, nor shall any Stockholder be subject to any personal liability whatsoever, in tort, contract or otherwise, to any Person in
connection with the Corporation’s assets or the affairs of the Corporation by reason of being a Stockholder.

Section 11.02 Limitation of Director and Officer Liability.
 

 (a) Subject to any limitations set forth under Maryland law or the 1940 Act or in this Article XI, no Director or officer of the Corporation shall be liable to the
Corporation or its Stockholders for money damages.

 

 (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in paragraph (a) above, the Corporation shall not provide that a Director, the Adviser or any Affiliate of the
Adviser (the “Indemnitee”) be held harmless for any loss or liability suffered by the Corporation, unless all of the following conditions are met:

 

 (i) The Indemnitee has determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in the best interests of the Corporation.
 

 (ii) The Indemnitee was acting on behalf of or performing services for the Corporation.
 

 
(iii) Such liability or loss was not the result of (A) negligence or misconduct, in the case that the Indemnitee is the Adviser or an Affiliate of the Adviser, or

(B) gross negligence or willful misconduct, in the case that the Indemnitee is a Director who is not also an officer of the Corporation or the Adviser or an
Affiliate of the Adviser.

 

 (iv) Such agreement to hold harmless is recoverable only out of the Corporation’s net assets and not from the Stockholders.
 

 (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, paragraph (b) above shall only apply to an Indemnitee following a Non-Listed Offering.



Section 11.03 Indemnification.
 

 

(a) Subject to any limitations set forth under Maryland law or the 1940 Act or in paragraph (b) or (c) below, the Corporation shall indemnify and, without requiring a
preliminary determination of the ultimate entitlement to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding to
(i) any individual who is a present or former Director or officer of the Corporation and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of
his or her service in that capacity, (ii) any individual who, while a Director or officer of the Corporation and at the request of the Corporation, serves or has served
as a director, officer, partner, member, manager or trustee of another corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture,
trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity or
(iii) the Adviser or any of its Affiliates acting as an agent of the Corporation, in each case to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. The rights to
indemnification and advance of expenses provided to a Director or officer hereby shall vest immediately upon election of such Director or officer. The Corporation
may, with the approval of the Board of Directors or any duly authorized committee thereof, provide such indemnification and advance for expenses to a Person who
served a predecessor of the Corporation in any of the capacities described in (i) or (ii) above and to any employee or agent of the Corporation or a predecessor of the
Corporation. The Board may take such action as is necessary to carry out this Section 11.03(a).

 

 (b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in paragraph (a) above, the Corporation shall not provide for indemnification of an Indemnitee for any liability
or loss suffered by such Indemnitee, unless all of the following conditions are met:

 

 (i) The Indemnitee has determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in the best interests of the Corporation.
 

 (ii) The Indemnitee was acting on behalf of or performing services for the Corporation.
 

 
(iii) Such liability or loss was not the result of (A) negligence or misconduct, in the case that the Indemnitee is the Adviser, an Affiliate of the Adviser or an

officer of the Corporation, or (B) gross negligence or willful misconduct, in the case that the Indemnitee is a Director who is not also an officer of the
Corporation or the Adviser or an Affiliate of the Adviser.

 

 (iv) Such indemnification or agreement to hold harmless is recoverable only out of the Corporation’s net assets and not from the Stockholders.
 

 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in paragraph (a) above, the Corporation shall not provide indemnification to an Indemnitee for any loss,
liability or expense arising from or out of an alleged violation of federal or state securities laws by such party unless one or more of the following conditions are
met: (i) there has been a successful adjudication on the merits of each count involving alleged material securities law violations as to the Indemnitee; (ii) such
claims have been dismissed with prejudice



 

on the merits by a court of competent jurisdiction as to the Indemnitee; or (iii) a court of competent jurisdiction approves a settlement of the claims against the
Indemnitee and finds that indemnification of the settlement and the related costs should be made, and the court considering the request for indemnification has been
advised of the position of the SEC and of the published position of any state securities regulatory authority in which Shares were offered or sold as to
indemnification for violations of securities laws.

 

 (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, paragraphs (b) and (c) above shall only apply to an Indemnitee following a Non-Listed Offering.

Section 11.04 Payment of Expenses. The Corporation may pay or reimburse reasonable legal expenses and other costs incurred by an Indemnitee in advance of final disposition
of a proceeding only if all of the following are satisfied: (a) the proceeding relates to acts or omissions with respect to the performance of duties or services on behalf of the
Corporation, (b) the Indemnitee provides the Corporation with written affirmation of the Indemnitee’s good faith belief that the Indemnitee has met the standard of conduct
necessary for indemnification by the Corporation as authorized by Section 11.03 hereof, (c) the legal proceeding was initiated by a third party who is not a Stockholder or, if by
a Stockholder of the Corporation acting in his or her capacity as such, a court of competent jurisdiction approves such advancement, and (d) the Indemnitee provides the
Corporation with a written agreement to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the Corporation, together with the applicable legal rate of interest thereon, if it is ultimately
determined that the Indemnitee did not comply with the requisite standard of conduct and is not entitled to indemnification. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 11.04
shall only apply to an Indemnitee following a Non-Listed Offering.

Section 11.05 Express Exculpatory Clauses in Instruments. Neither the Stockholders nor the Directors, officers, employees or agents of the Corporation shall be liable under any
written instrument creating an obligation of the Corporation by reason of their being Stockholders, Directors, officers, employees or agents of the Corporation, and all Persons
shall look solely to the Corporation’s assets for the payment of any claim under or for the performance of that instrument. The omission of the foregoing exculpatory language
from any instrument shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such instrument and shall not render any Stockholder, Director, officer, employee or agent liable thereunder
to any third party, nor shall the Directors or any officer, employee or agent of the Corporation be liable to anyone as a result of such omission.

Section 11.06 1940 Act Limitation on Indemnification. As required under the 1940 Act, no provision of this Article XI shall be effective to protect or purport to protect any
Director, any officer of the Corporation, the Adviser or any Affiliate of the Adviser against liability to the Corporation or the Stockholders to which he, she or it would
otherwise be subject by reason of willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of his, her or its office.

Section 11.07 Amendment or Repeal. Neither the amendment nor repeal of this Article XI, nor the adoption or amendment of any other provision of the Charter or Bylaws
inconsistent with this Article XI, shall apply to or affect in any respect the applicability of the preceding sections of this Article XI with respect to any act or failure to act which
occurred prior to such amendment, repeal, or adoption.



Section 11.08 Non-Exclusivity. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided or authorized by this Article XI shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights,
by indemnification or otherwise, to which a Director or an officer of the Corporation may be entitled under the Bylaws, a resolution of the Stockholders or the Board, an
agreement, or otherwise.

Article XII. AMENDMENTS

Section 12.01 Amendments Generally. The Corporation reserves the right from time to time, upon the requisite approval by the Board of Directors and/or the Stockholders, to
make any amendment to the Charter, now or hereafter authorized by law, including any amendment altering the terms or contract rights, as expressly set forth in the Charter, of
any Shares. All rights and powers conferred by the Charter on Stockholders, Directors and officers are granted subject to this reservation. Except as provided in Section 12.02
and Section 12.03 and except for those amendments permitted to be made without Stockholder approval under Maryland law or by specific provision in the Charter, and
provided further that the Board has declared the amendment advisable and directed that it be submitted for consideration by the Stockholders as required by the MGCL, any
amendment to the Charter shall be valid only if approved by the affirmative vote of Stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Section 12.02 Specific Charter Amendments. Any amendment to, or any amendment inconsistent with, the provisions of, Section 5.01, Section 5.02, Section 5.07, Section 5.08,
Section 6.07, Article XI, Section 12.01, this Section 12.02 or Section 12.03 of this Charter may be adopted only by the affirmative vote of the Stockholders entitled to cast at
least 75% of the votes entitled to be cast thereon, with holders of each class or series of Shares voting as a separate class, and the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the entire
Board, unless the Continuing Directors of the Corporation, by a vote of at least 75% of such Directors, approve such amendment, in which case, such amendment shall be
approved as required by applicable law, the Charter and Bylaws and, following a Non-Listed Offering, the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines (without regard to the provisions of this
Section 12.02).

Section 12.03 Approval of Certain Extraordinary Actions and Charter Amendments.
 

 
(a) Required Votes. Except as provided in Section 12.03(b), the affirmative vote of the Stockholders entitled to cast at least 75% of the votes entitled to be cast

generally in the election of Directors, with holders of each class or series of Shares voting as a separate class, and the affirmative vote of at least 75% of the entire
board, shall be necessary to effect:

 

 (i) Any amendment to the Charter to make Common Shares a “redeemable security” and any other proposal to convert the Corporation from a “closed-end
company” to an “open-end company” (as defined in the 1940 Act), or any amendment to Article II;



 (ii) Any Stockholder proposal as to specific investment decisions made or to be made regarding the Corporation’s assets;
 

 (iii) Following a Non-Listed Offering, any proposal as to the voluntary liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation or any amendment to the Charter to
terminate the existence of the Corporation; and

 

 (iv) Following a Non-Listed Offering, any Business Combination (as defined below).
 

 
(b) If any proposal, transaction or Business Combination described in Section 12.03(a) is approved by at least 75% of the Continuing Directors, then, notwithstanding

the requirements of Section 12.03(a), such proposal, transaction or Business Combination shall be approved as required by applicable law, the Charter and Bylaws
and, following a Non-Listed Offering, the NASAA Omnibus Guidelines (without regard to the provisions of Section 12.03(a)).

For the purposes of this Article XII:
 

 (a) “Business Combination” shall mean any of the transactions described or referred to in any one or more of the following subparagraphs:
 

 (i) any merger, consolidation or statutory share exchange of the Corporation with or into any other person;
 

 
(ii) any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition (in one transaction or a series of transactions in any 12-month period) to or with

any other Person of any assets of the Corporation having an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or more except for portfolio transactions of the
Corporation effected in the ordinary course of the Corporation’s business;

 

 

(iii) the issuance or transfer by the Corporation (in one transaction or a series of transactions in any 12-month period) of any securities of the Corporation to any
other person in exchange for cash, securities or other property (or a combination thereof) having an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or more
excluding (x) sales of any securities of the Corporation in connection with a public offering or private placement thereof, (y) issuances of any securities of
the Corporation pursuant to a dividend reinvestment and/or cash purchase plan adopted by the Corporation and (z) issuances of any securities of the
Corporation upon the exercise of any stock subscription rights distributed by the Corporation.

 

 

(b) “Continuing Director” means any member of the Board of Directors who (i) is not an Interested Party or an Affiliate or an Associate of an Interested Party and
has been a member of the Board of Directors for a period of at least 24 months (or since the Corporation’s commencement of operations, if that period is less than
24 months); or (ii) is a successor of a Continuing Director who is not an Interested Party or an Affiliate or an Associate of an Interested Party and is
recommended to succeed a Continuing Director by a majority of the Continuing Directors then in office or is nominated for election by the Stockholders by a
majority of the Continuing Directors then in office; or



 (iii) is appointed to the Board of Directors to be a Continuing Director by a majority of the Continuing Directors then in office and who is not an Interested Party or
an Affiliate or Associate of an Interested Party.

 

 
(c) “Interested Party” shall mean any Person which enters, or proposes to enter, into a Business Combination with the Corporation or which individually or together

with any other persons beneficially owns or is deemed to own, directly or indirectly, more than 5 percent of any class of the Corporation’s securities (within the
meaning of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act).

 

 
(d) “Affiliate” and “Associate” shall have the respective meanings ascribed to such terms in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act; provided that for purposes of this

Section 12.03, the term “Affiliate” shall also include any person who, at or prior to the time of election to the Board of Directors, had expressed support in writing
of any proposals of an Interested Party for which Stockholder approval would be required (for purposes of consideration of these proposals only).

 

 (e) “Fair Market Value” means:
 

 

(i) in the case of stock, the highest closing sale price during the 30-day period immediately preceding the relevant date of a share of such stock on the New
York Stock Exchange, or if such stock is not listed on such Exchange, on the principal United States securities exchange registered under the Exchange Act
on which such stock is listed, or, if such stock is not listed on any such exchange, the highest closing bid quotation with respect to a share of such stock
during the 30-day period preceding the relevant date on any quotation system then in use, or if no such quotations are available, the fair market value on the
relevant date of a share of such stock as determined by at least 75% of the Continuing Directors, and

 

 (ii) in the case of property other than cash or stock, the fair market value of such property on the relevant date as determined by at least 75% of the Continuing
Directors.

Continuing Directors of the Corporation, by the vote of at least 75% of such directors, shall have the power to determine, on the basis of information known to them after
reasonable inquiry, all facts necessary to determine (i) whether a Person is an Affiliate or Associate of another, and (ii) whether the assets which are the subject of any Business
Combination have, or the consideration to be received for the issuance or transfer of securities by the Corporation in any Business Combination has, an aggregate Fair Market
Value of $1,000,000 or more.

Article XIII. ERISA TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, if and to the extent that any class or series of Shares do not constitute Publicly Offered Securities, in order to avoid the possibility
that the underlying assets of the Corporation could be treated as assets of any Plan pursuant to the Plan Asset Regulation, the Corporation, at the direction of the Board of
Directors or any duly-authorized committee of the Board, or, if authorized by the Board, any officer of the Corporation or the Adviser on behalf of the Corporation, shall have
the power to (1) require any Person proposing to acquire Shares to furnish such information as may be necessary to determine whether such



person is (i) a Benefit Plan Investor, or (ii) an ERISA Controlling Person, (2) restrict or prohibit transfers of Shares to any Person, and (3) redeem any outstanding Shares for
such price and on such other terms and conditions as may be determined by or at the direction of the Board.

Article XIV. ROLL-UP TRANSACTIONS

In connection with any proposed Roll-Up Transaction, following a Non-Listed Offering, an appraisal of all of the Corporation’s assets shall be obtained from a competent
Independent Expert. If the appraisal will be included in a Prospectus used to offer the securities of a Roll-Up Entity, the appraisal shall be filed with the SEC and the states as an
exhibit to the registration statement for the offering. Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation’s assets shall be appraised on a consistent basis, and the appraisal shall be
based on the evaluation of all relevant information and shall indicate the value of the assets as of a date immediately prior to the announcement of the proposed Roll-Up
Transaction. Such appraisal shall assume an orderly liquidation of the assets over a twelve-month period. The terms of the engagement of the Independent Expert shall clearly
state that the engagement is for the benefit of the Corporation and the Stockholders. A summary of such appraisal, indicating all material assumptions underlying the appraisal,
shall be included in a report to Stockholders in connection with a proposed Roll-Up Transaction. Following a Non-Listed Offering and in connection with a proposed Roll-Up
Transaction, the Person sponsoring the Roll-Up Transaction shall offer to holders of Common Shares who vote against the proposed Roll-Up Transaction the choice of:
 

 (a) accepting the securities of a Roll-Up Entity offered in the proposed Roll-Up Transaction; or
 

 (b) one of the following:
 

 (i) remaining as Stockholders and preserving their interests therein on the same terms and conditions as existed previously; or
 

 (ii) receiving cash in an amount equal to the Stockholder’s pro rata share of the appraised value of the Corporation’s net assets.

Following a Non-Listed Offering, the Corporation is prohibited from participating in any proposed Roll-Up Transaction:
 

 (a) that would result in the holders of Common Shares having voting rights in a Roll-Up Entity that are less than the rights provided for in Section 10.01 hereof;
 

 
(b) that includes provisions that would operate as a material impediment to, or frustration of, the accumulation of Shares by any purchaser of the securities of the Roll-

Up Entity (except to the minimum extent necessary to preserve the tax status of the Roll-Up Entity), or which would limit the ability of an investor to exercise the
voting rights of its securities of the Roll-Up Entity on the basis of the number of Shares held by that investor;

 

 (c) in which investor’s rights to access of records of the Roll-Up Entity will be less than those described in Sections 10.03 and 10.04 hereof; or



 (d) in which any of the costs of the Roll-Up Transaction would be borne by the Corporation if the Roll-Up Transaction is rejected by the holders of Common Shares.

THIRD: The amendment to and restatement of the charter as hereinabove set forth have been duly advised by the Board of Directors and approved by the stockholders of the
Corporation as required by law.

FOURTH: The current address of the principal office of the Corporation is as set forth in Article III of the foregoing amendment and restatement of the charter.

FIFTH: The name and address of the Corporation’s current resident agent are as set forth in Article III of the foregoing amendment and restatement of the charter.

SIXTH: The number of directors of the Corporation and the names of those currently in office are as set forth in Article V of the foregoing amendment and restatement of the
charter.

SEVENTH: The undersigned acknowledges these Articles of Amendment and Restatement to be the corporate act of the Corporation and, as to all matters or facts required to be
verified under oath, the undersigned acknowledges that, to the best of the undersigned’s knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all material
respects and that this statement is made under the penalties for perjury.

-Signature page follows-



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused these Articles of Amendment and Restatement to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its Chief Operating Officer
and attested to by its Chief Compliance Officer on the 1st day of March, 2016.
 
ATTEST:   OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

    
Rebecca Tabb
Chief Compliance Officer   

Alan Kirshenbaum
Chief Operating Officer



Exhibit 3.2

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

BYLAWS

January 11, 2016

ARTICLE I

OFFICES

Section 1. PRINCIPAL OFFICE. The principal office of the Corporation in the State of Maryland shall be located at such place as the Board of Directors may
designate.

Section 2. ADDITIONAL OFFICES. The Corporation may have additional offices, including a principal executive office, at such places as the Board of Directors
may from time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.

ARTICLE II

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

Section 1. PLACE. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at the principal executive office of the Corporation or at such other place as shall be set by the
Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting.

Section 2. ANNUAL MEETING. An annual meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors and the transaction of any business within the powers of the
Corporation shall be held on a date and at the time set by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. SPECIAL MEETINGS.

(a) General. The Chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors may call a special meeting of the stockholders. Subject
to subsection (b) of this Section 3, a special meeting of stockholders shall also be called by the secretary of the Corporation upon the written request of stockholders entitled to
cast not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting.

(b) Stockholder Requested Special Meetings.

(1) Any stockholder of record seeking to have stockholders request a special meeting shall, by sending written notice to the secretary (the “Record Date
Request Notice”) by registered mail, return receipt requested, request the Board of Directors to fix a record date to determine the stockholders entitled to request a special
meeting (the “Request Record Date”). The Record Date Request Notice shall set forth the purpose of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at it, shall be signed
by one or more stockholders of record as of the date of signature (or their agents duly authorized in a writing accompanying the Record Date Request Notice), shall bear the date
of signature of each such stockholder (or such agent) and shall set forth all information relating to each such stockholder that must
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be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors in an election contest (even if an election contest is not involved), or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant
to Regulation 14A (or any successor provision) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Upon receiving the Record Date Request Notice,
the Board of Directors may fix a Request Record Date. The Request Record Date shall not precede and shall not be more than ten days after the close of business on the date on
which the resolution fixing the Request Record Date is adopted by the Board of Directors. If the Board of Directors, within ten days after the date on which a valid Record Date
Request Notice is received, fails to adopt a resolution fixing the Request Record Date, the Request Record Date shall be the close of business on the tenth day after the first date
on which the Record Date Request Notice is received by the secretary.

(2) In order for any stockholder to request a special meeting, one or more written requests for a special meeting signed by stockholders of record (or their
agents duly authorized in a writing accompanying the request) as of the Request Record Date entitled to cast not less than a majority (the “Special Meeting Percentage”) of all of
the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting (the “Special Meeting Request”) shall be delivered to the secretary. In addition, the Special Meeting Request shall (a) set forth the
purpose of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at it (which shall be limited to those lawful matters set forth in the Record Date Request Notice received by the
secretary), (b) bear the date of signature of each such stockholder (or such agent) signing the Special Meeting Request, (c) set forth the name and address, as they appear in the
Corporation’s books, of each stockholder signing such request (or on whose behalf the Special Meeting Request is signed) and the class, series and number of all shares of stock
of the Corporation which are owned by each such stockholder, and the nominee holder for, and number of, shares owned by such stockholder beneficially but not of record,
(d) be sent to the secretary by registered mail, return receipt requested, and (e) be received by the secretary within 60 days after the Request Record Date. Any requesting
stockholder (or agent duly authorized in a writing accompanying the revocation or the Special Meeting Request) may revoke his, her or its request for a special meeting at any
time by written revocation delivered to the secretary.

(3) The secretary shall inform the requesting stockholders of the reasonably estimated cost of preparing and mailing the notice of meeting (including the
Corporation’s proxy materials). The secretary shall not be required to call a special meeting upon stockholder request and such meeting shall not be held unless, in addition to
the documents required by paragraph (2) of this Section 3(b), the secretary receives payment of such reasonably estimated cost prior to the preparation and mailing of any notice
of the meeting.

(4) Except as provided in the next sentence, any special meeting shall be held at such place, date and time as may be designated by the Chairman of the
Board, the chief executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors, whoever has called the meeting. In the case of any special meeting called by the secretary upon the
request of stockholders (a “Stockholder Requested Meeting”), such meeting shall be held at such place, date and time as may be designated by the Board of Directors; provided,
however, that the date of any Stockholder Requested Meeting shall be not more than 90 days after the record date for such meeting (the “Meeting Record Date”); and provided
further that if the Board of Directors fails to designate, within ten days after the date that a valid Special Meeting Request is actually received by the secretary (the “Delivery
Date”), a date and time for a Stockholder Requested Meeting, then such meeting shall be held at 2:00 p.m. local time on the 90th day after the Meeting Record Date or, if such
90th day is not a Business Day (as defined below), on the first preceding Business Day; and provided further that in the event that the Board of Directors fails to designate a
place for a Stockholder Requested Meeting within ten days after the Delivery Date, then such meeting shall be held at the principal executive office of the Corporation. In fixing
a date for any special meeting, the Chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors may consider such factors as he, she or it deems
relevant within the good faith exercise of business judgment, including,
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without limitation, the nature of the matters to be considered, the facts and circumstances surrounding any request for meeting and any plan of the Board of Directors to call an
annual meeting or a special meeting. In the case of any Stockholder Requested Meeting, if the Board of Directors fails to fix a Meeting Record Date that is a date within 30 days
after the Delivery Date, then the close of business on the 30th day after the Delivery Date shall be the Meeting Record Date. The Board of Directors may revoke the notice for
any Stockholder Requested Meeting in the event that the requesting stockholders fail to comply with the provisions of paragraph (3) of this Section 3(b).

(5) If written revocations of the Special Meeting Request have been delivered to the secretary and the result is that stockholders of record (or their agents
duly authorized in writing), as of the Request Record Date, entitled to cast less than the Special Meeting Percentage have delivered, and not revoked, requests for a special
meeting to the secretary, the secretary shall: (i) if the notice of meeting has not already been mailed, refrain from mailing the notice of the meeting and send to all requesting
stockholders who have not revoked such requests written notice of any revocation of a request for the special meeting, or (ii) if the notice of meeting has been mailed and if the
secretary first sends to all requesting stockholders who have not revoked requests for a special meeting written notice of any revocation of a request for the special meeting and
written notice of the secretary’s intention to revoke the notice of the meeting, revoke the notice of the meeting at any time before ten days before the commencement of the
meeting. Any request for a special meeting received after a revocation by the secretary of a notice of a meeting shall be considered a request for a new special meeting.

(6) The Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, chief executive officer or the president may appoint independent inspectors of elections to act as
the agent of the Corporation for the purpose of promptly performing a ministerial review of the validity of any purported Special Meeting Request received by the secretary. For
the purpose of permitting the inspectors to perform such review, no such purported request shall be deemed to have been delivered to the secretary until the earlier of (i) five
Business Days after receipt by the secretary of such purported request and (ii) such date as the independent inspectors certify to the Corporation that the valid requests received
by the secretary represent, as of the Request Record Date, not less than the Special Meeting Percentage. Nothing contained in this paragraph (6) shall in any way be construed to
suggest or imply that the Corporation or any stockholder shall not be entitled to contest the validity of any request, whether during or after such five Business Day period, or to
take any other action (including, without limitation, the commencement, prosecution or defense of any litigation with respect thereto, and the seeking of injunctive relief in such
litigation).

(7) For purposes of these Bylaws, “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banking institutions in the
State of New York are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to close.

Section 4. NOTICE OF MEETINGS. Not less than ten nor more than 90 days before each meeting of stockholders, the secretary shall give to each stockholder
entitled to vote at such meeting and to each stockholder not entitled to vote who is entitled to notice of the meeting notice in writing or by electronic transmission stating the
time and place of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting or as otherwise may be required by any statute, the purpose for which the meeting is called, either by mail, by
presenting it to such stockholder personally, by leaving it at the stockholder’s residence or usual place of business or by any other means permitted by Maryland law. If mailed,
such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States mail addressed to the stockholder at the stockholder’s address as it appears on the records of the
Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid. If transmitted electronically, such notice shall be deemed to be given when transmitted to the stockholder by an electronic
transmission to any address or number of the stockholder at which the stockholder receives electronic transmissions. A single notice shall be effective as to all stockholders who
share an address,
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except to the extent that a stockholder at such address objects to such single notice. Failure to give notice of any meeting to one or more stockholders, or any irregularity in such
notice, shall not affect the validity of any meeting fixed in accordance with this Article II, or the validity of any proceedings at any such meeting.

Subject to Section 11(a) of this Article II, any business of the Corporation may be transacted at an annual meeting of stockholders without being specifically
designated in the notice, except such business as is required by any statute to be stated in such notice. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting of stockholders except
as specifically designated in the notice. The Corporation may postpone or cancel a meeting of stockholders by making a “public announcement” (as defined in Section 11(c)(3))
of such postponement or cancellation prior to the meeting.

Section 5. ORGANIZATION AND CONDUCT. Every meeting of stockholders shall be conducted by an individual appointed by the Board of Directors to be
chairman of the meeting or, in the absence of such appointment, by the Chairman of the Board, if any, or, in the case of a vacancy in the office or absence of the Chairman of the
Board, by one of the following officers present at the meeting: the Vice Chairman of the Board, if any, the chief executive officer, the president, any vice president, the
secretary, the treasurer, the chief operating officer, if any, the chief financial officer, if any, or, in the absence of such officers, a chairman chosen by the stockholders by the vote
of a majority of the votes cast by stockholders present in person or by proxy. The secretary or, in the secretary’s absence, an assistant secretary or, in the absence of both the
secretary and assistant secretaries, an individual appointed by the Board of Directors or, in the absence of such appointment, an individual appointed by the chairman of the
meeting shall act as secretary. In the event that the secretary presides at a meeting of the stockholders, an assistant secretary, or, in the absence of assistant secretaries, an
individual appointed by the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, shall record the minutes of the meeting. The order of business and all other matters of procedure
at any meeting of stockholders shall be determined by the chairman of the meeting. The chairman of the meeting may prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and take
such action as, in the discretion of the chairman and without any action by the stockholders, are appropriate for the proper conduct of the meeting, including, without limitation:
(a) restricting admission to the time set for the commencement of the meeting; (b) limiting attendance at the meeting to stockholders of record of the Corporation, their duly
authorized proxies and other such individuals as the chairman of the meeting may determine; (c) limiting participation at the meeting on any matter to stockholders of record of
the Corporation entitled to vote on such matter, their duly authorized proxies or other such individuals as the chairman of the meeting may determine; (d) limiting the time
allotted to questions or comments by participants; (e) determining when the polls should be opened and closed; (f) maintaining order and security at the meeting; (g) removing
any stockholder or any other individual who refuses to comply with meeting procedures, rules or guidelines as set forth by the chairman of the meeting; (h) concluding a
meeting or recessing or adjourning the meeting to a later date and time and at a place announced at the meeting; and (i) complying with any state and local laws and regulations
concerning safety and security. Unless otherwise determined by the chairman of the meeting, meetings of stockholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the
rules of parliamentary procedure.

Section 6. QUORUM. The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled to be
cast (without regard to class) shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the stockholders, except with respect to any such matter that, under applicable statutes or regulatory
requirements, requires approval by a separate vote of one or more classes of stock, in which case the presence in person or by proxy of the holders of shares entitled to cast a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by each such class on such a matter shall constitute a quorum. This section shall not affect any requirement under any statute or the
charter of the Corporation for the vote necessary for the adoption of any measure.
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If, however, such quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the stockholders, the chairman of the meeting shall have the power to (a) adjourn the meeting
from time to time to a date not more than 120 days after the original record date without notice other than announcement at the meeting or (b) conclude the meeting without
adjournment to another date. If a meeting is adjourned and a quorum is present at such adjournment, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the
meeting as originally notified.

The stockholders present either in person or by proxy, at a meeting which has been duly called and convened, may continue to transact business until
adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough stockholders to leave less than a quorum.

Section 7. VOTING. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 7, a majority of all the votes cast at a meeting of stockholders duly called and at which a
quorum is present shall be sufficient to elect a director. Directors shall be elected by a plurality of all the votes cast at a meeting of stockholders duly called and at which a
quorum is present for which, as of the tenth day preceding the date the Corporation first mails or electronically transmits the notice of such meeting to the stockholders, the
number of nominees for the directorships (or, if applicable, the directorships of a particular class of directors) exceeds the number of such directors to be elected (a “Contested
Election”). Each share may be voted for as many individuals as there are directors to be elected and for whose election the share is entitled to be voted. A majority of the votes
cast at a meeting of stockholders duly called and at which a quorum is present shall be sufficient to approve any other matter which may properly come before the meeting,
unless a different vote is required by statute or by the charter of the Corporation. Unless otherwise provided in the charter, each outstanding share, regardless of class, shall be
entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders.

Section 8. PROXIES. A stockholder may cast the votes entitled to be cast by the holder of the shares of stock owned of record by the stockholder in person or by
proxy executed by the stockholder or by the stockholder’s duly authorized agent in any manner permitted by law. Such proxy or evidence of authorization of such proxy shall be
filed with the secretary of the Corporation before or at the meeting. No proxy shall be valid more than eleven months after its date unless otherwise provided in the proxy.

Section 9. VOTING OF STOCK BY CERTAIN HOLDERS. Stock of the Corporation registered in the name of a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, if
entitled to be voted, may be voted by the chief executive officer, president or a vice president, a general partner or trustee thereof, as the case may be, or a proxy appointed by
any of the foregoing individuals, unless some other person who has been appointed to vote such stock pursuant to a bylaw or a resolution of the governing body of such
corporation or other entity or agreement of the partners of a partnership presents a certified copy of such bylaw, resolution or agreement, in which case such person may vote
such stock. Any director or other fiduciary may vote stock registered in his or her name as such fiduciary, either in person or by proxy.

Shares of stock of the Corporation directly or indirectly owned by it shall not be voted at any meeting and shall not be counted in determining the total number of
outstanding shares entitled to be voted at any given time, unless they are held by it in a fiduciary capacity, in which case they may be voted and shall be counted in determining
the total number of outstanding shares at any given time.

The Board of Directors may adopt by resolution a procedure by which a stockholder may certify in writing to the Corporation that any shares of stock registered
in the name of the stockholder are held for the account of a specified person other than the stockholder. The resolution shall set forth the
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class of stockholders who may make the certification, the purpose for which the certification may be made, the form of certification and the information to be contained in it; if
the certification is with respect to a record date, the time after the record date within which the certification must be received by the Corporation; and any other provisions with
respect to the procedure which the Board of Directors considers necessary or desirable. On receipt of such certification, the person specified in the certification shall be regarded
as, for the purposes set forth in the certification, the stockholder of record of the specified stock in place of the stockholder who makes the certification.

Section 10. INSPECTORS. The Board of Directors or the chair of the meeting may appoint, before or at the meeting, one or more inspectors for the meeting and
any successor thereto. The inspectors, if any, shall (i) determine the number of shares of stock represented at the meeting, in person or by proxy and the validity and effect of
proxies, (ii) receive and tabulate all votes, ballots or consents, (iii) report such tabulation to the chair of the meeting, (iv) hear and determine all challenges and questions arising
in connection with the right to vote, and (v) do such acts as are proper to conduct the election or vote with fairness to all stockholders. Each such report shall be in writing and
signed by him or her or by a majority of them if there is more than one inspector acting at such meeting. If there is more than one inspector, the report of a majority shall be the
report of the inspectors. The report of the inspector or inspectors on the number of shares represented at the meeting and the results of the voting shall be prima facie evidence
thereof.

Section 11. ADVANCE NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDER NOMINEES FOR DIRECTOR AND OTHER STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS.

(a) Annual Meetings of Stockholders.

(1) Nominations of individuals for election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of other business to be considered by the stockholders may be
made at an annual meeting of stockholders (i) pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (iii) by any stockholder of
the Corporation who was a stockholder of record both at the time of giving of notice by the stockholder as provided for in this Section 11(a) and at the time of the annual
meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with this Section 11(a).

(2) For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to clause (iii) of paragraph (a)(1) of this
Section 11, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the secretary of the Corporation and such other business must otherwise be a proper matter for
action by the stockholders. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall set forth all information required under this Section 11 and shall be delivered to the secretary at the
principal executive office of the Corporation not earlier than the 150th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of the proxy statement for the preceding year’s annual
meeting nor later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of the proxy statement for the preceding year’s annual meeting;
provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced or delayed by more than 30 days from the first anniversary of the date of the preceding
year’s annual meeting (or if an annual meeting has not previously been held), notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the 150th day prior to
the date of such annual meeting and not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the later of the 120th day prior to the date of such annual meeting or the tenth day following the
day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made. The public announcement of a postponement or adjournment of an annual meeting shall not
commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. Such stockholder’s notice shall set forth (i) as to each individual whom the stockholder
proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director (each, a “Proposed Nominee”), (A) the name, age, business address and residence address of such individual, (B) the
class, series and number of any shares of stock of the
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Corporation that are beneficially owned by such individual, (C) the date such shares were acquired and the investment intent of such acquisition, (D) whether such stockholder
believes any such individual is, or is not, an “interested person” of the Corporation, as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules promulgated
thereunder (the “Investment Company Act”) and information regarding such individual that is sufficient, in the discretion of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof or
any authorized officer of the Corporation, to make such determination and (E) all other information relating to such individual that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of
proxies for election of directors in an election contest (even if an election contest is not involved), or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A (or any
successor provision) under the Exchange Act and the rules thereunder (including such individual’s written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to
serving as a director if elected); (ii) as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a description of such business, the reasons for proposing
such business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such stockholder and any Stockholder Associated Person (as defined below), individually or in the
aggregate, including any anticipated benefit to the stockholder or the Stockholder Associated Person therefrom; (iii) as to the stockholder giving the notice and any Stockholder
Associated Person, (A) the class, series and number of all shares of stock of the Corporation which are owned by such stockholder and by such Stockholder Associated Person,
if any, (B) the nominee holder for, and number of, shares owned beneficially but not of record by such stockholder and by any such Stockholder Associated Person, (C) whether
and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of, or any other agreement, arrangement or understanding
(including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares) has been made, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to or manage risk of share price changes for,
or to increase the voting power of, such stockholder or any such Stockholder Associated Person with respect to any shares of stock of the Corporation (collectively, “Hedging
Activities”) and (D) a general description of whether and the extent to which such stockholder or such Stockholder Associated Person has engaged in Hedging Activities with
respect to shares of stock or other equity interests of any other company; (iv) as to the stockholder giving the notice and any Stockholder Associated Person covered by clauses
(ii) or (iii) of this paragraph (2) of this Section 11(a), (A) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s stock ledger and current name and
address, if different, and of such Stockholder Associated Person; and (B) the investment strategy or objective, if any, of such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person and
a copy of the prospectus, offering memorandum or similar document, if any provided to investors or potential investors in such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person;
and (v) to the extent known by the stockholder giving the notice, the name and address of any other stockholder supporting the nominee for election or reelection as a director or
the proposal of other business on the date of such stockholder’s notice.

(3) Such stockholder’s notice shall, with respect to any Proposed Nominee, be accompanied by a certificate executed by the Proposed Nominee
(i) certifying that such Proposed Nominee (a) is not, and will not become, a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the
Corporation in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed to the Corporation and (b) will serve as a director of the Corporation if elected; and
(ii) attaching a completed Proposed Nominee questionnaire (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Corporation, upon request, to the stockholder providing the notice and
shall include all information relating to the Proposed Nominee that would be required to be disclosed in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the election of the
Proposed Nominee as a director in an election contest (even if an election contest is not involved), or would otherwise be required in connection with such solicitation, in each
case pursuant to Regulation 14A (or any successor provision) under the Exchange Act and the rules thereunder, or would be required pursuant to the rules of any national
securities exchange on which any securities of the Corporation are listed or over-the-counter market on which any securities of the Corporation are traded).
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(4) Notwithstanding anything in this subsection (a) of this Section 11 to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board
of Directors is increased and there is no public announcement of such action at least 130 days prior to the first anniversary of the date of the proxy statement for the preceding
year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 11(a) shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by
such increase, if it shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive office of the Corporation not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the tenth day following the
day on which such public announcement is first made by the Corporation.

(5) For purposes of this Section 11, “Stockholder Associated Person” of any stockholder shall mean (i) any person controlling, directly or indirectly, or
acting in concert with, such stockholder, (ii) any beneficial owner of shares of stock of the Corporation owned of record or beneficially by such stockholder, and (iii) any person
controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Stockholder Associated Person.

(b) Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting
pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting. Nominations of individuals for election to the Board of Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which
directors are to be elected (i) pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (iii) provided that the Board of Directors has
determined that directors shall be elected at such special meeting, by any stockholder of the Corporation who is a stockholder of record both at the time of giving of notice
provided for in this Section 11 and at the time of the special meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this
Section 11. In the event the Corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of electing one or more individuals to the Board of Directors, any such
stockholder may nominate an individual or individuals (as the case may be) for election as a director as specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting, if the stockholder’s
notice required by paragraph (a)(2) of this Section 11 shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive office of the Corporation not earlier than the 120th day prior to
such special meeting and not later than 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or the tenth day following the day on which public
announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting. The public announcement
of a postponement or adjournment of a special meeting shall not commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.

(c) General.

(1) If information submitted pursuant to this Section 11 by any stockholder proposing a nominee for election as a Director or any proposal for other
business at a meeting of stockholders shall be inaccurate to a material extent, such information may be deemed not to have been provided in accordance with this Section 11.
Upon written request by the secretary or the Board of Directors, any stockholder proposing a nominee for election as a Director or any proposal for other business at a meeting
of stockholders shall provide, within five Business Days of delivery of such request (or such other period as may be specified in such request), (A) written verification,
satisfactory, in the discretion of the Board of Directors or any authorized officer of the Corporation, to demonstrate the accuracy of any information submitted by the
stockholder pursuant to this Section 11 and (B) a written update of any information previously submitted by the stockholder pursuant to this Section 11 as of an earlier date. If a
stockholder fails to provide such written verification or written update within such period, the information as to which written verification or a written update was requested
may be deemed not to have been provided in accordance with this Section 11.
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(2) Only such individuals who are nominated in accordance with this Section 11 shall be eligible for election by stockholders as directors, and only such
business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting in accordance with this Section 11. The chairman of the meeting shall
have the power to determine whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance
with this Section 11.

(3) For purposes of this Section 11, “the date of the proxy statement” shall have the same meaning as “the date of the company’s proxy statement
released to shareholders” as used in Rule 14a-8(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act, as interpreted by the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time. For
purposes of this Section 11, “public announcement” shall mean disclosure (i) in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press, Business Wire, PR
Newswire or other widely circulated news or wire service or (ii) in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the
Exchange Act or the Investment Company Act.

(4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 11, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of state law and of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 11. Nothing in this Section 11 shall be deemed to affect any right of a
stockholder to request inclusion of a proposal in, nor the right of the Corporation to omit a proposal from, the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 (or any
successor provision) under the Exchange Act.

Section 12. VOTING BY BALLOT. Voting on any question or in any election may be viva voce unless the presiding officer shall order or any stockholder shall
demand that voting be by ballot.

Section 13. CONTROL SHARE ACQUISITION ACT. Notwithstanding any other provision of the charter of the Corporation or these Bylaws, Subtitle 7 of Title
3 of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”), or any successor statute, shall not apply to any acquisition by any person of shares of stock of the Corporation. This
section may be repealed, in whole or in part, at any time, whether before or after an acquisition of control shares and, upon such repeal, may, to the extent provided by any
successor bylaw, apply to any prior or subsequent control share acquisition.

ARTICLE III

DIRECTORS

Section 1. GENERAL POWERS. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of its Board of Directors.

Section 2. NUMBER, TENURE AND RESIGNATION. At any regular meeting or at any special meeting called for that purpose, a majority of the entire Board of
Directors may establish, increase or decrease the number of directors, provided that the number thereof shall never be less than the minimum number required by the MGCL,
nor more than eleven, and further provided that the tenure of office of a director shall not be affected by any decrease in the number of directors. Any director of the
Corporation may resign at any time by delivering his or her resignation to the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board or the secretary. Any resignation shall take effect
immediately upon its receipt or at such later time specified in the resignation. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless otherwise stated
in the resignation.
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Section 3. ANNUAL AND REGULAR MEETINGS. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors may be held immediately after and at the same place as the
annual meeting of stockholders, no notice other than this Bylaw being necessary. In the event such meeting is not so held, the meeting may be held at such time and place as
shall be specified in a notice given as hereinafter provided for special meetings of the Board of Directors. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held from time to
time at such places and times as provided by the Board of Directors by resolution, without notice other than such resolution.

Section 4. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer, the president or by a majority of the directors then in office. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix any place as the
place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them. The Board of Directors may provide, by resolution, the time and place for the holding of special
meetings of the Board of Directors without notice other than such resolution.

Section 5. NOTICE. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be delivered personally or by telephone, electronic mail, facsimile transmission,
United States mail or courier to each director at his or her business or residence address. Notice by personal delivery, telephone, electronic mail or facsimile transmission shall
be given at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notice by United States mail shall be given at least three days prior to the meeting. Notice by courier shall be given at least two
days prior to the meeting. Telephone notice shall be deemed to be given when the director or his or her agent is personally given such notice in a telephone call to which the
director or his or her agent is a party. Electronic mail notice shall be deemed to be given upon transmission of the message to the electronic mail address given to the
Corporation by the director. Facsimile transmission notice shall be deemed to be given upon completion of the transmission of the message to the number given to the
Corporation by the director and receipt of a completed answer-back indicating receipt. Notice by United States mail shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United
States mail properly addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. Notice by courier shall be deemed to be given when deposited with or delivered to a courier properly addressed.
Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any annual, regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be stated in the notice, unless specifically
required by statute or these Bylaws.

Section 6. QUORUM. A majority of the directors shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors, provided that, if
less than a majority of such directors are present at such meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice, and
provided further that if, pursuant to applicable law, the charter of the Corporation or these Bylaws, the vote of a majority or other percentage of a particular group of directors is
required for action, a quorum must also include a majority of such group.

The directors present at a meeting which has been duly called and convened may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal
of enough directors to leave less than a quorum.

Section 7. VOTING. The action of a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the action of the Board of Directors,
unless the concurrence of a greater proportion is required for such action by applicable statute or the charter. If enough directors have withdrawn from a meeting to leave less
than a quorum but the meeting is not adjourned, the action of the majority of that number of directors necessary to constitute a quorum at such meeting shall be the action of the
Board of Directors, unless the concurrence of a greater proportion is required for such action by applicable statute or the charter.
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Section 8. ORGANIZATION. At each meeting of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board or, in the absence of the Chairman, the Vice Chairman of the
Board, if any, shall act as Chairman. In the absence of both the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer or in the absence of the chief executive
officer, the president or in the absence of the president, a director chosen by a majority of the directors present, shall act as Chairman. The secretary or, in his or her absence, an
assistant secretary of the Corporation, or in the absence of the secretary and all assistant secretaries, a person appointed by the Chairman, shall act as secretary of the meeting.

Section 9. TELEPHONE MEETINGS. Directors may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment if all
persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time; provided however, this Section 9 does not apply to any action of the directors pursuant to the
Investment Company Act, that requires the vote of the directors to be cast in person at a meeting. Participation in a meeting by these means shall constitute presence in person at
the meeting.

Section 10. WRITTEN CONSENT BY DIRECTORS. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken
without a meeting, if a consent to such action is given in writing or by electronic transmission and is filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors; provided
however, this Section 10 does not apply to any action of the directors pursuant to the Investment Company Act, that requires the vote of the directors to be cast in person at a
meeting.

Section 11. VACANCIES. If for any reason any or all the directors cease to be directors, such event shall not terminate the Corporation or affect these Bylaws or
the powers of the remaining directors hereunder, if any. Pursuant to the Corporation’s election in Article V of the charter, subject to applicable requirements of the Investment
Company Act, except as may be provided by the Board of Directors in setting the terms of any class or series of preferred stock, (a) any vacancy on the Board of Directors may
be filled only by a majority of the remaining directors, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum and (b) any director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the
remainder of the full term of the class in which the vacancy occurred and until a successor is elected and qualifies.

Section 12. COMPENSATION. Directors shall not receive any stated salary for their services as directors but, by resolution of the Board of Directors, may
receive compensation per year and/or per meeting and/or per visit to real property or other facilities owned or leased by the Corporation and for any service or activity they
performed or engaged in as directors. Directors may be reimbursed for expenses of attendance, if any, at each annual, regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors or of
any committee thereof and for their expenses, if any, in connection with each property visit and any other service or activity they performed or engaged in as directors; but
nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any directors from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 13. LOSS OF DEPOSITS. No director shall be liable for any loss which may occur by reason of the failure of the bank, trust company, savings and loan
association, or other institution with whom moneys or stock have been deposited.

Section 14. SURETY BONDS. Unless required by law, no director shall be obligated to give any bond or surety or other security for the performance of any of
his or her duties.
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Section 15. RELIANCE. Each director and officer of the Corporation shall, in the performance of his or her duties with respect to the Corporation, be entitled to
rely on any information, opinion, report or statement, including any financial statement or other financial data, prepared or presented by an officer or employee of the
Corporation whom the director or officer reasonably believes to be reliable and competent in the matters presented, by a lawyer, certified public accountant or other person, as
to a matter which the director or officer reasonably believes to be within the person’s professional or expert competence, or, with respect to a director, by a committee of the
Board of Directors on which the director does not serve, as to a matter within its designated authority, if the director reasonably believes the committee to merit confidence.

Section 16. RATIFICATION. The Board of Directors or the stockholders may ratify and make binding on the Corporation any action or inaction by the
Corporation or its officers to the extent that the Board of Directors or the stockholders could have originally authorized the matter. Moreover, any action or inaction questioned
in any stockholders’ derivative proceeding or any other proceeding on the ground of lack of authority, defective or irregular execution, adverse interest of a director, officer or
stockholder, non-disclosure, miscomputation, or the application of improper principles or practices of accounting, may be ratified, before or after judgment, by the Board of
Directors or by the stockholders and such ratification shall be binding upon the Corporation and its stockholders and shall constitute a bar to any claim or execution of any
judgment in respect of such questioned action or inaction.

Section 17. EMERGENCY PROVISIONS. Notwithstanding any other provision in the charter or these Bylaws, this Section 17 shall apply during the existence of
any catastrophe, or other similar emergency condition, as a result of which a quorum of the Board of Directors under Article III of these Bylaws cannot readily be obtained (an
“Emergency”). During any Emergency, unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, (i) a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee thereof may be called by
any director or officer by any means feasible under the circumstances; (ii) notice of any meeting of the Board of Directors during such an Emergency may be given less than 24
hours prior to the meeting to as many directors and by such means as may be feasible at the time, including publication, television or radio, and (iii) the number of directors
necessary to constitute a quorum shall be one-third of the entire Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IV

COMMITTEES

Section 1. NUMBER, TENURE AND QUALIFICATIONS. The Board of Directors may appoint from among its members an Executive Committee, an Audit
Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, a Valuation Committee and other committees, composed of one or more directors, to serve at the pleasure of
the Board of Directors.

Section 2. POWERS. The Board of Directors may delegate to committees appointed under Section 1 of this Article any of the powers of the Board of Directors,
except as prohibited by law.

Section 3. MEETINGS. Notice of committee meetings shall be given in the same manner as notice for special meetings of the Board of Directors. A majority of
the members of the committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the committee. The act of a majority of the committee members present
at a meeting shall be the act of such committee. The Board of Directors may designate a chairman of any committee, and such chairman or, in the absence of a chairman, any
two members of any committee (if there are at least two members of the Committee) may
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fix the time and place of its meeting unless the Board shall otherwise provide. In the absence of any member of any such committee, the members thereof present at any
meeting, whether or not they constitute a quorum, may appoint another director to act in the place of such absent member. Each committee shall keep minutes of its
proceedings.

Section 4. TELEPHONE MEETINGS. Members of a committee of the Board of Directors may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or
similar communications equipment if all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by these means shall constitute
presence in person at the meeting.

Section 5. WRITTEN CONSENT BY COMMITTEES. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of a committee of the Board of Directors may
be taken without a meeting, if a consent to such action is given in writing or by electronic transmission by each member of the committee and is filed with the minutes of
proceedings of such committee.

Section 6. VACANCIES. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Board of Directors shall have the power at any time to change the membership of any committee, to
fill any vacancy, to designate one or more alternate members to replace any absent or disqualified member or to dissolve any such committee. Subject to the power of the Board
of Directors, the members of the committee shall have the power to fill any vacancies on the committee.

ARTICLE V

OFFICERS

Section 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS. The officers of the Corporation shall include a president, a secretary and a treasurer and may include a chief executive
officer, one or more vice presidents, a chief operating officer, a chief financial officer, a chief investment officer, a chief compliance officer, one or more assistant secretaries
and one or more assistant treasurers. In addition, the Board of Directors may from time to time elect such other officers with such powers and duties as it shall deem necessary
or desirable. The Board of Directors may designate a Chairman of the Board and a Vice Chairman of the Board, who shall not, solely by reason of such designation, be officers
of the Corporation but shall have such powers and duties as determined by the Board of Directors from time to time. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected annually by
the Board of Directors, except that the chief executive officer or president may from time to time appoint one or more vice presidents, assistant secretaries, assistant treasurers or
other officers. Each officer shall serve until his or her successor is elected and qualifies or until death, resignation or removal in the manner hereinafter provided. Any two or
more offices except president and vice president may be held by the same person. Election of an officer or agent shall not of itself create contract rights between the
Corporation and such officer or agent.

Section 2. REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION. Any officer or agent of the Corporation may be removed, with or without cause, by the Board of Directors if in its
judgment the best interests of the Corporation would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Any
officer of the Corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice of his or her resignation to the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer, the president or the secretary. Any resignation shall take effect immediately upon its receipt or at such later time specified in the notice of resignation. The acceptance of
a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless otherwise stated in the resignation. Such resignation shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the
Corporation.
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Section 3. VACANCIES. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors for the balance of the term.

Section 4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER. The Board of Directors may designate a chief executive officer. In the absence of such designation, the president shall
be the chief executive officer of the Corporation. The chief executive officer shall have general responsibility for implementation of the policies of the Corporation, as
determined by the Board of Directors, and for the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation. He or she may execute any deed, mortgage, bond, contract or other
instrument, except in cases where the execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the
Corporation or shall be required by law to be otherwise executed; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of chief executive officer and such other duties as
may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 5. CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER. The Board of Directors may designate a chief operating officer. The chief operating officer shall have the
responsibilities and duties as determined by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer.

Section 6. CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER. The Board of Directors may designate a chief investment officer. The chief investment officer shall have the
responsibilities and duties as determined by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer.

Section 7. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER. The Board of Directors may designate a chief financial officer. The chief financial officer shall have the
responsibilities and duties as set forth by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer.

Section 8. CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER. The Board of Directors shall designate a chief compliance officer to the extent required by and consistent with the
requirements of, the Investment Company Act of 1940. The chief compliance officer, subject to the direction of and reporting to the Board of Directors, shall be responsible for
the oversight of the Corporation’s compliance with the Federal securities laws. The designation, compensation and removal of the chief compliance officer must be approved by
the Board of Directors, including a majority of the directors who are not “interested persons” (as such term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act of
1940) of the Corporation. The chief compliance officer shall perform such executive, supervisory and management functions and duties as may be assigned to him or her from
time to time.

Section 9. PRESIDENT. In the absence of a designation of a chief executive officer by the Board of Directors, the president shall be the chief executive officer.
He or she may execute any deed, mortgage, bond, contract or other instrument, except in cases where the execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of
Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Corporation or shall be required by law to be otherwise executed; and in general shall perform all duties
incident to the office of president and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 10. VICE PRESIDENTS. In the absence of the president or in the event of a vacancy in such office, the vice president (or in the event there be more than
one vice president, the vice presidents in the order designated at the time of their election or, in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election) shall perform
the duties of the president and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president; and shall perform such other duties as from
time to time may be assigned to such vice president by the chief executive officer, president or by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may designate one or more
vice presidents as executive vice president, senior vice president or as vice president for particular areas of responsibility.
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Section 11. SECRETARY. The secretary shall: (a) keep the minutes of the proceedings of the stockholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board of
Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law; (c) be
custodian of the corporate records and of the seal of the Corporation; (d) keep a register of the post office address of each stockholder which shall be furnished to the secretary
by such stockholder; (e) have general charge of the stock transfer books of the Corporation; and (f) in general perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to
him by the chief executive officer, the president or by the Board of Directors.

Section 12. TREASURER. The treasurer shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Corporation and shall
deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. In the
absence of a designation of a chief financial officer by the Board of Directors, the treasurer shall be the chief financial officer of the Corporation.

The treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall
render to the chief executive officer, president and Board of Directors, at the regular meetings of the Board of Directors or whenever it may so require, an account of all his or
her transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation.

Section 13. ASSISTANT SECRETARIES AND ASSISTANT TREASURERS. The assistant secretaries and assistant treasurers, in general, shall perform such
duties as shall be assigned to them by the secretary or treasurer, respectively, or by the chief executive officer, president or the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI

CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS

Section 1. CONTRACTS. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or agent to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any instrument in the
name of and on behalf of the Corporation and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Any agreement, deed, mortgage, lease or other document shall be
valid and binding upon the Corporation when authorized or ratified by action of the Board of Directors and executed by an authorized person.

Section 2. CHECKS AND DRAFTS. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of
the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or agent of the Corporation in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. DEPOSITS. All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks,
trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Directors may designate.
 

15



ARTICLE VII

STOCK

Section 1. CERTIFICATES; REQUIRED INFORMATION. The Corporation may issue some or all of the shares of any or all of the Corporation’s classes or
series of stock without certificates if authorized by the Board of Directors. In the event that the Corporation issues shares of stock represented by certificates, such certificates
shall be in such form as prescribed by the Board of Directors or a duly authorized officer, shall contain the statements and information required by the MGCL and shall be
signed by the officers of the Corporation in the manner permitted by the MGCL. In the event that the Corporation issues shares of stock without certificates, to the extent then
required by the MGCL, the Corporation shall provide to the record holders of such shares a written statement of the information required by the MGCL to be included on stock
certificates. There shall be no differences in the rights and obligations of stockholders based on whether or not their shares are represented by certificates. If a class or series of
stock is authorized by the Board of Directors to be issued without certificates, no stockholder shall be entitled to a certificate or certificates representing any shares of such class
or series of stock held by such stockholder unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors and then only upon written request by such stockholder to the secretary of the
Corporation.

Section 2. TRANSFERS. All transfers of stock shall be made on the books of the Corporation, by the holder of the shares, in person or by his or her attorney, in
such manner as the Board of Directors or any officer of the Corporation may prescribe and, if such shares are certificated, upon surrender of certificates duly endorsed. The
issuance of a new certificate upon the transfer of certificated shares is subject to the determination of the Board of Directors that such shares shall no longer be represented by
certificates. Upon the transfer of uncertificated shares, to the extent then required by the MGCL, the Corporation shall provide to record holders of such shares a written
statement of the information required by the MGCL to be included on stock certificates.

The Corporation shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share of stock as the holder in fact thereof and, accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize
any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise
provided by the laws of the State of Maryland.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, transfers of shares of any class or series of stock will be subject in all respects to the charter of the Corporation and all of the terms
and conditions contained therein.

Section 3. REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATE. Any officer of the Corporation may direct a new certificate or certificates to be issued in place of any certificate or
certificates theretofore issued by the Corporation alleged to have been lost, destroyed, stolen or mutilated, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the
certificate of stock to be lost, destroyed, stolen or mutilated; provided, however, if such shares have ceased to be certificated, no new certificate shall be issued unless requested
in writing by such stockholder and the Board of Directors has determined such certificates may be issued. Unless otherwise determined by an officer of the Corporation, the
owner of such lost, destroyed, stolen or mutilated certificate or certificates, or his or her legal representative, shall be required, as a condition precedent to the issuance of a new
certificate or certificates, to give the Corporation a bond in such sums as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Corporation.

Section 4. FIXING OF RECORD DATE. The Board of Directors may set, in advance, a record date for the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to notice
of or to vote at any
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meeting of stockholders or determining stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or the allotment of any other rights, or in order to make a determination of
stockholders for any other proper purpose. Such date, in any case, shall not be prior to the close of business on the day the record date is fixed and shall be not more than 90
days and, in the case of a meeting of stockholders, not less than ten days, before the date on which the meeting or particular action requiring such determination of stockholders
of record is to be held or taken.

When a determination of stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders has been made as provided in this section, such determination shall apply to
any adjournment or postponement thereof, except when the meeting is adjourned or postponed to a date more than 120 days after the record date fixed for the original meeting,
in which case a new record date shall be determined as set forth herein.

Section 5. STOCK LEDGER. The Corporation shall maintain at its principal office or at the office of its counsel, accountants or transfer agent, an original or
duplicate share ledger containing the name and address of each stockholder and the number of shares of each class held by such stockholder.

Section 6. FRACTIONAL STOCK; ISSUANCE OF UNITS. The Board of Directors may issue fractional stock or provide for the issuance of scrip, all on such
terms and under such conditions as they may determine. Notwithstanding any other provision of the charter or these Bylaws, the Board of Directors may issue units consisting
of different securities of the Corporation. Any security issued in a unit shall have the same characteristics as any identical securities issued by the Corporation, except that the
Board of Directors may provide that for a specified period securities of the Corporation issued in such unit may be transferred on the books of the Corporation only in such unit.

ARTICLE VIII

ACCOUNTING YEAR

The Board of Directors shall have the power, from time to time, to fix the fiscal year of the Corporation by a duly adopted resolution.

ARTICLE IX

DISTRIBUTIONS

Section 1. AUTHORIZATION. Dividends and other distributions upon the stock of the Corporation may be authorized by the Board of Directors, subject to the
provisions of law and the charter of the Corporation. Dividends and other distributions may be paid in cash, property or stock of the Corporation, subject to the provisions of law
and the charter.

Section 2. CONTINGENCIES. Before payment of any dividends or other distributions, there may be set aside out of any assets of the Corporation available for
dividends or other distributions such sum or sums as the Board of Directors may from time to time, in its absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve fund for contingencies,
for equalizing dividends, for repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation or for such other purpose as the Board of Directors shall determine, and the Board of
Directors may modify or abolish any such reserve.
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ARTICLE X

SEAL

Section 1. SEAL. The Board of Directors may authorize the adoption of a seal by the Corporation. The seal shall contain the name of the Corporation and the year
of its incorporation and the words “Incorporated Maryland.” The Board of Directors may authorize one or more duplicate seals and provide for the custody thereof.

Section 2. AFFIXING SEAL. Whenever the Corporation is permitted or required to affix its seal to a document, it shall be sufficient to meet the requirements of
any law, rule or regulation relating to a seal to place the word “(SEAL)” adjacent to the signature of the person authorized to execute the document on behalf of the Corporation.

ARTICLE XI

WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever any notice is required to be given pursuant to the charter of the Corporation or these Bylaws or pursuant to applicable law, a waiver thereof in writing
or by electronic transmission, given by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of
such notice. Neither the business to be transacted at nor the purpose of any meeting need be set forth in the waiver of notice, unless specifically required by statute. The
attendance of any person at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where such person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to
the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

ARTICLE XII

INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT

If and to the extent that any provision of the MGCL, including, without limitation, Subtitle 6 and, if then applicable, Subtitle 7, of Title 3 of the MGCL, or any
provision of the charter or these Bylaws conflicts with any provision of the Investment Company Act, the applicable provision of the Investment Company Act shall control.

ARTICLE XIII

AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

The Board of Directors shall have the exclusive power, at any time, to adopt, alter or repeal any provision of these Bylaws and to make new Bylaws.
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Exhibit 10.1

INVESTMENT ADVISORY AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

AND

OWL ROCK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC

This Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made as of March 1, 2016, by and between Owl Rock Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), and
Owl Rock Capital Advisors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Adviser”).

WHEREAS, the Company is a closed-end management investment company that intends to elect to be treated as a business development company (“BDC”)
under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Investment Company Act”);

WHEREAS, the Adviser is an investment adviser that is registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “Advisers Act”); and

WHEREAS, the Company desires to retain the Adviser to furnish investment advisory services to the Company on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth,
and the Adviser desires to be retained to provide such services.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereby agree as follows:

 
1) Duties of the Adviser
 

 

a) The Company hereby employs the Adviser to act as the investment adviser to the Company and to manage the investment and reinvestment of the assets of the
Company, subject to the supervision of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), for the period and upon the terms herein set forth, (x) in accordance
with the investment objective, policies and restrictions that are set forth in the Company’s registration statement on Form 10 (as amended from time to time, the
“Registration Statement”) to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and prior to the date on which the SEC declares the Company’s
Registration Statement effective, in accordance with the investment objective, policies and restrictions that are set forth in the Company’s confidential private
placement memorandum dated February 23, 2016 and as amended from time to time; (y) in accordance with all other applicable federal and state laws, rules and
regulations, and the Company’s charter and by-laws as the same shall be amended from time to time; and (z) in accordance with the Investment Company Act.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Adviser shall, during the term and subject to the provisions of this Agreement: (i) determine the composition
of the portfolio of the Company, the nature and timing of the changes therein and the manner of implementing such changes; (ii) identify/source, research,
evaluate and negotiate the structure of the investments made by the Company; (iii) close and monitor the Company’s investments;
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(iv) determine the securities and other assets that the Company will purchase, retain, or sell; (v) use reasonable endeavors to ensure that the Company’s investments
consist mainly of shares, securities or currencies (or derivative contracts relating thereto), which for the avoidance of doubt may include loans, notes and other
evidences of indebtedness; (vi) perform due diligence on prospective portfolio companies; and (vii) provide the Company with such other investment advisory,
research, and related services as the Company may, from time to time, reasonably require for the investment of its funds, including providing operating and
managerial assistance to the Company and its portfolio companies as required. Subject to the supervision of the Board, the Adviser shall have the power and
authority on behalf of the Company to effectuate its investment decisions for the Company, including the execution and delivery of all documents relating to the
Company’s investments and the placing of orders for other purchase or sale transactions on behalf of the Company. In the event that the Company determines to
acquire debt financing, the Adviser will arrange for such financing on the Company’s behalf, subject to the oversight and approval of the Board. If it is necessary or
appropriate for the Adviser to make investments on behalf of the Company through a special purpose vehicle, the Adviser shall have authority to create or arrange
for the creation of such special purpose vehicle and to make such investments through such special purpose vehicle (in accordance with the Investment Company
Act).

 

 b) The Adviser hereby accepts such employment and agrees during the term hereof to render the services described herein for the compensation provided herein.
 

 c) The Adviser shall for all purposes herein provided be deemed to be an independent contractor and, except as expressly provided or authorized herein, shall have no
authority to act for or represent the Company in any way or otherwise be deemed an agent of the Company.

 

 

d) The Adviser shall keep and preserve for the period required by the Investment Company Act any books and records relevant to the provision of its investment
advisory services to the Company and shall specifically maintain all books and records in accordance with Section 31(a) of the Investment Company Act with
respect to the Company’s portfolio transactions and shall render to the Board such periodic and special reports as the Board may reasonably request. The Adviser
agrees that all records that it maintains for the Company are the property of the Company and will surrender promptly to the Company any such records upon the
Company’s request, provided that the Adviser may retain a copy of such records.

 

 e) The Adviser shall be primarily responsible for the execution of any trades in securities in the Company’s portfolio and the Company’s allocation of brokerage
commissions.

 

 

f) Following a continuous public offering through the independent broker-dealer network (a “Non-Listed Offering”) and prior to such time as the Company’s common
stock is listed on a national securities exchange (an “Exchange Listing”), the Adviser shall, upon request by an official or agency administering the securities laws of
a state (a “State Administrator”), submit to such State Administrator the reports and statements required to be distributed to the Company’s stockholders pursuant to
this Agreement, any registration statement filed with the SEC and applicable federal and state law.
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g) The Adviser has a fiduciary responsibility and duty to the Company and the Company’s stockholders for the safekeeping and use of all the funds and assets of the
Company, whether or not in the Adviser’s immediate possession or control. Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the Adviser (i) shall
not employ, or permit another to employ, such funds or assets except for the exclusive benefit of the Company and (ii) may not contract away the fiduciary
obligation owed to the Company and the Company’s stockholders under common law.

 

 h) Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the provisions set forth in “Annex A —IV. Conflicts of Interest”shall apply.

 
2) Company’s Responsibilities and Expenses Payable by the Company

Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Administration Agreement (the “Administration Agreement”), dated March 1, 2016, between the Company and the
Adviser (the Adviser, in its capacity as the administrator, the “Administrator”), the Adviser shall be solely responsible for the compensation of its investment professionals and
employees and all overhead expenses of the Adviser (including rent, office equipment and utilities). The Company will bear all other costs and expenses of its operations,
administration and transactions, including (without limitation): the cost of its organization and any offerings; the cost of calculating its net asset value, including the cost of any
third-party valuation services; the cost of effecting any sales and repurchases of the Common Stock and other securities; fees and expenses payable under any dealer manager
agreements, if any; debt service and other costs of borrowings or other financing arrangements; costs of hedging; expenses, including travel expense, incurred by the Adviser, or
members of the Investment Team, or payable to third parties, performing due diligence on prospective portfolio companies and, if necessary, enforcing the Company’s rights;
transfer agent and custodial fees; fees and expenses associated with marketing efforts; federal and state registration fees, any stock exchange listing fees and fees payable to
rating agencies; federal, state and local taxes; independent directors’ fees and expenses including certain travel expenses; costs of preparing financial statements and
maintaining books and records and filing reports or other documents with the SEC (or other regulatory bodies) and other reporting and compliance costs, including registration
and listing fees, and the compensation of professionals responsible for the preparation of the foregoing; the costs of any reports, proxy statements or other notices to
stockholders (including printing and mailing costs), the costs of any stockholder or director meetings and the compensation of personnel responsible for the preparation of the
foregoing and related matters; commissions and other compensation payable to brokers or dealers; research and market data; fidelity bond, directors and officers errors and
omissions liability insurance and other insurance premiums; direct costs and expenses of administration, including printing, mailing, long distance telephone and staff; fees and
expenses associated with independent audits, outside legal and consulting costs; costs of winding up; costs incurred in connection with the formation or maintenance of entities
or vehicles to hold the Company’s assets for tax or other purposes; extraordinary expenses (such as litigation or indemnification); and costs associated with reporting and
compliance obligations under the Advisers Act and applicable federal and state securities laws. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company
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shall reimburse the Adviser (or its affiliates) for an allocable portion of the compensation paid by the Adviser (or its affiliates) to the Company’s Chief Compliance Officer and
Chief Financial Officer and their respective staffs (based on a percentage of time such individuals devote, on an estimated basis, to the business affairs of the Company). For the
avoidance of doubt, the Adviser shall be solely responsible for any placement or “finder’s” fees payable to placement agents engaged by the Company or its affiliates in
connection with the offering of securities by the Company.

In addition to the compensation paid to the Adviser pursuant to Section 3, following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing the provisions set
forth in “Annex A —I. Company’s Responsibilities and Expenses Payable by the Company” shall apply.

 
3) Compensation of the Adviser

The Company agrees to pay, and the Adviser agrees to accept, as compensation for the services provided by the Adviser hereunder, a base management
fee (the “Management Fee”) and an incentive fee (the “Incentive Fee”) as hereinafter set forth. The Company shall make any payments due hereunder to the Adviser or to the
Adviser’s designee as the Adviser may otherwise direct.
 

 a) For services rendered under this Agreement, the Management Fee will be payable quarterly in arrears. Management Fees for any partial month or quarter will be
appropriately prorated and adjusted for any share issuances or repurchases during the relevant month or quarter. The Management fee shall be calculated as follows:

 

 
i) Prior to an Exchange Listing, the Management Fee shall be calculated at an annual rate of 0.75% of (i) the average of the Company’s gross assets,

excluding cash and cash-equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed amounts, at the end of the two most recently completed calendar
quarters and (ii) the average of any remaining undrawn capital commitments at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters.

 

 ii) Following an Exchange Listing, the Management Fee shall be calculated at an annual rate of 1.75% of the Company’s gross assets, excluding cash and
cash-equivalents but including assets purchased with borrowed amounts, at the end of the two most recently completed calendar quarters.

 

 b) Prior to an Exchange Listing, the Adviser will not be entitled to an Incentive Fee. Following an Exchange Listing, the Incentive Fee shall consist of two parts, as
follows:

 

 

i) One part will be calculated and payable quarterly in arrears based on the pre-Incentive Fee net investment income for the immediately preceding calendar
quarter commencing with the first calendar quarter following an Exchange Listing. For this purpose, pre-Incentive Fee net investment income means
dividends (including reinvested dividends), interest and fee income accrued by the Company during the calendar quarter, minus the Company’s operating
expenses for the calendar quarter (including the Management Fee, expenses payable under the Administration Agreement to the Administrator, and any
interest expense and dividends paid on any
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issued and outstanding preferred stock, but excluding the Incentive Fee). Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income includes, in the case of investments with
a deferred interest feature (such as original issue discount, debt instruments with pay-in-kind interest and zero coupon securities), accrued income that the
Company has not yet received in cash. Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income does not include any realized capital gains, realized capital losses or
unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation. Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income, expressed as a rate of return on the value of the Company’s net
assets at the end of the immediately preceding calendar quarter, will be compared to a “hurdle rate” of 1.5% per calendar quarter (6% annualized). The
Company’s net investment income used to calculate this part of the Incentive Fee is also included in the amount of its gross assets used to calculate the
Management Fee.

The Company will pay the Adviser an Incentive Fee with respect to the Company’s pre-Incentive Fee net investment income in each calendar quarter as
follows:

 

 
•  With the exception of the Capital Gains Incentive Fee (as defined and discussed in greater detail below), no Incentive Fee is payable to the Adviser

prior to an Exchange Listing or in any calendar quarter in which the Company’s pre-Incentive Fee net investment income does not exceed the hurdle
rate of 1.5% for such calendar quarter.

 

 
•  100% of the Company’s pre-Incentive Fee net investment income with respect to that portion of such pre-Incentive Fee net investment income, if

any, that exceeds the hurdle rate is payable to the Adviser until the Adviser has received 20% of the total pre-Incentive Fee net investment income
for that calendar quarter. The Company refers to this portion of the Company’s Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income as the “catch-up.”

 

 •  Once the hurdle is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 20% of all remaining pre-Incentive Fee net investment income for that calendar quarter is
payable to the Adviser.

 

 

ii) The second part of the Incentive Fee (the “Capital Gains Incentive Fee”) will be determined and payable in arrears as of the end of each calendar year of
the Company (or upon termination of this Agreement as set forth below), and will equal 20% of the Company’s realized capital gains, if any, on a
cumulative basis from the date on which the Exchange Listing becomes effective (the “Listing Date”) to the end of such calendar year, computed net of all
realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation on a cumulative basis from the Listing Date through the end of each calendar year, minus the
aggregate amount of any previously paid Capital Gains Incentive Fees for prior periods. For the sole purpose of calculating the Capital Gains Incentive
Fee, the cost basis as of the Listing Date for all of the Company’s investments made prior to the Listing Date will be equal to the fair market value of such
investments as of the last day of the calendar quarter in which the Listing Date occurs; provided, however, that in no event will the Capital Gains Incentive
Fee payable pursuant hereto be in excess of the amount permitted by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, including Section 205 thereof.
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 iii) Examples of the quarterly incentive fee calculation are attached hereto as Annex B. Such examples are included for illustrative purposes only and are not
considered part of this Agreement.

 
4) Covenants of the Adviser

The Adviser agrees that it will remain registered as an investment adviser under the Advisers Act so long as the Company maintains its election to be regulated as
a BDC under the Investment Company Act. The Adviser agrees that its activities will at all times be in compliance in all material respects with all applicable federal and state
laws governing its operations and investments. In addition, following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the Adviser shall comply with the covenants set
forth in “Annex A —II. Covenants of the Adviser.”

 
5) Excess Brokerage Commissions

The Adviser is hereby authorized, to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted by law, to cause the Company to pay a member of a national securities
exchange, broker or dealer an amount of commission for effecting a securities transaction in excess of the amount of commission another member of such exchange, broker or
dealer would have charged for effecting that transaction, if the Adviser determines in good faith, taking into account such factors as price (including the applicable brokerage
commission or dealer spread), size of order, difficulty of execution, and operational facilities of the firm and the firm’s risk and skill in positioning blocks of securities, that
such amount of commission is reasonable in relation to the value of the brokerage and/or research services provided by such member, broker or dealer, viewed in terms of either
that particular transaction or its overall responsibilities with respect to the Company’s portfolio, and constitutes the best net results for the Company. Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary, following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the provisions set forth in “Annex A —III. Excess Brokerage Commissions” shall
apply.

 
6) Investment Team

The Adviser shall manage the Company’s portfolio through a team of investment professionals (the “Investment Team”) dedicated primarily to the
Company’s business, in cooperation with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. The Investment Team shall be comprised of senior personnel of the Adviser, supported by
and with access to the investment professionals, analytical capabilities and support personnel of the Company.

 
7) Limitations on the Employment of the Adviser

The services of the Adviser to the Company are not exclusive, and the Adviser may engage in any other business or render similar or different services to
others including, without limitation, the direct or indirect sponsorship or management of other investment-based accounts or commingled pools of capital, however structured,
having investment objectives similar to those of the Company, so long as its services to the Company hereunder are not impaired thereby, and nothing in this Agreement shall
limit or restrict the right of any manager, partner, officer or employee of the Adviser to engage in any other business or to devote his or her time and attention in part to any other
business, whether of a similar or dissimilar nature, or to receive any fees or compensation in connection therewith (including fees for serving as a director of, or providing
consulting services to, one or more of the Company’s portfolio companies, subject to
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applicable law). So long as this Agreement or any extension, renewal or amendment remains in effect, the Adviser shall be the only investment adviser for the Company, subject
to the Adviser’s right to enter into sub-advisory agreements as set forth herein. The Adviser assumes no responsibility under this Agreement other than to render the services
called for hereunder. It is understood that directors, officers, employees and stockholders of the Company are or may become interested in the Adviser and its affiliates, as
directors, officers, employees, partners, stockholders, members, managers or otherwise, and that the Adviser and directors, officers, employees, partners, stockholders, members
and managers of the Adviser and its affiliates are or may become similarly interested in the Company as stockholders or otherwise.

 
8) Responsibility of Dual Directors, Officers and/or Employees

If any person who is a manager, partner, officer or employee of the Adviser is or becomes a director, officer and/or employee of the Company and acts as
such in any business of the Company, then such manager, partner, officer and/or employee of the Adviser or the Administrator shall be deemed to be acting in such capacity
solely for the Company, and not as a manager, partner, officer or employee of the Adviser or the Administrator or under the control or direction of the Adviser or the
Administrator, even if paid by the Adviser or the Administrator.

 
9) Limitation of Liability of the Adviser; Indemnification

The Adviser (and its officers, managers, partners, agents, employees, controlling persons, members and any other person or entity affiliated with the Adviser,
including without limitation its sole member) shall not be liable to the Company for any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Adviser in connection with the performance
of any of its duties or obligations under this Agreement or otherwise as an investment adviser of the Company (except to the extent specified in Section 36(b) of the Investment
Company Act concerning loss resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty (as the same is finally determined by judicial proceedings) with respect to the receipt of compensation
for services), and the Company shall indemnify, defend and protect the Adviser (and its officers, managers, partners, agents, employees, controlling persons, members and any
other person or entity affiliated with the Adviser, including without limitation its general partner or managing member and the Administrator each of whom shall be deemed a
third party beneficiary hereof) (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) and hold them harmless from and against all damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid in settlement) incurred by the Indemnified Parties in or by reason of any pending, threatened or completed action, suit,
investigation or other proceeding (including an action or suit by or in the right of the Company or its security holders) arising out of or otherwise based upon the performance of
any of the Adviser’s duties or obligations under this Agreement or otherwise as an investment adviser of the Company. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence of this Section 9
to the contrary, nothing contained herein shall protect or be deemed to protect the Indemnified Parties against or entitle or be deemed to entitle the Indemnified Parties to
indemnification in respect of, any liability to the Company or its security holders to which the Indemnified Parties would otherwise be subject by reason of criminal conduct,
willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of the Adviser’s duties or by reason of the reckless disregard of the Adviser’s duties and obligations under
this Agreement (as the same shall be determined in accordance with the Investment Company Act and any interpretations or guidance by the SEC or its staff thereunder).
Notwithstanding this Section 9 to the contrary, following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the provisions set forth in “Annex A —V. Limitation of
Liability of the Adviser; Indemnification” shall apply.
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10) Effectiveness, Duration and Termination of Agreement
 

 

a) This Agreement shall become effective as of the date first written above. This Agreement may be terminated at any time, without the payment of any penalty, on
60 days’ written notice, by the vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Company or by the vote of the Company’s directors or by the Adviser;
provided, however, that following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the Adviser may only terminate this agreement upon not more than 120
days’ written notice. The provisions of Section 9 of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, and the Adviser shall remain entitled to the benefits thereof,
notwithstanding any termination of this Agreement. Further, notwithstanding the termination or expiration of this Agreement as aforesaid, the Adviser shall be
entitled to any amounts owed under Section 3 through the date of termination or expiration, and Section 9 shall continue in force and effect and apply to the Adviser
and its representatives as and to the extent applicable.

 

 

b) This Agreement shall continue in effect for two years from the date hereof, or to the extent consistent with the requirements of the Investment Company Act, from
the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC under the Investment Company Act, and thereafter shall continue automatically for successive annual
periods, provided that such continuance is specifically approved at least annually by (A) the vote of the Board, or by the vote of a majority of the outstanding voting
securities of the Company and (B) the vote of a majority of the Company’s directors who are not parties to this Agreement or “interested persons” (as such term is
defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act) of any such party, in accordance with the requirements of the Investment Company Act.

 

 c) This Agreement will automatically terminate in the event of its “assignment” (as such term is defined for purposes of Section 15(a)(4) of the Investment Company
Act).

 

 d) Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing the provisions set forth in “Annex A —VI. Effectiveness, Duration and Termination of
Agreement” shall apply.

 
11) Notices

Any notice under this Agreement shall be given in writing, addressed and delivered or mailed, postage prepaid, to the other party at its principal office.

 
12) Amendments

This Agreement may be amended by mutual consent, but the consent of the Company must be obtained in conformity with the requirements of the
Investment Company Act.
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13) Entire Agreement; Governing Law

This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings and arrangements with respect to the
subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the
Investment Company Act. In such case, to the extent the applicable laws of the State of Delaware, or any of the provisions herein, conflict with the provisions of the Investment
Company Act, the latter shall control.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

* * *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed on the date above written.
 

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

OWL ROCK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
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Annex A

Additional Provisions
 
I. Company’s Responsibilities and Expenses Payable by the Company. In addition to the compensation paid to the Adviser pursuant to Section 3 of the Agreement,

following a Non-Listed Offering the Company shall reimburse the Adviser for all expenses of the Company incurred by the Adviser as well as the actual cost of goods and
services used for or by the Company and obtained from entities not affiliated with the Adviser. Following a Non-Listed Offering the Adviser may be reimbursed for the
administrative services performed by it on behalf of the Company pursuant to any separate administration or co-administration agreement with the Adviser; provided,
however, such reimbursement shall be an amount equal to the lower of the Adviser’s actual cost or the amount the Company would be required to pay third parties for the
provision of comparable administrative services in the same geographic location; and provided, further, that such costs are reasonably allocated to the Company on the
basis of assets, revenues, time records or other methods conforming with generally accepted accounting principles. No such reimbursement shall be permitted for services
for which the Adviser is entitled to compensation by way of a separate fee. Excluded from such allowable reimbursement shall be:

 

 a. rent or depreciation, utilities, capital equipment, and other administrative items of the Adviser; and
 

 

b. salaries, fringe benefits, travel expenses and other administrative items incurred by or allocated to any Controlling Person of the Adviser. The term
“Controlling Person” shall mean a person, whatever his or her title, who performs functions for the Adviser similar to those of (a) the chairman or other
member of a board of directors, (b) executive officers or (c) those holding 10% or more equity interest in the Adviser, or a person having the power to
direct or cause the direction of the Adviser, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

 

II. Covenants of the Adviser. Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing:
 

 

a. The Adviser shall prepare or shall cause to be prepared and mailed or delivered by any reasonable means, including an electronic medium, a copy of the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed by the Company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), to each
stockholder as of a record date after the end of the fiscal year within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year to which it relates that shall include: (i)
financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles which are audited and reported on by independent certified
public accountants; (ii) a report of the material activities of the Company during the period covered by the report; (iii) where forecasts have been provided
to the Company’s stockholders, a table comparing the forecasts previously provided with the actual results during the
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period covered by the report; and (iv) a report setting forth distributions to Company’s stockholders for the period covered thereby and separately
identifying distributions from: (A) cash flow from operations during the period; (B) cash flow from operations during a prior period which have been held
as reserves; (C) proceeds from disposition of assets; and (D) reserves from the gross proceeds. Such Annual Report on Form 10-K must also contain a
breakdown of the costs reimbursed to the Adviser. The Company shall take reasonable steps to assure that: (v) within the scope of the annual audit of the
Company’s financial statements, the independent certified public accountants preparing such Annual Report on Form 10-K will issue a special report on
the allocation of such costs to the Company in accordance with this Agreement; (w) the special report shall be in accordance with the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants United States Auditing Standards relating to special reports; (x) the additional costs of such special report will be itemized and
may be reimbursed to the Adviser by the Company in accordance with this Section II(a) only to the extent that such reimbursement, when added to the cost
for administrative services rendered, does not exceed the competitive rate for such services as determined above; (y) the special report shall at minimum
provide a review of the time records of individual employees, the costs of whose services were reimbursed and the specific nature of the work performed
by each such employee; and (z) the prospectus, prospectus supplement or periodic report as filed with the SEC shall disclose in tabular form an itemized
estimate of such proposed expenses for the next fiscal year together with a breakdown by year of such expenses reimbursed in each of the last five public
programs formed by the Adviser and subject to the Omnibus Guidelines published by the North American Securities Administrators Association on May 7,
2007.

 

 b. The Adviser shall prepare or shall cause to be prepared and mailed or delivered to each Company stockholder within 60 days after the end of each fiscal
quarter of the Company a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by the Company under the Exchange Act.

 

 
c. The Adviser shall prepare or shall cause to be prepared and mailed or delivered within 75 days after the end of each calendar year of the Company to each

person who was at any time during such calendar year a Company stockholder all information pertaining to such stockholder’s investment in the Company
necessary for the preparation of such person’s federal income tax return.

 

 d. The Adviser shall, upon written request of any State Administrator, submit any of the reports and statements to be prepared and distributed by it pursuant to
this Section II to such State Administrator.

 

 
e. In performing its duties hereunder, the Adviser shall cause the Company to provide for adequate reserves for normal replacements and contingencies (but

not for the payment of fees payable to the Adviser described in Section 3 of the Agreement) by causing the Company to retain a reasonable percentage of
proceeds from offerings and revenues.
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f. From time to time and not less than quarterly, the Company shall cause the Adviser to review the Company’s accounts to determine whether cash
distributions are appropriate. The Company may, subject to authorization by the Board, distribute pro rata to the Company’s stockholders funds which the
Board deems unnecessary to retain in the Company. In no event shall funds be advanced or borrowed solely for the purpose of such cash distributions. Any
cash distributions to the Adviser shall be made only in conjunction with distributions to stockholders and as a result of any shares held by the Adviser. All
such cash distributions shall be made only out of funds legally available therefor pursuant to the Maryland General Corporation Law, as amended from
time to time.

 

 

g. The Adviser shall, in its sole discretion, temporarily place proceeds from offerings by the Company of its equity securities into short-term, highly liquid
investments which, in its reasonable judgment, afford appropriate safety of principal during such time as it is determining the composition and allocation of
the portfolio of the Company and the nature, timing and implementation of any changes thereto pursuant to Section 1 of the Agreement; provided however,
that the Adviser shall be under no fiduciary obligation to select any such short-term, highly liquid investment based solely on any yield or return of such
investment. The Adviser shall cause any proceeds of the offering of Company securities not committed for investment within the later of two years from
the date of effectiveness of the registration statement relating to the Non-Listed Offering or one year from termination of the Non-Listed Offering, unless a
longer period is permitted by the applicable State Administrator, to be paid as a distribution to the stockholders of the Company as a return of capital
without deduction of Front End Fees.

 

III. Excess Brokerage Commissions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing:
 

 
a. All Front End Fees (as defined in the Company’s charter) shall be reasonable and shall not exceed 18% of the gross proceeds of any offering and sale of the

Company’s shares, regardless of the source of payment. Any reimbursement to the Adviser or any other person for deferred Organizational and Offering
Expenses (as defined in the Company’s charter), including any interest thereon, if any, will be included within this 18% limitation.

 

 
b. The Adviser shall cause the Company to commit at least 82% of the gross proceeds of any offering and sale of the Company’s shares towards the

investment or reinvestment of assets and reserves as set forth in Section II(e) of this Annex A on behalf of the Company. The remaining proceeds may be
used to pay Front End Fees.

 

IV. Conflicts of Interest. Following a Non-Listed Offering:
 

 a. The Adviser is not hereby granted or entitled to an exclusive right to sell or exclusive employment to sell assets for the Company.
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b. The Adviser shall not receive or accept any rebate or give-ups or similar arrangement that is prohibited under applicable federal or state securities laws.
The Adviser shall not directly or indirectly pay or award any fees or commissions or other compensation to any Person engaged to sell shares of the
Company’s stock or give investment advice to a potential stockholder; provided, however, that this subsection shall not prohibit the payment to a registered
broker-dealer or other properly licensed agent of sales commissions for selling or distributing the Company’s common stock.

 

 

c. The Adviser covenants that it shall not permit or cause to be permitted the Company’s funds from being commingled with the funds of any other entity.
However, nothing in this subsection shall prohibit the Adviser from establishing a master fiduciary account pursuant to which separate sub-trust accounts
are established for the benefit of affiliated programs, provided that the Company’s funds are protected from the claims of other programs and creditors of
such programs.

 
V. Limitation of Liability of the Adviser; Indemnification.
 

 
a. Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the Company shall not provide for indemnification of an Indemnified Party for any

liability or loss suffered by an Indemnified Party, nor shall the Company provide that any of the Indemnified Parties be held harmless for any loss or
liability suffered by the Company, unless all of the following conditions are met:

 

 i. the Indemnified Party has determined, in good faith, that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in the best interests of the
Company;

 

 ii. the Indemnified Party was acting on behalf of or performing services for the Company;
 

 
iii. such liability or loss was not the result of (A) negligence or misconduct, in the case that the Indemnified Party is the Adviser or an Affiliate

(as defined in the Articles of Incorporation) of the Adviser, or (B) gross negligence or willful misconduct, in the case that the Indemnified
Party is a director of the Company who is not also an officer of the Company or the Adviser or an Affiliate of the Adviser; and

 

 iv. such indemnification or agreement to hold harmless is recoverable only out of the Company’s net assets and not from the Company
stockholders.
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Furthermore, the Indemnified Party shall not be indemnified for any losses, liabilities or expenses arising from or out of an alleged violation of federal or
state securities laws by such party unless one or more of the following conditions are met:

 

 i. there has been a successful adjudication on the merits of each count involving alleged material securities law violations as to the Indemnified
Party;

 

 ii. such claims have been dismissed with prejudice on the merits by a court of competent jurisdiction as to the Indemnified Party; or
 

 

iii. a court of competent jurisdiction approves a settlement of the claims against the Indemnified Party and finds that indemnification of the
settlement and the related costs should be made, and the court considering the request for indemnification has been advised of the position of
the SEC and of the published position of any state securities regulatory authority in which shares of stock of the Company were offered or
sold as to indemnification for violations of securities laws.

 

 b. Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, the Company may pay or reimburse reasonable legal expenses and other costs incurred
by the Indemnified Party in advance of final disposition of a proceeding only if all of the following are satisfied:

 

 i. the proceeding relates to acts or omissions with respect to the performance of duties or services on behalf of the Company;
 

 ii. the Indemnified Party provides the Company with written affirmation of such Indemnified Party’s good faith belief that the Indemnified
Party has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the Company;

 

 iii. the legal proceeding was initiated by a third party who is not a Company stockholder, or, if by a Company stockholder acting in his or her
capacity as such, a court of competent jurisdiction approves such advancement; and

 

 
iv. the Indemnified Party provides the Company with a written agreement to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the Company, together

with the applicable legal rate of interest thereon, if it is ultimately determined that the Indemnified Party did not comply with the requisite
standard of conduct and is not entitled to indemnification.

 

VI. Effectiveness, Duration and Termination of Agreement. Following a Non-Listed Offering and prior to an Exchange Listing, without the approval of holders of a
majority of the shares entitled to vote on the matter, the Adviser shall not: (i) amend this Agreement except for amendments that do not adversely affect the interests of
the stockholders; (ii) voluntarily withdraw as the Adviser unless such withdrawal would not affect the tax status of the Company and would not materially adversely
affect the stockholders; (iii) appoint a new Adviser; (iv) sell all or substantially all of the Company’s assets other than in the ordinary course of the Company’s business;
or (v) cause the merger or other reorganization of the Company. In the event that the Adviser should withdraw pursuant to (ii) above, the withdrawing Adviser shall pay
all expenses
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incurred as a result of its withdrawal. The Company may terminate the Adviser’s interest in the Company’s revenues, expenses, income, losses, distributions and capital by
payment of an amount equal to the then present fair market value of the terminated Adviser’s interest, determined by agreement of the terminated Adviser and the
Company. If Company Fund and the Adviser cannot agree upon such amount, the parties will submit to binding arbitration which cost will be borne equally by the Adviser
and the Company. The method of payment to the terminated Adviser must be fair and must protect the solvency and liquidity of the Company.
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Annex B

Examples of Quarterly Incentive Fee Calculation

Example 1: Income Related Portion of Incentive Fee1,2:

Alternative 1

Assumptions

Investment income (including interest, dividends, fees, etc.) = 2%
Hurdle rate3 = 1.5%
Management fee4 = 0.4375%
Other expenses (legal, accounting, custodian, transfer agent, etc.)5 = 0.20%
Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income
    (investment income - (management fee + other expenses)) = 1.3625%
Pre-incentive net investment income does not exceed hurdle rate, therefore there is no Incentive Fee.

Alternative 2

Assumptions

Investment income (including interest, dividends, fees, etc.) = 2.375%
Hurdle rate3 = 1.5%
Management fee4 = 0.4375%
Other expenses (legal, accounting, custodian, transfer agent, etc.)5 = 0.20%
Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income
    (investment income - (management fee + other expenses)) = 1.7375%
Incentive Fee = 100% × pre-Incentive Fee net investment income, subject to the “catch-up”6
    = 100% × (1.7375% - 1.5%)
    = 0.2375%

Alternative 3

Assumptions

Investment income (including interest, dividends, fees, etc.) = 3.5%
Hurdle rate3 = 1.5%
Management fee4 = 0.4375%
Other expenses (legal, accounting, custodian, transfer agent, etc.)5 = 0.20%
Pre-Incentive Fee net investment income
    (investment income - (management fee + other expenses)) = 2.8625%
Incentive Fee = 20% × pre-Incentive Fee net investment income, subject to “catch-up”6
Incentive Fee = 100% × “catch-up” + (20% × (pre-Incentive Fee net investment income - 1.875%))
Catch-up = 1.875% - 1.5% = 0.375%
Incentive Fee = (100% × 0.375%) + (20% × (2.8625% - 1.875%))
    = 0.375% + (20% × .9875%)
    = 0.375% + 0.1975%
    = 0.5725%
 
1 This example assumes that an Exchange Listing has occurred.
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2 The hypothetical amount of pre-Incentive Fee net investment income shown is based on a percentage of total net assets.
3 Represents 6.0% annualized hurdle rate.
4 Represents 1.75% annualized management fee.
5 Excludes organizational and offering expenses.
6 The “catch-up” provision is intended to provide the Adviser with an Incentive Fee of 20% on all of the Company’s pre-Incentive Fee net investment income as if a hurdle

rate did not apply. The “catch-up” portion of the Company’s pre-Incentive Fee net investment income is the portion that exceeds the 1.5% hurdle rate but is less than or
equal to 1.875% in any quarter.
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Example 2: Capital Gains Portion of Incentive Fee:

Assumptions
 

 

i) Year 1: The Listing Date is the last day of the first calendar quarter. Prior to the last day of the first calendar quarter the Company has made an investment
in Company A (“Investment A”), an investment in Company B (“Investment B”), an investment in Company C (“Investment C”), an investment in
Company D (“Investment D”) and an investment in Company E (“Investment E”). On the last day of the first calendar quarter the fair market value
(“FMV”) of each of Investment A, Investment B, Investment C, Investment D and Investment E is $10 million. For purposes of calculating the Capital
Gains Incentive Fee, the cost basis of each of Investment A, Investment B, Investment C, Investment D and Investment E is considered to be its FMV as of
the last day of the first calendar quarter; provided, however, that in no event will the Capital Gains Incentive Fee payable pursuant hereto be in excess of
the amount permitted by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, including Section 205 thereof.

 

•  Year 2: Investment A sold for $20 million, fair market value (“FMV”) of Investment B determined to be $8 million, FMV of Investment C determined to be $12 million,
and FMV of Investments D and E each determined to be $10 million.

 

•  Year 3: FMV of Investment of B determined to be $8 million, FMV of Investment C determined to be $14 million, FMV of Investment D determined to be $14 million and
FMV of Investment E determined to be $16 million.

 

•  Year 4: $10 million investment made in Company F (“Investment F”), Investment D sold for $12 million, FMV of Investment B determined to be $10 million, FMV of
Investment C determined to be $16 million and FMV of Investment E determined to be $14 million.

 

•  Year 5: Investment C sold for $20 million, FMV of Investment B determined to be $14 million, FMV of Investment E determined to be $10 million and FMV of
Investment F determined to $12 million.

 

•  Year 6: Investment B sold for $16 million, FMV of Investment E determined to be $8 million and FMV of Investment F determined to be $15 million.
 

•  Year 7: Investment E sold for $8 million and FMV of Investment F determined to be $17 million.
 

•  Year 8: Investment F sold for $18 million.
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These assumptions are summarized in the following chart:
 

  
Investment

A  
Investment

B  
Investment

C  
Investment

D  
Investment

E  
Investment

F  

Cumulative
Unrealized

Capital
Depreciation  

Cumulative
Realized
Capital
Losses  

Cumulative
Realized
Capital
Gains

Year 1

 

$10 million
(FMV/cost
basis)  

$10 million
(FMV/cost
basis)  

$10 million
(FMV/cost
basis)  

$10 million
(FMV/cost
basis)  

$10 million
(FMV/cost
basis)  

—  

 

—  

 

—  

 

—  

Year 2
 

$20 million
(sale price)  

$8 million
FMV  

$12 million
FMV  

$10 million
FMV  

$10 million
FMV  

—  
 

$2 million
 

—  
 

$10 million

Year 3
 

—  
 

$8 million
FMV  

$14 million
FMV  

$14 million
FMV  

$16 million
FMV  

—  
 

$2 million
 

—  
 

$10 million

Year 4
 

—  
 

$10 million
FMV  

$16 million
FMV  

$12 million
(sale price)  

$14 million
FMV  

$10 million
(cost basis)  

—  
 

—  
 

$12 million

Year 5
 

—  
 

$14 million
FMV  

$20 million
(sale price)  

—  
 

$10 million
FMV  

$12 million
FMV  

—  
 

—  
 

$22 million

Year 6
 

—  
 

$16 million
(sale price)  

—  
 

—  
 

$8 million
FMV  

$15 million
FMV  

$2 million
 

—  
 

$28 million

Year 7
 

—  
 

—  
 

—  
 

—  
 

$8 million (sale
price)  

$17 million
FMV  

—  
 

$2 million
 

$28 million

Year 8
 

—  
 

—  
 

—  
 

—  
 

—  
 

$18 million
(sale price)  

—  
 

$2 million
 

$36 million

The capital gains portion of the Incentive Fee would be:
 

 •  Year 1: None
 

 •  Year 2:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = 20% multiplied by ($10 million realized capital gains on sale of Investment A less $2 million cumulative capital depreciation) =
$1.6 million

 

 •  Year 3:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = 20% multiplied by ($10 million cumulative realized capital gains less $2 million cumulative capital depreciation)) less $1.6 million
cumulative Capital Gains Incentive Fee previously paid = $1.6 million less $1.6 million = $0.00

 

 •  Year 4:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = (20% multiplied by ($12 million cumulative realized capital gains)) less $1.6 million cumulative Capital Incentive Gains Fee
previously paid = $2.4 million less $1.6 million = $0.8 million

 

 •  Year 5:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = (20% multiplied by ($22 million cumulative realized capital gains)) less $2.4 million cumulative Capital Gains Incentive Fee
previously paid = $4.4 million less $2.4 million = $2.00 million
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 •  Year 6:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = (20% multiplied by ($28 million cumulative realized capital gains less $2 million cumulative capital depreciation)) less $4.4 million
cumulative Capital Gains Incentive Fee previously paid = $5.2 million less $4.4 million = $0.80 million

 

 •  Year 7:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = (20% multiplied by ($28 million cumulative realized capital gains less $2 million cumulative realized capital losses)) less
$5.2 million cumulative Capital Gains Incentive Fee previously paid = $5.2 million less $5.2 million = $0.00

 

 •  Year 8:

Capital Gains Incentive Fee = (20% multiplied by ($36 million cumulative realized capital gains less $2 million cumulative realized capital losses)) less
$5.2 million cumulative Capital Gains Incentive Fee previously paid = $6.8 million less $5.2 million = $1.6 million
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Exhibit 10.2

ADMINISTRATION AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

AND

OWL ROCK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC

This Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of March 1, 2016 by and between OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION, a Maryland corporation (the
“Company”), and OWL ROCK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Administrator”).

WHEREAS, the Company is a closed-end management investment fund that intends to elect to be treated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the
Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Investment Company Act”);

WHEREAS, the Company desires to retain the Administrator to provide administrative services to the Company in the manner and on the terms hereinafter set
forth; and

WHEREAS, the Administrator is willing to provide administrative services to the Company on the terms and conditions hereafter set forth;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the covenants hereinafter contained and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the Company and the Administrator hereby agree as follows:

 
 1. Duties of the Administrator
 

 

a. Employment of Administrator. The Company hereby employs the Administrator to act as administrator of the Company, and to furnish, or arrange
for others to furnish, the administrative services, personnel and facilities described below, subject to review by and the overall control of the Board
of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), for the period and on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. The Administrator hereby
accepts such employment and agrees during such period to render, or arrange for the rendering of, such services and to assume the obligations herein
set forth subject to the reimbursement of costs and expenses provided for below. The Administrator and such others shall for all purposes herein be
deemed to be independent contractors and shall, unless otherwise expressly provided or authorized herein, have no authority to act for or represent
the Company in any way or otherwise be deemed agents of the Company.

 

 
b. Services. The Administrator shall perform (or oversee, or arrange for, the performance of) the administrative services necessary for the operation

of the Company. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Administrator shall provide the Company with office facilities, equipment,
clerical, bookkeeping
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and record keeping services and such other services as the Administrator, subject to review by the Board, shall from time to time determine to be
necessary or useful to perform its obligations under this Agreement. The Administrator shall also, on behalf of the Company, conduct relations with
custodians, depositories, transfer agents, dividend disbursing agents, other stockholder servicing agents, accountants, attorneys, underwriters,
brokers and dealers, corporate fiduciaries, insurers, banks and such other persons in any such other capacity deemed to be necessary or desirable.
The Administrator shall make reports to the Board of its performance of obligations hereunder and furnish advice and recommendations with
respect to such other aspects of the business and affairs of the Company as it shall determine to be desirable; provided that nothing herein shall be
construed to require the Administrator to, and the Administrator shall not, in its capacity as Administrator pursuant to this Agreement, provide any
advice or recommendation relating to the securities and other assets that the Company should purchase, retain or sell or any other investment
advisory services to the Company. The Administrator shall be responsible for the financial and other records that the Company is required to
maintain and shall prepare, print and disseminate reports to stockholders, and reports and other materials filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). The Administrator will provide on the Company’s behalf significant managerial assistance to those portfolio companies
to which the Company is required to provide such assistance. In addition, the Administrator will assist the Company in determining and publishing
(as necessary or appropriate) the Company’s net asset value, overseeing the preparation and filing of the Company’s tax returns, and generally
overseeing the payment of the Company’s expenses and the performance of administrative and professional services rendered to the Company by
others.

 
 2. Records

The Administrator agrees to maintain and keep all books, accounts and other records of the Company that relate to activities performed by the Administrator
hereunder and will maintain and keep such books, accounts and records in accordance with the Investment Company Act. In compliance with the requirements of Rule 31a-3
under the Investment Company Act, the Administrator agrees that all records which it maintains for the Company shall at all times remain the property of the Company, shall be
readily accessible during normal business hours, and shall be promptly surrendered upon the termination of the Agreement or otherwise on written request. The Administrator
further agrees that all records which it maintains for the Company pursuant to Rule 31a-1 under the Investment Company Act will be preserved for the periods prescribed by
Rule 31a-2 under the Investment Company Act unless any such records are earlier surrendered as provided above. Records shall be surrendered in usable machine-readable
form. The Administrator shall have the right to retain copies of such records subject to observance of its confidentiality obligations under this Agreement.

 
 3. Confidentiality

The parties hereto agree that each shall treat confidentially the terms and conditions of this Agreement and all information provided by each party to the other
regarding its business and operations. All confidential information provided by a party hereto, including nonpublic personal
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information (regulated pursuant to Regulation S-P of the SEC), shall be used by any other party hereto solely for the purpose of rendering services pursuant to this Agreement
and, except as may be required in carrying out this Agreement, shall not be disclosed to any third party, without the prior consent of such providing party. The foregoing shall
not be applicable to any information that is publicly available when provided or thereafter becomes publicly available other than through a breach of this Agreement, or that is
required to be disclosed by any regulatory authority, any authority or legal counsel of the parties hereto, by judicial or administrative process or otherwise by applicable law or
regulation.

 
 4. Compensation; Allocation of Costs and Expenses

In full consideration of the provision of the services of the Administrator, the Company shall reimburse the Administrator for the costs and expenses incurred by
the Administrator in performing its obligations and providing personnel and facilities hereunder, it being understood and agreed that, except as otherwise provided herein or in
that certain Investment Advisory Agreement, by and between the Company and the Administrator (the Administrator, in its capacity as adviser pursuant to the Advisory
Agreement, the “Adviser”), as amended from time to time (the “Advisory Agreement”), the Administrator shall be solely responsible for the compensation of its employees and
all overhead expenses of the Administrator (including rent, office equipment and utilities). The Company will bear all costs and expenses that are incurred in its operation,
administration and transactions and not specifically assumed by the Adviser pursuant to the Advisory Agreement. Costs and expenses to be borne by the Company include, but
are not limited to, those relating to: the cost of its organization and any offerings; the cost of calculating its net asset value, including the cost of any third-party valuation
services; the cost of effecting any sales and repurchases of the Common Stock and other securities; fees and expenses payable under any dealer manager agreements, if any;
debt service and other costs of borrowings or other financing arrangements; costs of hedging; expenses, including travel expense, incurred by the Administrator, or members of
the Investment Team, or payable to third parties, performing due diligence on prospective portfolio companies and, if necessary, enforcing the Company’s rights; transfer agent
and custodial fees; fees and expenses associated with marketing efforts; federal and state registration fees, any stock exchange listing fees and fees payable to rating agencies;
federal, state and local taxes; independent directors’ fees and expenses including certain travel expenses; costs of preparing financial statements and maintaining books and
records and filing reports or other documents with the SEC (or other regulatory bodies) and other reporting and compliance costs, including registration and listing fees, and the
compensation of professionals responsible for the preparation of the foregoing; the costs of any reports, proxy statements or other notices to stockholders (including printing and
mailing costs), the costs of any stockholder or director meetings and the compensation of personnel responsible for the preparation of the foregoing and related matters;
commissions and other compensation payable to brokers or dealers; research and market data; fidelity bond, directors and officers errors and omissions liability insurance and
other insurance premiums; direct costs and expenses of administration, including printing, mailing, long distance telephone and staff; fees and expenses associated with
independent audits, outside legal and consulting costs; costs of winding up; costs incurred in connection with the formation or maintenance of entities or vehicles to hold the
Company’s assets for tax or other purposes; extraordinary expenses (such as litigation or indemnification); and costs associated with reporting and compliance obligations under
the Advisers Act and applicable federal and state securities laws. Notwithstanding anything to the
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contrary contained herein, the Company shall reimburse the Adviser (or its affiliates) for an allocable portion of the compensation paid by the Adviser (or its affiliates) to the
Company’s Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer and their respective staffs (based on a percentage of time such individuals devote, on an estimated basis, to
the business affairs of the Company). For the avoidance of doubt, the Adviser shall be solely responsible for any placement or “finder’s” fees payable to placement agents
engaged by the Company or its affiliates in connection with the offering of securities by the Company.

 
 5. Limitation of Liability of the Administrator; Indemnification

The Administrator (and its members, managers, officers, employees, agents, controlling persons and any other person or entity affiliated with it) shall not be liable
to the Company for any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Administrator in connection with the performance of any of its duties or obligations under this Agreement or
otherwise as administrator for the Company and the Company shall indemnify, defend and protect the Administrator (and its officers, managers, partners, agents, employees,
controlling persons, members, and any other person or entity affiliated with the Administrator each of whom shall be deemed a third party beneficiary hereof) (collectively, the
“Indemnified Parties”) and hold them harmless from and against all damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and amounts reasonably paid
in settlement) incurred by the Indemnified Parties in or by reason of any pending, threatened or completed action, suit, investigation or other proceeding (including an action or
suit by or in the right of the Company or its security holders) arising out of or otherwise based upon the performance of any of the Administrator’s duties or obligations under
this Agreement or otherwise as administrator for the Company. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence of this Section 5 to the contrary, nothing contained herein shall protect
or be deemed to protect the Indemnified Parties against or entitle or be deemed to entitle the Indemnified Parties to indemnification in respect of, any liability to the Company
or its security holders to which the Indemnified Parties would otherwise be subject by reason of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of the
Administrator’s duties or by reason of the reckless disregard of the Administrator’s duties and obligations under this Agreement (to the extent applicable, as the same shall be
determined in accordance with the Investment Company Act and any interpretations or guidance by the SEC or its staff thereunder).

 
 6. Activities of the Administrator

The services of the Administrator to the Company are not to be deemed to be exclusive, and the Administrator and each affiliate is free to render services to
others. It is understood that directors, officers, employees and stockholders of the Company are or may become interested in the Administrator and its affiliates, as directors,
officers, members, managers, employees, partners, stockholders or otherwise, and that the Administrator and directors, officers, members, managers, employees, partners and
stockholders of the Administrator and its affiliates are or may become similarly interested in the Company as stockholders or otherwise.

 
 7. Duration and Termination of this Agreement
 

 a. This Agreement shall continue in effect for two years from the date hereof, and thereafter shall continue automatically for successive annual
periods, provided that such continuance is specifically approved at least annually by:

 

 i. the vote of the Board, or by the vote of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Company; and
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ii. the vote of a majority of the Company’s directors who are not parties to this Agreement or “interested persons” (as such term is

defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the Investment Company Act) of any such party, in accordance with the requirements of the
Investment Company Act.

 

 b. The Agreement may be terminated at any time, without the payment of any penalty, on 60 days’ written notice, by the vote of a majority of the
outstanding voting securities of the Company, or by the vote of the Board or by the Administrator.

 

 

c. This Agreement may not be assigned by a party without the consent of the other party; provided, however, that the rights and obligations of the
Company under this Agreement shall not be deemed to be assigned to a newly formed entity in the event of the merger of the Company into, or
conveyance of all of the assets of the Company to, such newly formed entity; provided, further, however, that the sole purpose of that merger or
conveyance is to effect a mere change in the Company’s legal form into another limited liability entity. The provisions of Section 5 of this
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, and the Administrator shall remain entitled to the benefits thereof, notwithstanding any termination
of this Agreement.

 
 8. Amendments of this Agreement

This Agreement may be amended pursuant to a written instrument by mutual consent of the parties.

 
 9. Governing Law

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware and the applicable provisions of the Investment Company Act, if any. In
such case, to the extent the applicable laws of the State of Delaware, or any of the provisions herein, conflict with the provisions of the Investment Company Act, the latter shall
control.

 
 10. Entire Agreement

This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements, understandings and arrangements with respect to the subject
matter hereof.

 
 11. Notices

Any notice under this Agreement shall be given in writing, addressed and delivered or mailed, postage prepaid, to the other party at its principal office.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date first above written.
 

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

OWL ROCK CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
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Exhibit 10.3

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
OF

OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

Effective as of March 1, 2016

Owl Rock Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), hereby adopts the following plan (the “Plan”) with respect to cash dividend distributions
declared by its Board of Directors on shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Common Stock”).

1. Unless a stockholder specifically elects to receive cash pursuant to paragraph 4 below, all cash dividend distributions hereafter declared by the Company’s Board of
Directors shall be reinvested by the Company in the Company’s Common Stock on behalf of each stockholder, and no action shall be required on such stockholder’s part to
receive such Common Stock.

2. Such cash dividend distributions shall be payable on such date or dates (each, a “Payment Date”) as may be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors to
stockholders of record at the close of business on the record date(s) established by the Board of Directors for the cash dividend distribution involved.

3. Prior to the initial public offering of the Company’s Common Stock, the Company intends to use primarily newly issued shares of its Common Stock to implement
the Plan. The number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to a stockholder that has not elected to receive its dividends in cash in accordance with paragraph 4 below (each,
a “Participant”) shall be determined by dividing the total dollar amount of the distribution payable to such Participant by the net asset value per share of the Company’s
Common Stock as of the last day of the Company’s fiscal quarter immediately preceding the date such distribution was declared (the “Reference NAV”); provided that in the
event a distribution is declared on the last day of a fiscal quarter, the Reference NAV shall be deemed to be the net asset value per share of the Company’s Common Stock as of
such day; provided further that the number of shares to be issued to a Participant pursuant to the foregoing shall be rounded downward to the nearest whole number to avoid the
issuance of fractional shares, it being understood that any fractional share otherwise issuable to a Participant but for this proviso shall instead be paid to such Participant in cash
as further provided in paragraph 5 below.

4. A stockholder may elect to receive any portion of its cash dividend distributions in cash. To exercise this option, such stockholder shall notify the Company and State
Street Bank and Trust Company (referred to as the “Plan Administrator”), in writing (using the form of notice set forth as an appendix to the Subscription Agreement signed
by such stockholder or any other form of notice as distributed to such stockholder by the Company) so that such notice is received by the Plan Administrator no later than
10 days prior to the record date fixed by the Board of Directors for the first distribution such stockholder wishes to receive in cash. Such election shall remain in effect until the
stockholder shall notify the Plan Administrator in writing of such stockholder’s desire to change its election, which notice shall be delivered to the Plan Administrator no later
than 10 days prior to the record date fixed by the Board of Directors for the first distribution for which such stockholder wishes its new election to take effect.

5. Shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Plan in connection with any cash dividend shall be issued to each Participant (i) in the event that the applicable
Reference NAV has been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors (or a committee thereof) prior to the Payment Date of such cash dividend, on the Payment Date or
(ii) otherwise, promptly upon the date such approval has been provided by the Company’s Board of Directors. All shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Plan shall be
issued in non-certificated form and shall be credited to such Participant on the books and records of the Company. Cash payable to a Participant in lieu of fractional shares
pursuant to paragraph 3 shall be paid contemporaneously with the issuance of such shares in connection with such cash dividend.



6. The Plan Administrator will confirm to each Participant each issuance of shares of Common Stock made to such Participant pursuant to the Plan as soon as practicable
following the date of such issuance.

7. The Plan Administrator’s service fee, if any, and expenses for administering the Plan will be paid for by the Company. There will be no brokerage charges or other
charges to stockholders who participate in the Plan.

8. The Plan may be terminated by the Company upon notice in writing mailed to each Participant at least 30 days prior to the effectiveness of such termination.

9. These terms and conditions may be amended or supplemented by the Company at any time. Any such amendment or supplement may include an appointment by the
Plan Administrator in its place and stead of a successor agent under the terms and conditions agreed upon by the Company, with full power and authority to perform all or any of
the acts to be performed by the Plan Administrator as agreed to by the Company.

10. The Plan Administrator will at all times act in good faith and use its best efforts within reasonable limits to ensure its full and timely performance of all services to be
performed by it under this Plan and to comply with applicable law, but assumes no responsibility and shall not be liable for loss or damage due to errors.

11. These terms and conditions shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York, without regard to the conflicts of law principles thereof, to the extent such
principles would require or permit the application of the laws of another jurisdiction.



Exhibit 10.5

CUSTODIAN AGREEMENT

This Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2016, is between OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
Maryland (the “Fund”), and STATE STREET BANK and TRUST COMPANY, a Massachusetts trust company (the “Custodian”).

WITNESSETH: that in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:

 
SECTION 1. EMPLOYMENT OF CUSTODIAN AND PROPERTY TO BE HELD BY IT.

The Fund hereby employs the Custodian as the custodian of its assets, including securities (including stocks, shares, bonds, debentures, notes, mortgages or other obligations
and any certificates, receipts, warrants or other instruments representing rights to receive, purchase, or subscribe for the same, or evidencing or representing any other rights or
interests therein, or in any property or assets) which the Fund desires to be held in places within the United States (“domestic securities”) and securities it desires to be held
outside the United States (“foreign securities”). The Fund agrees to deliver to the Custodian all securities and cash owned by it, and all payments of income, payments of
principal or capital distributions received by it with respect to all securities owned by it from time to time, and the cash consideration received by it for such new or treasury
shares of beneficial interest of the Fund (“Shares”) as may be issued or sold from time to time. The Custodian shall not be responsible for any property of the Fund held or
received by the Fund but not delivered to the Custodian. With respect to uncertificated shares (the “Underlying Shares”) of registered “investment companies” (as defined in
Section 3(a)(1) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended from time to time (the “1940 Act”)), whether in the same “group of investment companies” (as defined in
Section 12(d)(1)(G)(ii) of the 1940 Act) or otherwise, including pursuant to Section 12(d)(1)(F) of the 1940 Act (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Underlying
Portfolios”) the holding of confirmation statements that identify the shares as being recorded in the Custodian’s name on behalf of the Fund will be deemed custody for
purposes hereof.

Upon receipt of “Proper Instructions” (as such term is defined in Section 7 hereof), the Custodian shall from time to time employ one or more sub-custodians located in the
United States, but only in accordance with an applicable vote by the Board of Directors of the Fund (the “Board”). The Custodian may employ as sub-custodian for the Fund’s
foreign securities the foreign banking institutions and foreign securities depositories designated in Schedules A and B hereto, but only in accordance with the applicable
provisions of Sections 3 and 4. The Custodian shall have no more or less responsibility or liability to the Fund on account of any actions or omissions of any sub-custodian so
employed than any such sub-custodian has to the Custodian.

 
SECTION 2. DUTIES OF THE CUSTODIAN WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY OF THE FUND HELD BY THE CUSTODIAN IN THE UNITED STATES.

SECTION 2.1 HOLDING SECURITIES. The Custodian shall hold and physically segregate for the account of the Fund all non-cash property, to be held by it in the United
States, including
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all domestic securities owned by the Fund other than (a) securities which are maintained pursuant to Section 2.8 in a clearing agency which acts as a securities depository or in a
book-entry system authorized by the U.S. Department of the Treasury (each, a “U.S. Securities System”) and (b) Underlying Shares owned by the Fund which are maintained
pursuant to Section 2.13 hereof in an account with State Street Bank and Trust Company or such other entity which may from time to time act as a transfer agent for the
Underlying Portfolios and with respect to which the Custodian is provided with Proper Instructions (each, an “Underlying Transfer Agent”).

SECTION 2.2 DELIVERY OF SECURITIES. The Custodian shall release and deliver domestic securities owned by the Fund held by the Custodian, in a U.S. Securities
System account of the Custodian, or in an account at the Underlying Transfer Agent, only upon receipt of Proper Instructions, which may be continuing instructions when
deemed appropriate by the parties, and only in the following cases:
 

 1) Upon sale of such securities for the account of the Fund and receipt of payment therefor;
 

 2) Upon the receipt of payment in connection with any repurchase agreement related to such securities entered into by the Fund;
 

 3) In the case of a sale effected through a U.S. Securities System, in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.8 hereof;
 

 4) To the depository agent in connection with tender or other similar offers for securities of the Fund;
 

 5) To the issuer thereof or its agent when such securities are called, redeemed, retired or otherwise become payable; provided that, in any such case, the cash or
other consideration is to be delivered to the Custodian;

 

 

6) To the issuer thereof, or its agent, for transfer into the name of the Fund or into the name of any nominee or nominees of the Custodian or into the name or
nominee name of any agent appointed pursuant to Section 2.7 or into the name or nominee name of any sub-custodian appointed pursuant to Section 1; or for
exchange for a different number of bonds, certificates or other evidence representing the same aggregate face amount or number of units; provided that, in any
such case, the new securities are to be delivered to the Custodian;

 

 
7) Upon the sale of such securities for the account of the Fund, to the broker or its clearing agent, against a receipt, for examination in accordance with “street

delivery” custom; provided that in any such case, the Custodian shall have no responsibility or liability for any loss arising from the delivery of such securities
prior to receiving payment for such securities except as may arise from the Custodian’s own negligence, negligent failure to act or willful misconduct;
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8) For exchange or conversion pursuant to any plan of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reorganization or readjustment of the securities of the issuer of such

securities, or pursuant to provisions for conversion contained in such securities, or pursuant to any deposit agreement; provided that, in any such case, the new
securities and cash, if any, are to be delivered to the Custodian;

 

 9) In the case of warrants, rights or similar securities, the surrender thereof in the exercise of such warrants, rights or similar securities or the surrender of interim
receipts or temporary securities for definitive securities; provided that, in any such case, the new securities and cash, if any, are to be delivered to the Custodian;

 

 

10) For delivery in connection with any loans of securities made by the Fund, but only against receipt of adequate collateral as agreed upon from time to time by the
Custodian and the Fund, which may be in the form of cash or obligations issued by the United States government, its agencies or instrumentalities, except that in
connection with any loans for which collateral is to be credited to the Custodian’s account in the book-entry system authorized by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury, the Custodian will not be held liable or responsible for the delivery of securities owned by the Fund prior to the receipt of such collateral;

 

 11) For delivery as security in connection with any borrowing by the Fund requiring a pledge of assets by the Fund, but only against receipt of amounts borrowed;
 

 

12) For delivery in accordance with the provisions of any agreement among the Fund, the Custodian and a broker-dealer registered under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”), relating to compliance with the rules of The
Options Clearing Corporation and of any registered national securities exchange, or of any similar organization or organizations, regarding escrow or other
arrangements in connection with transactions by the Fund;

 

 
13) For delivery in accordance with the provisions of any agreement among the Fund, the Custodian, and a futures commission merchant registered under the

Commodity Exchange Act, relating to compliance with the rules of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) and/or any contract market, or any
similar organization or organizations, regarding account deposits in connection with transactions by the Fund;

 

 

14) Upon the sale or other delivery of such investments (including, without limitation, to one or more additional custodians appointed by the Fund, and
communicated to the Custodian from time to time via a writing duly executed by an authorized officer of the Fund, for the purpose of engaging in repurchase
agreement transactions(s), each a “Repo Custodian”), and prior to receipt of payment therefor, as set forth in written Proper Instructions (such delivery in
advance of payment, along with payment in advance of delivery made in accordance with Section 2.6(7), as applicable, shall each be referred to herein as a
“Free Trade”), provided that such Proper Instructions shall set forth (a) the securities of the Fund to be delivered and (b) the person(s) to whom delivery of such
securities shall be made;
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15) Upon receipt of instructions from the transfer agent for the Fund (the “Transfer Agent”) for delivery to such Transfer Agent or to the holders of Shares in

connection with distributions in kind, as may be described from time to time in the Fund’s currently effective prospectus and statement of additional information
(the “Prospectus”), in satisfaction of requests by holders of Shares for repurchase or redemption;

 

 16) For delivery as initial or variation margin in connection with futures or options on futures contracts entered into by the Fund;
 

 17) In the case of a sale processed through the Underlying Transfer Agent of Underlying Shares, in accordance with Section 2.13 hereof; and
 

 18) For any other purpose, but only upon receipt of Proper Instructions specifying the securities of the Fund to be delivered and naming the person or persons to
whom delivery of such securities shall be made.

SECTION 2.3 REGISTRATION OF SECURITIES. Domestic securities held by the Custodian (other than bearer securities) shall be registered in the name of the Fund or in
the name of any nominee of the Fund or of any nominee of the Custodian which nominee shall be assigned exclusively to the Fund, unless the Fund has authorized in writing the
appointment of a nominee to be used in common with other registered investment companies having the same investment advisor as the Fund, or in the name or nominee name
of any agent appointed pursuant to Section 2.7 or in the name or nominee name of any sub-custodian appointed pursuant to Section 1. All securities accepted by the Custodian
on behalf of the Fund under the terms of this Agreement shall be in “street name” or other good delivery form. If, however, the Fund directs the Custodian to maintain securities
in “street name”, the Custodian shall utilize its best efforts only to timely collect income due the Fund on such securities and to notify the Fund on a best efforts basis only of
relevant corporate actions including, without limitation, pendency of calls, maturities, tender or exchange offers.

SECTION 2.4 BANK ACCOUNTS. The Custodian shall open and maintain a separate bank account or accounts in the United States in the name of the Fund, subject only
to draft or order by the Custodian acting pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall hold in such account or accounts, subject to the provisions hereof, all cash received
by it from or for the account of the Fund, other than cash maintained by the Fund in a bank account established and used in accordance with Rule 17f-3 under the 1940 Act.
Monies held by the Custodian for the Fund may be deposited by it to its credit as Custodian in the banking department of the Custodian or in such other banks or trust
companies as it may in its discretion deem necessary or desirable; provided, however, that every such bank or trust company shall be qualified to act as a custodian under the
1940 Act and that each such bank or trust company and the monies to be deposited with each such bank or trust company shall be approved by vote of a majority of the Board.
Such monies shall be deposited by the Custodian in its capacity as Custodian and shall be withdrawable by the Custodian only in that capacity.
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SECTION 2.5 COLLECTION OF INCOME. Subject to the provisions of Section 2.3, the Custodian shall collect on a timely basis all income and other payments with
respect to registered domestic securities held hereunder to which the Fund shall be entitled either by law or pursuant to custom in the securities business, and shall collect on a
timely basis all income and other payments with respect to bearer domestic securities if, on the date of payment by the issuer, such securities are held by the Custodian or its
agent thereof and shall credit such income, as collected, to the Fund’s custodian account. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Custodian shall detach and present
for payment all coupons and other income items requiring presentation as and when they become due and shall collect interest when due on securities held hereunder. Income
due the Fund on securities loaned pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.2(10) shall be the responsibility of the Fund. The Custodian will have no duty or responsibility in
connection therewith, other than to provide the Fund with such information or data as may be necessary to assist the Fund in arranging for the timely delivery to the Custodian
of the income to which the Fund is properly entitled.

SECTION 2.6 PAYMENT OF FUND MONIES. Upon receipt of Proper Instructions, which may be continuing instructions when deemed appropriate by the parties, the
Custodian shall pay out monies of the Fund in the following cases only:
 

 

1) Upon the purchase of domestic securities, options, futures contracts or options on futures contracts for the account of the Fund but only (a) against the delivery
of such securities or evidence of title to such options, futures contracts or options on futures contracts to the Custodian (or any bank, banking firm or trust
company doing business in the United States or abroad which is qualified under the 1940 Act to act as a custodian and has been designated by the Custodian as
its agent for this purpose) registered in the name of the Fund or in the name of a nominee of the Custodian referred to in Section 2.3 hereof or in proper form for
transfer; (b) in the case of a purchase effected through a U.S. Securities System, in accordance with the conditions set forth in Section 2.8 hereof; (c) in the case
of a purchase of Underlying Shares, in accordance with the conditions set forth in Section 2.13 hereof; (d) repurchase agreements entered into between the Fund
and the Custodian, or another bank, or a broker-dealer which is a member of FINRA, (i) against delivery of the securities either in certificate form or through an
entry crediting the Custodian’s account at the Federal Reserve Bank with such securities or (ii) against delivery of the receipt evidencing purchase by the Fund
of securities owned by the Custodian along with written evidence of the agreement by the Custodian to repurchase such securities from the Fund; or (e) for
transfer to a time deposit account of the Fund in any bank, whether domestic or foreign; such transfer may be effected prior to receipt of a confirmation from a
broker and/or the applicable bank pursuant to Proper Instructions from the Fund as defined herein;
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 2) In connection with conversion, exchange or surrender of securities owned by the Fund as set forth in Section 2.2 hereof;
 

 3) For the redemption or repurchase of Shares issued;
 

 
4) For the payment of any expense or liability incurred by the Fund, including but not limited to the following payments for the account of the Fund: interest, taxes,

management, accounting, transfer agent and legal fees, and operating expenses of the Fund whether or not such expenses are to be in whole or part capitalized or
treated as deferred expenses;

 

 5) For the payment of any dividends on Shares declared pursuant to the governing documents of the Fund;
 

 6) For payment of the amount of dividends received in respect of securities sold short;
 

 

7) Upon the purchase of domestic investments including, without limitation, repurchase agreement transactions involving delivery of Fund monies to Repo
Custodian(s), and prior to receipt of such investments, as set forth in written Proper Instructions (such payment in advance of delivery, along with delivery in
advance of payment made in accordance with Section 2.2(14), as applicable, shall each be referred to herein as a “Free Trade”), provided that such Proper
Instructions shall also set forth (a) the amount of such payment and (b) the person(s) to whom such payment is made;

 

 8) For the fulfillment of the Fund’s obligations with respect to unfunded commitments incurred in connection with Loans (as such term is defined in the Loan
Services Addendum attached hereto);

 

 9) For delivery as initial or variation margin in connection with futures or options on futures contracts entered into by the Fund; and
 

 10) For any other purpose, but only upon receipt of Proper Instructions specifying the amount of such payment and naming the person or persons to whom such
payment is to be made.

SECTION 2.7 APPOINTMENT OF AGENTS. The Custodian may at any time or times in its discretion appoint (and may at any time remove) any other bank or trust
company which is itself qualified under the 1940 Act to act as a custodian, as its agent to carry out such of the provisions of this Section 2 as the Custodian may from time to
time direct; provided, however, that the appointment of any agent shall not relieve the Custodian of its responsibilities or liabilities hereunder. The Underlying Transfer Agent
shall not be deemed an agent or sub-custodian of the Custodian for purposes of this Section 2.7 or any other provision of this Agreement.
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SECTION 2.8 DEPOSIT OF FUND ASSETS IN U.S. SECURITIES SYSTEMS. The Custodian may deposit and/or maintain securities owned by the Fund in a U.S. Securities
System in compliance with the conditions of Rule 17f-4 of the 1940 Act, as amended from time to time.

SECTION 2.9 SEGREGATED ACCOUNT. The Custodian shall upon receipt of Proper Instructions establish and maintain a segregated account or accounts for and on
behalf of the Fund, into which account or accounts may be transferred cash and/or securities, including securities maintained in an account by the Custodian pursuant to
Section 2.8 hereof, (i) in accordance with the provisions of any agreement among the Fund, the Custodian and a broker-dealer registered under the Exchange Act and a member
of FINRA (or any futures commission merchant registered under the Commodity Exchange Act), relating to compliance with the rules of The Options Clearing Corporation and
of any registered national securities exchange (or the CFTC or any registered contract market), or of any similar organization or organizations, regarding escrow or other
arrangements in connection with transactions by the Fund, (ii) for purposes of segregating cash or government securities in connection with options purchased, sold or written by
the Fund or commodity futures contracts or options thereon purchased or sold by the Fund, (iii) for the purposes of compliance by the Fund with the procedures required by
Investment Company Act Release No. 10666, or any subsequent release of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), or interpretative opinion of the staff of
the SEC, relating to the maintenance of segregated accounts by registered investment companies, and (iv) for any other purpose upon receipt of Proper Instructions.

SECTION 2.10 OWNERSHIP CERTIFICATES FOR TAX PURPOSES. The Custodian shall execute ownership and other certificates and affidavits for all federal and state tax
purposes in connection with receipt of income or other payments with respect to domestic securities of the Fund held by it and in connection with transfers of securities.

SECTION 2.11 PROXIES. The Custodian shall, with respect to the domestic securities held hereunder, promptly deliver to the Fund, or cause to be promptly executed by
the registered holder of such securities, if the securities are registered otherwise than in the name of the Fund or a nominee of the Fund and deliver to the Fund, all proxies,
without indication of the manner in which such proxies are to be voted, all proxy soliciting materials and all notices relating to such securities. Neither Custodian nor any
nominee of Custodian shall vote any of the securities held hereunder by or for the account of the Fund, except in accordance with the instructions contained in an officers’
certificate.

SECTION 2.12 COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO FUND SECURITIES. Subject to the provisions of Section 2.3, the Custodian shall transmit promptly to the Fund all
written information (including, without limitation, pendency of calls and maturities of domestic securities and expirations of rights in connection therewith and notices of
exercise of call and put options written by the Fund and the maturity of futures contracts purchased or sold by the Fund) received by the Custodian from issuers of the securities
being held for the Fund. With respect to tender or exchange offers, the Custodian shall transmit promptly to the Fund all written information received by the Custodian from
issuers of the securities whose tender or exchange is sought and from the party (or its agents) making the tender or exchange offer. The Custodian shall not be liable for any
untimely exercise of any tender, exchange or other right or power in
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connection with foreign securities or other property of the Fund at any time held by it unless (i) the Custodian or the respective Foreign Sub-Custodian is in actual or effective
possession of such foreign securities or property and (ii) the Custodian receives Proper Instructions with regard to the exercise of any such right or power, and both (i) and
(ii) occur at least three business days prior to the date on which the Custodian is to take action to exercise such right or power.

SECTION 2.13 DEPOSIT OF FUND ASSETS WITH THE UNDERLYING TRANSFER AGENT. Underlying Shares beneficially owned by the Fund shall be deposited and/or
maintained in an account or accounts maintained with an Underlying Transfer Agent and the Custodian’s only responsibilities with respect thereto shall be limited to the
following:
 

 
1) Upon receipt of a confirmation or statement from an Underlying Transfer Agent that such Underlying Transfer Agent is holding or maintaining Underlying

Shares in the name of the Custodian (or a nominee of the Custodian) for the benefit of the Fund, the Custodian shall identify by book-entry that such Underlying
Shares are being held by it as custodian for the benefit of the Fund.

 

 2) In respect of the purchase of Underlying Shares for the account of the Fund, upon receipt of Proper Instructions, the Custodian shall pay out monies of the Fund
as so directed, and record such payment from the account of the Fund on the Custodian’s books and records.

 

 
3) In respect of the sale or redemption of Underlying Shares for the account of the Fund, upon receipt of Proper Instructions, the Custodian shall transfer such

Underlying Shares as so directed, record such transfer from the account of the Fund on the Custodian’s books and records and, upon the Custodian’s receipt of
the proceeds therefor, record such payment for the account of the Fund on the Custodian’s books and records.

The Custodian shall not be liable to the Fund for any loss or damage to the Fund resulting from the maintenance of Underlying Shares with an Underlying Transfer Agent
except for losses resulting directly from the fraud, negligence or willful misconduct of the Custodian or any of its agents or of any of its or their employees.

 
SECTION 3. PROVISIONS RELATING TO RULES 17F-5 AND 17F-7.

SECTION 3.1. DEFINITIONS. As used throughout this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the indicated meanings:

“Country Risk” means all factors reasonably related to the systemic risk of holding Foreign Assets in a particular country including, but not limited to, such country’s political
environment, economic and financial infrastructure (including any Eligible Securities Depository operating in the country), prevailing or developing custody and settlement
practices, insolvency of a Foreign Sub-Custodian, and laws and regulations applicable to the safekeeping and recovery of Foreign Assets held in custody in that country.
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“Eligible Foreign Custodian” has the meaning set forth in section (a)(1) of Rule 17f-5, including a majority-owned or indirect subsidiary of a U.S. Bank (as defined in Rule 17f-
5), a bank holding company meeting the requirements of an Eligible Foreign Custodian (as set forth in Rule 17f-5 or by other appropriate action of the SEC, or a foreign branch
of a Bank (as defined in Section 2(a)(5) of the 1940 Act) meeting the requirements of a custodian under Section 17(f) of the 1940 Act; the term does not include any Eligible
Securities Depository.

“Eligible Securities Depository” has the meaning set forth in section (b)(1) of Rule 17f-7.

“Foreign Assets” means any of the Fund’s investments (including foreign currencies) for which the primary market is outside the United States and such cash and cash
equivalents as are reasonably necessary to effect the Fund’s transactions in such investments.

“Foreign Custody Manager” has the meaning set forth in section (a)(3) of Rule 17f-5.

“Rule 17f-5” means Rule 17f-5 promulgated under the 1940 Act.

“Rule 17f-7” means Rule 17f-7 promulgated under the 1940 Act.

SECTION 3.2. THE CUSTODIAN AS FOREIGN CUSTODY MANAGER.

3.2.1 DELEGATION TO THE CUSTODIAN AS FOREIGN CUSTODY MANAGER. The Fund, by resolution adopted by its Board, hereby delegates to the Custodian,
subject to Section (b) of Rule 17f-5, the responsibilities set forth in this Section 3.2 with respect to Foreign Assets held outside the United States, and the Custodian hereby
accepts such delegation as Foreign Custody Manager of the Fund.

3.2.2 COUNTRIES COVERED. The Foreign Custody Manager shall be responsible for performing the delegated responsibilities defined below only with respect
to the countries and custody arrangements for each such country listed on Schedule A to this Agreement, which list of countries may be amended from time to time by the Fund
with the agreement of the Foreign Custody Manager. The Foreign Custody Manager shall list on Schedule A the Eligible Foreign Custodians selected by the Foreign Custody
Manager to maintain the Fund’s assets, which list of Eligible Foreign Custodians may be amended from time to time in the sole discretion of the Foreign Custody Manager. The
Foreign Custody Manager will provide amended versions of Schedule A in accordance with Section 3.2.5 hereof.

Upon the receipt by the Foreign Custody Manager of Proper Instructions to open an account or to place or maintain Foreign Assets in a country listed on Schedule A, and the
fulfillment by the Fund of the applicable account opening requirements for such country, the Foreign Custody Manager shall be deemed to have been delegated by the Board
responsibility as Foreign Custody Manager with respect to that country and to have accepted such delegation. Execution of this Agreement by the Fund shall be deemed to be a
Proper Instruction to open an account, or to place or maintain Foreign Assets, in each country listed on Schedule A in which the Custodian has previously placed or currently
maintains Foreign Assets pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. Following the receipt of Proper Instructions directing the Foreign Custody Manager
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to close the account of the Fund with the Eligible Foreign Custodian selected by the Foreign Custody Manager in a designated country, the delegation by the Board to the
Custodian as Foreign Custody Manager for that country shall be deemed to have been withdrawn and the Custodian shall immediately cease to be the Foreign Custody Manager
of the Fund with respect to that country.

The Foreign Custody Manager may withdraw its acceptance of delegated responsibilities with respect to a designated country upon written notice to the Fund. Thirty days (or
such longer period to which the parties agree in writing) after receipt of any such notice by the Fund, the Custodian shall have no further responsibility in its capacity as Foreign
Custody Manager to the Fund with respect to the country as to which the Custodian’s acceptance of delegation is withdrawn.

3.2.3 SCOPE OF DELEGATED RESPONSIBILITIES:

(a) SELECTION OF ELIGIBLE FOREIGN CUSTODIANS. Subject to the provisions of this Section 3.2, the Foreign Custody Manager may place and maintain the Foreign
Assets in the care of the Eligible Foreign Custodian selected by the Foreign Custody Manager in each country listed on Schedule A, as amended from time to time. In
performing its delegated responsibilities as Foreign Custody Manager to place or maintain Foreign Assets with an Eligible Foreign Custodian, the Foreign Custody Manager
shall determine that the Foreign Assets will be subject to reasonable care, based on the standards applicable to custodians in the country in which the Foreign Assets will be held
by that Eligible Foreign Custodian, after considering all factors relevant to the safekeeping of such assets, including, without limitation the factors specified in Rule 17f-5(c)(1).

(b) CONTRACTS WITH ELIGIBLE FOREIGN CUSTODIANS. The Foreign Custody Manager shall determine that the contract governing the foreign custody arrangements
with each Eligible Foreign Custodian selected by the Foreign Custody Manager will satisfy the requirements of Rule 17f-5(c)(2).

(c) MONITORING. In each case in which the Foreign Custody Manager maintains Foreign Assets with an Eligible Foreign Custodian selected by the Foreign Custody
Manager, the Foreign Custody Manager shall establish a system to monitor (i) the appropriateness of maintaining the Foreign Assets with such Eligible Foreign Custodian and
(ii) the contract governing the custody arrangements established by the Foreign Custody Manager with the Eligible Foreign Custodian. In the event the Foreign Custody
Manager determines that the custody arrangements with an Eligible Foreign Custodian it has selected are no longer appropriate, the Foreign Custody Manager shall (i) notify
the Board in accordance with Section 3.2.5 hereunder, and (ii) withdraw the Foreign Assets as directed by the Board or pursuant to Proper Instructions.
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3.2.4 GUIDELINES FOR THE EXERCISE OF DELEGATED AUTHORITY. For purposes of this Section 3.2, the Board shall be deemed to have considered and
determined to accept such Country Risk as is incurred by placing and maintaining the Foreign Assets in each country for which the Custodian is serving as Foreign Custody
Manager of the Fund.

3.2.5 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS. The Foreign Custody Manager shall report the withdrawal of the Foreign Assets from an Eligible Foreign Custodian and
the placement of such Foreign Assets with another Eligible Foreign Custodian by providing to the Board an amended Schedule A at the end of the calendar quarter in which an
amendment to such Schedule has occurred. The Foreign Custody Manager shall make written reports notifying the Board of any other material change in the foreign custody
arrangements of the Fund described in this Section 3.2 after the occurrence of the material change.

3.2.6 STANDARD OF CARE AS FOREIGN CUSTODY MANAGER OF THE FUND. In performing the responsibilities delegated to it, the Foreign Custody Manager
agrees to exercise reasonable care, prudence and diligence such as a person having responsibility for the safekeeping of assets of management investment companies registered
under the 1940 Act would exercise.

3.2.7 REPRESENTATIONS WITH RESPECT TO RULE 17F-5. The Foreign Custody Manager represents to the Fund that it is a U.S. Bank as defined in section (a)
(7) of Rule 17f-5. The Fund represents to the Custodian that the Board has determined that it is reasonable for the Board to rely on the Custodian to perform the responsibilities
delegated pursuant to this Agreement to the Custodian as the Foreign Custody Manager of the Fund.

3.2.8 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERMINATION OF THE CUSTODIAN AS FOREIGN CUSTODY MANAGER. The Board’s delegation to the Custodian as Foreign
Custody Manager of the Fund shall be effective as of the date hereof and shall remain in effect until terminated at any time, without penalty, by written notice from the
terminating party to the non-terminating party. Termination will become effective sixty (60) days after receipt by the non-terminating party of such notice. The provisions of
Section 3.2.2 hereof shall govern the delegation to and termination of the Custodian as Foreign Custody Manager of the Fund with respect to designated countries.

SECTION 3.3 ELIGIBLE SECURITIES DEPOSITORIES.

3.3.1 ANALYSIS AND MONITORING. The Custodian shall (a) provide the Fund (or its duly-authorized investment manager or investment advisor) with an
analysis of the custody risks associated with maintaining assets with the Eligible Securities Depositories set forth on Schedule B hereto in accordance with section (a)(1)(i)(A)
of Rule 17f-7, and (b) monitor such risks on a continuing basis, and promptly notify the Fund (or its duly-authorized investment manager or investment advisor) of any material
change in such risks, in accordance with section (a)(1)(i)(B) of Rule 17f-7. If a custody arrangement with an Eligible Securities Depository no longer meets the requirements of
this Section, the Fund’s Foreign Assets must be withdrawn from the depository as soon as reasonably practicable and the Custodian shall act in accordance with Proper
Instructions to withdraw such Foreign Assets.
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3.3.2 STANDARD OF CARE. The Custodian agrees to exercise reasonable care, prudence and diligence in performing the duties set forth in Section 3.3.1.

 
SECTION 4. DUTIES OF THE CUSTODIAN WITH RESPECT TO PROPERTY OF THE FUND HELD OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES.

SECTION 4.1 DEFINITIONS. As used throughout this Agreement, the following capitalized terms shall have the indicated meanings:

“Foreign Securities System” means an Eligible Securities Depository listed on Schedule B hereto.

“Foreign Sub-Custodian” means an Eligible Foreign Custodian.

SECTION 4.2. HOLDING SECURITIES. The Custodian shall identify on its books as belonging to the Fund the foreign securities held by each Foreign Sub-Custodian or
Foreign Securities System. The Custodian may hold foreign securities for all of its customers, including the Fund, with any Foreign Sub-Custodian in an account that is
identified as belonging to the Custodian for the benefit of its customers, provided however, that (i) the records of the Custodian with respect to foreign securities of the Fund
which are maintained in such account shall identify those securities as belonging to the Fund and (ii), to the extent permitted and customary in the market in which the account is
maintained, the Custodian shall require that securities so held by the Foreign Sub-Custodian be held separately from any assets of such Foreign Sub-Custodian or of other
customers of such Foreign Sub-Custodian.

SECTION 4.3. FOREIGN SECURITIES SYSTEMS. Foreign securities shall be maintained in a Foreign Securities System in a designated country through arrangements
implemented by the Custodian or a Foreign Sub-Custodian, as applicable, in such country.

SECTION 4.4. TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CUSTODY ACCOUNT.

4.4.1. DELIVERY OF FOREIGN ASSETS. The Custodian or a Foreign Sub-Custodian shall release and deliver foreign securities of the Fund held by the
Custodian or such Foreign Sub-Custodian, or in a Foreign Securities System account, only upon receipt of Proper Instructions, which may be continuing instructions when
deemed appropriate by the parties, and only in the following cases:
 

 
(i) upon the sale of such foreign securities for the Fund in accordance with commercially reasonable market practice in the country where such foreign securities are

held or traded, including, without limitation: (A) delivery against expectation of receiving later payment; or (B) in the case of a sale effected through a Foreign
Securities System, in accordance with the rules governing the operation of the Foreign Securities System;
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 (ii) in connection with any repurchase agreement related to foreign securities;
 

 (iii) to the depository agent in connection with tender or other similar offers for foreign securities of the Fund;
 

 (iv) to the issuer thereof or its agent when such foreign securities are called, redeemed, retired or otherwise become payable;
 

 
(v) to the issuer thereof, or its agent, for transfer into the name of the Custodian (or the name of the respective Foreign Sub-Custodian or of any nominee of the

Custodian or such Foreign Sub-Custodian) or for exchange for a different number of bonds, certificates or other evidence representing the same aggregate face
amount or number of units;

 

 
(vi) to brokers, clearing banks or other clearing agents for examination or trade execution in accordance with market custom; provided that in any such case the

Foreign Sub-Custodian shall have no responsibility or liability for any loss arising from the delivery of such securities prior to receiving payment for such
securities except as may arise from the Foreign Sub-Custodian’s own negligence or willful misconduct;

 

 (vii) for exchange or conversion pursuant to any plan of merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reorganization or readjustment of the securities of the issuer of such
securities, or pursuant to provisions for conversion contained in such securities, or pursuant to any deposit agreement;

 

 (viii) in the case of warrants, rights or similar foreign securities, the surrender thereof in the exercise of such warrants, rights or similar securities or the surrender of
interim receipts or temporary securities for definitive securities;

 

 (ix) for delivery as security in connection with any borrowing by the Fund requiring a pledge of assets by the Fund;
 

 (x) for delivery as initial or variation margin in connection with futures or options on futures contracts entered into by the Fund;
 

 (xi) in connection with the lending of foreign securities; and
 

 (xii) for any other purpose, but only upon receipt of Proper Instructions specifying the foreign securities to be delivered and naming the person or persons to whom
delivery of such securities shall be made.
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4.4.2. PAYMENT OF FUND MONIES. Upon receipt of Proper Instructions, which may be continuing instructions when deemed appropriate by the parties, the
Custodian shall pay out, or direct the respective Foreign Sub-Custodian or the respective Foreign Securities System to pay out, monies of the Fund in the following cases only:
 

 
(i) upon the purchase of foreign securities for the Fund, unless otherwise directed by Proper Instructions, by (A) delivering money to the seller thereof or to a dealer

therefor (or an agent for such seller or dealer) against expectation of receiving later delivery of such foreign securities; or (B) in the case of a purchase effected
through a Foreign Securities System, in accordance with the rules governing the operation of such Foreign Securities System;

 

 (ii) in connection with the conversion, exchange or surrender of foreign securities of the Fund;
 

 (iii) for the payment of any expense or liability of the Fund, including but not limited to the following payments: interest, taxes, investment advisory fees, transfer
agency fees, fees under this Agreement, legal fees, accounting fees, and other operating expenses;

 

 (iv) for the purchase or sale of foreign exchange or foreign exchange contracts for the Fund, including transactions executed with or through the Custodian or its
Foreign Sub-Custodians;

 

 (v) for delivery as initial or variation margin in connection with futures or options on futures contracts entered into by the Fund;
 

 (vi) for payment of part or all of the dividends received in respect of securities sold short;
 

 (vii) in connection with the borrowing or lending of foreign securities; and
 

 (viii) for any other purpose, but only upon receipt of Proper Instructions specifying the amount of such payment and naming the person or persons to whom such
payment is to be made.

4.4.3. MARKET CONDITIONS. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, settlement and payment for Foreign Assets received for the
account of the Fund and delivery of Foreign Assets maintained for the account of the Fund may be effected in accordance with the customary established securities trading or
processing practices and procedures in the country or market in which the transaction occurs, including, without limitation, delivering Foreign Assets to the purchaser thereof or
to a dealer therefor (or an agent for such purchaser or dealer) with the expectation of receiving later payment for such Foreign Assets from such purchaser or dealer.
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The Custodian shall provide to the Board the information with respect to custody and settlement practices as described on Schedule C hereto in countries in which the Custodian
employs a Foreign Sub-Custodian at the time or times set forth on such Schedule. The Custodian may revise Schedule C from time to time, provided that no such revision shall
result in the Board being provided with substantively less information than had been previously provided hereunder.

SECTION 4.5. REGISTRATION OF FOREIGN SECURITIES. The foreign securities maintained in the custody of a Foreign Sub-Custodian (other than bearer securities)
shall be registered in the name of the Fund or in the name of the Custodian or in the name of any Foreign Sub-Custodian or in the name of any nominee of the foregoing, and the
Fund agrees to hold any such nominee harmless from any liability as a holder of record of such foreign securities. The Custodian or a Foreign Sub-Custodian shall not be
obligated to accept securities on behalf of the Fund under the terms of this Agreement unless the form of such securities and the manner in which they are delivered are in
accordance with reasonable market practice.

SECTION 4.6 BANK ACCOUNTS. The Custodian shall identify on its books as belonging to the Fund cash (including cash denominated in foreign currencies) deposited
with the Custodian. Where the Custodian is unable to maintain, or market practice does not facilitate the maintenance of, cash on the books of the Custodian, a bank account or
bank accounts shall be opened and maintained outside the United States on behalf of the Fund with a Foreign Sub-Custodian. All accounts referred to in this Section shall be
subject only to draft or order by the Custodian (or, if applicable, such Foreign Sub-Custodian) acting pursuant to the terms of this Agreement to hold cash received by or from or
for the account of the Fund. Cash maintained on the books of the Custodian (including its branches, subsidiaries and affiliates), regardless of currency denomination, is
maintained in bank accounts established under, and subject to the laws of, The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

SECTION 4.7. COLLECTION OF INCOME. The Custodian shall use reasonable commercial efforts to collect all income and other payments with respect to the Foreign
Assets held hereunder to which the Fund shall be entitled and shall credit such income, as collected, to the Fund. In the event that extraordinary measures are required to collect
such income, the Fund and the Custodian shall consult as to such measures and as to the compensation and expenses of the Custodian relating to such measures.

SECTION 4.8 SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS. With respect to the foreign securities held pursuant to this Section 4, the Custodian will use reasonable commercial efforts to
facilitate the exercise of voting and other shareholder rights, subject always to the laws, regulations and practical constraints that may exist in the country where such securities
are issued. The Fund acknowledges that local conditions, including lack of regulation, onerous procedural obligations, lack of notice and other factors may have the effect of
severely limiting the ability of the Fund to exercise shareholder rights.

SECTION 4.9. COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO FOREIGN SECURITIES. The Custodian shall transmit promptly to the Fund written information with respect to
materials received by the Custodian via the Foreign Sub-Custodians from issuers of the foreign securities being held for the account of the Fund (including, without limitation,
pendency of calls and maturities of
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foreign securities and expirations of rights in connection therewith). With respect to tender or exchange offers, the Custodian shall transmit promptly to the Fund written
information with respect to materials so received by the Custodian from issuers of the foreign securities whose tender or exchange is sought or from the party (or its agents)
making the tender or exchange offer. The Custodian shall not be liable for any untimely exercise of any tender, exchange or other right or power in connection with foreign
securities or other property of the Fund at any time held by it unless (i) the Custodian or the respective Foreign Sub-Custodian is in actual possession of such foreign securities
or property and (ii) the Custodian receives Proper Instructions with regard to the exercise of any such right or power, and both (i) and (ii) occur at least three business days prior
to the date on which the Custodian is to take action to exercise such right or power. The Custodian shall also transmit promptly to the Fund all written information received by
the Custodian via the Foreign Sub-Custodians from issuers of the foreign securities being held for the account of the Fund regarding any class action or other litigation in
connection with foreign securities or other assets issued outside the United States and then held, or previously held, during the term of this Agreement by the Custodian for the
account of the Fund, including, but not limited to, opt-out notices and proof-of-claim forms. For avoidance of doubt, upon and after the effective date of any termination of this
Agreement, the Custodian shall have no responsibility to so transmit any information under this Section 4.9.

SECTION 4.10. LIABILITY OF FOREIGN SUB-CUSTODIANS. Each agreement pursuant to which the Custodian employs a Foreign Sub-Custodian shall, to the extent
possible, require the Foreign Sub-Custodian to exercise reasonable care in the performance of its duties, and to indemnify, and hold harmless, the Custodian from and against
any loss, damage, cost, expense, liability or claim arising out of or in connection with the Foreign Sub-Custodian’s performance of such obligations. At the Fund’s election, it
shall be entitled to be subrogated to the rights of the Custodian with respect to any claims against a Foreign Sub-Custodian as a consequence of any such loss, damage, cost,
expense, liability or claim if and to the extent that the Fund has not been made whole for any such loss, damage, cost, expense, liability or claim.

SECTION 4.11 TAX LAW. The Custodian shall have no responsibility or liability for any obligations now or hereafter imposed on the Fund or the Custodian as custodian
of the Fund by the tax law of the United States or of any state or political subdivision thereof. It shall be the responsibility of the Fund to notify the Custodian of the obligations
imposed on the Fund or the Custodian as custodian of the Fund by the tax law of countries other than those mentioned in the above sentence, including responsibility for
withholding and other taxes, assessments or other governmental charges, certifications and governmental reporting. The sole responsibility of the Custodian with regard to such
tax law shall be to use reasonable efforts to assist the Fund with respect to any claim for exemption or refund under the tax law of countries for which the Fund has provided
such information.

SECTION 4.12. LIABILITY OF CUSTODIAN. The Custodian shall be liable for the acts or omissions of a Foreign Sub-Custodian to the same extent as set forth with
respect to sub-custodians generally in the Agreement and, regardless of whether assets are maintained in the custody of a Foreign Sub-Custodian or a Foreign Securities
System, the Custodian shall not be liable for any loss, damage, cost, expense, liability or claim resulting from nationalization, expropriation, currency restrictions, or acts of war
or terrorism, or any other loss where the Sub-Custodian has otherwise acted with reasonable care.
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SECTION 5. PAYMENTS FOR SALES OF SHARES.

The Custodian shall receive from the distributor for the Shares or from the Transfer Agent and deposit into the Fund’s account such payments as are received for Shares thereof
issued or sold from time to time by the Fund. The Custodian will provide timely notification to the Fund and the Transfer Agent of any receipt by it of payments for Shares of the
Fund.

 
SECTION 6. FOREIGN EXCHANGE.

6.1. GENERALLY. Upon receipt of Proper Instructions, which for purposes of this section may also include security trade advices, the Custodian shall facilitate the
processing and settlement of foreign exchange transactions. Such foreign exchange transactions do not constitute part of the services provided by the Custodian under this
Agreement.

6.2. FUND ELECTIONS. The Fund (or its Investment Advisor acting on its behalf) may elect to enter into and execute foreign exchange transactions with third parties
that are not affiliated with the Custodian, with State Street Global Markets, which is the foreign exchange division of State Street Bank and Trust Company and its affiliated
companies (“SSGM”), or with a sub-custodian. Where the Fund or its Investment Advisor gives Proper Instructions for the execution of a foreign exchange transaction using an
indirect foreign exchange service described in the Client Publications (as defined below), the Fund (or its Investment Advisor) instructs the Custodian, on behalf of the Fund, to
direct the execution of such foreign exchange transaction to SSGM or, when the relevant currency is not traded by SSGM, to the applicable sub-custodian. The Custodian shall
not have any agency (except as contemplated in preceding sentence), trust or fiduciary obligation to the Fund, its Investment Advisor or any other person in connection with the
execution of any foreign exchange transaction. The Custodian shall have no responsibility under this Agreement for the selection of the counterparty to, or the method of
execution of, any foreign exchange transaction entered into by the Fund (or its Investment Advisor acting on its behalf) or the reasonableness of the execution rate on any such
transaction. Client Publications means the general client publications of State Street Bank and Trust Company available from time to time available to clients and their
investment managers.

6.3. FUND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT The Fund acknowledges that in connection with all foreign exchange transactions entered into by the Fund (or its Investment Advisor
acting on its behalf) with SSGM or any sub-custodian, SSGM and each such sub-custodian:
 

(i) shall be acting in a principal capacity and not as broker, agent or fiduciary to the Fund or its Investment Advisor;
 

(ii) shall seek to profit from such foreign exchange transactions, and are entitled to retain and not disclose any such profit to the Fund or its Investment Advisor; and
 

(iii) shall enter into such foreign exchange transactions pursuant to the terms and conditions, including pricing or pricing methodology, (a) agreed with the Fund or its
Investment
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 Advisor from time to time or (b) in the case of an indirect foreign exchange service, (i) as established by SSGM and set forth in the Client Publications with respect to the
particular foreign exchange execution services selected by the Fund or the Investment Advisor or (ii) as established by the sub-custodian from time to time.

6.4. TRANSACTIONS BY STATE STREET. The Custodian or its affiliates, including SSGM, may trade based upon information that is not available to the Fund (or its
Investment Advisor acting on its behalf), and may enter into transactions for its own account or the account of clients in the same or opposite direction to the transactions
entered into with the Fund (or its Investment Manager), and shall have no obligation, under this Agreement, to share such information with or consider the interests of their
respective counterparties, including, where applicable, the Fund or the Investment Advisor.

 
SECTION 7. PROPER INSTRUCTIONS.

Proper Instructions, which may also be standing instructions, as used throughout this Agreement, shall mean instructions received by the Custodian from the Fund and signed by
any two Authorized Persons (as defined below). Such instructions may be in writing signed by the Authorized Persons or may be in a tested communication or in a
communication utilizing access codes effected between electro-mechanical or electronic devices or may be by such other means and utilizing such intermediary systems and
utilities as may be agreed to from time to time by the Custodian and the person or persons giving such instructions, provided that the Fund has followed any security procedures
agreed to from time to time by the Fund and the Custodian, including, but not limited to, the security procedures selected by the Fund in the Funds Transfer Addendum to this
Agreement, the terms of which are hereby agreed to. Oral instructions will be considered Proper Instructions if the Custodian reasonably believes them to have been given by a
person authorized to give such instructions with respect to the transaction involved. The Fund shall cause all oral instructions to be confirmed in writing and signed by two
Authorized Persons. For purposes of this Section, Proper Instructions shall include instructions received by the Custodian pursuant to any multi-party agreement which requires
a segregated asset account in accordance with Section 2.9 of this Agreement. The Fund shall cause its duly authorized officer to certify to the Custodian in writing the names
and specimen signatures of persons authorized to give Proper Instructions (“Authorized Persons”) in Schedule D attached hereto. The Custodian shall be entitled to rely upon
the identity and authority of such persons until it receives notice from the Fund to the contrary.

 
SECTION 8. ACTIONS PERMITTED WITHOUT EXPRESS AUTHORITY.

The Custodian may in its discretion, without express authority from the Fund:
 

 1) make payments to itself or others for minor expenses of handling securities or other similar items relating to its duties under this Agreement, provided that all
such payments shall be accounted for and reported to the Fund;

 

 2) surrender securities in temporary form for securities in definitive form;
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 3) endorse for collection, in the name of the Fund, checks, drafts and other negotiable instruments; and
 

 4) in general, attend to all non-discretionary details in connection with the sale, exchange, substitution, purchase, transfer and other dealings with the securities and
property of the Fund except as otherwise directed by the Board.

 
SECTION 9. EVIDENCE OF AUTHORITY.

The Custodian shall be protected in acting upon any instructions, notice, request, consent, certificate or other instrument or paper believed by it to be genuine and to have been
properly executed by or on behalf of the Fund. The Custodian may receive and accept a copy of a resolution of the Board, certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of
the Fund (“Certified Resolution”), as conclusive evidence (a) of the authority of any person to act in accordance with such resolution or (b) of any determination or of any action
by the Board as described in such resolution, and such resolution may be considered as in full force and effect until receipt by the Custodian of written notice to the contrary.

 
SECTION 10. DUTIES OF CUSTODIAN WITH RESPECT TO THE BOOKS OF ACCOUNT AND UNDERLYING TRANSFER AGENTS.

The Custodian shall cooperate with and supply necessary information to the entity or entities appointed by the Board to keep the books of account of the Fund. The Fund
acknowledges and agrees that, with respect to investments maintained with the Underlying Transfer Agent, the Underlying Transfer Agent is the sole source of information on
the number of shares of a fund held by it on behalf of the Fund and that the Custodian has the right to rely on holdings information furnished by the Underlying Transfer Agent
to the Custodian in performing its duties under this Agreement, including without limitation, the duties set forth in this Section 10 and in Section 11 hereof; provided, however,
that the Custodian shall be obligated to reconcile information as to purchases and sales of Underlying Shares contained in trade instructions and confirmations received by the
Custodian and to report promptly any discrepancies to the Underlying Transfer Agent.

 
Section 11. RECORDS.

The Custodian shall create and maintain all records relating to its activities and obligations under this Agreement in such manner as will meet the obligations of the Fund under
the 1940 Act, including Section 31 thereof and Rules 31a-1 and 31a-2 thereunder. All such records shall be the property of the Fund and shall at all times during the regular
business hours of the Custodian be open for inspection by duly authorized officers, employees or agents of the Fund and employees and agents of the SEC. The Custodian shall,
at the Fund’s request, supply the Fund with a tabulation of securities owned by the Fund and held by the Custodian and shall, when requested to do so by the Fund and for such
compensation as shall be agreed upon between the Fund and the Custodian, include certificate numbers in such tabulations. The Custodian shall provide the Fund with access to
its statements and records electronically in accordance with the Remote Access Services Addendum attached hereto.
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SECTION 12. REPORTS TO FUND BY INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS.

The Custodian shall provide the Fund, at such times as the Fund may reasonably require, with reports by independent public accountants on the accounting system, internal
accounting control and procedures for safeguarding securities, futures contracts and options on futures contracts, including securities deposited and/or maintained in a U.S.
Securities System or a Foreign Securities System (either, a “Securities System”), relating to the services provided by the Custodian under this Agreement; such reports, shall be
of sufficient scope and in sufficient detail, as may reasonably be required by the Fund to provide reasonable assurance that any material inadequacies would be disclosed by
such examination, and, if there are no such inadequacies, the reports shall so state.

 
SECTION 13. COMPENSATION OF CUSTODIAN.

The Custodian shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for its services and expenses as Custodian, as agreed upon from time to time between the Fund and the Custodian.

 
SECTION 14. RESPONSIBILITY OF CUSTODIAN.

So long as and to the extent that it is in the exercise of reasonable care, the Custodian shall not be responsible for the title, validity or genuineness of any property or evidence of
title thereto received by it or delivered by it pursuant to this Agreement and shall be held harmless in acting upon any notice, request, consent, certificate or other instrument
reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to be signed by the proper party or parties, including any futures commission merchant acting pursuant to the terms of a three-party
futures or options agreement. The Custodian shall be held to the exercise of reasonable care in carrying out the provisions of this Agreement, but shall be kept indemnified by
and shall be without liability to the Fund for any action taken or omitted by it in good faith without negligence, including, without limitation, acting in accordance with any
Proper Instruction. It shall be entitled to rely on and may act upon advice of counsel (who may be counsel for the Fund) on all matters, and shall be without liability for any
action reasonably taken or omitted pursuant to such advice. The Custodian shall be without liability to the Fund for any loss, liability, claim or expense resulting from or caused
by anything that is part of Country Risk (as defined in Section 3 hereof), including without limitation nationalization, expropriation, currency restrictions, insolvency of a
Foreign Sub-Custodian, acts of war, revolution, riots or terrorism.

Except as may arise from the Custodian’s own negligence or willful misconduct or the negligence or willful misconduct of a sub-custodian or agent, the Custodian shall be
without liability to the Fund for any loss, liability, claim or expense resulting from or caused by; (i) events or circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the Custodian or
any sub-custodian or Securities System or any agent or nominee of any of the foregoing, including, without limitation, the interruption, suspension or restriction of trading on or
the closure of any securities market, power or other mechanical or technological failures or interruptions, computer viruses or communications disruptions, work stoppages,
natural disasters, or other similar events or acts; (ii) errors by the Fund or its duly-authorized investment manager or investment advisor in their
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instructions to the Custodian provided such instructions have been in accordance with this Agreement; (iii) the insolvency of or acts or omissions by a Securities System;
(iv) any delay or failure of any broker, agent or intermediary, central bank or other commercially prevalent payment or clearing system to deliver to the Custodian’s sub-
custodian or agent securities purchased or in the remittance or payment made in connection with securities sold; (v) any delay or failure of any company, corporation, or other
body in charge of registering or transferring securities in the name of the Custodian, the Fund, the Custodian’s sub-custodians, nominees or agents or any consequential losses
arising out of such delay or failure to transfer such securities including non-receipt of bonus, dividends and rights and other accretions or benefits; (vi) delays or inability to
perform its duties due to any disorder in market infrastructure with respect to any particular security or Securities System; and (vii) any provision of any present or future law or
regulation or order of the United States of America, or any state thereof, or any other country, or political subdivision thereof or of any court of competent jurisdiction. The
Custodian shall be liable for the acts or omissions of a Foreign Sub-Custodian to the same extent as set forth with respect to sub-custodians generally in this Agreement.

If the Fund requires the Custodian to take any action with respect to securities, which action involves the payment of money or which action may, in the opinion of the
Custodian, result in the Custodian or its nominee assigned to the Fund being liable for the payment of money or incurring liability of some other form, the Fund, as a
prerequisite to requiring the Custodian to take such action, shall provide indemnity to the Custodian in an amount and form satisfactory to it.

If the Custodian, its affiliates, subsidiaries or agents advances cash or securities for any purpose (including but not limited to securities settlements, foreign exchange contracts
and assumed settlement), or in the event that the Custodian or its nominee shall incur or be assessed any taxes, charges, expenses, assessments, claims or liabilities in connection
with the performance of this Agreement, except such as may arise from its or its nominee’s own negligent action, negligent failure to act or willful misconduct, or if the Fund
fails to compensate the Custodian pursuant to Section 13 hereof, any property at any time held for the account of the Fund shall be security therefor and should the Fund fail to
repay the Custodian promptly, the Custodian shall be entitled to utilize available cash and to dispose of the Fund’s assets to the extent necessary to obtain reimbursement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, each of the Fund and the Custodian hereby agrees that in no event shall either the Fund or the Custodian be liable to
the other party for indirect, special or consequential damages, or for any damages of a similar nature, provided, however, that the foregoing shall in no way limit the Custodian’s
recovery relating to third party claims asserted against it and related fees and expenses for which indemnification is available hereunder.

 
SECTION 15. EFFECTIVE PERIOD, TERMINATION AND AMENDMENT.

This Agreement shall become effective as of its execution, shall continue in full force and effect until terminated as hereinafter provided, may be amended at any time by
mutual agreement of the parties hereto and may be terminated by either party by an instrument in writing delivered or
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mailed, postage prepaid to the other party, such termination to take effect not sooner than sixty (60) days after the date of such delivery or mailing; provided, however, that the
Fund shall not amend or terminate this Agreement in contravention of any applicable federal or state regulations, or any provision of the Fund’s Articles of Incorporation, and
further provided, that the Fund may at any time by action of its Board (i) substitute another bank or trust company for the Custodian by giving notice as described above to the
Custodian, or (ii) immediately terminate this Agreement in the event of the appointment of a conservator or receiver for the Custodian by the Comptroller of the Currency or
upon the happening of a like event at the direction of an appropriate regulatory agency or court of competent jurisdiction.

Upon termination of the Agreement, the Fund shall pay to the Custodian such compensation as may be due as of the date of such termination and shall likewise reimburse the
Custodian for its costs, expenses and disbursements. The provisions of Sections 4.11, 13 and 14 of this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement for any reason.

 
SECTION 16. SUCCESSOR CUSTODIAN.

If a successor custodian for the Fund shall be appointed by the Board, the Custodian shall, upon termination, deliver to such successor custodian at the office of the Custodian,
duly endorsed and in the form for transfer, all securities of the Fund then held by it hereunder and shall transfer to an account of the successor custodian all of the securities of
the Fund held in a Securities System or at the Underlying Transfer Agent.

If no such successor custodian shall be appointed, the Custodian shall, in like manner, upon receipt of a Certified Resolution, deliver at the office of the Custodian and transfer
such securities, funds and other properties in accordance with such resolution. Unless so directed by the Certified Resolution, in no event shall the Custodian deliver the
securities, funds and other properties to the Fund.

In the event that no written order designating a successor custodian or Certified Resolution shall have been delivered to the Custodian on or before the date when such
termination shall become effective, then the Custodian shall have the right to deliver to a bank or trust company, which is a “bank” as defined in the 1940 Act, doing business in
Boston, Massachusetts, or New York, New York, of its own selection, having an aggregate capital, surplus, and undivided profits, as shown by its last published report, of not
less than $25,000,000, all securities, funds and other properties held by the Custodian hereunder and all instruments held by the Custodian relative thereto and all other property
held by it under this Agreement on behalf of the Fund, and to transfer to an account of such successor custodian all of the Fund’s securities held in any Securities System or at
the Underlying Transfer Agent. Thereafter, such bank or trust company shall be the successor of the Custodian under this Agreement.

In the event that securities, funds and other properties remain in the possession of the Custodian after the date of termination hereof owing to failure of the Fund to procure the
Certified Resolution to appoint a successor custodian, the Custodian shall be entitled to fair compensation for its services during such period as the Custodian retains possession
of such securities, funds and other properties and the provisions of this Agreement relating to the duties and obligations of the Custodian shall remain in full force and effect.
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SECTION 17. INTERPRETIVE AND ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS.

In connection with the operation of this Agreement, the Custodian and the Fund may from time to time agree on such provisions interpretive of or in addition to the provisions of
this Agreement as may in their joint opinion be consistent with the general tenor of this Agreement. Any such interpretive or additional provisions shall be in a writing signed by
both parties and shall be annexed hereto, provided that no such interpretive or additional provisions shall contravene any applicable federal or state regulations or any provision
of the Fund’s Articles of Incorporation. No interpretive or additional provisions made as provided in the preceding sentence shall be deemed to be an amendment of this
Agreement.

 
SECTION 18. MASSACHUSETTS LAW TO APPLY.

This Agreement shall be construed and the provisions thereof interpreted under and in accordance with laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

 
SECTION 19. ASSIGNMENT.

This Agreement may not be assigned by (a) the Fund without the written consent of the Custodian or (b) by the Custodian without the written consent of the Fund.

 
SECTION 20. PRIOR AGREEMENTS.

This Agreement supersedes and terminates, as of the date hereof, all prior Agreements between the Fund and the Custodian relating to the custody of the Fund’s assets.

 
SECTION 21. NOTICES.

Any notice, instruction or other instrument required to be given hereunder may be delivered in person to the offices of the parties as set forth herein during normal business
hours or delivered prepaid registered mail or by telex, cable or telecopy to the parties at the following addresses or such other addresses as may be notified by any party from
time to time.
 
To the Fund:  Owl Rock Capital Corporation   

 245 Park Avenue, 41st floor   
 New York, NY 10167   

 Attention:   

 Telephone:   
 Email:   
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To the Custodian:  STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY   
 State Street Financial Center   
 One Lincoln Street   
 Boston, MA 02111-2900   

 Attention:   

 Telephone:   
 Email:   

Such notice, instruction or other instrument shall be deemed to have been served in the case of a registered letter at the expiration of five business days after posting, in the case
of cable twenty-four hours after dispatch and, in the case of telex, immediately on dispatch and if delivered outside normal business hours it shall be deemed to have been
received at the next time after delivery when normal business hours commence and in the case of cable, telex or telecopy on the business day after the receipt thereof. Evidence
that the notice was properly addressed, stamped and put into the post shall be conclusive evidence of posting.

 
SECTION 22. COUNTERPARTS.

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all such counterparts taken together shall constitute one and the
same Agreement.

 
SECTION 23. SEVERABILITY.

Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision or provisions
of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, unlawful or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or
impaired.

 
SECTION 24. CONFIDENTIALITY.

All information provided under this Agreement by a party to this Agreement (the “Disclosing Party”) to the other party to this Agreement (the “Receiving Party”) regarding the
Disclosing Party’s business and operations shall be treated as confidential. Subject to Section 25 below, all confidential information provided under this Agreement by
Disclosing Party shall be used, including disclosure to third parties, by the Receiving Party, or its agents or service providers, solely for the purpose of performing or receiving
the services and discharging the Receiving Party’s other obligations under the Agreement or managing the business of the Receiving Party and its affiliates, including financial
and operational management and reporting, risk management, legal and regulatory compliance and client service management. The foregoing shall not be applicable to any
information (a) that is publicly available when provided or thereafter becomes publicly available, other than through a breach of this Agreement, (b) that is independently
derived by the Receiving Party without the use of any information provided by the Disclosing Party in connection with this Agreement, (c) that is disclosed to comply with any
legal or regulatory proceeding, investigation, audit, examination, subpoena, civil investigative demand or other similar process, (d) that is disclosed as required by operation of
law or
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regulation or as required to comply with the requirements of any market infrastructure that the Disclosing Party or its agents direct the Custodian or its affiliates to employ (or
which is required in connection with the holding or settlement of instruments included in the assets subject to this Agreement), or (e) where the party seeking to disclose has
received the prior written consent of the party providing the information, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

 
SECTION 25. USE OF DATA.

(a) In connection with the provision of the services and the discharge of its other obligations under this Agreement, the Custodian (which term for purposes of this
Section 25 includes each of its parent company, branches and affiliates (“Affiliates”)) may collect and store information regarding the Fund and share such information with its
Affiliates, agents and service providers in order and to the extent reasonably necessary (i) to carry out the provision of services contemplated under this Agreement and other
agreements between the Fund and the Custodian or any of its Affiliates and (ii) to carry out management of its businesses, including, but not limited to, financial and
operational management and reporting, risk management, legal and regulatory compliance and client service management.

(b) Subject to paragraph (c) below, the Custodian and/or its Affiliates (except those Affiliates or business divisions principally engaged in the business of asset
management) may use any data or other information (“Data”) obtained by such entities in the performance of their services under this Agreement or any other agreement
between the Fund and the Custodian or one of its Affiliates, including Data regarding transactions and portfolio holdings relating to the Fund, and publish, sell, distribute or
otherwise commercialize the Data. The initial use of Data by the Custodian is publication of research that quantifies the flow of investment funds into various markets or
investments. Before using Data in any other services or reports, the Custodian will notify the Fund of such proposed service or report and provide the Fund thirty 30 days in
which to evaluate the proposed use of Data. Such other services may not require the aggregation of data but any published information will be displayed in a manner designed
to prevent attribution to or identification of such Data with the Fund. If within such thirty 30 day period the Fund notifies the Custodian that it objects to the use of Data in such
product or service, this consent will not apply to use of Data in such product or service unless and until the Fund otherwise advises the Custodian. The Fund agrees that
Custodian and/or its Affiliates may seek to profit and realize economic benefit from the commercialization and use of the Data, that such benefit will constitute part of the
Custodian’s compensation for services under this Agreement or such other agreement, and the Custodian and/or its Affiliates shall be entitled to retain and not be required to
disclose the amount of such economic benefit and profit to the Fund.

(c) Except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement, nothing in this Section 25 shall limit the confidentiality and data-protection obligations of the Custodian and
its Affiliates under this Agreement and applicable law. The Custodian shall cause any Affiliate, agent or service provider to which it has disclosed Data pursuant to this
Section 25 to comply at all times with confidentiality and data-protection obligations as if it were a party to this Agreement.
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SECTION 26. REPRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS.

This Agreement and all schedules, addenda, exhibits, attachments and amendments hereto may be reproduced by any photographic, photostatic, microfilm, micro-card,
miniature photographic or other similar process. The parties hereto all/each agree that any such reproduction shall be admissible in evidence as the original itself in any judicial
or administrative proceeding, whether or not the original is in existence and whether or not such reproduction was made by a party in the regular course of business, and that
any enlargement, facsimile or further reproduction of such reproduction shall likewise be admissible in evidence.

 
SECTION 27. REMOTE ACCESS SERVICES ADDENDUM.

The Custodian and the Fund agree to be bound by the terms of the Remote Access Services Addendum attached hereto.

 
SECTION 28. REGULATION GG.

The Fund hereby represents and warrants that it does not engage in an “Internet gambling business,” as such term is defined in Section 233.2(r) of Federal Reserve Regulation
GG (12 CFR 233) (“Regulation GG”). The Fund hereby covenants and agrees that it shall not engage in an Internet gambling business. In accordance with Regulation GG, the
Fund is hereby notified that “restricted transactions,” as such term is defined in Section 233.2(y) of Regulation GG, are prohibited in any dealings with the Custodian pursuant
to this Agreement or otherwise between or among any party hereto.

 
SECTION 29. DATA PRIVACY.

The Custodian will implement and maintain a written information security program that contains appropriate security measures to safeguard the personal information of the
Fund’s shareholders, employees, directors and/or officers that the Custodian receives, stores, maintains, processes or otherwise accesses in connection with the provision of
services hereunder. For these purposes, “personal information” shall mean (i) an individual’s name (first initial and last name or first name and last name), address or telephone
number plus (a) social security number, (b) drivers license number, (c) state identification card number, (d) debit or credit card number, (e) financial account number or
(f) personal identification number or password that would permit access to a person’s account or (ii) any combination of the foregoing that would allow a person to log onto or
access an individual’s account. Notwithstanding the foregoing “personal information” shall not include information that is lawfully obtained from publicly available
information, or from federal, state or local government records lawfully made available to the general public.

 
SECTION 30. LOAN SERVICES ADDENDUM.

In the event the Fund directs Custodian in writing to perform loan services, Custodian and the Fund hereby agree to be bound by the terms of the Loan Services Addendum
attached hereto and the Fund shall reimburse Custodian for its fees and expenses related thereto as agreed upon from time to time in writing by the Fund and Custodian.
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SECTION 31. SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS ELECTION.

SEC Rule 14b-2 requires banks which hold securities for the account of customers to respond to requests by issuers of securities for the names, addresses and holdings of
beneficial owners of securities of that issuer held by the bank unless the beneficial owner has expressly objected to disclosure of this information. In order to comply with the
rule, the Custodian needs the Fund to indicate whether it authorizes the Custodian to provide the Fund’s name, address, and share position to requesting companies whose
securities the Fund owns. If the Fund tells the Custodian “no”, the Custodian will not provide this information to requesting companies. If the Fund tells the Custodian “yes” or
does not check either “yes” or “no” below, the Custodian is required by the rule to treat the Fund as consenting to disclosure of this information for all securities owned by the
Fund or any funds or accounts established by the Fund. For the Fund’s protection, the Rule prohibits the requesting company from using the Fund’s name and address for any
purpose other than corporate communications. Please indicate below whether the Fund consents or objects by checking one of the alternatives below.
 
YES ¨     The Custodian is authorized to release the Fund’s name, address, and share positions.

NO  x    The Custodian is not authorized to release the Fund’s name, address, and share positions.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has caused this instrument to be executed in its name and behalf by its duly authorized representative under seal as of the
date first above-written.
 
OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORPORATION

By:   
Name:  Alan Kirshenbaum
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST COMPANY

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
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SCHEDULE A

SEE ATTACHED.
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SCHEDULE B

SEE ATTACHED.
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SCHEDULE C

SEE ATTACHED.
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SCHEDULE D

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZED PERSONS

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies that he/she is the duly elected and acting                      and                     , respectively, of OWL ROCK CAPITAL CORP. (the
“Client”), and further certifies that the following officers or employees of the Client have been duly authorized to deliver Proper Instructions to the Custodian pursuant to the
Agreement between the Client and Custodian dated             , 2016, and that the signatures appearing opposite their names are true and correct:
 
           
Name     Title     Signature

           
Name     Title     Signature

           
Name     Title     Signature

           
Name     Title     Signature

           
Name     Title     Signature

           
Name     Title     Signature

           
Name     Title     Signature

This certificate supersedes any certificate of Authorized Persons you may currently have on file.
 
By:   
Title:  
Date:  

By:   
Title:  
Date:  
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Exhibit 10.6

LICENSE AGREEMENT

This LICENSE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and effective as of March 1, 2016 (the “Effective Date”) by and between Owl Rock Capital Partners LP (the
“Licensor”), a Delaware limited partnership, and Owl Rock Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation (the “Licensee”) (each a “party,” and collectively, the “parties”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Licensor has certain common law rights in the trade name “Owl Rock” (the “Licensed Name”);

WHEREAS, Licensor has applied to register the Licensed Name as a trademark in the United States;

WHEREAS, the Licensee is a closed-end investment company that intends to elect to be treated as a business development company under the Investment Company Act
of 1940, as amended;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Investment Advisory Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2016, by and between the Owl Rock Capital Advisors LLC (the “Advisor”) and the
Licensee (the “Advisory Agreement”), the Licensee has engaged the Advisor to act as the investment adviser to the Licensee;

WHEREAS, the Advisor is an indirect subsidiary of the Licensor;

WHEREAS, the Licensee desires to use the Licensed Name in connection with the operation of its business, and the Licensor is willing to permit the Licensee to use the
Licensed Name, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
LICENSE GRANT

1.1 License. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Licensor hereby grants to the Licensee, and the Licensee hereby accepts from Licensor, a personal,
non-exclusive, royalty-free right and license to use the Licensed Name solely and exclusively as an element of the Licensee’s own company name and in connection with the
conduct of its business. Except as provided above, neither the Licensee nor any affiliate, owner, director, officer, employee, or agent thereof shall otherwise use the Licensed
Name or any derivative thereof without the prior express written consent of the Licensor to be provided in Licensor’s sole and absolute discretion. All rights not expressly
granted to the Licensee hereunder shall remain the exclusive property of Licensor.

1.2 Licensor’s Use. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude Licensor, its affiliates, or any of its respective successors or assigns from using or permitting other entities
to use the Licensed Name whether or not such entity directly or indirectly competes or conflicts with the Licensee’s business in any manner.

ARTICLE 2
OWNERSHIP

2.1 Ownership. The Licensee acknowledges and agrees that Licensor is the owner of all right, title, and interest in and to the Licensed Name, and all such right, title, and
interest shall remain with the Licensor. The Licensee shall not otherwise contest, dispute, or challenge Licensor’s right, title, and interest in and to the Licensed Name.

2.2 Goodwill. All goodwill and reputation generated by Licensee’s use of the Licensed Name shall inure to the benefit of Licensor. The Licensee shall not by any act or
omission use the Licensed Name in any manner that
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disparages or reflects adversely on Licensor or its business or reputation. Except as expressly provided herein, neither party may use any trademark or service mark of the other
party without that party’s prior written consent, which consent shall be given in that party’s sole discretion.

ARTICLE 3
COMPLIANCE

3.1 Quality Control. In order to preserve the inherent value of the Licensed Name, the Licensee agrees to use reasonable efforts to ensure that it maintains the quality of
the Licensee’s business and the operation thereof equal to the standards prevailing in the operation of the Licensor’s and the Licensee’s business as of the date of this
Agreement. The Licensee further agrees to use the Licensed Name in accordance with such quality standards as may be reasonably established by Licensor and communicated
to the Licensee from time to time in writing, or as may be agreed to by Licensor and the Licensee from time to time in writing.

3.2 Compliance With Laws. The Licensee agrees that the business operated by it in connection with the Licensed Name shall comply in all material respects with all laws,
rules, regulations and requirements of any governmental body in the United States of America (the “Territory”) or elsewhere as may be applicable to the operation, advertising
and promotion of the business, and that it shall notify Licensor of any action that must be taken by the Licensee to comply with such law, rules, regulations or requirements.

3.3 Notification of Infringement. Each party shall immediately notify the other party and provide to the other party all relevant background facts upon becoming aware of
(i) any registrations of, or applications for registration of, marks in the Territory that do or may conflict with the Licensed Name, and (ii) any infringements, imitations, or illegal
use or misuse of the Licensed Name in the Territory.

ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

4.1 Mutual Representations. Each party hereby represents and warrants to the other party as follows:

(a) Due Authorization. Such party is duly formed and in good standing as of the Effective Date, and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by such
party have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such party.

(b) Due Execution. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by such party and, with due authorization, execution and delivery by the other party,
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such party, enforceable against such party in accordance with its terms.

(c) No Conflict. Such party’s execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement do not: (i) violate, conflict with or result in the breach of any provision of the
organizational documents of such party; (ii) conflict with or violate any law or governmental order applicable to such party or any of its assets, properties or businesses; or
(iii) conflict with, result in any breach of, constitute a default (or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, would become a default) under, require any
consent under, or give to others any rights of termination, amendment, acceleration, suspension, revocation or cancellation of any contract, agreement, lease, sublease, license,
permit, franchise or other instrument or arrangement to which it is a party.

ARTICLE 5
TERM AND TERMINATION

5.1 Term. This Agreement shall remain in effect only for so long as an affiliate of the Licensor remains the Licensee’s investment adviser.
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5.2 Upon Termination. Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, all rights granted to the Licensee under this Agreement with respect to the Licensed Name shall
cease, and the Licensee shall immediately discontinue use of the Licensed Name.

ARTICLE 6
MISCELLANEOUS

6.1 Assignment. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party
may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, however,
that the Licensor may assign this Agreement to an affiliate without Licensee’s consent. No assignment by either party permitted hereunder shall relieve the applicable party of
its obligations under this Agreement. Any assignment by either party in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be pursuant to a written assignment agreement in
which the assignee expressly assumes the assigning party’s rights and obligations hereunder. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the rights
and obligations of the Licensee under this Agreement shall be deemed to be assigned to a newly-formed entity in the event of the merger of the Licensee into, or conveyance of
all of the assets of the Licensee to, such newly-formed entity; provided, further, however, that the sole purpose of that merger or conveyance is to effect a mere change in the
Licensee’s legal form into another limited liability entity.

6.2 Independent Contractor. This Agreement does not give any party, or permit any party to represent that it has any power, right or authority to bind the other party to
any obligation or liability, or to assume or create any obligation or liability on behalf of the other party.

6.3 Notices. All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given or made (and shall be deemed to have
been duly given or made upon receipt) by delivery in person, by overnight courier service (with signature required), by facsimile, or by registered or certified mail (postage
prepaid, return receipt requested) to the other party at its principal office.

6.4 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York applicable to contracts formed and to be
performed entirely within the State of New York, without regarding the conflicts of law principles or rules thereof, to the extent such principles would require to permit the
applicable of the laws of another jurisdiction. The parties unconditionally and irrevocably consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts located in the State of New York and
waive any objection with respect thereto, for the purpose of any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

6.5 Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by an instrument in writing signed by all parties hereto.

6.6 No Waiver. The failure of either party to enforce at any time for any period the provisions of or any rights deriving from this Agreement shall not be construed to be
a waiver of such provisions or rights or the right of such party thereafter to enforce such provisions, and no waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by all parties
hereto.

6.7 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any law or public policy, all other terms and
provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected
in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto
shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions
contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.
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6.8 Headings. The descriptive headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of
this Agreement.

6.9 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which together shall be
deemed to be one and the same instrument. Any party may deliver an executed copy of this Agreement and of any documents contemplated hereby by facsimile or other
electronic transmission to another party and such delivery shall have the same force and effect as any other delivery of a manually signed copy of this Agreement or of such
other documents.

6.10 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and
undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to such subject matter.

6.11 Third-Party Beneficiaries. Nothing in this Agreement, either express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any third party any legal or equitable right,
benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has caused this Agreement to be executed as of the Effective Date by its duly authorized officer.
 

LICENSOR:
Owl Rock Capital Partners LP

By:   
Name:  
Title:  

LICENSEE:
Owl Rock Capital Corporation

By:   
Name:  
Title:  
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